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Letter of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Ladies and Gentlemen,

The report presented to you summarizes the activities of Polsat Plus Group in 2023.

It was undoubtedly a year full of challenges resulting, among others, from the still unstable international
situation related to the ongoing war in the East caused by Russia's aggression against Ukraine. One of the
negative effects on the global economy as a whole was inflation and its impact on the entire Polish economy,
including our operations.

However, despite the unfavorable macroeconomic conditions, Polsat Plus Group continued its growth
strategy, focusing its efforts on its three main business areas - telecommunication, content and green energy
production.

In the area of telecommunication, the Group has been developing Poland's first and largest network of the
fastest mobile Internet using 5G technology, increasing both its coverage and technical parameters. In 2024,
with the purchase of new bandwidth, the Group's 5G network will accelerate even further, increasing the
opportunities it offers to both individual and business customers. In the content sector, we have a very good
and strong position in production, broadcasting and distribution. The Internet business, represented by Interia
Group, which provides us with some 21 million users and more than 20 billion page views per month, is also
performing very well. Investments in the area of green energy production are being made intensively and in
line with the strategy, some of them have already been completed and others will be commissioned as early
as this year, in 2024.

So, what can summarize the activities of Polsat Plus Group in 2023 are the words consistency and effective,
step by step implementation of the set strategic goals. | am convinced that Polsat Plus Group, with its well-
known determination, will fulfill all the assumed and announced assumptions of its strategy.
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On behalf of the Supervisory Board of Cyfrowy Polsat, | would like to thank our customers for another year
with us, for their loyalty, for their trust in our services and products, which we create with them in mind, and
for motivating us to introduce further innovations.

I would like to pay special tribute to all of the Group's employees, who have once again demonstrated that
their commitment, diligence, high motivation and efficiency enable all projects and tasks to be successfully
implemented and our Group to remain a leader.

| would like to express my sincere gratitude to the investors for their trust and willingness to continue to
participate with me as shareholders in building the future of the Polsat Plus Group.

Yours faithfully,

Zygmunt Solorz
Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Cyfrowy Polsat S.A.
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Letter of the President of the Management Board

Ladies and Gentlemen,

Over the past year, Polsat Plus Group has grown in every segment of its business. In the area of
telecommunication, it developed 5G Plus, which already covers 23 million Poles, launched 5G Ultra with
speeds of up to 1 Gbps, which already covers 6 million people, and accelerated the speed of Netia's fiber to
2 Gbps. With the new frequency won in the 5G auction, it will further expand the Plus 5G network to provide
users with the best possible service performance.

In order to consistently develop its second strategic pillar - content - and provide viewers with the best content,
TV Polsat acquired, among others, a majority stake in the companies that own the naEkranie.pl service and
the 4fun.tv, 4fun Kinds and 4fun Dance channels, as well as the rights to handball league matches and
extended the rights to the European Volleyball Cup until 2029 and to basketball league matches. Polsat Box
Go launched a new Start package for PLN 30 per year, offering more than 40,000 hours of series and
entertainment programs from TV Polsat channels.

Successes in the Clean Energy are include the start of green energy production by wind farms in Mitostaw
and Kazimierz Biskupi, the expansion of the solar farm in Brudzew, the opening of the NesoBus hydrogen
bus factory in Swidnik, and the launch of Poland's first publicly accessible hydrogen filling stations in Warsaw
and Rybnik.

We entered into a strategic partnership with Google Cloud, under which Google signed its first agreement in
Poland to purchase clean and green electricity from the Przyréow wind farm, and our Group will benefit from
Google Cloud's cloud solutions, accelerating its technological development and digital transformation.

In 2023, our green energy sources produced 665 GWh of energy, and almost 100% of the energy consumed
by our Group companies came from renewable sources. The estimated greenhouse gas emissions avoided
by our Group through the development of our own RES amounted to 316,000 tons. The green hydrogen-
powered NesoBus has been tested in Warsaw, Gdansk, Gdynia, Konin, Szczecin and Wroclaw, among
others, and the cities of Rybnik, Gdarnsk and Chetm have decided to purchase them for their residents.
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In total, we provide more than 20 million telecommunication and TV services to individual customers and
businesses and institutions. Nearly 2.5 million of our customers take advantage of our multiplay offers and
achieve tangible financial benefits by combining the services of Polsat Box and Plus. We are the only
telecommunication and pay TV operator to offer access to this Disney+ service in bundled offers with our
services. We provide business customers with advanced ICT services, particularly cloud, data center and
cybersecurity solutions. We offer viewers 43 of our own channels, and the total audience share of TV Polsat
Group channels was 22% last year, giving us a strong position in the TV advertising market with a share of
almost 29%. Our focus in the online media segment continues to be the creation and delivery of valuable
content. The Polsat-Interia Group has almost 21 million unique users per month and is one of the three largest
providers of online services in the country.

Polsat Plus Group's revenues increased to PLN 13.6 billion, EBITDA to PLN 3 billion and net profit to PLN
300 million, thanks in part to the growth of the green energy segment. We achieved these results in a difficult
macroeconomic market. We successfully completed the refinancing of our debt and issued bonds linked to
our sustainable development goals in the amount of approximately PLN 3.9 billion, using these funds to the
most part to effective implementation of the 2023+ strategy.

Our Group's performance is due to the hard work of several thousand employees - | would like to thank them
all for their great commitment, perseverance and countless ideas. | would also like to thank our shareholders,
financial partners and the representatives of the Supervisory and Management Boards of the Group's
companies - it is their trust and support that makes the effective implementation of our strategy possible.

We have ambitious plans and are ready to redouble our efforts to achieve our goals. The trust of our clients
and viewers motivates us to work hard and develop Polsat Plus Group. It is with them in mind that we take
on new challenges, so that they can enjoy ever better quality services - reliable and fast Internet, a wealth of
content on any device, valuable Internet portals, and green and cheap energy, whose spread will give us a
cleaner and healthier environment.

Yours faithfully,

Mirostaw Btaszczyk

President of the Management Board, Cyfrowy Polsat S.A.
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Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. Capital Group

Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2023
(all cash amounts presented in text are in million with currency specification, all amounts are in PLN million, except where otherwise
stated)

Approval of the Consolidated Financial Statements
On 10 April 2024, the Management Board of Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. approved the consolidated

financial statements of Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. Capital Group prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, which include:

Consolidated Income Statement for the period

from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 showing a net profit for the period of: PLN 311.6
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the period
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 showing a total comprehensive income
: PLN 262.6

for the period of:
Consolidated Balance Sheet as at
31 December 2023 showing total assets and total equity and liabilities of: PLN 37,176.7
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the period
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 showing a net increase in cash and

. ; ) PLN 2,512.9
cash equivalents amounting to:
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the period
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 showing an increase in equity of: PLN 494 .4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in million of Polish zloty (‘PLN’) except
where otherwise indicated.

Mirostaw Maciej Jacek Aneta

Blaszczyk

President of the
Management Board

Stec
Vice-President of the
Management Board

Agnieszka
Odorowicz
Member of the
Management Board

Warsaw, 10 April 2024

Katarzyna
Ostap-Tomann
Member of the
Management Board

Felczykowski
Member of the
Management Board

Jaskélska
Member of the
Management Board
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(all cash amounts presented in text are in million with currency specification, all amounts are in PLN million, except where otherwise
stated)

Consolidated Income Statement

for the year ended

Note 31 December 31 December
2023 2022

Continuing operations
Revenue 9 13,626.3 12,9156.3
Operating costs 10 (12,488.8) (11,399.8)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary and an associate 41 219.7 153.2
Other operating income/(cost), net (45.6) (26.5)
Profit from operating activities 1,311.6 1,642.2
Gain/(loss) on investment activities, net 11 162.4 23.5
Finance costs, net 12 (1,081.9) (649.9)
Share of the proﬁt/(loss) of associates accounted for 29.7 945

using the equity method
Gross profit for the period 421.8 1,110.3
Income tax 13 (110.2) (209.2)
Net profit for the period 311.6 901.1
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Parent 278.5 900.0
Net profit attributable to non-controlling interest 331 1.1
Basic earnings per share (in PLN) 15 0.57 1.62

Diluted earnings per share (in PLN) 15 0.57 1.62
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Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. Capital Group

Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2023
(all cash amounts presented in text are in million with currency specification, all amounts are in PLN million, except where otherwise
stated)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

for the year ended

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
Net profit for the period 311.6 901.1

Items that may not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Actuarial gain/(loss) (2.6) 29

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Valuation of hedging instruments (23.3) 9.2
Share of other comprehensive income of subsidiaries

and associates (23.1) 23.7
Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax (49.0) 35.8
Total comprehensive income for the period 262.6 936.9
Total comprehensive income attributable to equity

holders of the Parent 234.4 934.6
Total comprehensive income attributable to non- 28.2 23

controlling interest
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Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2023

(all cash amounts presented in text are in million with currency specification, all amounts are in PLN million, except where otherwise

stated)

Consolidated Balance Sheet - Assets

Note

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
Property, plant and equipment 16 6,494.3 3,882.9
Goodwill 17 10,980.2 10,818.1
Customer relationships 20 300.2 643.7
Brands 18 1,979.7 2,060.9
Other intangible assets 20 4.835.8 3,340.6
Right-of-use assets 21 644.6 527.0
Non-current programming assets 22 304.8 501.8
Investment property 23 700.0 647.0
Non-current deferred distribution fees 24 85.0 79.8
Non-current trade receivables 25 968.1 930.0
Non-current loans granted 26 10.9 325.6
Other non-current assets, includes: 25 702.8 1,918.0
?ohra[:iﬁv gvtzsésggﬁ;;; Zr;g c{zint ventures accounted 10.1 1.884.2
shares in third parties valued in fair value through
profit or loss 615.9 1.6
derivative instruments 42 35.2 17.4
Deferred tax assets 13 142.8 99.9
Total non-current assets 28,149.2 25,775.3
Current programming assets 22 678.2 699.2
Contract assets 27 349.0 362.9
Inventories 28 1,215.6 1,162.4
Trade and other receivables 29 2,947 1 2,751.3
Current loans granted 26 116.2 250.5
Income tax receivable 20.0 5.0
Current deferred distribution fees 24 2274 217.3
Other current assets, includes: 30 139.7 137.2
derivative instruments 42 21.6 63.9
Cash and cash equivalents 31 3,306.0 808.5
Restricted cash 31 19.7 9.3
Total current assets 9,018.9 6,403.6
Assets held for sale, includes: 50 8.6 127.7
cash and cash equivalents 1.2 -
Total assets 37,176.7 32,306.6
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Consolidated Balance Sheet - Equity and Liabilities

Note 31 December 31 December

2023 2022

Share capital 32 25.6 25.6
Share premium 32 7,174.0 7,174.0
Share of other comprehensive income of associates - 51.9
Other reserves 32 2,752.8 2,815.9
Retained earnings 8,334.1 8,057.6
Treasury shares 32 (2,854.7) (2,854.7)
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent 15,431.8 15,270.3
Non-controlling interests 32 873.4 540.5
Total equity 16,305.2 15,810.8
Loans and borrowings 34 9,534.3 6,624.8
Issued bonds 35 3,955.4 1,900.4
Lease liabilities 36 4446 345.6
Deferred tax liabilities 13 1,035.0 978.7
Other non-current liabilities and provisions, includes: 38 385.6 330.9
derivative instruments 42 24.0 4.3
Total non-current liabilities 15,354.9 10,180.4
Loans and borrowings 34 1,069.7 1,512.6
Issued bonds 35 393.7 176.0
Lease liabilities 36 166.2 178.6
Contract liabilities 682.2 606.8
Trade and other payables, includes: 39 3,172.6 3,767 1
derivative instruments 42 20.2 2.1
Income tax liability 13 31.4 74.3
Total current liabilities 5,515.8 6,315.4
Liabilities held for sale 0.8 -
Total liabilities 20,871.5 16,495.8

Total equity and liabilities
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Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. Capital Group

Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2023

(all cash amounts presented in text are in million with currency specification, all amounts are in PLN million, except where otherwise

stated)

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

for the year ended

31 December

31 December

Note 2023 2022
Net profit 311.6 901.1
Adjustments for: 2,316.6 2,072.4
Depreciation, amortization, impairment and liquidation 10 1,919.6 1,829.0
Payments for film licenses and sports rights (654.0) (587.1)
Amortization of film licenses and sports rights 660.5 668.6
Interest expense 1,078.2 660.6
Change in inventories 150.1 (82.5)
Change in receivables and other assets (32.1) (13.3)
Change in liabilities and provisions (268.5) (224.2)
Change in contract assets 13.9 55.1
Change in contract liabilities (38.0) (48.1)
Foreign exchange (gains)/losses, net (119.8) 14.6
Income tax 110.2 209.2
Net additions of reception equipment (145.8) (113.1)
eSQSirt;e/ %f etthheo(r;rofit of associates accounted for using the (29.7) (94.5)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary and an associate 41 (219.7) (153.2)
Premium for early redemption of bonds 10.1 -
Cumulative catch-up (20.8) -
One-time loans repayment 20.8 -
Valuation of hedging instruments (28.8) 11.4
(Profit)/loss on derivatives, net 6.7 (71.7)
Other adjustments (96.3) 11.6
Cash from operating activities 2,628.2 2,973.5
Income tax paid (342.1) (1,278.4)
Interest received from operating activities 106.3 66.6
Net cash from operating activities 2,392.4 1,761.7
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Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (1,289.4) (776.9)
Acquisition of intangible assets (312.5) (337.5)
Concessions payments (1,345.9) (514.0)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 40, 50 (84.9) (266.5)
Acquisition of shares in associates 41 - (4.9)
Capital increase in an associate - (473.8)
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary and an associate 913.8 757.4
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 26.2 78.2
Loans granted (343.4) (686.9)
Repayment of loans granted 133.0 2725
Acquisition of bonds (20.0) -
Bonds redemption with interest 22.0 -
Dividends received from associate 73.8 64.0
Other inflows/(outflows) 11.6 11.8
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities (2,215.7) (1,876.6)
Bonds issue (") 2,145.3 -
Loans and borrowings inflows 34 3,885.1 141.2
Repayment of loans and borrowings 34 (2,327.0) (1,045.1)
E:%r;?:;icc:;;?;c;erest on loans, borrowings, bonds, and (1,203.3) (616.9)
Payment of lease liabilities 36 (195.5) (196.4)
Payment of interest on lease liabilities 36 (27.4) (20.2)
Dividend payment of the Parent Company - (660.8)
Hedging instrument effect 60.8 109.4
Acquisition of treasury shares® - (393.9)
Other outflows (1.8) (23.0)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 2,336.2 (2,705.7)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the

2,512.9 (2,820.6)

10

. 817.8¥ 3,644.30
period
Ef'fept of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash (3.8) (5.9)
equivalents
Transfer to assets held for sale (1.2) -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 3,325.76) 817.84

™ Value of bonds issue reduced by bond interest and early redemption premium settled in conversion
@ Includes amount paid for costs related to the new financing

® Includes amount paid for costs related to acquisition of treasury shares

@ Includes restricted cash amounting to PLN 9.3

® Includes restricted cash amounting to PLN 11.9

® Includes restricted cash amounting to PLN 19.7
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(all cash amounts presented in text are in million with currency specification, all amounts are in PLN million, except where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 31 December 2023

Equity
Share of other Retained attributable Non-
Share  Share comprehensive  Other . Treasury . . Total
. : . earnings to equity controlling .
capital premium income of reserves (y  shares holders of  interests  €duity
associates

the Parent
Balance as at 1 January 2023 25.6 7,174.0 519 2,8159 8,057.6 (2,854.7) 15,270.3 540.5 15,810.8
Dividend approved and share of profits - - - - (2.0) - (2.0) (9.3) (11.3)
Increase in capital of subsidiaries - - - - - - - 1.6 1.6
Option valuation - - - (395) - - (39.5) - (39.5)
Acquisition/disposal of subsidiaries/associates - - (39.4) 8.0 - - (31.4) 312.4 281.0
Total comprehensive income/(loss) - - (12.5)  (31.6) 278.5 - 234.4 28.2 262.6
Hedge valuation reserve - - - (233 - - (23.3) - (23.3)

Share of other comprehensive income of

subsidiaries and associates ) ) (12.5) (5.7) ) ) (18.2) (4.9)  (23.1)
Actuarial gains/(losses) - - - (2.6) - - (2.6) - (2.6)
Net profit for the period - - - - 278.5 - 278.5 33.1 311.6
Balance as at 31 December 2023 25.6 7,174.0 - 2,752.8 8,334.1 (2,854.7) 15,431.8 873.4 16,305.2

™ n accordance with the provisions of the Commercial Companies Code, joint-stock companies are required to transfer at least 8% of their annual net profits to reserve capital until its
amount reaches one third of the amount of their share capital. As at 31 December 2023 the capital excluded from distribution amounts to PLN 8.5

11
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Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2023

(all cash amounts presented in text are in million with currency specification, all amounts are in PLN million, except where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 31 December 2022

Equity
Share of other .
Share Share comprehensive Other Retained  Treasury attl';lbutatfle N?"’ Total
. . . . 1 o equity controlling .
capital  premium income of  reserves earnings(" shares holders of interests equity
associates

the Parent
Balance as at 1 January 2022 25.6 7,174.0 321 2,801.3 7,823.6 (2,461.0) 15,395.6 (11.0) 15,384.6
Dividend approved and share of profits - - - - (660.8) - (660.8) (4.4) (665.2)
Acquisition of treasury shares - - - (0.2) - (393.7) (393.9) - (393.9)
Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - - (5.2) - (5.2) 553.6 548.4
Total comprehensive income - - 19.8 14.8 900.0 - 934.6 2.3 936.9
Hedge valuation reserve - - - 9.2 - - 9.2 - 9.2
Shar(? Qf cher comprel?ensive income of ) ) 19.8 27 _ ) 295 12 23.7

subsidiaries and associates

Actuarial profits/(losses) - - - 2.9 - - 2.9 - 2.9
Net profit for the period - - - - 900.0 - 900.0 1.1 901.1
Balance as at 31 December 2022 25.6 7,174.0 51.9 2,815.9 8,057.6 (2,854.7) 15,270.3 540.5 15,810.8

™ n accordance with the provisions of the Commercial Companies Code, joint-stock companies are required to transfer at least 8% of their annual net profits to reserve capital until its
amount reaches one third of the amount of their share capital. As at 31 December 2022 the capital excluded from distribution amounts to PLN 8.5.
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Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. Capital Group

Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2023
(all cash amounts presented in text are in million with currency specification, all amounts are in PLN million, except where otherwise
stated)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023

General information

Name of reporting entity or other means of

identification: Cyfrowy Polsat S.A.
Domicile of entity: Poland

Legal form of entity: joint stock company

Country of incorporation: Poland

Address of entity's registered office: tubinowa 4a, 03-878 Warsaw
Principal place of business: Poland

1. The Parent Company

Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. (‘the Company’, ‘Cyfrowy Polsat’, ‘the Parent Company’, ‘the Parent’) was
incorporated in Poland as a joint stock company. The Company’s shares are traded on the
Warsaw Stock Exchange. The Parent Company’s registered office is located at 4a, tLubinowa
Street in Warsaw.

The Parent operates in Poland as a provider of a paid digital satellite platform under the name
of ‘Polsat Box’ and paid digital terrestrial television as well as telecommunication services
provider.

The Company was incorporated under the Notary Deed dated 30 October 1996.

These consolidated financial statements comprise the Parent and its subsidiaries (‘the Group’)
and joint ventures. The Group operates in four segments:

e B2C and B2B services which relates mainly to the provision of services to the general
public, including digital television transmission signal, Internet access services,
mobile TV services, online TV services, mobile services, production of set-top boxes,

e media which consist mainly of production, acquisition and broadcasting of information
and entertainment programs as well as TV series and feature films broadcasted on
television channels in Poland,

e real estate segment, which mainly includes the implementation of construction
projects as well as the sale, rental and management of own or leased real estate,

e green energy segment, which mainly includes production and sale of energy from
renewable sources, construction of a complete hydrogen-based value chain as well
as investments in projects focused on the production of energy from photovoltaics
and wind farms.

2. Composition of the Management Board of the Company

e Mirostaw Blaszczyk President of the Management Board,

e Maciej Stec Vice-President of the Management Board,
e Jacek Felczykowski Member of the Management Board,

e Aneta Jaskolska Member of the Management Board,

e Agnieszka Odorowicz Member of the Management Board,

e Katarzyna Ostap-Tomann Member of the Management Board.
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3. Composition of the Supervisory Board of the Company

Composition of the Supervisory Board from 19 July 2023:

Zygmunt Solorz Chairman of the Supervisory Board,
Tobias Solorz Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board,
Piotr Zak Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board,
Jozef Birka Member of the Supervisory Board,
Jarostaw Grzesiak Member of the Supervisory Board,
Marek Grzybowski Member of the Supervisory Board,
Alojzy Nowak Member of the Supervisory Board,
Tomasz Szelag Member of the Supervisory Board.

Composition of the Supervisory Board to 19 July 2023:

Zygmunt Solorz Chairman of the Supervisory Board,

Marek Kapuscinski Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board (until 31 May 2023),
Jozef Birka Member of the Supervisory Board,

Jarostaw Grzesiak Member of the Supervisory Board,

Marek Grzybowski Member of the Supervisory Board,

Alojzy Nowak Member of the Supervisory Board,

Tobias Solorz Member of the Supervisory Board,

Tomasz Szelag Member of the Supervisory Board,

Piotr Zak Member of the Supervisory Board.

4. Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 have been
prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by
the EU (IFRS EU). The Group applied the same accounting policies in the preparation of the
financial data for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the consolidated financial statements
for the year 2022, presented in the consolidated annual report, except for the EU-endorsed
standards and interpretations which are effective for the reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 the following become effective:

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and Amendments to IFRS 17,

Amendments to IFSR 17 Insurance Contracts: Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS
9 — Comparative Information,

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Board
guidelines: Disclosure of Accounting policies,

Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors: Definition of Accounting Estimates,

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction,

Amendments to IAS 12 Income taxes: International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model
Rules.
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Amendments and interpretations that apply for the first time in 2023 do not have a material
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Standards published but not yet effective:

e Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Transactions,

¢ Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current,

¢ Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures: Supplier Finance Arrangements,

e Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates: Lack of
Exchangeability.

The Group has not early adopted the new or amended standards in preparing these
consolidated financial statements.

The Group is currently analyzing the impact of the published standards that have not entered
into force and believes that, apart from additional disclosures, they should not have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

5. Group structure

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 include the
following entities:

Share in voting rights (%)*

Entity’s registered Activit 31 December 31 December
office y 2023 2022
Parent Company:
tubinowa 4a, radio, TV a.nd
Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. telecommunication n/a n/a
03-878 Warsaw o
activities
Subsidiaries accounted for using full method:
Telewizja Polsat Ostrobramska 77, te|.eV|S|0n
broadcasting and 100% 100%
Sp.zo.0. 04-175 Warsaw :
production
Polsat Media
Sp. z 0.0. (f_orm.erly Ostrobramska 77, )
Polsat Media Biuro media 100% 100%
04-175 Warsaw
Reklamy Sp. z o.0.
Sp.k.)@
Alte Landstrasse
Polsat License Ltd. 17, 8863 Bulttikon, media 100% 100%
Switzerland
Polsat Media Biuro Ostrobramska 77
’ i -(m) o
Reklamy Sp. z 0.0. (™ 04-175 Warsaw media 100%

3, Krinou Agios
Athanasios, 4103 media 100% 100%
Limassol, Cyprus
238A King Street,
Polsat Ltd. W6 ORF London, media 100% 100%
United Kingdom

Polsat Investments
Ltd.
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Share in voting rights (%)*

Entity’s registered

31 December

31 December

office Activity 2023 2022
Subsidiaries accounted for using full method (cont.):
. Fabryczna 5a, .
naEKRAr\fI:E pl ry media 60% )
Sp.zo0.0.9 00-446 Warsaw
Fabryczna 5a, .
4FUN Sp. z 0.0. media 60% -
00-446 Warsaw
Al. Stanéw
Muzo.fm Sp. z 0.0 Zjednoczonych media 100% 100%
i 9P £ 0.0 61A, 04-028 ° °
Warsaw
-TV- tubinowa 4a, i
INFO-TV-FM radio ar.1d. TV 100% 100%
Sp.zo0.0. 03-878 Warsaw activities
tubinowa 4a, . . o o
CPSPV1 Sp. z o.0. 03-878 Warsaw technical services 100% 100%
tubinowa 4a, . .
CPSPV2 Sp. z o.0. technical services 100% 100%
03-878 Warsaw
Konstruktorska 4, telecommunication o o
Polkomtel Sp. z o.0. 02-673 Warsaw activities 100% 100%
Al Stanéw telecommunication
Liberty Poland S.A. Zjednoczonych 61, activities 100% 100%
04-028 Warsaw
other activities
Polkomtel Business Konstruktorska 4, - suppo.rtlng
Development financial services, 100% 100%
02-673 Warsaw
Sp. zo.0. gaseous fuels
trading activities
intelectual
TM Rental Konstruktorska 4
’ i -(d) o
Sp.zo0.0.9 02-673 Warsaw property rights 100%
rental
Level 2 West,
Mercury Tower, Elia
Orsen Holding Ltd. Zammit Street, St. holding activities 100% 100%
Julian’s STJ 3155,
Malta
Level 2 West,
Mercury Tower, Elia
Orsen Ltd. Zammit Street, St. holding activities 100% 100%
Julian’s STJ 3155,
Malta
Al. Stanéw
Dwa Sp. z o0.0. Zjednoczonych 61, holding activities 100% 100%

04-028 Warsaw
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Share in voting rights (%)*

Entity’s registered

31 December

31 December

office Activity 2023 2022
Subsidiaries accounted for using full method (cont.):
i Inwestorow 8, i -
Interphone Service : production of set 100% 100%
Sp. z 0.0. 39-300 Mielec top boxes
Teleaudio Dwa Al. Stanéw call center and
Sb. 2 0.0. Sb.k Zjednoczonych 61, premium rate 100% 100%
P- 2 0.0. Sp.X- 04-028 Warsaw services
Mokotowska 49, . i
IB 1 FIZAN financial activities > >
00-542 Warsaw
Al. Stanéw
. Zjednoczonych telecommunication
f A 19 19
Sferia S 61A, 04-028 activities 51% 51%
Warsaw
Al. Stanéw
Altalog Sp. z 0.0 Zjednoczonych software 66% 66%
9 9p- 2 0.0. 61A, 04-028 ° °
Warsaw
Konstruktorska 4,
Plus Flota Sp. z 0.0. management and 100% 100%
02-673 Warsaw rental services
. Ostrobramska 77, .
Music TV Sp. z 0.0. ¥ media -0 100%
04-175 Warsaw
Ostrobramska 77, )
Polo TV Sp. z 0.0.) media -0 100%
04-175 Warsaw
Poleczki 13, icati
Netia S.A. telecommunication 100% 100%
02-822 Warsaw activities
Poleczki 13, telecommunication
Netia 2 Sp Z 0.0. 02-822 Warsaw activities 100% 100%
Kijowska 10/12A, telecommunication
TK Telekom -t 100% 100%
Sp. z 0.0. 03-743 Warsaw activities
Chemikéw 7, telecommunication
Petrotel Sp. z o0.0. o 100% 100%
09-411 Plock activities
Plac Europejski 2,
Eleven Sports pe) media 100% 99.99%
Network Sp. z 0.0.0 00-844 Warsaw
Superstacja ) Ostrobramska 77, ) " 0
Sp. zo.0. 04-175 Warsaw media 100%
Netshare Media Ostrobramska 77, advertising o o
Group Sp. z o0.0. 04-175 Warsaw activities 100% 100%
Kielecka 5, )
TVO Sp. z 0.0. . retail sales 75.96% 75.96%
81-303 Gdynia
i Konstruktorska 4,
Plus Finanse other monetary 100% 100%

Sp.z o0.0.

02-673 Warsaw

intermediation
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Share in voting rights (%)*

Entity’s registered 31 December 31 December

office Activity 2023 2022
Subsidiaries accounted for using full method (cont.):
Konstruktorska 4,
Plus Pay Sp. z 0.0. _ Mmonetary 100% 100%
02-673 Warsaw intermediation
Al. Wyscigowa 6, . .
Esoleo Sp. z 0.0. technical services 51.25% 51.25%
02-681 Warsaw
Broniwoja 3/85,
Alledo Express J rental services 51.25% 51.25%
Sp. zo.0. 02-655 Warsaw
Broniwoja 3/85,
Alledo Parts ) wholesale 51.25% 51.25%
Sp.zo0.0. 02-655 Warsaw
Alledo Parts Broniwoja 3/85, wholesale 51.25% 51.25%
Sp. z 0.0. Sp.k. 02-655 Warsaw
Broniwoja 3/85,
Alledo Setup ) technical services 51.25% 51.25%
Sp.z o0.0. 02-655 Warsaw
Broniwoja 3/85,
Alledo Setup ) technical services 51.25% 51.25%
Sp. z 0.0. Sp.k. 02-655 Warsaw
i Os. Teatralne 9a,
Grupa Interia.pl holding activities 100% 100%
Sp. zo.0. 31-946 Cracow
Interia.pl Sp. z 0.0.
fi ly G Os. Teatralne 9a,
( orn?er y ruPa web p.or?t.'als 100% 100%
Interia.pl Media 31-946 Cracow activities
Sp. z 0.0. Sp.k.)®)
Grupa Interia.pl Os. Teatralne 9a, web portals 0 100%
Sp. z 0.0. Spk. O 31-946 Cracow activities ) °
I\.Ilob.lem. Polska in Fabryczna 5a, ' o
liquidation holding activities 100% 100%
Sp. 2 0.0.% 00-446 Warsaw
Mobiem Sp. z 0.0.
formerly Mobi Fabryczna 5a, isi
( y Mobiem rycz adver.t|.5|.ng 100% 100%
Polska 00-446 Warsaw activities
Sp. z 0.0. Sp.k.)©)
Ostrobramska 77,
TV Spektrum Media 100% 100%
Sp. zo.0. 04-175 Warsaw
Ludwika
Polot Media Sp. z o.0. Solskiego 55, consulting 60% 60%
52-401 Wroclaw
Polot Media S Ludwika . 4TV
olot Media Sp. z o.0. Solskiego 55, movie an 60% 60%

Sp.k.

52-401 Wroclaw

production
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Share in voting rights (%)*

Entity’s registered 31 December 31 December

office Activity 2023 2022
Subsidiaries accounted for using full method (cont.):
Rakowiecka 41/21, icati
BCAST Sp. z 0.0. telecommunication 70.02% 70.02%
02-521 Warsaw activities
cooperation with
Ostrobramska 77,
:°'szaZT:'e"ty 04175 W artists and 100% 100%
p- 2 o.0. -175 Warsaw presenters
Al. Stanow
i i Zjednoczonych icati
Premium Mobile J y telecommum(.:altl'on 100% 100%
Sp.zo.0. 61A, activities
04-028 Warsaw
Al. Stanow
Zjednoczonych sales network
isiani (t) - o
Visignio Sp. z o.0. 1A, management 100%
04-028 Warsaw
Saveadvisor Warszawska 18,
, call center 100% 100%
Sp.zo.0. 35-205 Rzeszéw services
Orzechowa 5, i
Logitus Sp. z 0.0.© ) wired © 100%
80-175 Gdansk communication
tubinowa 4A, . .
Stork 5 Sp. z o.0. holding activities 100% 100%
03-878 Warsaw
tubinowa 4A, i
Swan 5 Sp. z o.0. agrlcglt.u-ral 100% 100%
03-878 Warsaw activities
Al. Stanéw
i other financial
Vindix S.A. Zjednoczonych ) 100% 100%
61A, services
04-028 Warsaw
Al. Stanéw
Vindix Investments i other financial
Zjednoczonych . 100% 100%
Sp.zo.0. 61A, services
04-028 Warsaw
Al. Stanéw
Direct Collection i other financial
Zjednoczonych ! 100% 100%
Sp. z 0.0. 61A, services
04-028 Warsaw
L Heroiv UPA 73 Z, call center
Vindix Sp. z o.o0. . . 100% 100%
79018, Lviv services
Mokotowska 49,

Vindix NSFIZ

00-542 Warsaw

financial services

*%k

*%
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Share in voting rights (%)*

Entity’s registered 31 December 31 December

office Activity 2023 2022
Subsidiaries accounted for using full method (cont.):
Al. Stanéw
Mag7soft Sp. z 0.0. Zjed”°cz°g31":1 software activities 100% 100%
04-028 Warsaw
Centrum Szkolenia i
Zarzadzania Zwierzyniecka 18, real estate o 100%
Nieruchomosciami 60-814 Poznan services
Sp.zo0.0.®
. . implementation of
Port Praski Krowia 6, .
construction 66.94% 66.94%
Sp.z0.0. 03-711 Warsaw .
projects
i implementation of
Port Pras.kl Krowia 6, p .
Inwestycje construction -0 66.94%
" 03-711 Warsaw .
Sp. zo.0. projects
Port Pras.kl Nowe Krowia 6, real estate
Inwestycje 03711 W ¢ 66.94% 66.94%
Sp. z 0.0. - arsaw managemen
. . implementation of
Port Praski Sp. z 0.0. Krowia 6, )
. construction -() 66.94%
Biatystok Sp.k. (P) 03-711 Warsaw )
projects
. . implementation of
Port Praski Office Krowia 6, .
construction 77.52% 45.52%
Park Sp. z o.0. 03-711 Warsaw .
projects
L . implementation of
Port Praski City Krowia 6, )
construction 77.52% 45.52%
Sp.z 0.0. 03-711 Warsaw .
projects
L . implementation of
Port Praski City Il Krowia 6, .
construction 77.52% 45.52%
Sp.zo.0. 03-711 Warsaw .
projects
L . implementation of
Port Praski City IV Krowia 6, )
construction 77.52% 45.52%
Sp.z 0.0. 03-711 Warsaw .
projects
. . implementation of
Port Praski Krowia 6, .
construction 77.52% 45.52%
Sp. z 0.0. S.KA. 03-711 Warsaw .
projects
Port Prask Krowia 6 implementation of
i rowia 6,
ort Praski construction 77.52% 45.52%
Education Sp. z o0.0. 03-711 Warsaw )
projects
. . . implementation of
Port Praski Doki Krowia 6, )
construction 77.52% 45.52%

Sp. z o.0.

03-711 Warsaw

projects
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Share in voting rights (%)*

Entity’s registered 31 December 31 December

office Activity 2023 2022
Subsidiaries accounted for using full method (cont.):
. . . implementation of
Port Praski Doki Il Krowia 6, .
construction 77.52% 45.52%
Sp.zo0.0. 03-711 Warsaw .
projects
Port Praski M Krowia 6 implementation of
i i rowia 6,
ort Praski Media construction 77.52% 45.52%
Park Sp. z o.0. 03-711 Warsaw .
projects
. . implementation of
Port Praski ll Krowia 6, .
construction 77.52% 45.52%
Sp.zo0.0. 03-711 Warsaw .
projects
Port Praski Hotel Krowia 6, .
hotel services 77.52% 45.52%
Sp.zo0.0. 03-711 Warsaw
3 KRINOU,
Pantanomo Limited( Limassol 4103,  holding activities 77.52% 45.52%
Cyprus
Laris Investments Panska 77/79,
real estate rental 66.94% 66.94%
Sp.z o0.0. 00-834 Warsaw
. i implementation of
Laris Development Panska 77/79, .
construction 66.94% 66.94%
Sp.zo0.0. 00-834 Warsaw .
projects
Laris Technologies Panska 77/79, property rental and
66.94% 66.94%
Sp.zo.0. 00-834 Warsaw management
. implementation of
SPV Baletowa Panska 77/79, )
construction 66.94% 66.94%
Sp.z 0.0. 00-834 Warsaw .
projects
Megadex Gdanska 14/1, property rental and
Development 01-691 W ¢ 66.94% 66.94%
Sp. z 0.0. - arsaw managemen
Adama
Megadex Expo o property rental and
Mickiewicza 63, 66.94% 66.94%
Sp. zo.0. management
01-625 Warsaw
Centrum Zdrowia i . .
Sikorskiego 8, )
Relaksu Verano hotel services 66.94% 66.94%
78-100 Kotobrzeg
Sp. z o.0.
Turystyka Zdrowotna Sikorskiego 8A, _ _
Verano Plus catering services -() 66.94%
78-100 Kotobrzeg
Sp.zo0.0.)
Braci Wieniawskich telecommunication
E | Sp.z o0.0. 1009 1009
nterpol Sp. z 0.0 5. 20-844 Lublin activities 00% 00%
ul. Poleczki 13, website
Oktawave S.A. 100% 100%

02-822 Warsaw

management
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Share in voting rights (%)*

Entity’s registered

31 December

31 December

office Activity 2023 2022
Subsidiaries accounted for using full method (cont.):
Sarmacka 12C/14,
Antyweb Sp. z 0.0.©) web portal 79.88% 70%
02-972 Warsaw activities
PAK-Polska Czysta Kazimierska 45, holding 50.5% ©
. . 0 -
Energia Sp. z o.0. 62-510 Konin activity
Kazimierska 45, i
Great Wind Sp. z 0.0. , production of 50.5% -
62-510 Konin electricity
PAK-PCE Farma _ .
Wiatrowa Okonek Kazimierska 45, holding 50.5% -
62-510 Konin activity
Sp.zo0.0.
PA_‘K'PCE Farma i Kazimierska 45, holding
Wiatrowa Jastrowie 50.5% -
62-510 Konin activity
Sp.z0.0.
Eviva Lebork Kazimierska 45, production of 50.5%
Sp. zo.0. 62-510 Konin electricity e
Eviva Drzezewo Kazimierska 45, production of 50.5%
Sp. z 0.0. 62-510 Konin electricity e
Al. Stanéw
Zjednoczonych movie and TV o
Mese Sp. z o.0. 1A, production 55.45% -
04-028 Warsaw
Kazimierska 45, i
PCE OZE 1 Sp.z 0.0. , production of 50.5% -
62-510 Konin electricity
Kazimierska 45, i
PCE OZE 2 Sp. z 0.0. , production of 50.5% -
62-510 Konin electricity
Kazimierska 45, i
PCE OZE 3 Sp. z 0.0. , production of 50.5% -
62-510 Konin electricity
Kazimierska 45, i
PCE OZE 4 Sp. z0.0. , production of 50.5% -
62-510 Konin electricity
Kazimierska 45, i
PCE OZE 6 Sp. z 0.0. , production of 50.5% -
62-510 Konin electricity
Exion_Hydrogen_ Ku Ujsciu 19, manufactun_e of
Polskie Elektrolizery 80-701 Gdarisk electrical 50.4% -
Sp. z 0.0. ) ans equipment
Slachthuisstraat fact ‘
Belgium BV 2300 Turnhout ; e
equipment
Belgium
PAK-PCE - )
Fotowoltaika Kazimierska 45, production of 50.5% -

Sp. zo.0.

62-510 Konin

electricity
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Share in voting rights (%)*

Entity’s registered 31 December 31 December

office Activity 2023 2022
Subsidiaries accounted for using full method (cont.):
Al. Stanéw
Zjednoczonych .
PAK-Volt S.A. 61A trade of electricity 50.5% -
04-028 Warsaw
PG Hydrogen Konstruktorska 4, manufa-crture of
S 02673 W engines and 26.26% -
p.-zo.0. - arsaw turibinas
PAK-PCE Biopaliwa i Przemystowa 158, production of
. ] . 50.5% -
Wodér Sp. z 0.0. 62-510 Konin electricity
PAK-PCE Wiatr Kazimierska 45, production of
. - 50.5% -
Sp. z 0.0. 62-510 Konin electricity
PAK-PCE Polski .
Kazimierska 45,
Autobus Wodorowy 62-510 Koni manufact;rjes;;‘ 50.5% -
Sp. z 0.0. ; onin
- i Kazimierska 45,
PAK-PCE Stacje H2 . retail of hydrogen 50.5% -
Sp. zo.0. 62-510 Konin
Farma Wiatrowa Kazimierska 45, production of
. ] . 50.5% -
Przyréw Sp. z o.o0. 62-510 Konin electricity
Elektrownie - .
Wiatrowe Dobra Kazimierska 45, productlo.n .of 50.5% i
62-510 Konin electricity
Sp.zo.0.
Farma Wiatrowa Kazimierska 45 i f
Kazimierz Biskupi ’ production o 50.5% -
62-510 Konin electricity
Sp.zo.0.
Park Wi Al. Wojska ducti ¢
ar| iatrowy Polskiego 68, pro uctloh .o 50 5% )
Patczyn 1 Sp. z o.0. electricity
70-479 Szczecin
Muzo Media Ostrobramska 77, movie and TV (W)
Sp. z 0.0."W 04-175 Warsaw production
Port Praski Medical Posteny 14 implementation of
ostepu 14,
ort Praski Medica <P construction 77.52% 22.76%
Center Sp. z 0.0." 02-676 Warsaw )
projects
L. implementation of
Port Praski City Il Postepu 14, .
construction 77.52% 22.76%
Sp. z0.0.1 02-676 Warsaw )
projects

* including direct and indirect shares
** Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. indirectly holds 100% of certificates

@ On 2 January 2023 Polsat Media Sp. z 0.0. was registered. The Company was established as a result of the

transformation from Polsat Media Biuro Reklamy Sp. z 0.0. Sp.k

® On 2 January 2023 Interia.pl Sp. z 0.0. was registered. The Company was established as a result of transformation

from Grupa Interia.pl Media Sp. z 0.0. Sp.k

©On 2 January 2023 merger of Netia S.A. (acquiring company) with Logitus Sp. z 0.0. (acquired company) was

registered

@0n 31 May 2023 merger of Polkomtel Sp. z 0.0. (acquiring company) with TM Rental Sp. z 0.0. (acquired company)

was registered

© On 3 July 2023 Cyfrowy Polsat acquired additional 10.1% shares and obtained control over PAK-Polska Czysta

Energia Sp. z 0.0. and its subsidiaries (“PAK-PCE Group”)

®0On 3 July 2023 Cyfrowy Polsat acquired 32% shares in Pantanomo Limited
©0n 20 July 2023 Polsat Investments Ltd. acqiured 60.0% of shares in naEKRANIE.pl Sp. z 0.0.
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™ On 21 July 2023 Polsat Investments Ltd. acgiured 60.0% of shares in 4FUN Sp. z 0.0

®On 31 July 2023 merger of Interia.pl Sp. z 0.0. (formerly Grupa Interia.pl Media Sp. z 0.0. Sp.k.) (acquiring company)
with Grupa Interia.pl Sp. z 0.0. Sp.k. (acquired company) was registred

0 As of 31 July 2023 Telewizja Polsat Sp. z 0.0. holds 100% shares in Eleven Sports Network Sp. z 0.0.(previously
owned 99.99%)

®On 2 August 2023 Polkomtel Sp. z 0.0. sold 100% of shares in Centrum Szkolenia i Zarzgdzania Nieruchomos$ciami
Sp. z 0.0. to Embud 2 Sp. z 0.0. S.K.A.(company subsidiary)

®'On 17 August 2023 merger of Port Praski Sp. z 0.0. (acquiring company) with Port Praski Inwestycje Sp. z o0.0.
(acquired company) was registered

M On 31 August 2023 merger of Telewizja Polsat Sp. z 0.0. (acquiring company) Polsat Media Biuro Reklamy
Sp. z 0.0. (acquired company) was registred

™ On 31 August 2023 Muzo Media Sp. z 0.0. was registred

© On 1 September 2023 Mobiem Sp. z 0.0. was registred. The Company was established as a result of the
transformation from Mobiem Polska Sp. z 0.0. Sp.k

® On 4 September 2023 Port Praski Sp. z 0.0. Biatystok Sp. k. was removed from the National Court Register

© On 4 October 2023 Pantanomo Limited acquired 50% of shares in Port Praski City Il Sp. z 0.0. and Port Praski
Medical Center Sp. z 0.0. (a sa result Pantanomo Limited has 100% of shares in Port Praski City Il Sp. z 0.0. and
100% of shares in Port Praski Medical Center Sp. z 0.0.) from HB Reavis Holding CZ a.s

) 0On 8 November 2023 merger of Centrum Zdrowia i Relaksu Verano Sp. z 0.0. (acquiring company) with Turystyka
Zdrowotna Verano Plus Sp. z 0.0. (acquiried company) was registered

®'0On 1 December 2023 merger of Premium Mobile Sp. z 0.0. (acquiring company) with Visignio Sp. z 0.0. (acquiried
company) was registered

“WOn 8 December 2023 Interia.pl Sp. z 0.0. (formerly Grupa Interia.pl Sp. z 0.0.) acquiered 9.88% of shares Antyweb
Sp. z o.0. After transaction Interia.pl Sp. z 0.0. helds 79,88% of shares in Antyweb Sp. z 0.0.

W On 19 December 2023 merger of Telewizja Polsat Sp. z 0.0. (acquiring company) with Muzo Media Sp. z o.0.
(acquiried company) was registered

) On 19 December 2023 the suspension of the activities of Mobiem Polska Sp. z 0.0. was registered. On 17 January
2024, the court registered the opening of the company's liquidation

¥ On 20 December 2023 merger of TV Spektrum Sp. z 0.0. (acquiring company) with companies: Polo TV Sp. z 0.0.,
Music TV Sp. z 0.0. and Superstacja Sp. z 0.0. (acquired companies) was registered

Investments accounted for under the equity method:

Share in voting rights (%)*

Entity’s registered Activit 31 December 31 December
office vity 2023 2022

33 Broadwick Street
Soho London W1F

i (a) i _(a) 0
Polsat JimJam Ltd. @ oDQ, media 50%
United Kingdom
Polski Operator Wiertnicza 166, . .
technical services 50% 50%
Telewizyjny Sp. z o0.0. 02-952 Warsaw
A Poland S.A.© Olchowa 14, software activities © 22.95%
W iviti - .
sseco Foland S.A. 35-322 Rzeszow °
Polsat Boxi i
olsat Boxing Ostrobramska 77, movie and TV 4% 249
Promotion Sp. z 0.0. 04-175 Warsaw production

Wielopole 6, sale of wood and

i 31.12% 31.12%
Pollytag S.A. 80-556 Gdansk construction o o

materials
PAK-Polska Czysta Kazimierska 45, holding ® 4041
Energia Sp. z 0.0.® 62-510 Konin activity e
implementation of
Port Praski Medical Postepu 14, P construction @ 99 769%
Center Sp. z 0.0.) 02-676 Warsaw . R
projects
. - implementation of
Port Praski City Il Postepu 14,
@ Y 02-676 v?/p construction -@ 22.76%
Sp. z o.0. - arsaw

projects

* including direct and indirect shares
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@ On 15 February 2023 Telewizja Polsat Sp. z 0.0. sold 50% shares of Polsat JimJam Ltd.

® On 3 July 2023 Cyfrowy Polsat acquired additional 10.1% shares and obtained control over PAK-Polska Czysta
Energia Sp. z 0.0. and its subsidiaries (“PAK-PCE Group”)

© On 21 Spetember 2023 Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. sold 12.82% shares of Asseco Poland S.A. (after this transaction
Asseco Poland S.A. ceased to be an associate).

@On 4 October Pantanomo Limited acquired 50% of shares in Port Praski City Il Sp. z 0.0. and Port Praski Medical
Center Sp. z 0.0. (a sa result Pantanomo Limited has 100% of shares in Port Praski City Il Sp. z 0.0. and 100% of
shares in Port Praski Medical Center Sp. z 0.0.) from HB Reavis Holding CZ a.s.

Additionally, the following entities were included in these consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023:

Share in voting rights (%)

Entity’s registered Activit 31 December 31 December

office y 2023 2022
izj Warszawska 220,

Karpacka TeIeW|ZJa1 dormant 99% 99%
Kablowa Sp. z 0.0.(" 26-600 Radom

Polskie Badania Al Jerozolimskie web portals

Internetu Sp. z 0.0.? 65/79’\/82;86:; activities

21.43% 21.43%

Domaniewska 47, .
Pluszak Sp. z o.0. retail sales 9% 9%
02-672 Warsaw

EX|on.Hydrogen. Ku Ujéciu 19, prOdUCthf? of
Polskie Elektrolizery , electrical -4) 10%
80-701 Gdansk .
Sp.zo.0. equipment
Towerlink Poland Marcina Kasprzaka telecommunication o o
Sp. z o.0. 4, 01-211 Warsaw activities 0.01% 0.01%
Al. Stanéw . 4TV
MESE Sp. z o.0. Zjednoczonych 61A, movie an . -4 10%
production
04-028 Warsaw
Megadex SPV Adama Mickiewicza other financial
7.029 7.029
Sp. z 0.0. 63, 01-625 Warsaw services 02% 02%
Meaadex Ksie3 Ad Mickiewi implementation
egadex Ksiezy ama Mickiewicza . ) 7029
Miyn Sp. z 0.0. ) 63, 01-625 Warsaw of constru(.:hon 02%
projects
Stocznia repair and

Budowniczych 10, .
Remontowa NAUTA ] maintenance of 0.03% 0.03%
81-336 Gdynia

S.A. ships and boats

Olchowa 14,
Asst(e;):o Poland i software activities 10.13% -
S.A. 35-322 Rzeszéw

™ Investment accounted for at cost less any accumulated impairment losses

@ Not included in investments accounted for under the equity method due to immateriality

® On 31 May 2023 merger of Megadex SPV Sp. z 0.0. (acquiring company) with Megadex Ksiezy Mtyn Sp. z o.o0.
(acquired company) was registered

@ On 3 July 2023 Cyfrowy Polsat acquired additional 10.1% shares and obtained control over PAK-Polska Czysta
Energia Sp. z 0.0. and its subsidiaries (“PAK-PCE Group”)

® On 21 September 2023 Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. sold 12.82% of shares in Asseco Poland S.A. (after this transaction
Asseco Poland S.A. ceased to be an associate).
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Principles applied in the preparation of financial statements

6. Accounting and consolidation policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented
in these consolidated financial statements by all entities within the Group.

a) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except
for derivative financial instruments, which are stated at fair value and other financial
instruments valued at fair value through profit or loss.

b) Going concern

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Group’s
entities will continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future, not shorter than 12 months
from 31 December 2023.

c) Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in the Polish zloty, rounded to million,
the Group’s functional currency.

d) Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with EU IFRS requires the
Management Board to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and costs.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical data and other factors
considered as reliable under the circumstances, and their results provide grounds for an
assessment of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities which cannot be based directly
on any other sources. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in
any future periods affected. Information about critical estimates and judgments in applying
accounting policies is included in note 53.

e) Comparative financial information

Comparative data or data presented in previously published financial statements has been
updated, if necessary, in order to reflect presentational changes introduced in the current
period. The changes had no impact on previously reported amounts of net income or equity.

f) Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Parent. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same period as the financial
statements of the Company and using the accounting policies that are consistent with those
of the Company for like transactions and events.

Equity transactions between a parent entity and the non-controlling interests are treated as
transactions between shareholders, provided that the transactions do not result in a change

26



Grupa
Polsat
Plus

(

Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. Capital Group

Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2023
(all cash amounts presented in text are in million with currency specification, all amounts are in PLN million, except where otherwise
stated)

of control. No gains or losses are recognised in consolidated profit or loss for transactions
between the parent entity and the non-controlling interest, unless control is lost. Transactions
where control is not lost are recorded within equity.

Put options granted in business combinations to holders of non-controlling interest in the
subsidiary (ie. obligating the Group to acquire non-controlling interests in particular
circumstances in the future for a particular price) give rise to a financial liability recognised in
the consolidated balance sheet.

As at 31 December 2023 the Group recognized long-term financial liabilities in relation to put
option, granted at the moment of obtaining control over companies.

While such put option remains unexercised, at the end of each reporting period the Group
determines the amount of non-controlling interest (including share of profit/losses attributable
to the non-controlling interest), de-recognises the controlling interest as if was acquired at that
balance sheet date and recognises a financial liability measured at present value of the
redemption amount. The difference is accounted for as a transaction between a parent entity
and the non-controlling interests as described above.

On expiry of an unexercised put option the Group derecognises the financial liability in full and
recognises non-controlling interest as if the put option was never granted.

Associates and Joint arrangements

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or
joint control, over the financial and operating policies. This is generally the case where the
Group hold between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method.

The Group applies IFRS 11 to all joint arrangements. Under IFRS 11 investments in joint
arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the
contractual rights and obligations of each investor. The Group has assessed the nature of its
joint arrangements and determined them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted
for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and
movements in other comprehensive income. When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interests in the entity (which includes any long
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment), the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associates or joint venture.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of the equity accounted investees have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised gains and losses or income and
expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates and joint ventures are eliminated
against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity. Unrealised losses are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence
of impairment.
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Business combinations under common control

IFRS 3 scopes out business combinations under common control and is not prescriptive
otherwise as to the method of accounting for such transactions.

Group assessed that in case of the acquisition of control over Port Praski Group it acquired
control over significant processes including the development of construction projects as well
as the sale, rental and management of owned or leased properties. Moreover, the
expenditures and processes significantly lead to Port Praski Group’s ability to generate
results. In light in the above it was determined that the acquisition method as defined in IFRS 3
is appropriate to account for the acquisition of control over Port Praski Group.

In case of the transaction of acquiring control over PAK-PCE Group, the acquisition was part
of the implementation of the Group's strategy (as a result of the acquisition, a new operating
segment "Green Energy" was identified). This transaction was carried out at fair values, and
the consideration under the transaction was paid in cash. Furthermore external parties were
involved in this transaction, in case of both Cyfrowy Polsat and ZE PAK S.A. (the entity from
which the PAK-PCE shares were purchased) the beneficiaries of this transaction were their
non-controlling shareholders. In light of the above facts and circumstances, the Group
concluded that the transaction of acquiring control over the PAK-PCE Group has economic
substance, therefore the most appropriate method to account for this transaction is the
acquisition method as defined in IFRS 3.

g) Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the Polish zloty at exchange rates in effect
one day prior to the recording of these transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to Polish zloty at the
average exchange rate quoted by the National Bank of Poland (“NBP”) for that date. The
foreign currency exchange differences arising on translation of transactions denominated in
foreign currencies and from the reporting date retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in profit and loss. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using
the average NBP exchange rate in effect at the date of the initial recognition. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are
translated at the average NBP foreign exchange rate in effect at the date the fair value was
determined.

h) Financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified in the following measurement categories depending on the
business model in which assets are managed and their cash flow characteristics:

e assets measured at amortised cost - if the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, and the contractual terms of this financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding;

e financial asset measured at fair value through other comprehensive income — if the
financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and the contractual terms
of this financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding;

e assets measured at fair value through profit or loss - all other financial assets.
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Financial assets at initial recognition are measured at fair value plus, in the case of financial
assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not have a significant financial component are initially measured at their
transaction price.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Financial assets measured at amortised cost include trade and other receivables, loans
granted and cash and cash equivalents. Interest income from these financial assets is
calculated using the effective interest rate method and is presented within Gain/(loss) on
investment activities, net.

Financial asset measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial asset measured at fair value through other comprehensive income include
investments in equity instruments for which at initial recognition Group make an irrevocable
election to present in other comprehensive income subsequent changes in their fair value.
Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss include derivative instruments
not designated as hedging instruments, and equity instruments for which the Group made
such choice (shares of Asseco Poland S.A.). Financial assets classified to this category are
measured at fair value and the subsequent changes in their fair value are recognized in profit
or loss. The subsequent changes in their fair value of derivative instruments not designated
as hedging instruments are presented in Gain/(loss) on investment activities, net or Finance
costs, net depending on the economic substance of hedged transaction.

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the
asset have expired or the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include financial liabilities measured at amortised cost and financial
liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of financial liabilities
which are not measured at fair value through profit or loss, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost include loans and borrowings, issued bonds,
UMTS license liabilities, trade and other payables and lease liabilities. Interest expense
related to these financial liabilities is calculated using the effective interest rate method and is
presented within Gain/(loss) on investment activities, net or Finance costs, net.

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss include derivative instruments
not designated as hedging instruments. Financial liabilities classified to this category are
measured at fair value and the subsequent changes in their fair value are recognized in profit
or loss. The subsequent changes in their fair value of derivative instruments not designated
as hedging instruments are presented in Gain/(loss) on investment activities, net or Finance
costs, net depending on the economic substance of hedged transaction.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original
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liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts
is recognised in profit or loss. In early repayment case, the difference between the carrying
amount of the repaid liability and the carrying amount of the new liability is recognized in profit
or loss.

Accounting policies related to gains and losses on investment activities and finance costs are
presented in 6u.

Derivative financial instruments

Hedge accounting

The Group may use derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts,
foreign exchange call options, interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps to
hedge its foreign currency and interest rate risks.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, the Group’s hedges are classified as cash flow hedges
when hedging exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the
hedge relationship to which the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk
management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes
identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk
being hedged and how the Group will assess the effectiveness of changes in the hedging
instrument’s fair value in offsetting the exposure to changes in cash flows attributable to the
hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes
in cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been
highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were designated.

For cash flow hedges the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is
recognized directly as other comprehensive income in the hedge valuation reserve, while any
ineffective portion is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

The amounts recognized within other comprehensive income are transferred from equity to
the income statement when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, such as when the
related gain or loss is recognized in Finance costs or when a forecast sale occurs.

Gains and losses from the settlement of derivative instruments that are designated as, and
are effective hedging instruments, are presented in the same position as the impact of the
hedged item. The derivative instrument is divided into a current portion and a non-current
portion only if a reliable allocation can be made.

In accordance with IFRS 9, the Group chose to apply hedge accounting requirements as in
IAS 39 instead of those included in IFRS 9.

i) Equity
Ordinary shares

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognized as a
deduction from equity.

Preference share capital

Preference share capital is classified as equity, if it is non-redeemable, or redeemable only at
the Company’s option, and any dividends are discretionary. Dividends thereon are recognized
as distributions within equity.

Costs attributable to issue and public offering of shares

Costs attributable to a new issue of shares are recognized in equity while costs attributable to
a public offering of existing shares are recognized directly in finance costs. These costs
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relating to both new issue and sale of existing shares are recognized on a pro-rata basis in
equity and finance costs.

Share premium

Share premium includes the excess of the issue value over the nominal value of shares issued
decreased by share issuance-related consulting costs.

Retained earnings

In accordance with the provisions of article 396 of the Commercial Companies Code, joint-
stock companies are required to transfer at least 8% of their annual net profits to reserve
capital until its amount reaches one third of the amount of their share capital. This capital is
excluded from distribution, however, it can be utilised to cover accumulated losses.

j) Property, plant and equipment and investment property
Property, plant and equipment owned by the Group

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses.

Cost includes purchase price of the asset and other expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition and bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, including
initial delivery as well as handling and storage costs. The cost of purchased assets is reduced
by the amounts of vendor discounts, rebates and other similar reductions received.

The cost of self-constructed assets and assets under construction includes all costs incurred
for their construction, installation, adoption, and improvement as well as borrowing costs
incurred until the date they are accepted for use (or until the reporting date for an asset not
yet accepted for use). The above cost also may include, if necessary, the estimated cost of
dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Investment property

Investment property is defined as a property (land, building, or both) held by the Group to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both.

Investment property is also property (land) whose purpose as of balance sheet date is not
specified or the investment process will not begin within three years from the balance sheet
date.

Investment property is measured initially at cost.

Once recognized all investment property held by the Group are measured using the cost
model as set out in IAS 16. This means that the assets are recognized at cost model as
presented in Property, plant and equipment owned by the Group above.

Investment property is removed from the balance sheet on disposal or when it is permanently
withdrawn from use and no further economic benefits are expected from its disposal.

Subsequent costs

Subsequent cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is
recognized in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits
embodied within the component will flow to the Group and the amount of the cost can be
measured reliably. Replaced item is derecognized. Other property, plant and equipment
related costs are recognized in profit and loss as incurred.
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Depreciation

Depreciation expense is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant
components of individual assets are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is
different from the remainder of that asset, that component is depreciated separately.

Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of each component of an item of property, plant and equipment.

Land is not depreciated.

The following are estimated useful lives of respective group of property, plant and equipment:

Reception equipment 2or3or5 years
Buildings and structures 2-61 years
Technical equipment and machinery 2-30 years
Vehicles 2-10 years
Other 2-26 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values of material assets are reviewed at each
financial year-end.

Leased assets

Assets used under lease, tenancy, rental or similar contracts which meet lease criteria, are
classified separately in the balance sheet as right-of-use assets.

Set-top boxes, modems and routers that are provided to customers under operating lease
agreements are recognized within non-current assets (Reception equipment in the balance
sheet) and depreciated as described in Depreciation above. The set-top boxes are
depreciated over a period that exceeds the period the lease agreements are entered into.

Carrying amounts of reception equipment and other items of property, plant and equipment
as well as right-of-use assets may be reduced by impairment losses whenever there is any
indication that an asset may be impaired and there is uncertainty as to those assets’ revenue
generating potential or their future use in the Group’s operations. The accounting policies
relating to impairment are presented in note 6n.

Detailed accounting policies related to lease contracts are described in point 6v.
k) Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the sum of consideration transferred and payable, the
amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value as at the date of
acquisition of any previously held equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired.

Goodwill is presented at purchase price less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if possible impairment is indicated. Goodwiill
is allocated to acquirer’s cash-generating units for the purpose of testing for impairment. The
allocation is made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose, but not higher
than segment.
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Customer relationships

Customer relationships acquired as a result of the acquisition of subsidiaries are amortized
on a straight-line basis over their useful lives, i.e. over the period of 2.5 to 17.5 years.

Brands

Brands acquired as a result of the acquisition of subsidiaries are amortized on a straight-line
basis over their useful lives, except where an indefinite period of use is justified. Brands with
an indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment or more frequently if impairment
indicators exist. The estimated useful lives for respective brands are as follows:

e Polsat, TV4, TV6 and Polo TV brands: 20 years (i.e. 2042),
e Plus brand: 51 years (i.e. 2065),

e Netia brand: 10 years (i.e. 2028),

e Eleven Sports brand: 15 years (i.e. 2035),

e Interia brand: 30 years (i.e. 2050),

e Premium Mobile brand: 30 years (i.e. 2051).

Other intangible assets

The Group capitalises costs of IT software internally generated, including employee-related
expenses, directly resulting from generating and preparing an asset to be capable of
operating, if the Group is able to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to such
development and when it can reliably establish the commencement as well as the completion
date of the software development activities.

Other intangible assets acquired by the Group are measured at cost less accumulated
amortization and impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure on existing intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the
future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other
expenditure is recognized in the profit or loss as incurred.

Amortization expense is based on the cost of an asset or production cost less its residual
value.

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of intangible assets, other than goodwill, from the date that they are available for use.
The recoverable amounts of intangible assets which are not yet available for use are
measured as at each balance sheet date.

The estimated useful lives for respective intangible assets groups are as follows:

e Computer software: 2-15 years,
e Concessions: period resulting from an administrative decision,
e Other: 2-7 years.

I) Programming assets

Programming assets comprise acquired formats, licences and copyrights for broadcasting
feature films, series, news and shows, capitalized costs of commissioned external productions
ordered by the Group, capitalized sports rights and advance payments made (including
advance payments for sports rights).

Initial recognition

Programming rights, other than sports rights, are recognized at cost as programming assets
when the legally enforceable licence period begins and all of the following conditions have
been met:

e the cost of each program is known or reasonably determinable,
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o the program material has been accepted by the licensee in accordance with the
conditions of the licence agreement,
o the program is available for its first showing.

Capitalized costs of productions include costs of programs ordered by the Group, including
productions made based on licences purchased from third parties. Capitalized costs of
productions are measured individually for each program at their respective production or
acquisition costs, not to exceed their recoverable amounts.

Sports broadcasting rights are recognized at purchased price at the time of TV transmission.
Broadcasting rights to seasonal sport events, acquired under long-term contracts (frequently
multi-seasonal), are recognized at the relative value determined by internal experts and
allocated to each of the sport events’ season as part of the purchased programming package.
The Group’s method of recognition of sports broadcasting rights is dependent on the type of
sports channel on which the use of these rights is planned:

e sports broadcasting rights for premium sports channels are recognized in relation to
all seasons contracted by the Group at the start of the first of them,

e sports broadcasting rights for other channels are recognized separately for each
season at the start of each of them.

Advance payments for acquired programming assets, prior to licence begin date, are
recognized as prepayments for programming assets.

Signed and binding contracts for purchase of programming, which do not meet recognition
criteria for programming assets are not recognized in the balance sheet and are instead
disclosed as contractual commitments in the amount of the outstanding contract liability at the
reporting date.

Programming assets are classified as non-current or current based on the estimate timing of
the broadcast. A programming asset is recognized as current when the expected broadcast
falls within 1 year from the reporting date. Sport rights and prepayments for sport rights are
classified as current or non-current based on dates of related sport events (or start of the sport
season) .

Amortization

Programming assets are amortized using the method reflecting the manner of consuming the
economic benefits embodied in the licenses acquired within their estimated useful lives limited
by the term of the respective license agreements.

e Feature films and series — amortization starts at the first broadcast. For some assets
introduced until 2019, consumption of the economic benefits is measured using a
declining balance method according to a standardized rate matrix and depends on the
number of showings permitted or planned, primarily as described below:

Feature films

Number of depreciable Rate per run

runs
I Il Il \Y \%
1 100%
2 60% 40%
3 40% 30% 30%
4 35% 25% 25% 15%
5 and more 30% 20% 20% 15% 15%
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TV series

Number of depreciable

Rate per run
runs

100%
2 80% 20%

In other cases, films and series are amortized on a straight-line based on the number
of runs and licence term.

e Feature films and series broadcasted on thematic channels are mainly amortized in
four or five runs using the rates of 25% and 20% respectively.

e Sports broadcasting rights - 100% of the right’s value is recognized as an expense in
the income statement at the time of the first broadcast, however acquired rights to
game seasons or rights to many seasons or a series of competitions are amortized on
a straight-line basis over the period between the beginning of the first season and the
end of the last season in respect to sports broadcasting rights primarily intended for
premium sports channels or over the duration of the season or series of competitions
in respect to sports broadcasting rights intended for other channels.

e Commissioned external productions intended for only one run are fully amortized on
their first broadcast.

e News programming is fully amortized at its first broadcast.

e General entertainment shows are fully amortized at their first broadcast.

Amortization of programming assets is presented in Content costs line in the operating costs
of the income statement.

Impairment

Programming assets are reviewed for impairment at least annually and whenever there is any
indication that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Impairment losses are recognized
on each license in case of withdrawal from broadcasting an item in the expected future
(resulting from changes in strategic program scheduling, changing audience tastes, media law
restrictions on the usability of films) or expected future losses anticipated on disposal of the
rights.

Impairment write downs on programming assets are recognized as increase in the content
costs. Impairment of programming assets is reversed if the reason for the original impairment
ceases to exist. The reversals are recorded as content cost reductions.

m) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost of acquisition or
production cost of inventories is determined by using the weighted average cost method.

The cost of inventories includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and other
costs incurred in making them available for use or sale. In case of finished products and work
in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads determined based
on normal operating capacity.

Net realizable value is the current market price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. In the case of set-top boxes, mobile
phones, modems and tablets, which under the business model applied by the Group are sold
below cost, the loss on the sale is recorded when transferred to the customer.

The Group creates an allowance for slow-moving or obsolete inventories.
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Inventories also include real estate built for sale (work in progress) and ready-to-sell properties
(finished products) as part of development activities. Capitalised expenditures include, but are
not limited to, construction planning and design costs, costs of land acquisition or perpetual
usufruct of land for construction, remuneration payable to contractors and construction
financing costs.

In companies engaged in development activities, the way investment properties are classified
depends on the advancement of the investment process. The companies assume that all
investments in which a significant portion will be residential units, and whose investment
process is likely to begin within the next three years, will be presented in the Balance Sheet
under the item “inventories”.

Certificate of origin

Included in the inventory are certificates of origin purchased for redemption, resale, as well as
self-generated. These rights are tradable and are a subject to exchange trading.

Certificates of energy origin received free of charge for production from renewable sources
are recognized on initial recognition at fair value at the time it becomes probable that they will
be received, i.e. at the end of the month in which they were produced. The fair value is a
reflection of the market situation, i.e. quotations on the commodity energy exchange (POLPX).
Unpaid acquisition of certificates is recognized in correspondence with other income. The
Group sells surplus certificates, which are presented in inventory.

Acquired energy certificates of origin are recognized as inventory at the purchase price. The
outflow of energy certificates of origin is valued according to the method of detailed
identification .

The Group is required to obtain energy certificates of origin and submit them for redemption
by June 30 of the year following the accounting year. If, as of the reporting date, there are not
enough certificates required to fulfill the obligations imposed by the Energy Law and the
Energy Efficiency Law, the Group creates reserves for the redemption of energy origin and
energy efficiency certificates or the payment of replacement fees.

n) Impairment of assets
Financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses
for trade receivables (including loans granted) and contract assets. The trade receivables are
assessed for impairment collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.
The expected credit losses are estimated based on historical pattern for repayment and
collection efficiency adjusted with currently available forward-looking information. The credit
risk characteristics of contract assets correspond to the credit risk characteristics of trade
receivables for a particular type of contract.

The Group considers financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full.

The Group considers a financial asset to be creditimpaired when events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred,
including significant financial difficulty of the debtor or a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.
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Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets,
are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated by
the Group. The recoverable amount of intangible assets which are not yet available for use as
well as of goodwill and brands with indefinite useful life is estimated at each reporting date.

An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-
generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit represents
the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that
are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of thereof. Impairment
losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in respect of a cash-
generating unit are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the cash-generating unit (group of units), and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other
assets in the cash-generating unit on a pro rata basis.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use
and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In the case of
assets that do not generate independent cash inflows, the value in use is estimated for the
smallest identifiable cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets,
impairment losses recorded in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

o) Employee benefits

Defined contribution plan

All Group entities that act as employers have an obligation, under applicable legislation, to
collect and remit contributions to the state pension fund. According to IAS 19 Employee
Benefits such benefits represent state plans that are classified as defined contribution plans.
Therefore, the Group’s obligations for a given period are estimated as the amount of
contributions to be remitted for that period.

Defined benefit plan — retirement benefits

The Group entities have an obligation, under applicable legislation, to pay retirement benefits
calculated in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Polish labor code. The minimum
retirement benefit is as per the labor code provisions at the moment of payment.

The calculation is carried out using the Projected Unit Credit Method. Employee turnover is
estimated based on historical experience and expected future employment levels.

Changes in the amount of the retirement benefits liability are recognized in the income
statement. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in the equity, in other comprehensive
income in full in the period they originated.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are
recognized as an expense as the related service is provided.
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A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term bonus, if the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of
past services provided by the employees and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

p) Provisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of past event, the Group has a present obligation, and
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation. When the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability.

Certain disclosures may not be included in these consolidated financial statements as they
relate to sensitive information.

Warranties

A provision for warranties is recognized when the underlying products or goods are sold. The
amount of the provision is based on historical warranty data and a weighting of all possible
outflows against their associated probabilities.

Onerous contracts

A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by
the Group from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under
the contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost
of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of fulfiling the contract. Before a
provision is established, the Group recognizes any impairment loss on the assets dedicated
to that contract.

Provision for presentation for redemption of certificates of energy origin

The provision for the obligation to present for redemption certificates of origin for electricity
generated from renewable energy sources or from high-efficiency cogeneration is recognized:
- in the part covered by certificates of origin held as of the balance sheet date - at the value of
the certificates held, - in the part not covered by certificates of origin as of the balance sheet
date - at the lower of the market value of the certificates required to meet the obligation as of
the balance sheet date and the possible penalty. The cost of the established provision is
presented in the income statement in the cost of sales.

g) Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence
will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group or a present obligation that arises from past events,
but its amount cannot be estimated reliably or it is not probable that there will be an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits.

The Group does not recognize a contingent liability, except for contingent liability assumed in
a business combination.

Unless the possibility of any outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote, the
Group discloses for each class of contingent liability at the end of the reporting period a brief
description of the nature of the contingent liability and, where practicable:

e an estimate of its financial effect,
e an indication of the uncertainties relating to the amount or timing of any outflow,
e the possibility of any reimbursement.
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r) Revenue
I[dentification of the contract

The Group applies contract-by-contract approach, meaning that transaction price and
separate performance obligations and rights arising under the contract are determined at the
level of distinct contract with subscriber. Group does not apply portfolio approach.

Determination of the transaction price

The estimation regarding transaction price is updated during contract period. When variable
consideration is present in a contract, Group always recognizes the minimum value of
consideration at the moment of concluding the contract. As far as the contract length is
concerned, the nominal basic period resulting from the contract terms is assumed.

In case of prepaid services, the value of the balance unused by the customer is recognized
as revenue when the grace period of the account expires.

The time value of money is included in the transaction price if the contract contains a material
financing factor. This factor is considered at the contract level. Group recognizes a significant
financing factor only within installment sales. Identification of the discount causes a reduction
in nominal sales revenues by the financing factor value and recognition of interest during the
term of the contract. To calculate the significant financing factor, Group uses a discount rate
that reflects the customer's credit risk at the moment of concluding the contract.

Group adopted the following hierarchy of methods for determining the fair price (unit price) of
equipment (the preferred method is the method of prices obtained from the sale of similar
goods):

(a) Price obtained from the sale of similar goods,
(b) Price based on accounting cost.

Group adopted the following hierarchy of methods for determining the unit price of a service:

(a) Price obtained from the sale of similar goods,
(b) Residual approach (in the B2B area).

Revenue recognition

Revenues are recognized in the value of transaction price for the sale of services and
equipment net of any discounts, refunds and rebates in the ordinary course of business.
Revenues are recognized only when there is a high probability that the subscriber makes
payment, the associated expenses can be reliably assessed and the revenue amount can be
reliably measured. If it is probable that rebates are granted and their value can be precisely
measured, then such rebates decrease sales revenue when it is recognized.

In order to properly recognize revenue, Group assesses at the contract inception whether
each separate performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point in time.

The Group’s main sources of revenue are recognized as follows:

e Retail revenues from residential and business customers include revenues resulting
from the provision of telecommunications and television services and equipment rental
services to post-paid customers, recognized over the nominal term of the contract.
Retail revenues from residential and business customers also include revenues from
the unused balance of prepaid customers whose grace period has expired, recognized
in a given point in time. Activation and installation fees do not represent a separate
service obligation, so there is no revenue recognition for these categories.

e Wholesale revenue comprises advertising and sponsorship revenue, revenue from
cable and satellite operator fees, revenue from the lease of infrastructure, interconnect
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revenue, revenue from roaming, revenue from the sale of broadcasting and signal
transmission services and revenue from the sale of licenses, sublicenses and property
rights and revenue from premium rate services.

Advertising and sponsorship revenue is derived primarily from broadcasting of
advertising content and is recognized in the period when the advertising is broadcast.
Revenue is recognized in profit or loss in the amount due from customers net of value
added tax, taxes on revenue from advertising of alcohol beverages and any rebates
granted. Advertising and sponsorship revenue also comprises revenue on
commissions on sales of commercial airtime when the Group acts as an agent on
behalf of third parties. The commissions are recognized at amounts due from the
buyers of advertising airtime or sponsorship services, less of any amounts due to
television broadcasters. Revenue from commissions on sales of commercial airtime
and from sponsorship is recognized in the consolidated income statement when these
services are rendered.

Revenue from services provided to cable and satellite operators includes fees from
cable and satellite operators for reemission (rebroadcasting) of programs produced by
the Group. Revenue is recognized when the related programs are broadcast.

Services revenues are recognized in profit and loss in the period when related services
are rendered, net of any discount given.

e Revenue from sale of equipment is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, in case of multi-element contracts after the allocation of the
transaction price based on the standalone selling price net of discounts, rebates and
returns. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized in profit or loss when control
has been transferred to the customer.

e Other revenue is recognized, net of any discount given, when the relevant goods or
service are provided.

Other revenue includes, among others revenue from interest on installment sales,
revenue from the sale of electricity, revenue from the sale of real estate and other
sales revenue.

The Group’s process for revenue recognition from multi-element contracts (eg. mobile
contract and handset) consists of:

e assessment of all goods and services provided to the client under the contract and
identifying separate performance obligations in that contract,

e determining and allocating the transaction prices to separate performance obligations
in the contract; the allocation is based on the reference to their relative standalone
selling prices that could be obtained if the promised goods and services were sold
individually in a separate transaction.

Contract asset is Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer. It includes the correction of consideration due according
to the contract with customer regarding promotional offer that compose initial discounted
periods.

Contract liabilities is Group’s obligation to transfer services to a customer in exchange for
remuneration Group received (or the remuneration is due). It includes the correction of
consideration due according to the contract with customer for the current or previous periods,
allocated to obligations not completely fulfilled or partially unfulfilled.

Revenue from sales of goods in the real estate segment

Revenue from the sale of residential units is recognized when the performance obligation is
fulfilled. The Group considers this moment to be the transfer to the customer of control over
the unit, parking space, garage locker, storage unit or other building element sold, i.e. at the
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moment of delivery under condition the customer has paid 100% price of the real estate. Sales
are reported net of value added tax and after taking into account any discounts granted.

Energy, gas sales

Revenues from the sale of energy and gas are recognized at the time of their delivery to the
Group’s customers. The amount of energy and gas delivered is determined based on metering
data provided by distribution network operators, and in the absence of metering data, the
amount is subject to estimation by the Group. At the same time, the Group creates cost
provisions for the value of energy and gas consumed by its customers and not invoiced by the
supplier, as well as for the value of energy certificates of origin, the obligation to redeem of
which is related to sales made to customers. Sales prices result from signed contracts, tariffs
or their amount on the Polish Power Exchange.

Revenue from the power market

Beginning January 1, 2024, the Group recognizes revenues from the power market. Revenues
from the power market are revenues from the performance of power contracts (obligations)
concluded as a result of the 2021 and 2023 Auctions (primary market) and the performance
of power obligations resulting from agreements concluded in the secondary market. The
power market is a market mechanism aimed at ensuring stable electricity supply in the long-
term horizon. The Group is entitled to remuneration from PSE S.A. after the end of each month
for the performance of the power obligation. Accordingly, Group companies that are power
suppliers to PSE S.A. recognize revenue from power market transactions each month.

s) Distribution fees

Commissions payable to distributors for acquiring new subscribers and for retention of existing
subscribers are recognized over the minimum base period of the subscription agreement and
presented in Income Statement in Distribution, marketing, customer relation management and
retention costs.

Commissions for distributors which will be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are
classified as other current assets, while the commissions, which will be settled more than 12-
months after the reporting date, are classified as non-current assets.

t) Barter revenue and cost

Barter revenue for dissimilar services or goods is recognized when the services are rendered
or goods delivered. Programming licences, products and services received are expensed or
capitalized when received or used. The Group recognizes barter transactions at the estimated
fair value of the programming licences, products or services received. When products or
services are received before related advertising is broadcast, a liability is recognized by the
Group. Conversely, when advertising is broadcast before products or services are received, a
receivable is recognized by the Group.

u) Gains and losses on investment activities and finance costs

Gains and losses on investment activities include interest income on funds invested, interest
expenses (including lease liabilities interests but other than interest expenses on borrowings),
dividends income, gains/losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, net
foreign exchange gains/losses and results on completed forward exchange contracts and call
options, impairment losses recognized on financial assets, unwinding of the discount on
provisions.

Interest income and expense (other than interest expense on borrowings) is recognized as it
accrues in profit or loss using the effective interest rate’s method. Dividends income is
recognized in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings (including bank loans and bonds),
foreign exchange gains/losses on bonds, realization and valuation costs of hedging
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instruments and instruments not under hedge accounting related to finance activities, bank
and other charges on borrowings as well as guarantee fees resulting from the indebtedness.
Borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest rate’s method.

v) Lease payments
Group as a lessor

Agreements which meet the lease definition are classified as finance lease or operating lease.
The main criterion is the extent to which the risks and rewards associated with the leased
asset are transferred between the Group and the lessee.

Similarly to agreements in which the Group acts as a lessee, the Group as a lessor also
determines for each agreement: commencement date, lease term, lease payments and
interest rate. At the commencement date lessor accounts for the finance lease by:

e excluding carrying amount of the underlying asset,
e recognizing net investment in the lease,
e recognizing selling profit or loss in profit and loss statement (if applicable).

For operating lease, Group recognize revenue in profit and loss statement on a straight line
basis over the lease term.

Group as lessee
Assets

Assets used under agreements which meet the leasing definition are recognized as right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities representing the Group’s obligation to make payments for the
underlying asset on the day when the leased assets are available for use by the Group.

At the commencement date, the right-of-use assets are measured at cost and consist of the
following:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability,

e any lease payments made to the lessor at or before the commencement date, less
any lease incentives received from the lessor,

e any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee,

e an estimate of the costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling, removing and
restoring the underlying assets and/or the site where it is located.

After the commencement date, the right-of-use assets are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation, accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for remeasurement of the lease
liability resulting from reassessment or lease modification which does not require recognition
of a separate lease component.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of: the term of the
lease agreement or the useful life of the underlying asset. If the Group is reasonably certain
that ownership of the underlying asset will be transferred to the lessee by the end of the lease
term — then the right-of-use asset shall be depreciated from the commencement date to the
end of its useful life.

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets as follows:

e technical infrastructure - premises for telecommunications equipment installations: 2-
24 years,

e telecommunications infrastructure, including links (“dark fibers”): 2-13 years,

o office space, other premises and perpetual usufruct: 1,5-100 years,

e point of sales premises: 2-7 years,

¢ vehicles: 3-5 years.
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Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment based on the accounting policies as presented
in note 6n.

Liabilities
At the commencement date, the lease payments included in the measurement of the lease

liability comprise the following payments for the right to use the underlying asset during the
lease term that are not paid at the commencement date:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable,

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using
the index or rate as at the commencement date,

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise
that option,

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease (understood as any economic factors
discouraging the Group from terminating the contract), if the lease term reflects that
the lessee will exercise the option to terminate the lease,

e amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees.

Lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be
readily determined. Otherwise the incremental borrowing rate is used.

After the commencement date, the Group shall measure the lease liability by:

e increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability,

e reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made,

e remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications,
e.g. change in the lease term or the amount of future lease payments.

Interest expenses on lease liabilities are recognized in profit or loss over the term of the lease.

w) Income tax

Income tax expense/benefit comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in
profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive
income.

Current tax is the tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted at
the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet approach, in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred taxes are measured based
on the expected manner of recovery or settlement of the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities, respectively, using tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilized. An amount
of deferred tax assets is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be partly or wholly realized. When not recognized deferred tax asset becomes
recoverable, it is recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit
will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered. The Group recognizes a deferred tax asset
used to carry over unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that the future taxable
profits will be available and unused tax losses may be utilized. While assessing whether the
future taxable profits available will be sufficient, the Group takes into account inter alia
forecasted future tax revenues.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset by the Group companies.
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x) Non-current assets held for sale

The Group classifies non-current assets (or disposal group of assets) as held for sale when
their carrying value will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use. In such case the asset must be available for immediate sale in its present
condition and its sale must be highly probable. The fact of classifying an asset as held for sale
means that the Group’s management intends to complete the sale transaction within 12
months from the date of such classification.

Non-current assets that have been classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of (i)
their carrying value and (ii) their fair value less costs to sell.

Non-current assets that are classified as held for sale are not depreciated.
y) Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share for its ordinary and preference
shares. Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the period’s profit or loss from
continuing operations attributable to ordinary and preference shareholders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary and preference shares outstanding during the
period. Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the period’s profit or loss from
the continuing operations attributable to ordinary and preference shareholders by the
weighted average number of ordinary and preference shares, adjusted by the effects of all
dilutive potential ordinary and preference shares.

z) Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Group:

e that is engaged in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur
expenses (including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with other
components of the same unit);

e whose operating results are reviewed on regular basis by the main responsible
authority for making operational decisions in the unit and using those results when
making decisions on the resources allocated to the segment and when assessing the
results of the segment's activities;

e when separate financial information are available.

The Group presents operating segments according to its internal management accounting
principles applied in the preparation of periodical management reports. These reports are
analyzed on regular basis by the Management Board of Cyfrowy Polsat S.A., which was
identified as the chief operating decision maker.

zz) Cash flows statement

Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement are equal to cash and cash equivalents
presented in the consolidated balance sheet.

Purchases of set-top boxes to be provided to customers under operating lease contracts are
classified in the cash flows statement within operating activities. The purchases and disposals
of these set-top boxes are classified in the cash flows statement within operating activities and
presented as Net disposals/(additions) of reception equipment provided under operating
lease.

Acquisition of items of property, plant and equipment or intangible assets are presented in
their net amount (net of related value added tax).

Payments for film licences and sport rights are presented on a net basis (net of related value
added tax) within operating activities. Expenditures on the acquisition of programming assets
also include the amount of withholding tax paid to the relevant tax authorities.
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7. Determination of fair values

A number of accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. The methods for determining fair values
are described below. When applicable further information about the assumptions made in
determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

Derivatives

The fair value of derivatives is calculated based on their quoted closing bid price at the balance
sheet date or, in the lack thereof, other inputs that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i. e. as prices) or indirectly (i. e. derived from prices). In the second case, the
fair value of derivatives is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted
using the market interest rate at the reporting date. Information on the structure of Polish and
Eurozone interest rates and Polish zioty exchange rate are used in order to estimate future
cash flows and market interest rate.

Non-derivative financial assets

The fair value of non-derivative financial asset for disclosure purposes is estimated as the
present value of future cash flows discounted using the market interest rate as at the balance
sheet date. If the instruments are quoted, the fair value is estimated based on market prices.

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on liabilities’
quoted closing bid price at the balance sheet date or, in the lack thereof, estimated on the
present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted using the market interest
rate at the reporting date. Market interest rate is estimated as interbank interest rate for a
given currency zone (WIBOR, EURIBOR) plus a margin regarding the Group’s credit risk. A
market interest rate for a lease contract is estimated based on interest rates for similar lease
contracts.

8. Approval of the Consolidated Financial Statements

These consolidated financial statements were approved for publication by the Management
Board of Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. on 10 April 2024.

Explanatory notes

9. Revenue

for the year ended

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Retail revenue 6,987.1 6,952.1
Wholesale revenue 3,379.9 3,531.7
Sale of equipment 1,921.7 1,805.1
Energy revenue 557.6 -
Other revenue 780.0 626.4
Total 13,626.3 12,915.3

Retail revenue mainly consists of pay-TV, telecommunication services, revenue from rental of

reception equipment and contractual penalties related to terminated agreements.
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Wholesale revenue mainly consists of advertising and sponsorship revenue, settlements with
mobile network operators, revenue from rental of infrastructure, roaming revenues, revenue
from cable and satellite operator fees, sales of broadcasting and signal transmission services
and sales of licenses, sublicenses and property rights.

Energy revenue mainly consists of revenue from the sale of produced electricity and revenue
from the sale of traded electricity, revenue from the sale of heat, as well as revenue from the
sale of property rights.

Other revenue mainly consists of revenue from interest on installment plan purchases,
revenue from the lease of premises and facilities, revenue from the sale of photovoltaic
installations, revenue from the sale of apartments, revenue from the sale of hydrogen, revenue
from the sale of gas and sale of buses.

10. Operating costs

for the year ended

Note 31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Technical costs and cost of settlements with

N 3,332.7 3,271.5
telecommunication operators
IZ.)eprecllatlon, amortization, impairment and 1,900.4 1,829.0
liquidation
Cost of equipment sold 1,539.9 1,454 .4
Content costs 2,126.1 2,063.9
Cost of energy sold, includes: 523.3 -
Depreciation* 17.8 -
Distribution, marketing, gustomer relation 1,026.9 1,035.0
management and retention costs
Salaries and employee-related costs a) 1,158.2 1,034.0
Cost of debt collection services, bad debt 121.0 97.8
allowance and receivables written off ) :
Other costs, includes: 760.3 614.2
Depreciation* 1.4 -
Total 12,488.8 11,399.8

* depreciation costs included within energy and bus production costs.

a) Salaries and employee-related costs

for the year ended

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Salaries 953.7 857.1
Social security contributions 149.4 136.3
Other employee-related costs 55.1 40.6

Total 1,158.2 1,034.0
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Average headcount of non-production employees*

for the year ended

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Employment contracts (full-time equivalents)

8,020

7,648

* excluding workers who did not perform work in the reporting period due to long-term absences

11.Gain/(loss) on investment activities, net

for the year ended

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Interest on lease liabilities (29.5) (19.9)
Interest on loans granted 31.8 32.1
Other interest, net 76.1 45.3
Other foreign exchange gains/(losses), net (19.6) (41.6)
Revaluation of previously held shares of PAK-PCE* 151.3 -
Vgluation of p'rg-.existing relationfhips in connection (83.9) )
with the acquisition of PAK-PCE

Other income/(costs) 36.2 7.6
Total 162.4 235

* impact of accounting for the purchase price allocation of PAK-PCE under IFRS 3 requirements

12.Finance costs, net

for the year ended

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Interest expense on loans and borrowings 796.0 582.0
Interest expense on issued bonds* 347.4 155.6
_Foreign exchange differences on loans and borrow- (82.1) )
ings

Cumulative catch-up (20.8) -
One-time loans repayment 20.8 -
Valuation and realization of hedging instruments (14.4) (19.8)
720
Guarantee fess, bank and other charges 6.5 4.8
Total 1,081.9 649.9

*includes early redemption bonuses
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13.Income tax

Income tax expense

for the year ended

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Current tax expense 285.6 395.4
Change in deferred tax (175.4) (161.9)
Other - (24.3)
Income tax expense in the income statement 110.2 209.2

Change in deferred income tax

for the year ended

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Tax losses carried forward 7.4 10.1
Receivables and other assets (62.4) (5.4)
Liabilities 17.9 (68.2)
Other property, plant and equipment and intangible (132.9) (105.6)
assets

Other (5.4) 7.2
Change in deferred tax recognized in income (175.4) (161.9)

statement - total

Income tax recognized in the statement of other comprehensive income

for the year ended

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Change in deferred income tax on hedge valuation

(5.5)

2.2

Income tax expense recognized in other
comprehensive income - total

(5.5)

2.2

Effective tax rate reconciliation

for the year ended

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Gross profit 421.8 1,110.3
Income tax at applicable statutory tax rate of 19% 80.1 211.0
Excess financing costs 53.8 -
Other (23.7) (1.8)
Tax expense for the year 110.2 209.2
Effective tax rate 26.1% 18.8%
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Deferred tax assets

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Tax losses carried forward 27.8 151
Liabilities 467 .1 391.9
Tangible and intangible assets 26.4 22.4
Receivables and other assets 129.0 111.5
Other 34 3.7
Total deferred tax assets 653.7 544.6
Set off of deferred tax assets and liabilities (510.9) (444.7)
Deferred tax assets in the balance sheet 142.8 99.9

Tax loss

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

2023 tax loss carried forward 68.9 -
2022 tax loss carried forward 42.2 27.9
2021 tax loss carried forward 53.9 61.8
2020 tax loss carried forward 37.8 50.3
2019 tax loss carried forward 34.8 70.2
2018 tax loss carried forward 24.2 51.7
2017 tax loss carried forward - 12.3
Tax losses carried forward — total 261.8 274.2

Tax losses recognized

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

2023 tax loss carried forward 70.5 -
2022 tax loss carried forward 8.5 2.8
2021 tax loss carried forward 23.4 19.3
2020 tax loss carried forward 18.5 14
2019 tax loss carried forward 25.6 30.5
2018 tax loss carried forward - 19.1
2017 tax loss carried forward - 71
Tax losses carried forward — total 146.5 80.2

As at 31 December 2023 the Group recognized deferred tax asset on tax losses to the extent
that it was probable that they would be utilized in the future.

According to Art. 7 of the Polish Corporate Income Tax Act dated 15 February 1992, tax losses
incurred in a given financial year can be utilized in the subsequent five fiscal years. However,
no more than 50% of a tax loss for any given year can be utilized in a single subsequent fiscal

year.
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Deferred tax liabilities

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Receivables and other assets 510.9 485.5
Liabilities 454 21.5
Tangible and intangible assets 951.5 867.8
Other 38.1 48.6
Total deferred tax liabilities 1,545.9 1,423.4
Set off of deferred tax assets and liabilities (510.9) (444.7)
Deferred tax liabilities in the balance sheet 1,035.0 978.7

The tax authorities may at any time inspect the books and records within 5 years from the end
of the year when a tax declaration was submitted, and may impose additional tax assessments
with penalty interest and penalties. Furthermore, on 15 July 2016 provisions of General Anti-
Avoidance Rule (GAAR) were introduced, which aim at preventing establishing and using
artificial legal arrangements with tax savings as its principal purpose. Frequent amendments
in the tax laws and contradicting legal interpretations among the tax authorities result in
uncertainties and lack of consistency in the tax system, which in fact lead to difficulties in the
judgement of the tax consequences in the foreseeable future.

14.EBITDA (unaudited)

EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, impairment and
liquidation) presents the Group’s key measure of earnings performance. The level of EBITDA
measures the Group’s ability to generate cash from recurring operations, however it is neither
a measure of liquidity nor cash level. The Group defines EBITDA as operating profit adjusted
by depreciation, amortization, impairment and liquidation. EBITDA is not an IFRS EU
measure, and as such can be calculated differently by other entities.

for the year ended

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Net profit for the period 311.6 901.1
Income tax 110.2 209.2
(Gain)/loss on investment activities, net (162.4) (23.5)
Finance costs 1,081.9 649.9
Sh_are of the (_proflt)/loss of associates accounted for (29.7) (94.5)
using the equity method
Depreciation, amortization, impairment and liquidation 1,900.4 1,829.0
(note 10)
Depreciation and amortization within energy and bus

- 19.2 -
production costs (note 10)
EBITDA (unaudited) 3,231.2 3,471.2
Profit from the sale of a subsidiary and an associate (219.7) (153.2)
Costs of support for Ukraine* - 34.1
EBITDA adjusted (unaudited) 3,011.5 3,352.1

* includes mainly cash donations for supporting Ukraine
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15.Basic and diluted earnings per share

At the reporting date, the Company did not have any financial instruments that could have a
dilutive effect, therefore the diluted earnings per share are equal to basic earnings per share.

for the year ended

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Net profit 311.6 901.1

Weighted average number of ordinary and preference

- . 550,703,531 557,758,269
shares in the period

Earnings per share in PLN (not in millions) 0.57 1.62
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16.Property, plant and equipment

Reception Buildinas and Technical Tangible Property,
P Land 9 equipment and Vehicles Other  assets under plant and
equipment structures . : .
machinery construction equipment
Cost as at 1 January 2023 1,251.2 148.6 572.7 2,870.3 195.6 284.4 652.4 5,975.2
Acquisition of subsidiaries (see note 40) - 77.6 238.8 583.3 71 3.2 917.9 1,827.9
Additions 145.8 0.5 84.5 131.3 12.5 18.3 1,077.3 1,470.2
Transfer between groups - (55.7) 114.5 10.7 1.0 0.6 (21.3) 49.8
Transfer to assets held for sale - - - - - - (1.0) (1.0)
Transfer from assets under construction - - 269.6 469.4 17.3 21.8 (778.1) -
Disposals (81.3) - (15.3) (59.4) (12.3) (9.4) (15.0) (192.7)
Disposal of a subsidiary - (1.7) (60.6) - - - - (62.3)
Cost as at 31 December 2023 1,315.7 169.3 1,204.2 4,005.6 221.2 318.9 1,832.2 9,067.1
Accumulated impairment losses as at
1 January 2023 4.0 - 0.1 1.1 - - 18.2 23.4
Recognition 0.9 - 0.3 1.7 - 0.1 4.0 7.0
Transfer between groups - - - (0.1) - 0.1 - -
Reversal - - - (0.3) - - (1.0) (1.3)
Accumulated impairment losses as at
31 December 2023 4.9 - 0.4 24 - 0.2 21.2 29.1
Hocumilated depreciation as at 1 January 965.2 - 135.2 755.6 51.3 161.6 - 2,068.9
Additions 1117 - 38.3 412.1 23.8 34.8 - 620.7
Transfer between groups - - 7.5 6.6 - 0.7 - 14.8
Disposals (80.1) - (11.7) (52.0) (9.3) (7.5) - (160.6)
Disposal of a subsidiary - - (0.1) - - - - (0.1)
?:;:;mulated depreciation as at 31 December 996.8 } 169.2 1,122.3 65.8 189.6 ) 25437
Carrying amount as at 1 January 2023 282.0 148.6 437.4 2,113.6 144.3 122.8 634.2 3,882.9
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2023 314.0 169.3 1,034.6 2,880.9 155.4 129.1 1,811.0 6,494.3

The Group recognized impairment losses on fixed assets whose carrying amount exceeded their recoverable amount. Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment are recognized under 'depreciation, impairment and liquidation'.
As of 31 December 2023, the net value of tangible assets under construction includes the value of capitalized interest in the amount of PLN 81.7
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Reception Buildinas and Technical Tangible Property,
-Ep Land 9 equipment and Vehicles Other  assets under plant and
equipment structures . : .
machinery construction equipment
Cost as at 1 January 2022 1,275.7 79.7 573.2 2,561.0 138.6 248.2 454.6 5,331.0
Acquisition of subsidiaries - 67.8 54.5 34 0.1 1.7 20.0 147.5
Additions 113.6 0.4 58.4 108.3 81.4 24.6 652.7 1,039.4
Transfer between groups - 4.5 - (0.3) - 2.8 31.8 38.8
Transfer to assets held for sale - - - - - - (127.7) (127.7)
Transfer from assets under construction - - 40.8 250.2 17.5 19.0 (327.5) -
Disposals (138.1) - (41.6) (49.3) (42.0) (9.4) (51.3) (331.7)
Disposal of a subsidiary - (3.8) (112.6) (3.0) - (2.5) (0.2) (122.1)
Cost as at 31 December 2022 1,251.2 148.6 572.7 2,870.3 195.6 284.4 652.4 5,975.2
Accumulated impairment losses as at
1 January 2022 3.8 - 0.1 1.6 - - 18.4 23.9
Recognition 0.7 - - - - - 0.5 1.2
Reversal (0.5) - - (0.5) - - (0.7) (1.7)
Accumulated impairment losses as at
31 December 2022 4.0 - 0.1 1.1 - - 18.2 23.4
Hocumilated depreciation as at 1 January 987.9 . 115.8 410.4 42.8 139.3 . 1,696.2
Additions 113.9 - 27.1 383.5 19.8 29.7 - 574.0
Disposals (136.6) - (2.9) (37.6) (11.3) (6.7) - (195.1)
Disposal of a subsidiary - - (4.8) (0.7) - (0.7) - (6.2)
;\:;;mulated depreciation as at 31 December 965.2 } 135.2 755.6 51.3 161.6 ) 2,068.9
Carrying amount as at 1 January 2022 284.0 79.7 457.3 2,149.0 95.8 108.9 436.2 3,610.9
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2022 282.0 148.6 437.4 2,113.6 144.3 122.8 634.2 3,882.9

The Group recognized an impairment loss on items of property, plant and equipment whose carrying amounts exceeded their recoverable amounts. The impairment allowance is recognized in ‘depreciation, amortization, impairment and

liquidation’.
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17.Goodwill

2023 2022
Balance as at 1 January 10,818.1 10,802.0
Acquisition of 53.73% shares of Vindix S.A. - 324
Acquisition of 66.94% shares of Port Praski Sp. z 0.0. - 17.4
Acquisition of 100% shares of Oktawave S.A. (see note 40) - 12.4
Acquisition of 100% shares of Enterpol Sp. z 0.0. (see note 40) - 115
Acquisition of 70% shares of Antyweb Sp. z 0.0. (see note 40) - 9.3
Acquisition of 69 Specialist Sales and Customer Service Points (see note
40) 0.1 7.3
Acquisition of 100% shares of Premium Mobile Sp. z 0.0.(") - (67.5)
Acquisition of 100% shares of CKS Ossa Sp. z0.0. @ - (6.3)
Acquisition of 100% shares of Ossa Medical Center Sp. z 0.0.? - (0.4)
Acquisition of 60% shares of 4FUN Sp. z 0.0. (see note 40) 26.0 -
Acquisition of 60% shares of naEkranie Sp. z 0.0. (see note 40) 10.3 -
Acquisition of 50.5% shares of PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0. (see

125.7 -
note 40)
Balance as at 31 December 10,980.2 10,818.1

() Goodwill has been adjusted to reflect the effect of the final purchase price allocation and the fair value assessment
of identified net assets.
@ On 28 September 2022, Polkomtel Sp. z 0.0. sold 100% shares in the company.

Impairment tests performed on goodwill balances as at 31 December 2023 did not indicate
impairment (see note 19 for impairment test assumptions).

18.Brands
2023 2022
Balance as at 1 January 2,060.9 2,069.6
Acquisition of Premium Mobile brand - 28.7
Amortization of TV4, TV6 brand (2.2) -
Amortization of Polsat Brand (42.0) -
Amortization of Polo TV brand (0.2) -
Amortization of Plus brand (24.1) (24.1)
Amortization of Netia brand (8.8) (8.8)
Amortization of Eleven Sports brand (0.1) (0.1)
Acquisition of Interia brand (2.8) (3.0)
Amortization of Premium Mobile brand (1.0) (1.4)
Balance as at 31 December 1,979.7 2,060.9
Plus

Following the acquisition of Metelem Holding Company Ltd. in 2014, the Group recognized a
value of the Plus brand. The brand is amortized over the useful life of 51 years (until the year
2065). The carrying amount of the brand was allocated to "B2C and B2B services” cash-
generating unit.
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Polsat

The value of the Polsat brand is recognized following the acquisition of Telewizja Polsat S.A.
(currently Telewizja Polsat Sp. z 0.0.) in 2011. Group disclosed brand value in consolidated
financial statements in amount of PLN 840.0.

The Group recognized that there is a foreseeable period in which the Polsat brand will be
beneficial to the Group, and for this reason a specific useful life was assumed starting in
2023.The Polsat brand is amortized over usufel life of 20 years (until the year 2042). The
carrying amount of the brand was allocated to “Media: television and online” cash-generating
unit .

TV4 and TV6

In the consolidated financial statements, as a result of acquisition of Polskie Media S.A., the
Group has recognized in 2013 among others goodwill and TV4 and TV6 brands. Group
disclosed brand value in consolidated statements in amount of PLN 43.0.

The Group recognized that there is a foreseeable period during which the TV4 and TV6 brands
will benefit the Group, and for this reason a specific useful life was assumed starting in
2023.The TV4 and TV6 brands are amortized over usufel life of 20 years (until the year 2042).
The carrying amount of the brand was allocated to "Media: television and online” cash-
generating unit.

Polo TV

The value of the Polo TV brand is recognized following the acquisition of Lemon Records
Sp. z 0.0. on 4 December 2017. Group disclosed brand value in consolidated financial
statements in amount of PLN 4.7.

The Group recognized that there is a foreseeable period during which the Polo brand will
benefit the Group, and for this reason a specific useful life was assumed starting in 2023.The
Polo TV brand is amortized over its useful life of 20 years (until the year 2042). The carrying
amount of the brand was allocated to "Media: television and online” cash-generating unit.

Netia

The value of the Netia brand is recognized following obtaining control by the Group over Netia
S.A. on 22 May 2018. The value of Netia brand recognized in the consolidated financial
statements amounted to PLN 88.5.

The brand is amortized over the useful life of 10 years (until the year 2028). The carrying
amount of the brand was allocated to "B2C and B2B services” cash-generating unit.

Interia

The value of the Interia brand is recognized following obtaining in 2020 control by the Group
over Interia Group, i.e. Grupa Interia.pl Sp. z 0.0., Grupa Interia.pl Sp. z 0.0. Sp.k., Grupa
Interia.pl Media Sp. z 0.0. Sp. k., Mobiem Polska Sp. z 0.0. and Mobiem Polska Sp. z o.o.
Sp. k. In 2021 the Group finalized the purchase price allocation and recognized among others
Interia brand in the amount of PLN 82.7. The brand is amortized over the useful life of 30 years
(until the year 2050).

The carrying amount of the brand was allocated to "Media: television and online” cash-
generating unit.

Premium Mobile

The value of the Premium Mobile brand is recognized following obtaining in 2021 control by
the Group over Premium Mobile Group, i.e. Premium Mobile Sp. z 0.0., Visignio Sp. z 0.0.,
Saveadvisor Sp. z 0.0. and Mobi Dealer Sp. z 0.0. In 2022 the Group finalized the purchase
price allocation and recognized among others Premium Mobile brand in the amount of PLN
28.7. The brand is amortized over the useful life of 30 years (until the year 2051).
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The carrying amount of the brand was allocated to ” B2C and B2B services” cash-generating
unit.

19.Impairment test (including goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful life)

The Group recognized goodwill and brands with indefinite useful life in the consolidated
financial statements. Their carrying amounts were allocated to the cash-generating units
which also represent the Group’s operating segments.

Goodwill and brands with indefinite useful life are tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if possible impairment is indicated. Goodwill and brands are allocated to the below
cash-generating units for the purpose of testing for impairment. The allocation was made to
those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwill arose and the brands were identified.

The Group tests the total carrying amount of the cash-generating units and any impairment
identified is recognized in the profit or loss immediately with respect to goodwill first and is not
subsequently reversed. If goodwill is fully impaired the remaining amount of the impairment
loss is allocated to the brands and other assets of the cash-generating unit on a pro rata basis.

2023

“B2C and B2B services” cash-generating unit

Cash-generating unit as at 1 January 7,826.3
Adju§ted g(_)odv_vill recognized on the a_cquisition of 69 Speciallist Sales and Customer 0.1
Service Points in the form of an organized part of the enterprise

Cash-generating unit as at 31 December 7,826.4
“Media: television and online” cash-generating unit

Cash-generating unit as at 1 January 3,862.1
Goodwill recognized on the acquisition of 4FUN Sp. z o.0. 26.0
Goodwill recognized on the acquisition of naEKRANIE.pl Sp. z o0.0. 10.3
Cash-generating unit as at 31 December 3,898.4
“Real Estate” cash-generating unit

Cash-generating unit as at 1 January 17.4
Cash-generating unit as at 31 December 17.4
“Green Energy” cash-generating unit

Cash-generating unit as at 1 January -
Goodwill recognized on the acquisition of PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z o0.0. 125.7
Cash-generating unit as at 31 December 125.7

The recoverable amounts of all the cash generating units have been determined based on the
value-in-use calculations. These calculations were based on discounted free cash flows and
involved the use of estimates related to cash flow before tax projections based on actual
financial business plans covering the 5-year period until 2028 or 10-year period until 2033,
taking into account the benefits and factors (including transfers between individual CGUs) that
a rational market participant would take into account. Cash flow projections after 5-year or 10-
year forecast period are estimated using the terminal growth. Terminal growth rate does not
exceed the long-term average growth rate for the country in which the Group operates.
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The key financial assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations

The most sensitive key financial assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations of “Media:
television and online” cash-generating unit, “B2C and B2B Services” cash-generating unit,
“Real Estate” and “Green energy” cash-generating unit cash-generating unit were as follows:

e discount rates,

e terminal growth rate used for estimating the cash flows beyond the period of financial
plans,

e energy prices,

e profile and and volume of energy production.

Discount rate — the discount rate reflects the management’s estimation of the risks specific
to each cash-generating unit, taking into account the time value of money and risks specific
to the asset. The discount rate was estimated on the basis of weighted average cost of capital
method (WACC) and considered Group’s and its operating segments’ business environment.
WACC considers both debt and equity. Cost of equity is based on the return on investment
expected by the Group’s investors while cost of debt is based on the interest bearing debt
instruments. Operating segment- specific risk is considered by the estimation of beta. Beta is
estimated annually and is based on the market data.

Terminal growth rate — growth rates are based on widely available published market data.

Energy prices — most of the revenues in the Green energy segment come from the sale of
energy produced from RES sources and from trading electricity on the market, and are largely
dependent on the level of market energy prices and their volatility. Market prices will largely
determine the level of revenues generated from the production and sale of electricity. In order
to reduce exposure to energy price fluctuations, some of the PAK-PCE Group's solar and wind
generation companies have entered into Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) contracts.

Energy production volume — the peak period of energy production from photovoltaic farms
is in the spring and summer, while wind farms record the highest production levels during the
first and fourth quarters. An important factor influencing the level of energy production in a
given period, and thus the revenues generated, from wind and photovoltaic installations are
meteorological conditions, in particular wind power and sunshine levels. The volume of
production of RES sources also affects the level of electricity prices. Periods with high
windiness or a high level of insolation can lead to an overproduction of RES energy and, as a
result, a temporary drop in market energy prices. On the other hand, unfavorable wind or solar
conditions combined with high energy demand (e.g., due to low temperatures) cause
shortages of energy produced from PV and wind sources and translate into temporary
increases in market energy prices.

The key financial assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2023 and 2022 are as
follows:

Media: television B2C and B2B
and online services

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Real Estate Green Energy

Terminal growth 2.5% 2.5% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.5% -

Discount rate 16% | 149% | 89% | 112% | 90% | 135% | 13% -

before tax

The impairment tests for goodwill and brands allocated to “Media: television and online”, “B2C

and B2B services”, “Real Estate” and “Green Energy” cash-generating units did not indicate
impairment as at 31 December 2023.

The Group believes that the key assumptions made in testing for impairment of the “Media:
television and online”, “B2C and B2B services”, “Real Estate” and “Green Energy” cash-
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generating units as at 31 December 2023 are reasonable and are based on our experience
and market forecasts that are published by the industry experts.

Sensitivity analysis of key financial assumptions in the “Media: television and
online”, “B2C and B2B services” and “Green energy”

Media segment

The CGU’s value-in-use amounted to PLN 7,251.9 as at 31 December 2023 and exceeded
its carrying amount by PLN 2,310.8, therefore no impairment of the CGU and the goodwill
assigned to it were identified.

Had any of the key assumptions changes as follows, the CGU'’s value-in-use would equal its
carrying amount as at 31 December 2023:

- decrease in the cash flows after the 5-year forecast period by 46.4% or
- decrease in the terminal growth rate by 6.7 p.p. or
- increase of the discount rate by 4.3 p.p.

Unfavorable exemplary changes in the key assumptions adopted in the test (without changing
its other parameters) would result in decrease in value-in-use of assets assigned to the CGU
by:

- PLN 719.1, had the discount rate (before tax) increased by 1 p.p.; or
- PLN 541.1, had the terminal growth rate decreased by 1 p.p.; or
- PLN 498.3, had the cash flows after the 5-year forecast period decreased by 10%.

B2C and B2B services segment

The CGU’s value-in-use amounted to PLN 23,994.2 as at 31 December 2023 and exceeded
its carrying amount by PLN 5,505.4, therefore no impairment of the CGU and the goodwill
assigned to it were identified.

Had any of the key assumptions changes as follows, the CGU'’s value-in-use would equal its
carrying amount as at 31 December 2023:

- decrease in the cash flows after the 5-year forecast period by 30.5% or
- decrease in the terminal growth rate by 2.6 p.p. or
- increase of the discount rate by 2.0 p.p.

Unfavorable exemplary changes in the key assumptions adopted in the test (without changing
its other parameters) would result in decrease in value-in-use of assets assigned to the CGU
by:

- PLN 346.9, had the discount rate (before tax) increased by 0.1 p.p.; or
- PLN 1,354.9, had the terminal growth rate decreased by 0.5 p.p.; or
- PLN 360.6, had the cash flows after the 5-year forecast period decreased by 2%.

Green energy

The CGU’s value-in-use amounted to PLN 4,028.6 as at 31 December 2023 and exceeded
its carrying amount by PLN 117.4, therefore no impairment of the CGU and the goodwill
assigned to it were identified.
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Had any of the key assumptions changes as follows, the CGU'’s value-in-use would equal its
carrying amount as at 31 December 2023:

- decrease in the cash flows after the 10-year forecast period by 6.4% or
- decrease in the terminal growth rate by 0.55 p.p. or
- increase of the discount rate by 0.3 p.p.

Unfavorable exemplary changes in the key assumptions adopted in the test (without changing
its other parameters) would result in decrease in value-in-use of assets assigned to the CGU
by:

- PLN 309.2, had the discount rate (before tax) increased by 0.5 p.p.; or
- PLN 157.0, had the terminal growth rate decreased by 0.5 p.p.; or
- PLN 133.4, had the cash flows after the 10-year forecast period decreased by 5%.

20. Customer relationships and other intangible assets

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Customer relationships 300.2 643.7
Customer relationships total 300.2 643.7
Software and licenses 741.3 598.6
Concessions 2,372.7 1,919.8
Other 956.5 54.7
Other intangible assets under development 765.3 767.5
Other intangible assets total 4,835.8 3,340.6

The customer relationships and telecommunication concessions (900 MHz, 1800 MHz and
2100 MHz) were recognized in the balance sheet following the acquisition of Metelem Holding
Company Limited based on the Group’s acquisition accounting. The carrying amount of the
customer relationships and concessions was allocated to "B2C and B2B services” cash-
generating unit.

The telecommunication concessions (800 MHz, 900 MHz, 1800 MHz and 2600 MHz) were
recognized in the balance sheet following the acquisition of Midas S.A. based on the Group’s
acquisition accounting. The carrying amount of the customer relationships and concessions
was allocated to "B2C and B2B services” cash-generating unit.

Customer relationships as at 31 December 2023 include the following:

Amortization period

Customer relationships with retail clients 8 or 10 years
Customer relationships — roaming 13 years
Customer relationships on energy market 2.50r 17.5 years
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Concessions as at 31 December 2023 include the following:

Expiry date
License for frequencies in the 900 MHz band 24.02.2026
License for frequencies in the 1800 MHz band 14.09.2029
License for frequencies in the 2600 MHz FDD band 24.01.2031
License for frequencies in the 420 MHz band 31.12.2035
License for frequencies in the 2600 MHz TDD band 31.12.2024
License for frequencies in the 1800 MHz band 31.12.2037
License for frequencies in the 2100 MHz band 31.12.2037

Additionally, in 2023 the following license decisions were issued, the period of which is after
31 December 2023:

Expiry date

License for frequencies in the 900 MHz band 31.12.2038
License for frequencies in the 3.6 GHz band 30.11.2038
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Other intangible

Customer Software and . Other intangible
. . ) Concessions Other assets under
relationships licenses assets
development

Cost
Cost as at 1 January 2023 4,794.6 2,049.5 4,931.4 118.1 768.3 7,867.3
Additions - 23.7 781.6 14.8 338.0 1,158.1
Acquisition of subsidiaries (see note 40) 88.1 0.3 - 892.2* 9.9 902.4
Transfer from intangible assets under development - 340.8 - 7.7 (348.5) -
Disposals - (45.5) (12.8) (0.2) - (58.5)
Transfer between groups - - - - (1.3) (1.3)
Transfer to assets held for sale - - (0.3) - - (0.3)
Cost as at 31 December 2023 4,882.7 2,368.8 5,699.9 1,032.6 766.4 9,867.7
Accumulated impairment losses
Accumulated impairment losses as at 1 January 2023 - 21 - 0.5 0.8 34
Recognition/(reversal) - (0.9) - - 0.3 (0.6)
Accumulated impairment losses as at 31 December 2023 - 1.2 - 0.5 11 2.8
Accumulated amortization
Accumulated amortization as at 1 January 2023 4,150.9 1,448.8 3,011.6 62.9 - 4,523.3
Additions 431.6 221.3 328.5 12.7 - 562.5
Disposals - (43.8) (12.9) - - (56.7)
Accumulated amortization as at 31 December 2023 4,582.5 1,626.3 3,327.2 75.6 - 5,029.1
Carrying amounts
Carrying amount as at 1 January 2023 643.7 598.6 1,919.8 54.7 767.5 3,340.6
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2023 300.2 741.3 2,372.7 956.5 765.3 4,835.8

* The position includes the value of intangible assets recognized as a result of the acquisition of PAK-PCE Group (see note 40), regarding wind farms and covering inter alia the value of power

supply connection and energy production concession.
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Other intangible

Customer Software and . Other intangible
. . ) Concessions Other assets under
relationships licenses assets
development

Cost
Cost as at 1 January 2022 4,728.6 1,868.9 3,734.0 104.1 632.7 6,339.7
Additions - 12.2 1,199.0 26 3231 1,536.9
Acquisition of subsidiaries 66.0 0.9 - 5.6 0.9 7.4
Transfer from intangible assets under development - 178.9 - 5.2 (184.1) -
Disposals - (11.2) (1.6) (10.0) (0.7) (23.5)
Transfer between groups - - - 10.6 (3.6) 7.0
Disposal of a subsidiary - (0.2) - - - (0.2)
Cost as at 31 December 2022 4,794.6 2,049.5 4,931.4 118.1 768.3 7,867.3
Accumulated impairment losses
Accumulated impairment losses as at 1 January 2022 - 1.6 - - 2.8 44
Recognition/(reversal) - 0.5 - 0.5 (2.0) (1.0)
Accumulated impairment losses as at 31 December 2022 - 21 - 0.5 0.8 3.4
Accumulated amortization
Accumulated amortization as at 1 January 2022 3,722.9 1,244.4 2,663.4 53.4 - 3,961.2
Additions 428.0 215.8 349.8 10.5 - 576.1
Disposals - (11.2) (1.6) (1.0) - (13.8)
Disposal of a subsidiary - (0.2) - - - (0.2)
Accumulated amortization as at 31 December 2022 4,150.9 1,448.8 3,011.6 62.9 - 4,523.3
Carrying amounts
Carrying amount as at 1 January 2022 1,005.7 622.9 1,070.6 50.7 629.9 2,3741
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2022 643.7 598.6 1,919.8 54.7 767.5 3,340.6
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Office space

_ Technical Dark fibers Vehicles Points of _sale and other Right-of-use
infrastructure premises . assets
premises
Cost
Cost as at 1 January 2023 280.2 192.2 26.0 299.5 409.8 1,207.7
Acquisition of subsidiary (see note 40) - - - - 89.9 89.9
Additions 66.4 48.9 17.0 71.8 75.7 279.8
Disposals (40.9) (17.2) (12.0) (23.3) (24.4) (117.8)
Cost as at 31 December 2023 305.7 223.9 31.0 348.0 551.0 1,459.6
Accumulated impairment losses
Accumulated impairment losses as at 1 January 2023 - - - - - -
Accumulated impairment losses as at 31 December 2023 - - - - - -
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated depreciation as at 1 January 2023 160.1 123.1 1.3 186.8 199.4 680.7
Additions 411 32.6 45 52.5 62.5 193.2
Disposals (18.6) (9.2) (8.0) (18.3) (4.8) (58.9)
Accumulated depreciation as at 31 December 2023 182.6 146.5 7.8 221.0 2571 815.0
Carrying amount
Carrying amount as at 1 January 2023 120.1 69.1 14.7 112.7 2104 527.0
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2023 123.1 77.4 23.2 127.0 293.9 644.6
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Office space

_ Technical Dark fibers Vehicles Points of _sale and other Right-of-use
infrastructure premises . assets
premises
Cost
Cost as at 1 January 2022 264.7 180.7 28.5 264.9 545.6 1,284.4
Acquisition of subsidiary - - - - 13.9 13.9
Additions 39.8 23.5 6.3 52.6 294 151.6
Disposals (24.3) (12.0) (8.8) (18.0) (34.0) (97.1)
Disposal of a subsidiary - - - - (145.1) (145.1)
Cost as at 31 December 2022 280.2 192.2 26.0 299.5 409.8 1,207.7
Accumulated impairment losses
Accumulated impairment losses as at 1 January 2022 - - - - - -
Accumulated impairment losses as at 31 December 2022 - - - - - -
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated depreciation as at 1 January 2022 130.4 98.4 1.7 147.5 199.9 587.9
Additions 41.3 32.1 4.7 51.5 61.1 190.7
Disposals (11.6) (7.4) (5.1) (12.2) (30.5) (66.8)
Disposal of a subsidiary - - - - (31.1) (31.1)
Accumulated depreciation as at 31 December 2022 160.1 123.1 1.3 186.8 199.4 680.7
Carrying amount
Carrying amount as at 1 January 2022 134.3 82.3 16.8 117.4 345.7 696.5
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2022 120.1 69.1 14.7 112.7 210.4 527.0
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22.Programming assets

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Acquired film licenses 277.2 300.8
S;rﬁ)ti;alised cost of external production and sports 5006 766.1
Co-productions 25 4.6
Prepayments 202.7 129.5
Total 983.0 1,201.0
Of which: Current 678.2 699.2
Non-current 304.8 501.8

Change in programming assets
2023 2022
Net carrying amount as at 1 January 1,201.0 1,370.0
Increase* 416.2 418.7
Change in impairment losses: (0.1) 5.4
Film licenses (0.1) 5.4
Change in internal production® 29.3 85.0
Amortization of film licenses and sports rights (660.5) (668.6)
Disposals: (2.9) (8.9)
Sale of film licenses (2.9) (8.9)
Other decrease - (0.6)
Net carrying amount as at 31 December 983.0 1,201.0

* includes change in prepayments

Commitments related to acquisition of programming assets by the Group are presented in

note 52.
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23.Investment property

2023 2022
Cost as at 1 January 690.8 394
Acquisitions (see note 40) 184.6 761.8
Additions 19.6 85.8
Disposals (73.6) -
Transfer between groups (96.6) (45.8)
Disposal of a subsidiary - (150.4)
Cost as at 31 December 724.8 690.8
Write-offs as of 1 January - -
Additions 0.8 -
Write-offs as of 31 December 0.8 -
Accumulated depreciation as at 1 January 43.8 11.0
Additions 19.3 335
Disposals (3.5) (0.7)
Transfer between groups (35.6) -
Accumulated depreciation as at 31 December 24.0 43.8
Carrying amount as at 1 January 647.0 284
Carrying amount as at 31 December 700.0 647.0

24.Deferred distribution fees

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Deferred distribution fees 3124 297.1
Of which: Current 227.4 217.3
Non-current 85.0 79.8

Deferred distribution fees include commissions for distributors for contracts effectively
concluded with subscribers. These costs are expensed by the Group to profit or loss over the

minimum base period of the subscription contracts.

As at 31 December 2023, the balance of distribution fees relating to agreements whose basic
period as at the date of signing was more than 12 months amounted to PLN 308.6 (as at 31

December 2022: PLN 297.1).
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25.Non-current trade receivables and other non-current assets

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Non-current trade receivables 968.1 930.0

Non-current trade receivables total 968.1 930.0

Shares in associates and joint ventures accounted for

using the equity method 101 1,884.2
Bonds 20.8 -
Deferred costs 9.7 4.6
Investment in joint ventures - 59
Deposits paid 9.8 3.0
Other shares 617.2 29
Derivative instruments (note 42) 35.2 17.4
Total 702.8 1,918.0

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 Non-current trade receivables include
receivables from installment plan purchases. Non-current trade receivables are denominated
in PLN.

e Shares in Asseco Poland S.A. measured at fair value through profit or loss

On 21 September 2023 Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. sold 12.82% Asseco Poland S.A. shares.
Following the transaction, the Company holds a total of 10.13% of Asseco shares. After the
transaction, i.e. from 21 September 2023 Asseco Poland S.A. is ceased to be an associate.
Shares in Asseco Poland S.A. were recognized in the amount of PLN 614.4 as at 31
December 2023 and valued at fair value through profit or loss.

e Shares in associates accounted for using the equity method — PAK-Polska Czysta
Energia Sp. z 0.0.

On 27 July 2022 Cyfrowy Polsat acquired 40.41% shares in PAK-Polska Czysta Energia
Sp. z 0.0. As at 31 December 2022 shares were accounted for using the equity method. On 3
July 2023 Cyfrowy Polsat acquired additional 10.1% Pak-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z o.0.
and took control of the company PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0. and its subsidiaries.
Settlement of the acquisition of shares is presented in note 40.

26.Loans granted

Loans granted 31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Current loans granted 116.2 250.5
Non-current loans granted 10.9 325.6
Total 1271 576.1

Loans granted as at 31 December 2023 include mainly loan to Goalscreen Holdings Limited
with repayment due date in 2024. Loans granted as at 31 December 2022 included mainly
loans to PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0. with repayment due date in 2023-2025.
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Change in loans granted 2023
Loans granted as at 1 January 576.1
Repayment of granted loans — capital (133.0)
Repayment of granted loans — interests (16.0)
Granting new loans 3434
Interest accrued 31.8
Foreign exchange (25.3)
The effect of gaining control over PAK-PCE Group and consolidation (645.5)
The effect of gaining control over Port Praski City Il Sp. z 0.0. and Port Praski (4,4)
Medical Center Sp. z 0.0. and consolidation ’

Loans granted as at 31 December 1271

27.Contract assets

Change in contract assets

Contract assets

31 December 2023

Contract assets as at 1 January 3771
Additions 236.6
Disposals (invoiced amounts transferred to trade receivables) (250.5)
Contract assets as at 31 December 363.2
Write-off (14.2)
Contract assets as at 31 December 349.0

28.Inventories

Types of inventories

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Mobile phones 125.0 148.3
Laptops, tablets and modems 40.2 37.3
Set-top boxes and disc drives 101.7 114.8
Apartments 480.3 4557
Certificates of origin 24.2 -
Other inventories 4442 406.3
Total net book value 1,215.6 1,162.4

Other inventories comprise primarily of raw materials used in the production of set-top boxes

and components of photovoltaic installations.
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Write-offs of inventories 2023 2022
Opening balance 6.0 11.9
Increase 5.2 8.0
Utilisation (3.1) (6.4)
Decrease (0.8) (7.5)
Closing balance 7.3 6.0

29.Trade and other receivables

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Trade receivables from related parties 115 124
Trade receivables from third parties 2,650.1 2,516.6
Tax and social security receivables 182.4 137.7
Other receivables 103.1 84.6
Total 2,947 1 2,751.3

Trade receivables from third parties include primarily receivables from individual customers,
media houses and distributors.

Trade receivables by currency

Currency 31 December 2023 31 December 2022
PLN 2,501.4 2,412.6
EUR 143.4 92.5
uUsD 15.0 18.5
Other 1.8 54
Total 2,661.6 2,529.0

Movements in the allowance for impairment of accounts receivable (trade and other
receivables)

2023 2022
Opening balance 182.4 182.2
Increase 124.4 103.0
Reversal (7.2) (9.7)
Utilisation (118.3) (93.1)
Closing balance 181.3 182.4
Of which: Short-term 126.6 125.7

Long-term 54.7 56.7
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30.Other current assets

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Derivative instruments (note 42) 21.6 63.9
Unbilled revenue 46.0 7.7
Other deferred costs 52.7 41.8
Other 19.4 23.8
Total 139.7 137.2

31.Cash and cash equivalents

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Cash on hand 2.1 1.3
Current accounts 318.1 290.9
Cash in transit 0.4 0.5
Deposits* 2,985.4 515.8
Total 3,306.0 808.5

* with maturity of up to 3 months from the date of establishing the deposit

The Group places its cash and cash equivalents in banks and financial institutions with
reliability proven by ratings awarded by widely recognized agencies Standard & Poor’s,
Moody's or Fitch, required by the loan agreement and policies adopted therein.

Currency 31 December 2023 31 December 2022
PLN 2,191.9 745.4
EUR 1,104.8 58.5
uUsD 9.2 4.4
CHF 0.1 0.2
Total 3,306.0 808.5

As the Group cooperates with well-established Polish and international banks, the risks
relating to deposited cash are considerably limited.

Restricted cash in the amount of PLN 19.7 includes mainly guarantee deposits.
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32.Equity

Share capital

Presented below is the structure of the Company’s share capital as at 31 December 2023 and
at 31 December 2022:

Shgre Number OI Nominal value of Type of shares

series shares shares

Series A 2,500,000 0.1 Registered, preference shares (2 voting rights)
Series B 2,500,000 0.1 Registered, preference shares (2 voting rights)
Series C 7,500,000 0.3 Registered, preference shares (2 voting rights)
Series D 166,917,501 6.7  Registered, preference shares (2 voting rights)
Series D 8,082,499 0.3 Ordinary bearer shares

Series E 75,000,000 3.0 Ordinary bearer shares

Series F 5,825,000 0.2 Ordinary bearer shares

Series H 80,027,836 3.2 Ordinary bearer shares

Series | 47,260,690 1.9 Ordinary bearer shares

Series J 243,932,490 9.8 Ordinary bearer shares

Total 639,546,016 25.6

* not in millions

The shareholders’ structure as at 31 December 2023 was as follows:

. 0,
Number of Nominal % of shgtrel Number of 0/‘3 of
Shares* value of capita votes* voting
shares held rights
Zygmunt Solorz, by: 396,802,022 15.9 62.04% 576,219,523 70.36%
TVi Foundation, incl. 386,745,257 15.5 60.47% 566,162,758 69.13%
through:
Reddev Investments Ltd. 386,745,247 15.5 60.47% 566,162,738 69.13%
incl. through:
Cyfrowy Polsat S.A." 88,842,485 3.6 13.89% 88,842,485 10.85%
Tobias Solorz2, incl. through: 10,056,765 0.4 157% 10,056,765  1.23%
TLOtie Investments Group 4,449 156 0.2 0.70% 4449156  0.54%
Others 242,743,994 9.7 37.96% 242,743,994 29.64%
Total 639,546,016 25.6 100% 818,963,517  100%

* not in millions

' Own shares acquired under the buy-back program announced on 16 November 2021. Pursuant to Art. 364 Item 2
of the Commercial Companies Code, Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. does not exercise voting rights attached to own shares.
2 Person under the presumption of the existence of an agreement referred to in article 87 section 1 item 5 of the

Public Offering Act.
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The shareholders’ structure as at 31 December 2022 was as follows:

H 0,
Number of Nominal % of share Number of /? of
. value of . . voting
shares capital held votes .
shares rights
Zygmunt Solorz, by 396,802,022 15.9 62.04% 576,219,523  70.36%
Tivi Foundation, 386,745,257 15.5 6047% 566,162,758  69.13%
incl.through:
R Investments Ltd.
Reddev Investments Ltd., 400 25 247 155 60.47% 566,162,738  69.13%
incl. through:
Cyfrowy Polsat SA." 88,842,485 36 13.89% 88,842,485  10.85%
Tobias Solorz 2 5,607,609 0.2 0.88% 5,607,609 0.68%
[ffe Investments Group 4.449 156 02 070% 4449156  0.54%
Nationale-Nederlanden PTE 41,066,962 16 6.42% 41,066,062 5.02%
Others 201,677,032 8.1 31.53% 201,677,032  24.63%
Total 639,546,016 25.6 100% 818,963,517 100%

* not in millions

" Own shares acquired under the buy-back program announced on 16 November 2021. Pursuant to Art. 364 ltem
2 of the Commercial Companies Code, Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. does not exercise voting rights attached to own shares.
2 Person is under the presumption of the existence of an agreement referred to in article 87 section 1 item 5 of the
Public Offering Act.

Share premium

Share premium includes the excess of issue value over the nominal value of shares issued
decreased by share issuance-related consulting costs.

Retained earnings

On 29 June 2023 the Annual General Meeting of the Company adopted a resolution on the
distribution of the Company’s net profit for the financial year 2022. In accordance with the
provisions of the resolution, the total amount of the net profit was allocated to the
supplementary capital amounted to PLN 1,248.6.

Other reserves

Other reserves as at 31 December 2023 include mainly the reserve capital created for the
purposes of the share buyback program in the amount of PLN 2,914.8.

Treasury shares

Treasury shares as at 31 December 2023 and as at 31 December 2022 include a total of
88,842,485 (not in millions) own shares, representing in total 13.89% of the share capital of
the Company and entitling to exercise 88,842,485 (not in millions) votes at the general meeting
of the Company, constituting 10.85% of the total number of votes at the general meeting of
the Company.

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests relate primarily to interests attributable to non-controlling
shareholders of Port Praski Sp. z 0.0. and its subsidiaries (PLN 269 as at 31 December 2023)
and PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0. and its subsidiaries (PLN 620 as at 31 December
2023). PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0. and its subsidiaries are included in Green energy
segment. Port Praski Sp. z 0.0. and its subsidiaries are included in Real Estate segment.
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The table below shows aggregate data for PAK-PCE Group subsidiaries that have project

financing:
For the period from July to
December 2023
Revenue from sales 3455
Operating costs (348.8)
Including: depreciation (20.7)
Operating loss (5.5)
As of 31 December 2023
Cash 250.4
Loan liabilities* (1,226.5)
Lease liabilities (59.0)

*excludes inter-company loans

33.Hedge valuation reserve

The Company concluded the following interest rate swap transactions, which consisted in
exchange of interest payments based on a floating rate WIBOR 3M into interest payments
based on a fixed interest rate:

Conclusion Nominal Hedge start Hedge end Fixed inte-
Contractor amount
date date date rest rate
secured
26.11.2021 Santander Bank 125.0 31.03.2022 31.12.2024 3.0925%
Polska S.A.
18.02.2022 BNP Paribas 125.0 30.09.2022 31.12.2024 4.1550%
25.03.2022 PKO BS”AJ‘ Polski 125.0 30.09.2022 31.12.2024 5.7200%
29.042022 ~Santander Bank 125.0 31.03.2023  31.03.2025 6.5750%
Polska S.A.
19.05.2022  Santander Bank 125.0 31.03.2023  31.03.2025 6.2450%
Polska S.A.
22.07.2022 BNP Paribas 125.0 31.03.2023 30.06.2025 6.0600%

The Company concluded the following currency interest rate swap transactions, which con-
sisted in exchange of interest payments denominated in euro based on a floating rate
EURIBOR 3M into interest payments based on a fixed interest rate:

Conclusion C Nominal Hedge start Hedge end Fixed inter-
ontractor amount se-
date date date est rate
cured
26.09.2023 Societe Generale 25.0 29.09.2023 30.09.2026 3.6350%

17.11.2023 Societe Generale 25.0 28.03.2024 31.03.2027 3.1020%
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The Company concluded the following forward transactions, which consisted on the purchase
by the Company of euro currency at a fixed date in the future at the exchange rate determined
on the date of the transaction:

Con(;:lusion Contractor Nominal Maturity date Forward ex-
ate amount change rate
20.10.2023 PKO Bank Polski S.A. 0.65 31.01.2024 4.4865
20.10.2023 PKO Bank Polski S.A. 0.55 29.02.2024 4.4939
20.10.2023 PKO Bank Polski S.A. 0.55 28.03.2024 4.5017
08.11.2023 PKO Bank Polski S.A. 0.40 31.01.2024 4.4815
08.11.2023 PKO Bank Polski S.A. 0.60 30.04.2024 4.5040
21.12.2023 PKO Bank Polski S.A. 0.40 29.02.2024 4.3629
21.12.2023 PKO Bank Polski S.A. 0.60 31.05.2024 4.3858

Impact of hedging instruments valuation on assets and liabilities as at 31 December

2023

RS CIRS tran;?(l:-:;’;‘r:(sj
Assets
Short-term 4.3 - -
Liabilities

Long-term (2.0) (5.2) -
Short-term (3.7) (0.6) (0.4)
Total (1.4) (5.8) (0.4)

Impact of hedging instruments valuation on assets and liabilities as at 31 December

2022
IRS
Assets
Long-term 6.6
Short-term 16.5
Liabilities
Long-term (0.7)
Total 224
Impact of hedging instruments valuation on hedge valuation reserve
2023 2022
Balance as at 1 January 18.2 9.0
Valuation of cash flow hedges (28.8) 11.4
Deferred tax 55 (2.2)
Change for the period (23.3) 9.2

Balance as at 31 December (5.1) 18.2
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34.Loans and borrowings

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Short-term liabilities 1,069.7 1,512.6
Long-term liabilities 9,534.3 6,624.8
Total 10,604.0 8,137.4

Change in loans and borrowings liabilities:

2023 2022
Balance as at 1 January 8,137.4 8,744.5
Loans and borrowings on acquisition of PAK-Polska Czysta
. 1,704.2 -
Energia Sp. z 0.0. (see note 40)
Effect of obtaining control over PAK-Polska Czysta Energia
C (645.5) -
Sp. z 0.0. and consolidation
Loans and borrowings on acquisition of Port Praski City Il Sp. 8.8 )
z 0.0. and Port Praski Medical Center Sp. z 0.0. (see note 40) ’
Effect of obtaining control over Port Praski City Il Sp. z 0.0. (4.4) )
and Port Praski Medical Center Sp. z o.0. :
Loans and borrowings on acquisition of Port Praski Sp. z 0.0. - 238.3
Loans and borrowings inflows* 12,157.0 141.2
Loan conversion (8,255.0) -
Repayment of capital (2,327.0) (1,045.1)
Repayment of interest and commissions** (1,018.6) (525.7)
One-time loans repayment 20.8 -
Interest accrued and commissions 908.4 582.7
Foreign exchange (82.1) 15
Balance as at 31 December 10,604.0 8,137.4

* includes capital increase due to capitalization of accrued interest
** includes interest settled under capitalization of interest on principal

Conclusion of Senior Facilities Agreement with a consortium of financial institutions

On 28 April 2023, Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. and Polkomtel Sp. z 0.0. and other subsidiaries of the
Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. Capital Group concluded the Senior Facilities Agreement, sustainability
linked financing (the “Facilities Agreement”), with a consortium of Polish and foreign financial
institutions, including, among others, Santander Bank Polska S.A. acting as an Agent and
Bank Polska Kasa Opieki S.A. acting as a Security Agent.

The Facilities Agreement provides to the Company and Polkomtel Sp. z o0.0. for PLN term
facility loan to be granted up to a maximum amount of PLN 7,255.0, an EUR term facility loan
up to a maximum amount of EUR 506.0 (the “Term Facilities”) and a revolving facility loan up
to a maximum amount of the equivalent of PLN 1,000.0 (the “Revolving Facility”).

The Term Facilities and the Revolving Facility bear interest at a variable rate equal to
WIBOR/EURIBOR for the relevant interest periods plus margin. The margin of the Term
Facilities and the Revolving Facility depends on the level of the consolidated total debt ratio
(net debt to consolidated EBITDA) calculated jointly for certain entities from the Company’s
capital group, and also on the achievement by the Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. Capital Group of
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certain targets concerning green energy production and zero-carbon electricity consumption
by certain entities from the Company’s capital group.

The Term Facilities and the Revolving Facility will be used by the Company in particular for:
a) repayment of all indebtedness under the Senior Facilities Agreement concluded on 21
September 2015, as amended by agreements dated 2 March 2018 and 27 April 2020,

b) making funds available to companies implementing investment projects defined in the
Facilities Agreement; and

c) financing general corporate needs of the Company’s capital group.

The Facilities Agreement provides for the establishment by the Company and other entities in
the Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. Capital Group of collateral securing the repayment of loans granted
thereunder.

The term of the Term Facilities and the Revolving Facility is 5 years from the date of execution
of the Facilities Agreement and the final repayment date of each of these facilities is 28 April
2028. The PLN term facility will be repaid in quarterly installments of varying amounts. The
EUR term facility will be repaid in one installment on the final repayment date.

Decision on early repayment of facility loans

On 9 May 2023 Cyfrowy Polsat and Polkomtel Sp. z o0.0. (a subsidiary of the Company)
submitted to the facility agent an irrevocable instruction to activate the procedure for early
repayment of the full amount of the term facility loan and the revolving facility loan granted
under the Senior Facilities Agreement concluded on 21 September 2015, as amended by
agreements dated 2 March 2018 and 27 April 2020.

A prepayment in the aggregate amount of PLN 8,843.7 was made on 16 May 2023.

As a result of the prepayment, the Company and Polkomtel Sp. z 0.0. repaid the entire debt
under the indicated facilities agreement.

Security

Pursuant to the Facilities Agreement, certain members of the Company’s capital group are to
grant guarantees under the English law to each of the financing parties under the Senior
Facilities Agreement and other finance documents executed in relation thereto (in the amount
of the facility increased by all fees and receivables contemplated in the Senior Facilities
Agreement or other finance documents executed in relation thereto). The guarantees secure:

(i) thetimely discharge of the obligations under the Senior Facilities Agreement and other
finance documents executed in relation thereto;

(i) a payment of amounts due under the Senior Facilities Agreement and other finance
documents executed in relation thereto and

(i) an indemnification of the financing parties referred to above against any liabilities,
costs and losses that such financing parties may incur in relation to the
unenforceability, ineffectiveness or unlawfulness of any obligation secured by the
guarantee described above.

The period of the guarantees has not been specified. The guarantors will be remunerated at
arm’s length for granting the guarantees.

In order to secure the repayment of claims under the Senior Facilities Agreement,
the Company, other Group companies listed below, as guarantors, and the Security Agent,
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entered into and signed agreements and other documents providing for the establishment of

the following collateral:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

registered pledges over collections of movables and property rights of variable
composition, included in the enterprises of the Company, Polkomtel Sp. z o.0.,
Telewizja Polsat Sp. z 0.0., Netia S.A., Polsat Media Biuro Reklamy Sp. z o.0.,
Polsat Media Sp. z 0.0. and Muzo.fm Sp. z 0.0.;

financial and registered pledges over all shares in Polkomtel Sp. z o.0. and
Telewizja Polsat Sp. z 0.0. held by the Company, as well as over all shares in Netia
S.A. held by the Company, and all shares in Polsat Media Biuro Reklamy Sp. z o.0.
and Muzo.fm Sp. z o.0. held by Telewizja Polsat Sp. z 0.0., and over all shares in
Polsat Media Sp. z 0.0. held by the Company, Telewizja Polsat Sp. z 0.0. and Polsat
Media Biuro Reklamy Sp. z 0.0., for which the applicable law is Polish law, together
with powers of attorney to exercise corporate rights attached to the shares in the
aforementioned companies;

financial and registered pledges over the receivables related to the bank accounts
of the Company, Polkomtel Sp. z 0.0., Telewizja Polsat Sp. z 0.0., Netia S.A., Polsat
Media Biuro Reklamy Sp. z o.0., Polsat Media Sp. z 0.0. and Muzo.fm Sp. z o.0.,
for which the applicable law is the Polish law;

powers of attorney to the bank accounts of the Company, Polkomtel Sp. z o.0.,
Telewizja Polsat Sp. z 0.0., Netia S.A., Polsat Media Biuro Reklamy Sp. z o.0.,
Polsat Media Sp. z 0.0. and Muzo.fm Sp. z 0.0., for which the applicable law is the
Polish law;

registered pledges over the rights to the trademarks of the Company, Polkomtel Sp.
z 0.0., Telewizji Polsat Sp. z 0.0., Netia S.A., Polsat Media Sp. z 0.0., for which the
applicable law is Polish law;

assignment of receivables for security under hedging agreements payable to the
Company and Polkomtel Sp. z 0.0., for which the applicable law is English law;

assignment of rights for security under insurance agreements for real properties
and assets made by the Company, Polkomtel Sp. z 0.0., Telewizja Polsat Sp. z o0.0.,
Netia S.A., Polsat Media Biuro Reklamy Sp. z 0.0., Polsat Media Sp. z 0.0. and
Muzo.fm Sp. z 0.0.;

statements of the Company, Polkomtel Sp. z 0.0., Telewizja Polsat Sp. z 0.0., Netia
S.A., Polsat Media Biuro Reklamy Sp. z 0.0., Polsat Media Sp. z 0.0. and Muzo.fm
Sp. z 0.0. on submission to enforcement under a notarial deed, for which the
applicable law is Polish law;

a joint contractual mortgage, governed by Polish law, over the following real
properties owned by or in perpetual usufruct of the Company: (a) land property
located in Warsaw, Targéwek district, in the area of ul. Lubinowa, land and mortgage
register No. WA3M/00104992/7, (b) land property located in Warsaw, Targéowek
district, in the area of ul. ktubinowa, land and mortgage register No.
WA3M/00102149/9, (c) land property located in Warsaw, Targéwek district, in the
area of ul. Lubinowa, land and mortgage register No. WA3M/00103400/4, (d) land
property located in Warsaw, Targéwek district, in the area of ul. Zabraniecka, land
and mortgage register No. WA3M/00131411/9, (e) land property located in Warsaw,
Praga Potnoc district, in the area of ul. Zabraniecka, land and mortgage register No.
WA3M/00100110/3, (f) land property located in Warsaw, Praga Péinoc district, in
the area of ul. Zabraniecka, land and mortgage register No. WA3M/00100109/3, ()
land property located in Warsaw, Praga Potnoc district, land and mortgage register
No. WA3M/00102615/7, (h) land property located in Warsaw, Praga Pétnoc district,
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in the area of ul. Zabraniecka, land and mortgage register No. WA3M/00132063/1,
(i) land property located in Warsaw, Targowek district, in the area of ul. Zabraniecka,
land and mortgage register No. WA3M/00101039/8, (j) land property located in
Warsaw, Targéwek district, in the area of ul. Zabraniecka, land and mortgage
register No. WA3M/00136943/2, (k) land held in perpetual usufruct and a building
constituting a separate property located in Warsaw, Targéwek district, in the area of
ul. Utrata, land and mortgage register No. WA3M/00186120/2;

(x) a contractual mortgage, governed by Polish law, over land property located in
Warsaw, Ursynéw district, in the area of ul. Baletowa and Putawska, land and
mortgage register No. WA5M/00478842/7, owned by Polkomtel;

(xi) a joint contractual mortgage, governed by Polish law, over the following properties
owned or co-owned by Netia S.A.: (a) land property located in Jawczyce, Ozaréw
Mazowiecki commune, land and mortgage register WA1P/00133706/7, (b) land
property located in Krakoéw, Podgérze district, in the area of ul. Luciany Frassati-
Gawronskiej, land and mortgage register KR1P/00359665/5, (c) land property
located in Warsaw, Ursynéw district, in the area of ul. Poleczki, land and mortgage
register WA2M/00142936/8, (d) land property located in Warsaw, Ursynow district,
in the area of ul. Poleczki, land and mortgage register WA5M/00468204/0, (e) land
property located in Warsaw, Ursynow district, in the area of ul. Tango, land and
mortgage register WA2M/00138733/4.

Financing of projects related to the production of green Energy

In 2021-2023, the companies of the PAK-PCE Group concluded investment loan agreements
to finance the implementation of investment projects related to renewable energy sources.

PAK-PCE Biopaliwa i Wodor Sp. z o.0.

On 1 July 2022, an amendment agreement to the loan agreement of 29 January 2021 was
made between ZE PAK S.A. (ZE PAK), PAK-PCE Biopaliwa i Wodér Sp. z o0.0. (PAK-PCE
BiW) and Bank Polska Kasa Opieki S.A., on the basis of which a loan in the total amount of
up to PLN 160.0 was transferred to PAK-PCE BiW intended to finance an investment project
aimed at adapting an existing coal-fired unit, located at the Konin power plant, to burn
biomass. The loan is repayable in quarterly installments of equal amount starting from 30 June
2022 and the final repayment date is 31 December 2030. The loan bears interest at a variable
rate which is the sum of the WIBOR rate for the relevant interest period and a margin. The
carrying value of the loan as of 31 December 2023 was PLN 127.1.

In order to secure the repayment of the loan granted, the following were established and
signed: (i) a mortgage on the indicated properties of PAK-PCE BiW, (ii) financial and registered
pledge on bank accounts maintained by the PAK-PCE BiW in Bank Pekao S.A. and power of
attorney for each of the aforementioned bank accounts, (iii) transfer for collateral from
insurance policies of assets of PAK-PCE BiW as well as assignment of receivables from heat
supply contracts for the city Konin and (iv) a statement of submission of PAK-PCE BiW to
execution pursuant to Article 777 § 1 point 5 of the Code of Civil Procedure.

On 23 June 2022 PAK-PCE BiW entered with Bank Polska Kasa Opieki S.A. into a credit limit
agreement with maximum amount of PLN 25.0 to finance the company's general corporate
purposes. Credit limit agreement expires on 30 November 2024. The loan bears interest at a
variable rate, which is the sum of the WIBOR rate for the relevant interest period and a margin.
As of December 31, 2023, the company has not used the limit.
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Farma Wiatrowa Kazimierz Biskupi Sp. z o.0.

On 20 September 2022 Farma Wiatrowa Kazimierz Biskupi Sp. z 0.0. (FW Kazimierz Biskupi)
entered into an investment loan agreement with Bank Gospodarstwa Krajowego intended for
the construction of a wind farm. The loan agreement provides for a term loan up to a maximum
amount of PLN 135.0 and VAT loan up to maximum amount of PLN 30.0. The interest rate on
the loans is variable and is the sum of the WIBOR rate for the relevant interest periods and a
margin. The term loan will be repaid in quarterly installments. Repayment of the first
installment is scheduled no later than 20 June 2024 and the final repayment date is 20
December 2038 for term loan and 20 September 2024 for VAT loan. The total carrying amount
of investment loan as at 31 December 2023 was PLN 122.4.

In order to secure the repayment of the loan granted, the following were established and
signed: (i) financial and registered pledge (subject to its registration) on all shares in the share
capital of FW Kazimierz Biskupi together with a power of attorney to exercise the corporate
rights of such shares, (ii) financial and registered pledge (subject to its registration) on
receivables from bank account agreements of FW Kazimierz Biskupi, (iii) financial pledge
(subject to its registration) on collection of property and property rights belonging to FW
Kazimierz Biskupi, (iv) assignment as collateral to the bank of rights and receivables inter alia,
an electricity sales contract, a construction contract, and loan agreements, (v) a debt
subordination agreement, according to which claims of PAK-PCE against FW Kazimierz
Biskupi were subordinated to the bank's claims under the loan agreement, (vi) power of
attorney over bank accounts FW Kazimierz Biskupi and (vii) declarations of FW Kazimierz
Biskupi and PAK-PCE on submission to execution under Article 777 of the Code of Civil
Procedure.

Park Wiatrowy Patczyn 1 Sp. z 0.0. (Farma Mitostaw)

On 20 April 2023 Park Wiatrowy Patczyn 1 Sp. z 0.0. (PW Patczyn) entered into a investment
loan agreement with Bank Polska Kasa Opieki S.A. intended for the construction of a wind
farm Mitostaw. The loan agreement provides for a term loan up to a maximum amount of PLN
95.5 and VAT loan up to maximum amount of PLN 5.0. The interest rate on the loans is variable
and is the sum of the WIBOR rate for the relevant interest periods and a margin. The term
loan will be repaid in quarterly installments. Repayment of the first installment is scheduled no
later than 20 June 2024 and the final repayment date is 20 December 2038 for term loan and
31 December 2023 for VAT loan. The total carrying amount of investment loan as at
31 December 2023 was PLN 76.9.

In order to secure the repayment of the loan granted, the following were established and
signed: (i) financial and registered pledge on shares of PW Patczyn, (ii) financial and
registered pledge on bank accounts of PW Paftczyn and power of attorney for each of the
aforementioned bank accounts, (iii) registered pledge on assets, (iv) assignment from
contracts that are essential project documentation, (v) assignment of insurance policies, and
(vi) declarations of PW Patczyn on submission to execution under Article 777, paragraph 1
points 5 and 6 of the Code of Civil Procedure.

PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z o.o0.

On 23 June 2021 PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0. (PAK-PCE) entered into a loan
agreement with EFG Bank in the total amount of PLN 300.0. intended for the support of all
investments and other activities related to renewable energy projects. On 17 March 2023
maximum amount of available credit has been increased to PLN 360.0. The interest rate on
the loans is variable and is the sum of the WIBOR rate for the relevant interest periods and a
margin. The term loan will be repaid in quarterly installments. The total loan debt plus interest
was repaid on 3 October 2023.

In addition, PAK-PCE was a party to loan agreements with ZE PAK S.A. in total maximum
amount of PLN 795.9 borrowed to finance investments related to the development and
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production of green hydrogen, hydrogen buses and the implementation of renewable energy
installations. The interest rate on the loans was variable and was the sum of the WIBOR rate
for the relevant interest periods and a margin. The final repayment date was 31 December
2023. The total loan debt plus interest was repaid on 3 October 2023.

PAK-PCE Fotowoltaika Sp. z o.0.

On 12 March 2021 PAK-PCE Fotowoltaika Sp. z 0.0. concluded with a consortium of banks
consisting of: PKO BP S.A., Bank Pekao S.A. and mBank S.A. credit agreement, under which
an investment loan was made available to the company up to a maximum amount of PLN
175.0 to finance the construction of a photovoltaic farm, of which the term loan is PLN 138.0
and the loan to finance VAT is PLN 37.0. The VAT loan was repaid on June 30, 2022. Pursuant
to an amendment agreement dated March 31, 2023, the term loan limit was raised to a
maximum amount of PLN 182.0. The loan bears interest at a variable rate that is the sum of
the WIBOR rate for the relevant interest periods and a margin. The term loan is repayable in
quarterly installments according to the payment schedule starting from 31 March 2022 while
the final repayment date is 31 December 2035. The total carrying amount of investment loan
as at 31 December 2023 was PLN 162.7.

In order to secure the repayment of the loan granted, the following were established and
signed: (i) mortgage on the property, (ii) financial and registered pledge on bank accounts,
(iii) financial and registered pledge on shares in PAK-PCE Fotowoltaika Sp. z o.0., (iv)
registered pledge on movable assets, (v) assignment of receivables from the main contracts
of the project, including the insurance policies, (vi) declarations on submission to execution
under Article 777 of the Code of Civil Procedure, (vii) ZE PAK surety up to PLN 10.0, (viii)
power of attorney for PAK-PCE Fotowoltaika Sp. z 0.0. bank accounts.

In addition, PAK-PCE Fotowoltaika Sp. z 0.0. signed 3 loan agreements with ZE PAK S.A. (on
8 March 2021, 9 March 2021 and 29 March 2022) for a total maximum amount of up to PLN
9.5. The funds from the loans received were used to build a photovoltaic farm and finance the
company's current operations. The loans bear interest at a variable rate, which is the sum of
the WIBOR rate for the relevant interest periods and a margin. The loans mature on
31 December 2035. Total debt under the loans as of 31 December 2023 was PLN 11.3.

PAK-PCE Polski Autobus Wodorowy Sp. z o.0.

On 22 December 2022 PAK-PCE Polski Autobus Wodorowy Sp. z 0.0. (PAK-PCE PAW)
concluded with the National Environmental Protection and Water Management Fund an
agreement on financing in the form of a loan for the construction of a production plant for
innovative hydrogen buses in Swidnik. The loan was granted for a maximum amount of
PLN 50.0. The loan bears interest at a variable rate of the WIBOR 3M rate with a minimum
rate limitation. The term loan is repayable in quarterly equal installments according to the
payment schedule starting from 20 December 2025 while the final repayment date is 20
December 2037. The total carrying amount of investment loan as at 31 December 2023 was
PLN 30.2.

In connection with the loan agreement, the following were signed: (i) a blank promissory note
with a promissory note declaration, (ii) a promissory note guarantee of ZE PAK S.A. along with
a promissory note declaration, (iii) a mortgage on the real estate on which the project is
implemented, (iv) a declaration of submission to execution on the subject of the mortgage,
and (v) a pledge on a set of property and rights - once the project is implemented.

PAK Volt S.A.

PAK Volt S.A. entered into two loan agreements with ZE PAK S.A. to finance the company's
current operations: on 15 December 2020 in maximum amount of PLN 13.0 and on 24
November 2022 in maximum amount of PLN 120.0. The loans bore interest at a variable rate
that was the sum of the WIBOR rate for the relevant interest periods and a margin. The
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15 December 2020 loan was repaid with interest on 2 October 2023. The 24 November 2022
loan matures on 31 December 2025, and as of 31 December 2023, it had not been utilized.

Farma Wiatrowa Przyréw Sp. z o.0.

On 16 October 2023, Farma Wiatrowa Przyréw Sp. z 0.0. (FW Przyréw) entered into a loan
agreement with EFG Bank (Luxembourg) S.A. providing for the granting of financing in the
form of a term loan up to the amount of PLN 360.0, bearing interest at a variable rate
representing the sum of the WIBOR rate for the relevant interest periods and a margin. The
funds raised are used to implement the "Przyréw" wind power project with a target estimated
installed capacity of 50.4 MW. The loan's repayment date was set for 16 October 2028. The
carrying value of the loan as of 31 December 2023 was PLN 222.2.

Great Wind Sp z o.0. (Farma Wiatrowa Cztuchow)

On 9 November 2023 Great Wind Sp. z o.0. (,Great Wind”) concluded with a consortium of
banks consisting of: BGK, mBank S.A., Santander Bank Polska S.A. and PKO BP S.A. credit
agreement, on the basis of which a term loan up to the maximum amount of PLN 656,
revolving credit up to a maximum amount of PLN 44 and VAT revolving credit up to a maximum
amount of PLN 100 was made available to the company. The loans will be used to finance the
construction of a Cztuchéw wind farm. The loan bears interest at a variable rate that is the
sum of the WIBOR rate for the relevant interest periods and a margin. The term loan is
repayable in quarterly installments according to the payment schedule starting from 20 March
2025 while the final repayment date is 20 December 2039. The revolving credit facility will be
repaid no later than 31 December 2029. The VAT revolving credit will be repaid by 30 June
2025. As of 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the term loan and VAT loan (combined)
was PLN 473.8.

In order to secure the repayment of the loan granted, the following were established and
signed: (i) registered pledge on a collection of movables and property rights of variable
composition, which are part of an enterprise Great Wind, (ii) financial pledges and registered
pledges on all shares in Great Wind held by PAK-PCE, together with a power of attorney to
exercise corporate rights from shares in Great Wind; (iii) financial and registered pledges on
claims under Great Wind's bank account agreements; (iv) powers of attorney to Great Wind's
bank accounts; (v) guarantee of contribution by PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0.; (Vi)
guarantee of cost overruns by ZE PAK S.A.. In addition, subordination and assignment by way
of security of certain claims of PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0. against Great Wind with
respect to the claims of the financing parties under the loan agreement and related
documents, assignment by way of security of claims under the project documents and
guarantees owed to Great Wind, agreements for the sale of electricity generated at the
renewable energy source and financial settlement agreement (contract for difference) were
concluded with the contractors; and declarations of submission to execution were made by
Great Wind and PAK-PCE.
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35.Issued bonds

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Short-term liabilities 393.7 176.0
Long-term liabilities 3,955.4 1,900.4
Total 4,349.1 2,076.4

Change in issued bonds:

2023 2022
Balance as at 1 January 2,076.4 2,008.5
Bonds issue (series D bonds) 2,670.0 -
Bonds issue (series E bonds) 799.5 -
Bond issue (series F bonds) 400.0 -
Bonds redemption (series B and C bonds*) (1,688.1) -
Issued bonds on acquisition of Vindix S.A. - 28.0
Effect of gaining control over Vindix S.A. and consolidation - (19.3)
Bonds repayment - (8.3)
Repayment of interest and commissions** (254.8) (88.1)
Cumulative catch-up (20.8) -
Interest accrued and commissions 366.9 155.6
Balance as at 31 December 4,349.1 2,076.4

* redemption through conversion into series D and E bonds
**incl. interests and premium for early redemption of bonds settled as part of the conversion

Issuance of series D, series E and series F bonds and refinancing of debts under
Series B and Series C

On 16 December 2022 the Management Board of the Company adopted resolutions on:

e issuance of no more than 2,670,000 (not in millions) unsecured series D bearer
bonds with the nominal value of PLN 1,000 (not in millions) each and the total nominal
value of no more than PLN 2,670 (“series D bonds”),

e purchase by the Company from the bondholders of the series B bonds and series C
bonds issued by the Company, some or all of the series B bonds and series C bonds
for the purpose of their redemption, based on sale and set-off agreements to be
entered into by the Company with those of the series B bonds and series C bonds
bondholders who declare their intention to sell such bonds and have their receivables
for the series B bonds and series C bonds sale credited against the purchase price
of the series D bonds.

On 11 January 2023, the issue of 2,670,000 (not in millions) series D bonds, with the total
nominal value of PLN 2,670 was completed. The maturity date of the series D bonds is
11 January 2030. Interest on the series D bonds is paid in arrears every six months. The first
interest payment was made on 11 July 2023.

The first trading day for the series D bonds in the Alternative Trading System as part of the
Catalyst market (in the continuous trading system) was set for 20 January 2023.
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At the same time, on 11 January 2023, Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. repurchased for redemption
691,952 (not in millions) series B bearer bonds with the total nominal value of PLN 692 issued
by the Company on 26 April 2019 with the redemption date set for 24 April 2026 and 835,991
(not in millions) series C bearer bonds with the total nominal value of PLN 836 issued by the
Company on 14 February 2020, with the redemption date set for 12 February 2027
(collectively “Bonds Repurchased for Redemption”) from investors holding rights to the Bonds
Repurchased for Redemption who paid the issue price of the series D bonds, registered on
11 January 2023 with the securities depository, by setting off the amounts due to the Company
from the issuance of the series D bonds against the amounts due to the relevant investors in
respect of the sale of the Bonds Repurchased for Redemption to the Company.

On 11 January 2023 the Management Board of the Company adopted a resolution to redeem
the Bonds Repurchased for Redemption.

On 7 September 2023 the Management Board of the Company adopted resolutions on:

e issuance of no more than 820,000 (not in millions) unsecured series E bearer bonds
with the nominal value of PLN 1,000 (not in millions) each and the total nominal value
of no more than PLN 820 (“series E bonds”),

e purchase by the Company from the bondholders of the series B bonds and series C
bonds issued by the Company, some or all of the series B bonds and series C bonds
for the purpose of their redemption, based on sale and set-off agreements to be
entered into by the Company with those of the series B bonds and series C bonds
bondholders who declare their intention to sell such bonds and have their receivables
for the series B bonds and series C bonds sale credited against the purchase price of
the series E bonds.

On 28 September 2023, the issue of 820,000 (not in millions) series E bonds, with the total
nominal value of PLN 820 was completed. The maturity date of the series E bonds is
11 January 2030. Interest on the series E bonds is paid in arrears every six months. The first
payment was made on 11 January 2024.

The first trading day for the series E bonds in the Alternative Trading System as part of the
Catalyst market (in the continuous trading system) was set for 28 September 2023.

At the same time, on 28 September 2023, Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. repurchased for redemption
84,250 (not in millions) series B bearer bonds with the total nominal value of PLN 84 issued
by the Company on 26 April 2019 with the redemption date set for 24 April 2026 and 75,956
(not in millions) series C bearer bonds with the total nominal value of PLN 76 issued by the
Company on 14 February 2020, with the redemption date set for 12 February 2027
(collectively “Bonds Repurchased for Redemption”) from investors holding rights to the Bonds
Repurchased for Redemption who paid the issue price of the series E bonds, registered on
28 September 2023 with the securities depository, by setting off the amounts due to the
Company from the issuance of the series E bonds against the amounts due to the relevant
investors in respect of the sale of the Bonds Repurchased for Redemption to the Company.

On 28 September 2023 the Management Board of the Company adopted a resolution to
redeem the Bonds Repurchased for Redemption.

On 11 December 2023 the Managament Board of the Company adopted resolution on
issuance of 400,000 (not in millions) unsecured series F bearer bonds with the nominal value
of PLN 1,000 (not in millions) each and the total nominal value of PLN 400 (’series F bonds”).
On 28 September 2023 the assimilation of the series E bonds with the series D bonds was
completed.

Issuance of 400,000 (not in millions) series F bonds of the total nominal value of PLN 400 was
executed on 21 December 2023. All series F bonds were allocated to one investor, i.e. PFR
Investment Fund Closed of Non-Public Assets.
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On 21 December 2023 series F bonds have been entered in the securities register kept by
Trigon Dom Maklerski S.A., acting as issuing agent for series F bonds. The Company does
not intend to apply for the introduction of series F bonds to the alternative trading system
operated by the Wasaw Stock Exchange (Gietda Papieréw Wartosciowych w Warszawie S.A.)
within the Catalyst market.

The interest rates on the Series D, E and F bonds are variable and depend on both financial
ratios and the sustainability index, i.e. the share of electricity from zero-carbon sources in the
total consumption of electricity for the Group's own consumption of selected companies.
Interest on Series D, E and F bonds is paid semi-annually on January 11 and July 11.

In accordance with Article 35 Paragraphs 1a and 1c of the Bond Law, the Company presented
on its website in the investor relations section forecasts of the development of financial
liabilities, including the estimated value of financial liabilities and the estimated structure of
financing understood as the value and percentage of liabilities from loans and borrowings,
issued bonds and leases in the total equity and liabilities of the Company's balance sheet and
the consolidated balance sheet of the Group. The following table compares the forecast with
actual results based on the Company's standalone and consolidated balance sheet as at 31
December 2023.

31 December 2023 31 December 2023
forecast actual results

[PLN billion] [PLN billion]

Cyfrowy Polsat S.A.

Value of financial liabilities (from loans and
. . . 6.6 6.6
borrowings, issued bonds and leasing)

Share in total equity and liabilities 33% 33%

Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. Capital Group

Value of financial liabilities (from loans and
. . . 16.6 15.6
borrowings, issued bonds and leasing)

Share in total equity and liabilities 44% 43%

On standalone basis, there is no deviation of the actual value of financial liabilities (due to
loans and borrowings, issued bonds and leasing) at the end of 2023 and the share of this
value in the Company's total equity and liabilities at the end of 2023 from the published
estimated values.

On a consolidated basis, the deviation from the estimate of the actual value of the Group's
financial liabilities (due to loans and borrowings, issued bonds and leasing) at the end of 2023
amounted to approximately PLN 1 billion (not in millions) and resulted from the repayment of
the entire debt under the revolving facility loan in the amount of PLN 1 billion (not in millions)
in December 2023.

36.Lease liabilities

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Short-term liabilities 166.2 178.6
Long-term liabilities 444.6 345.6

Total 610.8 524.2
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Change in lease liabilities:

2023 2022
Balance as at 1 January 524.2 698.6
Acquisition of a subsidiary (see note 40) 76.4 16.5
Effect of gaining control and consolidation - (110.9)
Changes 214 .2 114.7
Interest accrued 295 19.9
Repayment of capital and interest (222.9) (216.6)
Foreign exchange differences (10.6) 20
Balance as at 31 December 610.8 524.2

37.Group as a lessor

Operating lease

The Group entered into contracts with third parties, which are classified as operating leases
based on their economic substance. The contracts relate to the rental of reception equipment
and lease of office and other premises. Assets connected with such contracts are presented
as either reception equipment or other property, plant and equipment.

Lease contracts for set-top boxes were concluded for a base contractual period ranging from
12 to 24 months. After each base period, the contracts are converted into contracts with
indefinite term, unless terminated by the subscribers or new contracts are signed.

Future minimum lease payments with respect to operating lease are as follows.

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

less than 1 year 217.6 201.4
between 1 and 5 years 1461 134.8
more than 5 years 41.4 44.6
Total 405.1 380.8

The Group generated revenues from operating leasing agreements in the amount of PLN
320.9 in 2023 and in the amount of PLN 339.3 in 2022.

38. Other non-current liabilities and provisions

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Payables relating to purchase of programming rights 108.7 217.4
Provisions 73.4 56.9
Other 203.5 56.6

includes: derivative instruments 24.0 4.3
Total 385.6 330.9
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39.Trade and other payables

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Trade payables to related parties 9.0 449
Trade payables to third parties 541.2 494 1
Taxation and social security payables 173.0 238.5
Payables relating to purchase of programming rights
. 1.0 1.4
to related parties
Payables relating to purchase of programming rights
to third parties 281.4 448.2
anab_les relating to purchases of tangible and 456.7 967.5
intangible assets
Accruals 1,213.7 1,220.5
Short-term provisions 67.2 74.3
Derivative instruments liabilities (note 42) 20.2 21
Other 409.2 275.6
Total 3,172.6 3,7671
Accruals
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Salaries 176.1 165.1
Licenge f(_ees and royalties for copyright management 1025 131
organizations
Distribution costs 61.1 54.5
Costs of settlements with telecommunication 70.3 102.7
operators
Network maintenance costs 305.4 187.6
Investment purchases 114.4 229.3
Other 383.9 368.2
Total 1,213.7 1,220.5
Short-term and long-term provisions
2023 2022
Balance as at 1 January 131.2 137.9
Acquisition of a subsidiary 9.3 -
Increases 43.8 75.1
Reversal (16.5) (17.1)
Utilisation (27.2) (64.7)
Balance as at 31 December 140.6 131.2
Of which:
Short-term 67.2 74.3
Long-term 73.4 56.9

Provisions comprise inter alia of provision for license fees, litigation and disputes and

retirement.
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Trade payables and payables relating to purchases of programming rights and non-

current assets by currency

Currency 31 December 2023 31 December 2022
PLN 1,028.3 1,554.4
EUR 174.1 320.8
uUsD 83.2 77.3
Other 3.7 3.6
Total 1,289.3 1,956.1

Accruals by currency

Currency 31 December 2023 31 December 2022
PLN 1,087.3 1,111.3
EUR 83.3 70.9
usD 15.0 111
Other 281 27.2
Total 1,213.7 1,220.5

Other notes

40.Acquisition of subsidiaries

Acquisition of shares in Enterpol Sp. z 0.0. — final purchase price allocation

On 7 June 2022 Netia S.A. (Company’s subsidiary) acquired 100% shares in Enterpol

Sp. z 0.0. (“Enterpol”).

The total consideration amounted to PLN 15.0.

CONSIDERATION TRANSFERRED

Final value of
consideration

transferred
Cash transferred for the 100% shares of Enterpol 14.4
Liability due pursuant to the purchase agreement 0.6
Final value as at 7 June 2022 15.0
RECONCILIATION OF TRANSACTIONAL CASH FLOW
Cash transferred (14.4)
Cash and cash equivalents received 0.2
Cash decrease in the period of 12 months ended 31 December 2022 (14.2)

FINAL FAIR VALUE VALUATION OF NET ASSETS AS AT THE ACQUISITION DATE

The table below presents final fair value of identified assets and liabilities of the acquired

company, as at the acquisition date, and goodwill accounted for an acquisition.
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Final fair value of assets and liabilities as at 7 June 2022:

Fair value
as at the acquisition date
(7 June 2022)

Net assets:

Customer relationships 4.0
Property, plant and equipment 0.1
Right-of-use assets 0.4
Trade and other receivables 0.1
Cash and cash equivalents 0.2
Lease liabilities (0.3)
Trade and other payables (0.3)
Deferred tax liabilities (0.7)
Value of net assets 3.5
Consideration transferred 15.0
Goodwill 1.5

Goodwill is allocated to the “B2C and B2B services” operating segment.

The Group has not identified any differences within the final settlement of the acquisition
(compared to preliminary) and therefore the comparative data has not been restated.

The revenue and net loss included in the consolidated income statement for the reporting
period since 7 June 2022 to 31 December 2022 contributed by Enterpol amounted to PLN 2.4
and PLN 0.0, respectively. Had it been acquired on 1 January 2022, the pro forma revenue
and net income included in the consolidated income statement for the 12 months ended 31
December 2022 would have amounted to PLN 12,916.3 and PLN 900.9, respectively.

Acquisition of shares in Oktawave S.A. — final purchase price allocation

On 21 June 2022 Netia S.A. (Company’s subsidiary) acquired 100% shares in Oktawave S.A.
(“Oktawave”).

The total consideration for acquisition amounted to PLN 34.3.

CONSIDERATION TRANSFERRED

Final value of
consideration

transferred
Consideration 34.3
Final value as at 21 June 2022 34.3
RECONCILIATION OF TRANSACTIONAL CASH FLOW
Cash transferred (34.3)
Cash and cash equivalents received 1.6

Cash decrease in the period of 12 months ended 31 December 2022 (32.7)
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FINAL FAIR VALUE VALUATION OF NET ASSETS AS AT THE ACQUISITION DATE

The table below presents final fair value of identified assets and liabilities of the acquired
company, as at the acquisition date, and goodwill accounted for an acquisition.

Final fair value of assets and liabilities as at 21 June 2022:

Fair value
as at the acquisition date
(21 June 2022)

Net assets:

Customer relationships 15.3
Other intangible assets 6.5
Property, plant and equipment 0.8
Right-of-use assets 15
Deferred tax assets 0.9
Trade and other receivables 29
Other current assets 0.1
Cash and cash equivalents 1.6
Lease liabilities (1.0)
Trade and other payables (2.4)
Contract liabilities (0.8)
Deferred tax liabilities (3.5)
Value of net assets 21.9
Consideration transferred 343
Goodwill 12.4

Goodwill is allocated to the “B2C and B2B services” operating segment.

The Group has not identified any differences within the final settlement of the acquisition
(compared to preliminary) and therefore the comparative data has not been restated.

The revenue and net loss included in the consolidated income statement for the reporting
period since 21 June 2022 to 31 December 2022 contributed by Oktawave amounted to PLN
10.9 and PLN 1.1, respectively. Had it been acquired on 1 January 2022, the pro forma
revenue and net income included in the consolidated income statement for the 12 months
ended 31 December 2022 would have amounted to PLN 12,925.6 and PLN 899.3,
respectively.

Acquisition of shares in Antyweb Sp. z 0.0. — final purchase price allocation

On 26 September 2022 Grupa Interia.pl Sp. z 0.0. Sp. k. (Company’s subsidiary) acquired
70% shares in Antyweb Sp. z o.0. for the purchase price of PLN 10.1.

Consequently, the Group obtained control over Antyweb Sp. z 0.0.
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FINAL CONSIDERATION TRANSFERRED

Final value of
consideration

transferred
Consideration 10.1
Final value as at 26 September 2022 10.1
RECONCILIATION OF TRANSACTIONAL CASH FLOW
Cash transferred for 70% shares (10.1)
Cash and cash equivalents received 0.7
Cash decrease in the period of 12 months ended 31 December 2022 (9.4)

FINAL FAIR VALUE VALUATION OF NET ASSETS AS AT THE ACQUISITION DATE

The table below presents final fair value of identified assets and liabilities of the acquired
company, as at the acquisition date, and goodwill accounted for an acquisition.

Final fair value of assets and liabilities as at 26 September 2022:

Fair value
as at the acquisition date
(26 September 2022)

Net assets:

Property, plant and equipment 0.0
Other intangible assets 0.0
Trade and other receivables 0.6
Other current assets 0.0
Cash and cash equivalents 0.7
Trade and other payables (0.1)
Value of net assets 1.2
Yalue of net assets attributable to non-controlling 0.4
interest

Value of net assets attributable to the Group 0.8
Consideration transferred 10.1
Goodwill 9.3

Goodwill is allocated to the “Media” operating segment.

The Group has not identified any differences within the final settlement of the acquisition
(compared to preliminary) and therefore the comparative data has not been restated.

The revenue and net profit included in the consolidated income statement for the period since
26 September 2022 to 31 December 2022 contributed by Antyweb Sp. z 0.0. amounted to
PLN 1.0 and PLN 0.4, respectively. Had it been acquired on 1 January 2022, the pro forma
revenue and net income included in the consolidated income statement for the 12 months
ended 31 December 2022 would have amounted to PLN 12,916.3 and PLN 901.5,
respectively.
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Acquisition of 69 Specialist Sales and Customer Service Points in the form of an
organized part of the enterprise — purchase price allocation

On 1 December 2022 Liberty Poland S.A. (Company’s subsidiary) acquired 69 Specialist
Sales and Customer Service Points in the form of an organized part of the enterprise for the
purchase price of PLN 6.4.

In February 2023 the company paid an additional amount of PLN 0.1, thus the purchase price
increased to PLN 6.5.

CONSIDERATION TRANSFERRED

Value of

consideration

transferred

Cash transferred for the organized part of the enterprise 6.5

Value 6.5
RECONCILIATION OF TRANSACTIONAL CASH FLOW

Cash transferred (6.5)

Cash decrease (6.5)

FAIR VALUE VALUATION OF NET ASSETS AND GOODWILL AS AT THE ACQUISITION DATE

The table below presents fair value of identified assets and liabilities of the acquired organized
part of the enterprise, as at the acquisition date, and goodwill accounted for an acquisition.

Fair value of assets and liabilities as at 1 December 2022:

Fair value
as at the acquisition date
(1 December 2022)

Net assets:

Property, plant and equipment 0.0
Deferred tax assets 0.2
Trade and other payables (1.1)
Value of net assets (0.9)
Consideration transferred 6.5
Goodwill 7.4

Goodwill is allocated to the “B2C and B2B services” operating segment.

Acquisition of shares in PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0. — provisional purchase
price allocation

On 27 July 2022 Cyfrowy Polsat acquired 40.41% shares of PAK-Polska Czysta Energia
Sp.zo.0.

On 3 July 2023 Cyfrowy Polsat acquired additional 10.1% shares and obtained control over
PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0. and its subsidiaries (“PAK-PCE Group”).
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As of the date of the acquistion i.e. 3 July 2023, Cyfrowy Polsat and PAK-Polska Czysta
Energia Sp. z 0.0. were under common control. The Group applied the acquisition method in
accordance with the provisions of IFRS 3 when accounting for acquisitions of the PAK-PCE
Group.

PROVISIONAL CONSIDERATION TRANSFERRED

Provisional value of
consideration

transferred
Cash transferred for 10.1% shares 117.0
Fair value of previously held shares 618.3
Provisional value as at 3 July 2023 735.3

The fair value of previously held shares as at the acquisition date was determined using
methods adequate to the specific nature and scope of activities of individual entities from the
PAK-PCE Group. The fair value of entities conducting operating activities was determined
based on the income approach using the discounted cash flow method, while the fair value
for entities not conducting operating activities or in the initial phase of development was
determined using the adjusted net assets method. The result from the revaluation of previously
held shares to fair value was recognized in the profit and loss (see note 11).

RECONCILIATION OF TRANSACTIONAL CASH FLOW
Cash transferred for 10.1% shares (117.0)
Cash and cash equvalents received 269.5

Cash increase in the period of 12 months ended

152.
31 December 2023 525

PROVISIONAL FAIR VALUE VALUATION OF NET ASSETS AS AT THE ACQUISITION DATE

The table below presents provisional and temporary fair value of identified assets and liabilities
of the acquired companies, as at the acquisition date, and goodwill accounted for an
acquisition.
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Provisional and temporary fair value of assets and liabilities as at 3 July 2023:

Provisional fair value
as at the acquisition date
(3 July 2023)

Net assets:

Property, plant and equipment 1,827.9
Customer relationships 88.1
Other intangible assets 900.1
Right-of-use assets 89.9
Other non-current assets 117.1
Deferred tax assets 16.5
Inventories 1291
Trade and other receivables 214.3
Income tax receivable 0.8
Other current assets 64.9
Cash and cash equivalents 269.5
Loans and borrowings (1,704.2)
Lease liabilities (76.4)
Deferred tax liability (211.1)
Other non-current liabilities and provisions (87.5)
Contract liabilities (113.4)
Trade and other payables (318.5)
Provisional value of net assets (100%) [A] 1,207.1
Provisional value of net assets attributable to non- 597.5
controlling interest (49.5%) [B]

Provisional value of net assets attributable to the 609.6
Group (50.5%)

Provisional consideration transferred [C] 735.3
Provisional goodwill [C]-([A]-[B]) 125.7

As part of the transaction, the pre-existing relationships between the Cyfrowy Polsat Capital
Group and the PAK-PCE Group were settled at an estimated fair value of PLN 569.1, which
corresponded to the net value of mutual receivables and liabilities between the companies of
both capital groups resulting from the outstanding balance as at July 3, 2023, mainly from loan
agreements and ongoing contracts for the purchase of electricity. The fair value of contracts
for the purchase of electricity was estimated using the income approach, based on discounted
future cash flows from concluded contracts, calculated based on the difference between the
estimated future market price and the price resulting from the concluded contract. The effect
of valuation of the pre-existing relationship was recognized by the Group in the profit and loss
(see note 11).

During the provisional purchase price allocation the Group identified and provisionally fair
valued intangible assets related to wind and photovoltaic farms (including the value of
obtained permits for the construction of wind and photovoltaic farms and their grid connection
("Permits")) and customer relationsips.

The provisional fair value of the Permits in the amount of PLN 880.2 (included in Other
intangible assets) was estimated based on the cost approach using the residual method and
corresponds to the difference between the fair value of the farm and the value of the adjusted
net assets of the farm as at the valuation date. The Management Board concluded that there
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is a predictable period during which the Permits will bring benefits to the Group and therefore
a definite useful life was adopted. The permits are subject to depreciation for a period equal
to the depreciation period of the farms for which the permits were obtained, i.e. for a period of
30 years from the date the farm was put into operation.

The provisional fair value of customer relationships in the amount of PLN 88.1 was estimated
based on the income approach using the multi-period excess earnings method.

The provisional goodwill was allocated to the “Green energy” operating segment and consist
largely of the synergies and economies of scale that can be achieved through further
development of the business.

The revenue and net loss included in the consolidated income statement for the reporting
period since 3 July 2023 to 31 December 2023 contributed by PAK-PCE Group amounted to
PLN 771.6 and PLN 48.2, respectively. Had it been acquired on 1 January 2023, the pro forma
revenue and net income included in the consolidated income statement for the 12 months
ended 12 December 2023 would have amounted to PLN 14,362.8 and PLN 284.7,
respectively.

Acquisition of shares in naEKRANIE.pl Sp. z 0.0. — provisional purchase price
allocation

On 20 July 2023 Polsat Investments Ltd. (Company’s subsidiary) acquired 60% shares in
naEKRANIE.pl Sp. z o.0. for the purchase price of PLN 11.1 (including price adjustment in
accordance with the contract).

Consequently, the Group holds 60% of shares in naEKRANIE.pl Sp. z 0.0. and controls the
entity.

PROVISIONAL CONSIDERATION TRANSFERRED

Provisional value of
consideration

transferred
Consideration 1.1
Provisional value as at 20 July 2023 1.1
RECONCILIATION OF TRANSACTIONAL CASH FLOW
Cash transferred for 60% shares (11.1)
Cash nad cash equivalents received 0.3
Cash decrease in the period of 12 months ended (10.8)

31 December 2023
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PROVISIONAL FAIR VALUE VALUATION OF NET ASSETS AS AT THE ACQUISITION DATE

The table below presents provisional and temporary fair value of identified assets and liabilities
of the acquired company, as at the acquisition date, and goodwill accounted for an acquisition.

Provisional and temporary fair value of assets and liabilities as at 20 July 2023:

Provisional fair value
as at the acquisition date
(20 July 2023)

Net assets:

Other intangible assets 0.6
Trade and other receivables 0.5
Cash and cash equivalents 0.3
Trade and other payables (0.1)
Provisional value of net assets 1.3

Provisional value of net assets attributable to non-

controlling interest 0.5
Provisional value of net assets attributable to the 0.8
Group ’

Provisional consideration transferred 1.1
Provisional goodwill 10.3

Goodwill is allocated to the “Media” operating segment.

The revenue and net profit included in the consolidated income statement for the reporting
period since 20 July 2023 to 31 December 2023 contributed by naEKRANIE.pl Sp. z o.0.
amounted to PLN 1.7 and PLN 0.7, respectively. Had it been acquired on 1 January 2023,
the pro forma revenue and net income included in the consolidated income statement for the
12 months ended 31 December 2023 would have amounted to PLN 13,629.8 and PLN 313.0,
respectively.

Acquisition of shares in 4FUN Sp. z 0.0 — provisional purchase price allocation

On 21 July 2023 Polsat Investments Ltd. (Company’s subsidiary) acquired 60% shares in
4FUN Sp. z o.o. for the purchase price of PLN 37.5 (including price adjustment in accordance
with the contract).

Consequently, the Group holds 60% of shares in 4FUN Sp. z 0.0. and controls the entity.

PROVISIONAL CONSIDERATION TRANSFERRED

Provisional value of
consideration
transferred

Consideration 375

Provisional value as at 21 July 2023 37.5
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RECONCILIATION OF TRANSACTIONAL CASH FLOW

Cash transferred for 60% shares (37.5)
Cash nad cash equivalents received 16.5

Cash decrease in the period of 12 months ended

21.
31 December 2023 (21.0)

PROVISIONAL FAIR VALUE VALUATION OF NET ASSETS AS AT THE ACQUISITION DATE

The table below presents provisional and temporary fair value of identified assets and liabilities
of the acquired company, as at the acquisition date, and goodwill accounted for an acquisition.

Provisional and temporary fair value of assets and liabilities as at 21 July 2023:

Provisional fair value
as at the acquisition date
(21 July 2023)

Net assets:

Other intangible assets 1.7
Trade and other receivables 20
Income tax receivable 0.8
Cash and cash equivalents 16.5
Deferred tax liability (0.4)
Trade and other payables (1.2)
Provisional value of net assets 19.4
Provisional value of net assets attributable to non- 7.9
controlling interest

Provisional value of net assets attributable to the 15
Group

Provisional consideration transferred 37.5
Provisional goodwill 26.0

Goodwill is allocated to the “Media” operating segment.

The revenue and net loss included in the consolidated income statement for the reporting
period since 21 July 2023 to 31 December 2023 contributed by 4FUN Sp. z 0.0. amounted to
PLN 10.6 and PLN 3.0, respectively. Had it been acquired on 1 January 2023, the pro forma
revenue and net income included in the consolidated income statement for the 12 months
ended 31 December 2023 would have amounted to PLN 13,645.8 and PLN 320.2,
respectively.
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Acquisition of shares in Port Praski City Il Sp. z 0.0. — purchase price allocation

On 3 October 2023 Pantanomo Limited (Company’s subsidiary) acquiried 50% of shares in
Port Praski City Il Sp. z 0.0. After transaction Pantanomo Limited helds 100% of shares in
total.

The consideration for 50% of shares in Port Praski City Il Sp. z 0.0. is PLN 86.3.

CONSIDERATION TRANSFERRED

Value of

consideration

transferred

Cash transferred for 50% of shares 86.3
Shares held as of 3 October 2023 62.2
Value as at 3 October 2023 148.5

The value of previously held shares was valued at the book value of these shares as at the
acquisition date.

RECONCILIATION OF TRANSACTIONAL CASH FLOW

Cash transferred for 50% of shares (86.3)
Cash and cash equivalents received 0.3

Cash decrease in the period of 12 months ended

31 December 2023 (86.0)

FAIR VALUE VALUATION OF NET ASSETS AS AT THE ACQUISITION DATE

The table below presents fair value of identified assets and liabilities of the acquired company,
as at the acquisition date, and goodwill accounted for an acquisition.

The Group treats acquisition of shares in Port Praski City Il Sp. z 0. 0. as assets acquisition.

Fair value of assets and liabilities as at 3 October 2023:

Fair value
As at the acquisition date
(3 October 2023)

Net assets:

Investment property 164.0
Trade and other receivables 0.2
Income tax receivables 0.6
Other current assets 0.7
Cash and cash equivalents 0.3
Loans and borrowings (7.6)
Other non-current liabilities and provisions (9.3)
Trade and other payables (0.4)
Value of net assets 148.5

Consideration 148.5
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Acquisition of shares in Port Praski Medical Center Sp. z 0.0. — purchase price
allocation

On 3 October 2023 Pantanomo Limited (subsidiary of the Company) acquiried 50% of shares
in Port Praski Medical Center Sp. z 0.0. After the transaction Pantanomo Limited holds 100%
shares in total.

Consideration for 50% of shares in Port Praski Medical Center Sp. z 0.0. was PLN 11.2.

CONSIDERATION TRANSFERRED

Value of

consideration

transferred

Cash transferred for 50% of shares 11.2
Shares held as of 3 October 2023 7.9
Value as at 3 October 2023 19.1

The value of previously held shares was valued at the book value of these shares as at the
acquisition date.

RECONCILIATION OF TRANSACTIONAL CASH FLOW

Cash transferred for 50% of shares (11.2)
Cash and cash equivalents received 0.2

Cash decrease in the period of 12 months ended

31 December 2023 (11.0)

FAIR VALUE VALUATION OF NET ASSETS AS AT THE ACQUISITION DATE

The table below presents fair value of identified assets and liabilities of the acquired company,
as at the acquisition date, and goodwill accounted for an acquisition.

The Group treats acquisition of shares in Port Praski Medical Center Sp. z 0. 0. as assets
acquisition.

Fair value of assets and liabilities as at 3 October 2023:

Fair value
As at the acquisition date
(3 October 2023)

Net assets:

Investment property 20.6
Trade and other receivables 0.1
Income tax receivables 0.1
Cash and cash equivalents 0.2
Loans and borrowings (1.2)
Other non-current liabilities and provisions (0.6)
Trade and other payables (0.1)
Value of net assets 19.1

Consideration 19.1
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41.Investment in other entities

Asseco Poland S.A.

The transfer of ownership of the Asseco Poland S.A. (Asseco) shares was settled through the
depositary and settlement system operated by Krajowy Depozyt Papieréw Warto$ciowych
S.A. on 30 December 2019.

After settlement of the acquisition, the Company held a total of 22.73% Asseco shares as at
30 December 2019.

On 31 July 2020 Cyfrowy Polsat purchased from Reddev 184,127 (not in million) Asseco
shares for the price of PLN 11.4. Following the transaction, the Company held a total of
22.95% of Asseco shares.

On 21 September 2023 Cyfrowy Polsat sold 10,642,046 (not in million) Asseco shares for the
price PLN 80.0 (not in million) per share. Following the transaction, the Company holds a total
of 10.13% of Asseco shares.

Share in Asseco Poland S.A. recognized in the amount of PLN 614.4 as at 31 December 2023
were valued at fair value through profit or loss.

PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0.

On 27 July 2022 Cyfrowy Polsat acquired 40.41% shares in PAK-Polska Czysta Energia
Sp. zo.o.

On 3 July 2023 Cyfrowy Polsat obtained control over PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z o.0.
and its subsidiaries (see note 40 and 50).

42.Financial instruments

Overview

Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. Capital Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial
instruments:

e credit risk,
e liquidity risk,
e market risk:
- currency risk,
- interest rate risk.

The Group’s risk management policies are designed to reduce the impact of any adverse
conditions on the Group’s results.

The Management Board has overall responsibility for the oversight and management of the
risks that the Group is subjected to in its activities. Therefore, the Management Board has
established an overall risk management framework as well as specific risk management
policies with respect to market, credit and liquidity risks.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the
Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. Further
quantitative disclosures are also included throughout these consolidated financial statements.

Bank loans, bonds, cash, forwards, interest rate swaps, currency interest rate swaps and
short-term bank deposits are the main financial instruments used by the Group, with the
intention of securing the financing for the Group’s activities. The Group also holds other
financial instruments including trade receivables and payables, payables relating to purchases
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of programming rights and payables relating to purchases of tangible and intangible assets

which arise in the course of its business activities.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Carrying amount

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Financial assets measured at amortized cost

Loans granted

Trade and other receivables from related parties
Trade and other receivables from third parties
Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss

Investments in equity instruments
Other assets

Financial assets measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Investments in equity instruments
Hedging derivative instruments

Interest rate swaps

Derivative instruments not designated as hedging
instruments

Interest rate swaps
Financial PPA

7,196.6

1271
13.4
3,729.2
3,307.2
19.7

630.3

614.4
15.9

1.5

1.5
4.3
43

52.5

24.0
285

4,916.0

576.1
18.9
3,503.2
808.5
9.3

23.8

23.8
1.6

1.6
231
231

58.2

58.2

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Carrying amount

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

Loans and borrowings

Issued bonds

Lease liabilities

Trade and other payables to third parties and deposits
Trade and other payables to related parties

Accruals

Hedging derivative instruments

Interest rate swaps

Currency interest rate swaps

Forward transactions

Derivative instruments not designated as hedging
instruments

Interest rate swaps

Currency interest rate swaps

Forward transactions

Put option

18,704.8

10,604.0
4,349.1
610.8
1,707.8
2194
1,213.7

11.9

5.7
5.8
0.4

32.3

26.3

5.9
0.1
39.5

14,329.8

8,137.4
2,076.4
524.2
2,318.3
53.0
1,220.5
0.7

0.7

5.7

4.7

1.0
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Credit risk

Credit risk is defined as the risk that counterparties of the Group will not be able to meet their
contractual obligations, resulting in a financial loss to the other party. Exposure to credit risk
is related to three main areas:

e the creditworthiness of the customers with whom physical sale transactions are
undertaken,

e the creditworthiness of the financial institutions (banks/brokers) with whom hedging
transactions are undertaken,

e the creditworthiness of the entities in which investments are made, or whose
securities are purchased.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is associated primarily with trade receivables and contract
assets. The Parent’s customer base includes a large number of individual subscribers who
are dispersed geographically over the entire country, and who are required to prepay their
subscription fees. Receivables from Parent’s sales network are covered with commission
liabilities or deposits. Receivables from subscribers are continuously monitored and recovery
actions are taken, including blocking the signal transferred to subscribers or termination of
services to mobile and Internet subscribers. Telewizja Polsat and its subsidiaries provide
services with deferred payment which may cause the risk of delays. Assessment of the
creditworthiness of the counterparties is regularly carried out and in principle the company
does not require security in relation to the financial assets. Polkomtel’s customer base is
dispersed geographically over the entire country. In case of key postpaid clients services are
rendered following positive credit approval while in case of individual retail clients the
verification process is automatized and based on IT-supported customer relationship
management system and features of the billing systems. Receivables from Polkomtel's sales
network are continuously monitored, sales limits and utilization limits are used.

The Group pursues a credit policy under which credit risk exposure is constantly monitored.

Due to diversification of risk in terms of the nature of individual entities, their geographical
location and cooperation with highly-rated financial institutions, also taking into consideration
the fair value of liabilities arising from derivative transactions, the Group is not materially
exposed to credit risk as a result of derivative transactions entered into.
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The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The

maximum exposure to credit risk as at the reporting date was as follows:

Maximum exposure to credit risk

Carrying amount

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Loans granted 1271 576.1
Trade and other receivables from related parties 13.4 18.9
Trade and other receivables from third parties 3,729.2 3,503.2
Contract assets 349.0 362.9
Cash and cash equivalents 3,307.2 808.5
Restricted cash 19.7 9.3
Hedging derivative instruments 4.3 231
Interest rate swaps 4.3 23.1
:?::;ir\:ja;:\éﬁtisnstruments not designated as hedging 52.5 58.2
Interest rate swaps 24.0 58.2
Financial PPA 28.5 -
Total 7,602.4 5,360.2

The concentration of credit risk for trade and other receivables, loans granted and contract

assets is presented in the tables below:

Carrying amount

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Receivables from subscribers 3,018.5 2,808.1
Receivables from media companies 381.0 383.0
Receivables from satellite and cable operators 39.1 44.5
Roaming and interconnect receivables 299.9 3745
Receivables from distributors 72.2 75.0
Receivables and loans granted to related parties 40.9 487.2
Other receivables and loans granted to third parties 367.1 288.8
Total 4,218.7 4,461.1

Carrying amount

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Company A 79.8 60.6
Company B 36.4 57.7
Company C 325 38.1
Company D 28.2 29.7
Company E 26.7 28.9
Other 4,015.1 4,246.1
Total 4,218.7 4,461.1

Note: for each year 5 largest debtors are presented, not necessarily the same entities in both periods.
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The ageing of trade and other receivables, loans granted and contract assets at the reporting
date was:

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Gross Impairment Net Gross Impairment Net
Not past due 3,507.2 491 3,458.1 3,794.3 45.8 3,748.5
Past due 1-30 days 314.9 12.8 302.1 2453 9.7 235.6
Past due 31-60 days 49.5 11.6 37.9 53.7 9.8 43.9
Past due more than 60 days 2351 163.5 71.6 245.0 174.8 70.2
Total 4,106.7 237.0 3,869.7 4,338.3 2401 4,098.2
Contract assets 363.2 14.2 349.0 3771 14.2 362.9
Total 4,469.9 251.2 4,218.7 4,715.4 254.3 4,461.1

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective in liquidity management is to ensure that it always has sufficient funds
to meet its liabilities when due. Any surplus cash is invested mainly into bank deposits.

The Group prepares, on an ongoing basis, analyses and forecasts of its cash requirements
based on projected cash flows.

The following are the contractual maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities, that will be
settled net in the appropriate age ranges, based on the remaining period until the contractual
maturity date as at the balance sheet date.
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31 December 2023

Carrying

Contractual cash

6 months and

6-12

amount flows less months 1-2 years 2-5 years Over 5 years
Loans and borrowings 10,604.0 11,681.5 148.6 513.3 1,297.0 8,331.5 1,391.1
Issued bonds 4,349.1 6,817.0 193.9 210.0 421.0 1,524.3 4,467.8
Lease liabilities 610.8 819.2 102.5 94.9 164.6 197.9 259.3
'cli'(raapci)eSi?:d other payables to third parties and 1,707.8 1,707.8 1,707.8 ) ) ) )
Trade and other payables to related parties 219.4 219.4 2194 - - - -
Accruals 1,213.7 1,213.7 1,213.7 - - - -
Hedging derivative instruments:
IRS? 57 59 1.0 2.8 2.1 - -
CIRS 5.8
- inflows (14.9) (3.1) (3.1) (4.5) (4.2) -
- outflows 221 3.0 3.9 7.7 7.5 -
Forward transactions 0.4
- inflows (16.3) (16.3) - - - -
- outflows 16.7 16.7 - - - -
Derivative instruments not designated as
hedging instruments:
IRS? 26.3 29.3 4.6 6.2 9.7 8.8 -
CIRS 5.9
- inflows (15.1) (3.1) (3.2) (4.5) (4.3) -
- outflows 22.4 3.0 4.0 7.8 7.6 -
Forward transactions 0.1
- inflows (6.1) (6.1) - - - -
- outflows 6.3 6.3 - - - -
18,749.0 22,508.9 3,591.9 828.8 1,900.9 10,069.1 6,118.2

" According to the agreements cash flows will be in net amount
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Undiscounted future cash flows related to lease agreements for an indefinite period equal PLN
162.0 as at 31 December 2023.

31 December 2022

Carrying Contractual 6 months 6-12 1-2 2-5 Over5

amount cash flows andless months years years years

Loans and borrowings 8,137.4 9,312.2 866.2 717.8 6,678.8 1,038.8 10.6
Issued bonds 2,076.4 2,731.0 91.8 91.4 183.8 2,364.0

Lease liabilities 524.2 641.2 99.9 98.0 146.2 164.7 132.4

Trade and other payables to

third parties and deposits 2,3183 23183 23183 ) ) )

Trade and other payables to

related parties 53.0 53.0 53.0 ) ) )
Accruals 1,220.5 1,220.5 1,220.5 - - -
Hedging derivative

instruments:

IRS! 0.7 0.8 - - 0.2 0.6
Derivative instruments not

designated as hedging

instruments:

IRS! 4.7 6.9 0.8 0.2 1.7 4.2
Forward transactions 1.0

- inflows (44.1) (44.1) - - -
- outflows 454 45.4 - - -

14,336.2 16,285.2 4,651.8 9074 7,010.7 3,572.3 143.0

" According to the agreements cash flows will be in net amount

Undiscounted future cash flows related to lease agreements for an indefinite period equal PLN
142.5 as at 31 December 2022.

Market risk

The Group has an active approach to managing its market risk exposure. The objectives of
market risk management are:

e to limit fluctuations in profit/loss before tax,

e toincrease the probability of meeting budget assumptions,

e to maintain the healthy financial condition and

e to support the process of undertaking strategic decisions relating to investing activity,
with attention to sources of capital for this activity.

All the market risk management objectives should be considered as a whole, while their
realisation is dependent primarily upon the internal situation and market conditions.

The Group applies an integrated approach to market risk management. This means a
comprehensive approach to the whole spectrum of identified market risks, rather than to each
of them individually. The primary technique for market risk management is the use in the Group
of hedging strategies involving derivatives. Apart from this, natural hedging is also used to the
extent available.

All of the potential hedging strategies and the selection of those preferred reflect the following
factors: the nature of identified market risk exposures of the Group, the suitability of
instruments to be applied and the cost of hedging, current and forecasted market conditions.
In order to mitigate market risk, derivatives are primarily used. The Group transacts only those
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derivatives for which it has the ability to assess their value internally, using standard pricing
models appropriate for a particular type of derivative, and also these which can be traded
without significant loss of value with a counterparty other than the one with whom the
transaction was initially entered into. In evaluating the market value of a given instrument, the
Group relies on information obtained from particular market leading banks, brokers and
information services.

It is permitted to use the following types of instruments:

e Swaps (IRS/CIRS),
e Forwards and futures,
e Options.

Currency risk

One of the main risks that the Group is exposed to is currency risk resulting from fluctuations
in exchange rate of the Polish zloty against other currencies. Revenues generated by the
Group are denominated primarily in the Polish zloty, while a portion of operating costs and
capital expenditures are incurred in foreign currencies. The Parent’s currency risk is
associated mainly to royalties to TV broadcasters (USD and EUR), transponder capacity
agreements (EUR), fees for conditional access system (EUR and USD) and purchases of
reception equipment and accessories for reception equipment (USD and EUR). After the
purchase of Telewizja Polsat Sp. z 0.0. currency risk exposure is also associated to purchases
of foreign programming licences (EUR and USD). After the purchase of Metelem Holding
Company Ltd. currency risk exposure is also associated to agreements with suppliers of stock,
mainly mobile phones, and suppliers of telecommunication network equipment (EUR and
USD), roaming and interconnect agreements and rental of office space (various currencies).

In respect of licence fees and transponder capacity agreements, the Group partly reduces its
currency risk exposure by means of an economic hedge as it denominates receivables from
signal broadcast and marketing services in foreign currencies.

The Group does not hold any assets held for trading denominated in foreign currencies.

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency was as follows based on currency amounts:

31 December 2023

EUR usb XDR
Loans granted 22.0 - -
Trade receivables 33.0 3.8 0.3
Cash and cash equivalents 254 1 2.3 -
Loans and borrowings (506.0) - -
Lease liabilities (35.8) (0.5) -
Trade payables (65.0) (21.2) (0.5)
Accruals (19.2) (3.8) (5.1)
Gross balance sheet exposure (316.9) (19.4) (5.3)
Forward transactions 5.2 - -
CIRS 3.8 - -

Net exposure (307.9) (19.4) (5.3)
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31 December 2022

EUR uUsbD XDR
Loans granted 65.9 - -
Trade receivables 19.7 4.2 0.9
Cash and cash equivalents 125 1.0 -
Lease liabilities (31.3) (0.5) -
Trade payables (114.8) (17.5) (0.4)
Accruals (15.1) (2.5) (4.6)
Gross balance sheet exposure (63.1) (15.3) (4.1)
Forward transactions 8.0 1.5 -
Net exposure (55.1) (13.8) (4.1)

The following foreign exchange rates were applied in the presented periods:

Average rate Rates at the reporting date
(in PLN) 2023 2022 31 December 2023 31 December 2022
1 EUR 4.5430 4.6869 4.3480 4.6899
1 USD 4.2021 4.4607 3.9350 4.4018
1 CHF 4.6760 4.6693 4.6828 4.7679
1 XDR 5.6055 5.9606 5.2938 5.8760

For the purposes of the exchange rate sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022, exchange rate volatility in the +/- 5% range was assumed as probable. This
analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.
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2023 2022
Estimate:d Estimated Es_timated Estimate_d Estimated Es_timated
As at 31 December 2023 change in change in change in other  As at 31 December 2022 change in change in change in other
exchange profit comprel]enswe exchange profit comprel_1enswe
rate . income rate . income
in currency in PLN in % n PLN in PLN  in currency in PLN in % n PLN in PLN
Loans granted
EUR 22.0 95.7 5% 4.7 - 65.9 309.1 5% 15.4 -
Trade receivables
EUR 33.0 143.4 5% 7.3 - 19.7 92.5 5% 4.5 -
uUsD 3.8 15.0 5% 0.7 - 4.2 18.5 5% 0.9 -
XDR 0.3 1.6 5% 0.1 - 0.9 5.3 5% 0.3 -
Cash and cash equivalents
EUR 254 1 1,104.8 5% 55.3 - 12.5 58.5 5% 3.1 -
uUsD 23 9.2 5% 0.3 - 1.0 4.4 5% 0.2 -
CHF 0.0 0.1 5% 0.0 - 0.0 0.2 5% 0.0 -
Loans and borrowings
EUR (506.0) (2,200.1) 5% (110.0) - - - 5% - -
Lease liabilities
EUR (35.8) (155.7) 5% (7.7) - (31.3) (146.8) 5% (7.3) -
uUsD (0.5) (2.0) 5% (0.1) - (0.5) (2.2) 5% (0.1) -
Trade payables
EUR (65.0) (282.6) 5% (14.2) - (114.8) (538.4) 5% (26.9) -
uUsbD (21.2) (83.3) 5% (4.3) - (17.5) (77.0) 5% (3.9) -

XDR (0.5) (2.6) 5% (0.2) - (0.4) (2.4) 5% (0.1) -
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cont.
Accruals
EUR (19.2) (83.5) 5% (4.2) - (15.1) (70.9) 5% (3.5) -
usD (3.8) (15.0) 5% (0.7) - (2.5) (11.1) 5% (0.5) -
XDR (5.1) (27.0) 5% (1.3) - (4.6) (27.0) 5% (1.4) -
Forwards
EUR 5.2 22.6 5% 0.3 0.8 8.0 375 5% 1.9 -
usD - - 5% - - 1.5 6.6 5% 0.3 -
CIRS
EUR 3.8 16.6 5% 0.4 0.4 - - 5% - -
Change in operating profit (73.6) 1.2 (17.1)
Income tax 14.0 (0.2) 3.2 -
Change in net profit (59.6) 1.0 (13.9) -
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2023 2022
Estimate:d Estimated Es_timated Estimate_d Estimated Es_timated
As at 31 December 2023 change in change in change in other  As at 31 December 2022 change in change in change in other
exchange profit comprel]enswe exchange profit comprel_1enswe
rate . income rate . income
in currency in PLN in % n PLN in PLN  in currency in PLN in % n PLN in PLN
Loans granted
EUR 22.0 95.7 -5% (4.7) - 65.9 309.1 -5% (15.4) -
Trade receivables
EUR 33.0 143.4 -5% (7.3) - 19.7 92.5 -5% (4.5) -
uUsD 3.8 15.0 -5% (0.7) - 4.2 18.5 -5% (0.9) -
XDR 0.3 1.6 -5% (0.1) - 0.9 5.3 -5% (0.3) -
Cash and cash equivalents
EUR 254 1 1,104.8 -5% (55.3) - 12.5 58.5 -5% (3.1) -
uUsD 23 9.2 -5% (0.3) - 1.0 4.4 -5% (0.2) -
CHF 0.0 0.1 -5% (0.0) - 0.0 0.2 -5% (0.0) -
Loans and borrowings
EUR (506.0) (2,200.1) -5% 110.0 - - - -5% - -
Lease liabilities
EUR (35.8) (155.7) -5% 7.7 - (31.3) (146.8) -5% 7.3 -
uUsD (0.5) (2.0) -5% 0.1 - (0.5) (2.2) -5% 0.1 -
Trade payables
EUR (65.0) (282.6) -5% 14.2 - (114.8) (538.4) -5% 26.9 -
uUsbD (21.2) (83.3) -5% 4.3 - (17.5) (77.0) -5% 3.9 -

XDR (0.5) (2.6) 5% 0.2 - (0.4) (2.4) 5% 0.1 -
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cont.
Accruals
EUR (19.2) (83.5) -5% 4.2 - (15.1) (70.9) -5% 3.5 -
usD (3.8) (15.0) -5% 0.7 - (2.5) (11.1) -5% 0.5 -
XDR (5.1) (27.0) -5% 1.3 - (4.6) (27.0) -5% 1.4 -
Forwards
EUR 5.2 22.6 -5% (0.3) (0.8) 8.0 375 -5% (1.9) -
usD - - -5% - - 1.5 6.6 -5% (0.3) -
CIRS
EUR 3.8 16.6 -5% (0.4) (0.4) - - -5% - -
Change in operating profit 73.6 (1.2) 171
Income tax (14.0) 0.2 (3.2) -
Change in net profit 59.6 (1.0) 13.9 -
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2023 2022
Estimated Es.ﬁmated Estimated Es_ﬁmated
.~ change in other . change in other
change in comprehensive change in comprehensive
profit ’ income profit ’ income
n PLN in PLN in FLN in PLN
Estimated change in exchange rate by 5 %
EUR (55.2) 1.0 (10.4) -
uUsD (3.3) - (2.5) -
XDR (1.1) - (1.0) -
Estimated change in exchange rate by -5 %
EUR 55.2 (1.0) 104 -
uUsD 3.3 - 2.5 -
XDR 1.1 - 1.0 -

Had Polish zloty strengthened 5% against the basket of currencies as at 31 December 2023
and 31 December 2022, the Group’s net profit would have decreased by PLN 59.6 and by
PLN 13.9, respectively and other comprehensive income would be PLN 1.0 higher in 2023
and would have been unchanged in 2022. Had the Polish zloty appreciated 5%, the Group’s
net profit would have increased by PLN 59.6 in 2023 and by PLN 13.9 in 2022 and a decrease
in other comprehensive income by PLN 1.0 in 2023, assuming that all other variables remain
constant. Estimated future revenue and costs denominated in foreign currencies are not taken
into consideration.

Interest rate risk

Changes in market interest rates have no direct effect on the Group’s revenues, however, they
do have an effect on net cash from operating activities due to interest earned on overnight
bank deposits and current accounts, and on net cash from financing activities due to interest
charged on bank loans and bonds.

The Group regularly analyses its level of interest rate risk exposure, including refinancing and
risk minimising scenarios. Based on these analyses, the Group estimates the effects of
changes in interest rates on its profit and loss.

In order to reduce interest rate risk exposure resulting from Parent’s interest payments on
floating rate senior facility, the Group stipulated interest rate swaps and currency interest rate
swaps for which hedge accounting was adopted (see note 33). In order to reduce interest rate
risk exposure resulting from Metelem Holding Company Ltd. group (currently Polkomtel
Sp. z 0.0. group) interest payments on floating rate senior facilities, the Group also uses
interest rate swaps and currency interest rate swaps and for them hedge accounting was not
adopted.
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At the reporting date, the interest rate risk profile of interest-bearing financial instruments was:

Carrying amount

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Fixed rate instruments

Financial assets 300.0 74.5

Variable rate instruments

Financial assets * 1,308.7 1,133.6
Financial liabilities * (15,730.6) (10,789.2)
Net interest exposure (14,421.9) (9,655.6)

* nominal debt

The Group classifies Term Loans as variable rate instruments. Changes in the interest rate
components do not result in a change in the carrying amount of the loan liability. The changes
are reflected prospectively in the interest expense on loans and borrowings.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments (pre-tax effect):

Other comprehensive

Income statement R
income

Equity

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
by 100 bp by 100 bp by 100 bp by100 bp by 100 bp by 100 bp

31 December 2023

Variable rate

e e, (68.8) 68.8 14.5 (14.5) (54.3) 54.3
(Crft'? flow sensitivity (68.8) 68.8 145  (145)  (54.3) 54.3
31 December 2022

Variable rate (73.5) 735 15.0 (15.0) (58.5) 58.5
instruments

Cash flow sensitivity (73.5) 73.5 15.0 (15.0) (58.5) 58.5

(net)
*include sensitivity in fair value changes of hedging instruments (interest rate swaps and currency interest rate swaps)
due to changes in interest rates

For some instruments the Group applies cash flow hedge model under IAS 39 for interest rate
exposure from floating rate interest payments in PLN on senior facility hedged by interest rate
swap and variable-rate interest payments in EUR backed by currency interest rate swaps
transactions.

Fair value vs. carrying amount

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of
financial instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded
fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3: techniques which use inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value
that are not based on observable market data
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Presented below are fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities not
measured in fair value.

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Cateqor The level

901V of the fair . Carrying . Carrying
according Fair value Fair value
value amount amount
tolIFRS9 .

hierarchy
Loans granted A 2 127.4 1271 570.6 576.1
Trade and other A . 37426 37426 35221 35221

receivables

Cash and cash
equivalents and short- A * 3,307.2 3,307.2 808.5 808.5
term deposits

Restricted cash A * 19.7 19.7 9.3 9.3
Loans and borrowings B 2 (11,150.1) (10,604.0) (8,232.7) (8,137.4)
Issued bonds B 1 (4,433.7) (4,349.1) (1,982.1) (2,076.4)
Lease liabilities B 2 (610.8) (610.8) (524.2) (524.2)
Accruals B * (1,213.7) (1,213.7) (1,220.5) (1,220.5)
Trade and other

payables B * (2,096.3) (2,096.3) (2,371.3) (2,371.3)
and deposits

Total (12,307.7) (11,677.3) (9,420.3) (9,413.8)
Unrecognized loss (630.4) (6.5)

A — assets measured at amortised costs
B — liabilities measured at amortised costs

* It is assumed that the fair value of these financial assets and liabilities is equal to their nominal value, therefore no
evaluation methods were used in order to calculate their fair value.

When determining the fair value of lease liabilities, forecasted cash flows from the reporting
date to assumed dates of lease agreements termination were analyzed. The discount rate for
each payment was calculated as an interest rate plus a margin regarding the Group’s credit
risk.

Trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and deposits comprise mainly
receivables and payables which will be settled no later than at the end of the first month after
the reporting date. It was therefore assumed that the effect of their valuation, taking into
account the time value of money, would approximately be equal to their nominal value.

When determining the fair value of loans granted, forecasted cash flows from the reporting
date to assumed dates of repayments of the loans were analyzed. The discount rate for each
payment was calculated as an applicable WIBOR or EURIBOR interest rate plus a margin
regarding the credit risk.

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 loans and borrowings comprised bank loans
and other loans. The discount rate for each payment was calculated as a sum of implied
WIBOR or EURIBOR interest rate and a margin regarding the Group’s credit risk. When
determining the fair value of bank loans as at 31 December 2023, forecasted cash flows from
the reporting date to 28 April 2028 were analyzed. When determining the fair value of bank
loans as at 31 December 2022, forecasted cash flows from the reporting date to 30 September
2024 (assumed date of repayment of the loans obtained in 2015, changed in 2018 and
changed in 2020) and to 31 March 2025 (assumed date of repayment of the additional loan
obtained in 2019 and changed in 2020) were analyzed.

The fair value of issued bonds as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 was estimated
as a last purchase price at the balance sheet date according to GPW Catalyst quotations.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group held the following financial instruments carried at fair
value on the statement of financial position:

ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

31 December 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Derivative instruments not

designated as hedging instruments ) 24.0 285
IRS - 24.0 -
Financial PPA - 28.5
Hedging derivative instruments - 4.3 -
IRS - 4.3 -
Other - 15.9 -
Investments in equity instruments 614.4 1.5 -
Total 614.4 45.7 28.5

LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

31 December 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Derivative instruments not

designated as hedging instruments ) (32.3) )
IRS - (26.3) -
CIRS - (5.9) -
Forward - (0.1) -
Hedging derivative instruments - (11.9) -
IRS - (5.7) -
CIRS - (5.8) -
Forward - (0.4) -
Put option - - (39.5)
Total - (44.2) (39.5)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group held the following financial instruments measured at fair
value:

ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

31 December 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Derivative instruments not

designated as hedging instruments ) 58.2 )
Interest rate swaps - 58.2 -
Hedging derivative instruments - 231 -
Interest rate swaps - 231 -
Other - 23.8 -
Investments in equity instruments - 1.6 -

Total - 106.7 -
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LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

31 December 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Derivative instruments not

designated as hedging instruments ) (5.7) )
Interest rate swaps - (4.7) -
Forward - (1.0) -
Hedging derivative instruments - (0.7) -
Interest rate swaps - (0.7) -
Total - (6.4) -

The fair value of forwards, interest rate swaps and currency interest rate swaps is determined
using financial instruments valuation models, based on generally published currency
exchange rates, interest rates, forward rate curves and volatility curves for foreign currencies
taken from active markets. Fair value of derivatives is determined based on the discounted
future cash flows from transactions, calculated based on the difference between the forward
price and the transaction price.

The fair value of financial PPA transactions was determined using financial instrument
valuation models, using industry studies of energy prices over the long term, taking into
account seasonality and the production profile for a given source as well as using generally
available interest rates. Fair value is determined based on the discounted future cash flows of
the transactions calculated based on the difference between the market price over the contract
horizon and the settlement price set in the contract (plus the inflation rate).

The fair value of put option was determined in the amount of estimated future cashflows
related to the exercise of the option, as at the reporting date.

Items of income, costs, profit and losses recognized in profit or loss generated by
loans and borrowings and issued bonds (including hedging transactions)

For the period from pervative
1 ) .

1 January 2023 llj_c?r?cr)]vsvi?];csj Bonds inst?ueriglr:ﬁ mjérsui;)nnearltesdh;st Total

to 31 December 2023 hedging
instruments

L”rfgrgztrrf)’;ﬁﬁg:e on loans (816.8) - 14.4 (28.5)  (830.9)

Interest expense on bonds - (326.7) - - (326.7)

Exchange rate differences 82.1 - - - 82.1

Total finance costs (734.7) (326.7) 14.4 (28.5) (1,075.5)

Total gross profit/(loss) (734.7) (326.7) 14.4 (28.5) (1,075.5)

Hedge valuation reserve - - (28.8) - (28.8)
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For th o Derivative
or the period from : instruments not
H

1 January 2022 tl)_c?rerlgvsviigcsj Bonds inst edglntg designated as Total
to 31 December 2022 nstruments hedging

instruments
Interest expense on loans
and borrowings (582.0) - 19.8 72.7 (489.5)
Interest expense on bonds - (155.6) - - (155.6)
Total finance costs (582.0) (155.6) 19.8 72.7 (645.1)
Total gross profit/(loss) (582.0) (155.6) 19.8 72.7 (645.1)
Hedge valuation reserve - - 1.4 - 1.4

Hedge accounting and derivatives

Cash Flow Hedge of interest rate risk of interest payments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held a number of interest rate swaps not designated as
hedges in order to reduce the risk of floating interest payments on senior facilities
denominated in PLN. Hedge accounting has not been implemented for the interest rate swaps.

The table below presents the basic parameters of IRS not designated as hedging instruments,
including the periods in which cash flows occur, periods they will affect the financial results

and their fair value in PLN as at the balance sheet date.

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Type of instrument Interest rate swap
Exposure Floating rate ipterest

payments in PLN
Hedged risk Interest rate risk
Notional value of hedging instrument 3,822.7
Fair value of hedging instruments (2.3)

Hedge accounting not

Hedge accounting approach adopted

Expected period the hedge item affect

. Until 31 December 2030
income statement

Interest rate swap

Floating rate interest
payments in PLN

Interest rate risk

3,000.0
53.5

Hedge accounting not

adopted

Until 30 June 2025

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held a number of interest rate swaps designated as
hedges of floating interest payments on senior facility denominated in PLN. Hedge accounting

has been implemented for the interest rate swaps.

The terms of the interest rate swaps have been negotiated to match the terms of the floating
rate financing in PLN. The hedge ineffectiveness identified during the reporting period was

recognized in the income statement.
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The table below presents the basic parameters of IRS designated as hedging instruments,
including the periods in which cash flows occur due to cash flow hedges, periods they will
affect the financial results and fair value in PLN of hedging instruments as at the balance sheet
date.

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Type of instrument Interest rate swap Interest rate swap
Exposure Floating rate interest Floating rate interest
P payments in PLN payments in PLN
Hedged risk Interest rate risk Interest rate risk
Notional value of hedging instrument 750.0 1,125.0
Fair value of hedging instruments (1.4) 22.4
Hedge accounting approach Cash Flow Hedge Cash Flow Hedge
Expected period the hedge item affect Until 30 June 2025 Until 30 June 2025

income statement

Cash Flow Hedge of interest rate and currency risk of interest payments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held a number of currency interest rate swaps designated
as hedges of floating interest payments on senior facility denominated in EUR. Hedge
accounting has not been implemented for the currency interest rate swaps.

The table below presents the basic parameters of CIRS designated as non-hedging
instruments, including the periods in which cash flows occur due to cash flow hedges, periods
they will affect the financial results and fair value of hedging instruments as at the balance
sheet date.

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Type of instrument Currency interest rate swap -

Exposure Floating rate interest }
P payments in EUR

Hedged risk Interest rate and currency )
risk

Notional value of hedging instrument 50.0 -

Fair value of hedging instruments (5.9) -

. Hedge accounting not
Hedge accounting approach adopted -

Expected period the hedge item affect

. Until 31 March 2027 -
income statement

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held a number of currency interest rate swaps designated
as hedges of floating interest payments on senior facility denominated in EUR. Hedge
accounting has been implemented for the currency interest rate swaps.

The terms of the currency interest rate swaps (including schedule) have been negotiated to
match the terms of the floating rate financing in EUR. The hedge ineffectiveness identified
during the reporting period was recognized in the income statement.
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The table below presents the basic parameters of CIRS designated as hedging instruments,
including the periods in which cash flows occur due to cash flow hedges, periods they will
affect the financial results and fair value of hedging instruments as at the balance sheet date.

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Type of instrument Currency interest rate swap -
Floating rate interest

Exposure payments in EUR )
Hedged risk Interest rate and Currer:ics:?(/ )
Notional value of hedging instrument 50.0 -
Fair value of hedging instruments (5.8) -
Hedge accounting approach Cash Flow Hedge -

Expected period the hedge item affect

. Until 31 March 2027 -
income statement

Cash Flow Hedge of currency risk of interest payments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held a number of forwards designated as hedges of
interest payments on senior facility denominated in EUR. Hedge accounting has not been
implemented for the currency interest rate swaps.

The table below presents the basic parameters of forwards not designated as hedging
instruments, including the periods in which cash flows occur, periods they will affect the
financial results and their fair value as at the balance sheet date.

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Type of instrument Forward -
Exposure Interest payments in EUR -
Hedged risk Currency risk -
Notional value of hedging instrument 1.4 -
Fair value of hedging instruments (0.1) -

. Hedge accounting not
Hedge accounting approach adopted -

Expected period the hedge item affect

. Until 31 May 2024 -
income statement

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held a number of forwards designated as hedges of
interest payments on senior facility denominated in EUR. Hedge accounting has been
implemented for the forwards.

The terms of the forwards have been negotiated to match the terms of the floating rate
financing in EUR. The ineffectiveness of forward contracts during the reporting period was not
identified and recognized in the income statement.
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The table below presents the basic parameters of forwards designated as hedging
instruments, including the periods in which cash flows occur due to cash flow hedges, periods
they will affect the financial results and fair value in EUR of hedging instruments as at the
balance sheet date.

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Type of instrument Forward -
Exposure Interest payments in EUR -
Hedged risk Currency risk -
Notional value of hedging instrument 3.7 -
Fair value of hedging instruments (0.4) -
Hedge accounting approach Cash Flow Hedge -

Expected period the hedge item affect

. Until 31 May 2024 -
income statement

Change in fair value of cash flow hedges is presented below (pre-tax):

2023 2022

Opening Balance 22.4 13.4

Effective part of gains or losses on the hedging instrument (16.8) 26.3
recognized in equity ) )

Amounts recognized in equity transferred to the profit and loss (13.2) (17.3)
statement, of which: ) )

e adjustment of interest costs (14.4) (19.8)

e recognition of inefficiencies 1.2 25

Closing Balance (7.6) 22.4

Cash Flow Hedge of selling price of electricity

As at 31 December 2023 the Group held a financial PPA to hedge the proceeds from electricity
sales transactions based on current market prices. Under the financial PPA, the Group
receives/pays the difference between the agreed fixed price and current market energy prices.
No hedge accounting was implemented for these instruments.

The table below presents the basic parameters of financial PPA agreements not designated
as hedging instruments, including the periods in which cash flows occurred, periods they
affected the financial results and their fair value in PLN as at the balance sheet date.

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Type of instrument Financial PPA -

Proceeds from electricity
Exposure sales based on current -
market prices

Hedged risk Energy price risk -
Fair value of hedging instruments 28.5 -

. Hedge accounting not
Hedge accounting approach adopted -

Expected period the hedge item affect

. Until September 2034 -
income statement
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43. Capital management

This note presents information about the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative
disclosures are also included throughout these financial statements.

The goal of capital management is to maintain the Group’s ability to operate as a going
concern in order to provide the shareholders return on investment as well as benefits for other
stakeholders. The Group might issue shares, increase debt or sell assets in order to maintain
or improve the equity structure.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of leverage ratio, which is calculated as a ratio of net
debt to sum of equity and net debt. Net debt represents interest-bearing loans and borrowings
and issued bonds less cash and cash equivalents (including restricted cash).

Carrying amount

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Loans and borrowings 10,604.0 8,137.4
Issued bonds 4,3491 2,076.4
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash (3,325.7) (817.8)
Net debt 11,627.4 9,396.0
Equity 16,305.2 15,810.8
Equity and net debt 27,932.6 25,206.8
Leverage ratio 0.42 0.37

44.0Operating segments
The Group operates in the following four segments:

e B2C and B2B services segment which relates to the provision of services to the
general public, including digital television transmission signal, mobile services, the
Internet access services, the mobile TV services, the online TV services, set-top
boxes production and assembly of photovoltaic installations,

¢ Media segment,

e Real Estate segment (starting from 1 April 2022),

e Green energy segment (starting from 3 July 2023).
The Group conducts its operating activities primarily in Poland.

The activities of the Group are grouped into segment with distinguishable scope of operations
where services are rendered and merchandise delivered in a specific economic environment.
Activities of defined segments are characterized by different risk levels and different
investment returns from those of the Group’s other segments. The operating segments also
represent reportable segments of the Group.

B2C and B2B services segment includes:

e digital pay television services which primarily relate to direct distribution of
technologically advanced pay-TV services and revenues are generated mainly by
pay-TV subscription fees,

¢ mobile telecommunication services (postpaid and mix) which generate revenues
mainly from interconnect revenues, traffic revenues and subscription fees,
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e mobile telecommunication prepaid services which generate revenues mainly from
interconnect and traffic revenues,

o fixed telecommunication services, which generate revenues mainly from subscription
fees, traffic and interconnect revenues,

e providing access to broadband Internet in mobile and fixed-line technologies which
generates revenues mainly from traffic and subscription fees,

e telecommunication wholesale services, including international and domestic roaming
as well as telecommunication infrastructure sharing services,

e lease of optical fibers and infrastructure,

e online TV services (Polsat Box Go, formerly IPLA) available on computers,
smartphones, tablets, SmartTV, game consoles and other TV equipment which
generate revenues mainly from subscription fees and advertising on the Internet,

e Premium Rate services based on SMS/IVR/MMS/WAP technology and subscription
fees,

e production of set-top boxes,
e sale of telecommunication equipment,
e sale of photovoltaic installations.

Media segment consists mainly of production, acquisition and broadcasting of information and
entertainment programs as well as TV series and feature films broadcasted on television, radio
and Internet channels in Poland. The revenues generated by the media segment relate mainly
to advertising and sponsorship revenues as well as revenues from cable and satellite
operators.

Real Estate segment consists mainly of implementation of construction projects as well as
sale, rental and management of own or leased real estate.

Green energy segment consists mainly of:

e production and sale of electricity from renewable sources especially from solar and
wind,

e construction of a complete hydrogen-based value chain, including hydrogen stations,
hydrogen-powered buses and sale of hydrogen,

e investments in renewable energy sources projects such as photovoltaic and wind
farms.

Management evaluates the operating segments’ results based on EBITDA. The EBITDA
reflects the Group’s ability to generate cash in a stable environment. The Group defines
EBITDA as profit from operating activities increased by depreciation, amortization, impairment
and liquidation (including depreciation included in the energy and buses production costs).
The EBITDA is not an EU IFRS measure and thus its calculations may differ among the
entities.
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The table below presents a summary of the Group’s revenues, expenses, acquisition of property, plant and equipment, reception equipment and other intangible
assets as well as assets by operating segment for the year ended 31 December 2023:

B2C and B2B Media: TV and Consolidation

The year ended 31 December 2023 services online Real Estate Green energy adjustments Total
Revenues from sales to third parties 10,646.6 2,206.2 133.6 639.9 - 13,626.3
Inter-segment revenues 65.6 263.8 48.6 131.7 (509.7) -
Revenues 10,712.2 2,470.0 182.2 771.6 (509.7) 13,626.3
EBITDA adjusted (unaudited) 3,011.5
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary and an associate 219.7 - - - - 219.7
EBITDA (unaudited) 2,712.8 472.0 27.0 24.5 (5.1) 3,231.2
Depreciation, amortization, impairment and liquidation 1,713.2 155.3 22.5 94 - 1,900.4
E:Sp;;ematlon included in energy and buses production ) ) ) 19.2 ) 19.2
Profit/(loss) from operating activities 999.6 316.7 4.5 (4.1) (5.1) 1,311.6
ﬁ(t:grt:gi]sig:gnagggtr:perty, plant and equipment and other 792.7 74.0 246 710.6 ) 1,601.9
Acquisition of reception equipment 145.8 - - - - 145.8
Balance as at 31 December 2023

Assets, including: 26,461.4 6,520.1* 1,471.2 4,603.0 (1,879.0) 37,176.7
Investments in joint venture and shares in associates - - 10.1 - - 10.1

* Includes non-current assets located outside of Poland in the amount of PLN 5.7.
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All material revenues are generated in Poland.

It should be noted that the data for 12 months ended 31 December 2023 allocated to the “B2C
and B2B services” segment, “Media” segment and “Real Estate” segment are not comparable
to the data for 12 months ended 31 December 2022 due to changes in the Group’s structure
described in notes 5, 40, 41 and 50.

The table below presents a summary of the Group’s revenues, expenses, acquisition of
property, plant and equipment, reception equipment and other intangible assets as well as
assets by operating segment for the year ended 31 December 2022:

Media:
B2C and edia Consolidation

Real
The year ended 31 December 2022 B2B TV and . Total
services online Estate adjustments

Revenues from sales to third parties 10,622.2 2,186.4 106.7 - 12,915.3
Inter-segment revenues 59.4 237.8 76.7 (373.9) -
Revenues 10,681.6 2,424.2 183.4 (373.9) 12,915.3

EBITDA adjusted (unaudited)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary and

- 113.4 - 39.8 - 153.2
an associate
Costs of support for Ukraine (33.0) (1.1) - - (34.1)
EBITDA (unaudited)
Depreciation, amortization, 17036 1097 157 - 1,829.0
impairment and liquidation
Profit/(loss) from operating 1,210.8  395.2 4.3 (5.1) 1,642.2
activities
Acquisition of property, plant and
equipment and other intangible 964.2 117.0 33.2 - 11,1144
assets
Acquisition of reception equipment 113.6 - - - 113.6

Balance as at 31 December 2022

Assets, including: 24,4859 6,465.6* 1,596.3 (241.2) 32,306.6

Investments in joint venture and

. . 1,801.6 5.9 82.6 - 1,8901
shares in associates

* includes non-current assets located outside of Poland in the amount of PLN 5.9
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Reconciliation of EBITDA and Net profit for the period:

for the year ended

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

EBITDA adjusted (unaudited) 3,011.5 3,352.1
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary and an associate 219.7 153.2
Costs of support for Ukraine* - (34.1)

EBITDA (unaudited) 3,231.2 3,471.2

Depreciation, amortization, impairment and liquidation

(note 10) (1,900.4) (1,829.0)
Depreciation included within energy and bus (19.2) )
production costs (note 10) )
Profit from operating activities 1,311.6 1,642.2
Other foreign exchange rate differences, net (note 11) 62.5 (41.6)
Interest costs, net (note 11 and 12) (1,079.1) (587.6)
Share of the profit/(loss) of associates accounted for

. . 29.7 94.5
using the equity method
Valuation of PAK-PCE shares held 151.3 -
Valuation of existing relationships in connection with (83.9) )
the acquisition of PAK-PCE ;
Other 29.7 2.8
Gross profit for the period 421.8 1,110.3
Income tax (110.2) (209.2)
Net profit for the period 311.6 901.1

* includes mainly cash donations for supporting Ukraine

45 . Barter transactions

The Group is a party to barter transactions. The table below presents revenues and costs of
barter transactions executed on an arm’s-length basis. Revenue comprise revenue from
services, products, goods and materials sold, costs comprise selling expenses.

for the year ended

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Revenues from barter transactions 53.0 771
Cost of barter transactions 53.0 88.9

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Barter receivables 15.5 80.3
Barter payables 11.9 83.5
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46. Transactions with related parties

RECEIVABLES

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Joint ventures and associates 0.2 4.9
Entities controlled by a person (or a close member of

that person’s family) who has control, joint control or 13.2 14.6
significant influence over Cyfrowy Polsat S.A.

Total* 13.4 19.5

* amounts presented above do not include deposits paid (31 December 2023 — PLN 3.4, 31 December 2022 — PLN

3.5)

Receivables due from related parties have not been pledged as security.

OTHER ASSETS

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Joint ventures and associates 0.3 1.5
Entities controlled by a person (or a close member of

that person’s family) who has control, joint control or - 7.6
significant influence over Cyfrowy Polsat S.A.

Total 0.3 9.1
LIABILITIES

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Joint ventures and associates 10.6 81.0
Entities controlled by a person (or a close member of

that person’s family) who has control, joint control or 209.6 194.4
significant influence over Cyfrowy Polsat S.A.

Total 220.2 275.4

The liability mainly includes a liability for the acquisition of shares by Cyfrowy Polsat, liabilities

from surface leases and wind farm construction services.

LOANS GRANTED

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Associates 15.0 456.2
Entities controlled by a person (or a close member of

that person’s family) who has control, joint control or 12.5 12.2
significant influence over Cyfrowy Polsat S.A.

Total 27.5 468.4

Loans granted as at 31 December 2023 include mainly loans to Polsat Boxing Promotion

Sp. z 0.0. and Dystrybucja Moéwi Serwis Sp. z 0.0. Sp. k.
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LOANS RECEIVED

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Associates 11.3 -
Entities controlled by a person (or a close member of

that person’s family) who has control, joint control or 6.6 6.6
significant influence over Cyfrowy Polsat S.A.

Total 17.9 6.6
REVENUES

for the year ended

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Subsidiaries™ 9.9 -
Joint ventures and associates 6.6 7.2
Entities controlled by a person (or a close member of

that person’s family) who has control, joint control or 226.6 751.0
significant influence over Cyfrowy Polsat S.A.

Total 2431 758.2

* Applies to transactions with subsidiaries concluded before taking over control.

In the period of 12 months ended 31 December 2023 the most significant transactions include

income from the sale of real estate and the sale of shares by Polkomtel.

In the period of 12 months ended 31 December 2022 the most significant transactions relate

to income from disposal of Modivo S.A. shares.

EXPENSES AND PURCHASES OF PROGRAMMING ASSETS

for the year ended

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Subsidiaries™ 137.9 0.1
Joint ventures and associates 15.4 191.7
Entities controlled by a person (or a close member of

that person’s family) who has control, joint control or 160.6 296.6
significant influence over Cyfrowy Polsat S.A.

Total 313.9 488.4

* Applies to transactions with subsidiaries concluded before taking over control.

In the period of 12 months ended 31 December 2023 and 12 months ended 31 December
2022 the most significant transactions include inter alia cost of electrical energy, property

rental and advertising services.
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GAIN/(LOSS) ON INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES, NET

for the year ended

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Subsidiaries* 271 -
Joint ventures and associates 1.5 20.4
Entities controlled by a person (or a close member of

that person’s family) who has control, joint control or 8.0 5.3
significant influence over Cyfrowy Polsat S.A.

Total 36.6 25.7

* Applies to transactions with subsidiaries concluded before taking over control.

FINANCE COSTS, NET

for the year ended

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Joint ventures and associates 7.0 -
Entities controlled by a person (or a close member of

that person’s family) who has control, joint control or 0.6 1.1
significant influence over Cyfrowy Polsat S.A.

Total 7.6 1.1

Transactions with related parties are also described in note 50.

47.Contingent liabilities

Management believes that the provisions as at 31 December 2023 are sufficient to cover
potential future outflows and the adverse outcome of the disputes will not have a significant
negative impact on the Group’s financial situation.

Proceedings before the Office of Competition and Consumer Protection (,UOKIK”)

On 24 February 2011 the President of UOKIiK imposed penalty on Polkomtel (Company’s
subsidiary) in the amount of PLN 130.7 for the alleged lack of cooperation during an inspection
carried out by UOKIK in Polkomtel. Polkomtel appealed against the decision of the President
of UOKIK to the Consumer and Competition Protection Court (“SOKiK”). According to
management, during the inspection the company had fully and at all times cooperated with
UOKIK within the scope provided by the law. On 18 June 2014 the decision of the President
of UOKIK has been changed by SOKIK, reducing the penalty to PLN 4.0 (i.e. EUR 1.0). On
20 October 2015 SOKIK’s verdict has been revoked and the case has been transferred for re-
examination. On 28 April 2017 the decision of the President of UOKIK has been changed by
SOKIK, reducing the penalty to PLN 1.3. Polkomtel and President of UOKIiK appealed against
the verdict. On 3 April 2020 both Polkomtel’s and the President’s of UOKIK appeals have been
dismissed. The Court of Appeal upheld the SOKIiK’s decision. On 20 April 2020 Polkomtel
made a payment in the amount of PLN 1.3. Polkomtel and the President of UOKIK filed
cassation appeals against the Court of Appeal’s verdict. On 28 September 2022 the cassation
appeal of the President of the UOKIK was dismissed, the appeal of Polkomtel was accepted
in the scope dismissing the plaintiff's appeal, and the appealed judgment of the Court of
Appeal in Warsaw dated 3 April 2020 was revoked and referred - in accordance with the
Polkomtel’s cassation appeal - to be reconsidered. On 29 March 2023, the Court of Appeal
issued a judgment, whereby the Court agreed with the company's position that the fine was
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imposed in euros and then incorrectly converted into PLN. As a result the Court changed the
appealed judgment of the first instance, reducing the penalty to PLN 1.2.

On 30 December 2014 the President of UOKIK issued a decision ending investigations related
to Polkomtel’'s (Company’s subsidiary) alleged practices which infringed upon the collective
interests of consumers by not providing its telecommunication clients (which entered into a
written agreement) with terms and conditions of the preferential sales offer as well as not
informing about the termination of the preferential sales offer. Pursuant to the decision of the
President of UOKIK, Polkomtel was charged with a penalty in the amount of PLN 6.0. The
company appealed to SOKIiK against the decision. On 5 March 2018, SOKIK issued a decision
where the penalty has been annulled and dismissed the appeal in remaining scope. Both
parties appealed to the Court of Appeal in Warsaw. The Court of Appeal annulled in full the
verdict of the first instance court and returned the case back to the first instance court. On
1 April 2021 SOKIK dismissed Polkomtel’'s appeal. On 24 January 2022 Polkomtel’s appeal
was dismissed. On 7 February 2022 Polkomtel paid the penalty in the amount of PLN 6.0.
Polkomtel filed a cassation appeal against the judgment of the Court of Appeal.

On 30 December 2016 the President of UOKIK issued a decision stating that the operations
of the Company and Polkomtel (Company’s subsidiary) were allegedly infringing collective
consumer interests by presenting promotional offers, which in the opinion of the authorities
were impossible to conclude. Pursuant to the decision of the President of UOKIK the Company
and Polkomtel were charged with a penalty in the amount of PLN 4.4 and PLN 12.3,
respectively. The Group appealed to the Court against the decision. On 14 October 2019
SOKIK dismissed the appeal. The Group appealed against the decision. On 31 December
2020 the Group’s appeal was dismissed. On 14 January 2021 Cyfrowy Polsat and Polkomtel
paid the penalty. The Group submitted a cassation appeal to the Supreme Court. On 25 May
2023 cassation appeals were dismissed.

On 29 April 2019 the President of UOKIK issued a decision stating that the operations of
Polkomtel (Company’s subsidiary) were allegedly infringing collective consumer interests by
charging for activating the services to consumers, despite not obtaining an explicit approval
of the additional payment associated with these services. Pursuant to the decision of the
President of UOKiK Polkomtel was charged with a penalty in the amount of PLN 39.5.
Polkomtel appealed to SOKIiK against the decision. On 26 May 2021 SOKIiK dismissed
Polkomtel’'s appeal. Polkomtel appealed against the SOKIK judgment. On 8 November 2022,
the Court of Appeal dismissed the appeal. On 22 November 2022, Polkomtel paid a penalty
of PLN 39.5. Polkomtel filed a cassation complaint. Complaint was accepted for consideration
by the Supreme Court.

On 19 December 2019 the President of UOKIK issued a decision stating that the operations
of the Company were allegedly infringing collective consumer interests by hindering access
to ZDF and Das Erste channels during the Euro 2016 championship by removing these
channels and incomplete and unreliable information to consumers in response to claims
regarding unavailability of the above programs. Pursuant to the decision of the President of
UOKIK the Company was charged with a penalty in the amount of PLN 34.9. The Company
appealed against this decision to SOKiK. On 14 February 2022 First Instance Court dismissed
the Company’s appeal in its entirety. The Company submitted a cassation appeal to the Court
of Appeal in Warsaw. The appeal hearing took place on 21 October 2022. On 21 November
2022, the Court of Appeal in Warsaw repealed the appealed judgment in its entirety and
referred the case to the Regional Court in Warsaw for examination and resolution. On 24 July
2023 Company's appeal was again dismissed. On 6 September 2023 the Company filed an
appeal against the judgment. To date, hearing date has not been set.

On 31 December 2019 the President of UOKIK issued a decision stating that the operations
of Polkomtel (Company’s subsidiary) were allegedly infringing collective consumer interests
by charging additional fees for data transmission using the RSTP protocol, despite the
subscribers having internet packages or unlimited LTE Internet services. Pursuant to the
decision of the President of UOKIK Polkomtel was charged with a penalty in the amount of
PLN 50.6. Polkomtel appealed to SOKIiK against the decision. On 15 December 2021, SOKiK
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announced decision in which it dismissed Polkomtel's appeal in its entirety. Polkomtel
submitted an appeal against the SOKIK verdict. On 21 July 2022 the Court of Appeal partially
revoked the President of UOKIK’s decision and reduced a penalty to PLN 16.8. On 4 August
2022, Polkomtel paid the penalty in the amount of PLN 16.8. Both Polkomtel and President of
UOKIK filed a cassation appeals. On 26 January 2023, the Supreme Court refused cassation
appeals.

On 22 January 2020 the President of UOKIK issued a decision stating that the operations of
Polkomtel (Company’s subsidiary) were allegedly infringing collective consumer interests by
clauses included in the terms and conditions of telecommunications services regarding
prepaid services and expiration of the unused value of the subscribers’ accounts. Pursuant to
the decision of the President of UOKIK Polkomtel was charged with a penalty in the amount
of PLN 20.4. Polkomtel appealed to SOKIiK against the decision. On 8 April 2022, SOKIiK
dismissed Polkomtel's appeal. On 31 May 2022 Polkomtel submitted appeal against the
SOKIK verdict. On 28 March 2023 the Court of Appeal dismissed the appeal. On 11 April 2023
Polkomtel paid a penalty of PLN 20.4. After receiving written justification of the judgment of
the Court of Appeal, on 30 June 2023 Polkomtel filed a cassation complaint.

By decision of 27 December 2023, the President of UOKIK recognized the actions of Telewizja
Polsat Sp. z 0.0. and Teleaudio Dwa Sp. z 0.0 Sp. k., (subsidiaries of the Company) as a
practice violating the collective interests of consumers. The violations allegedly consisted in
misleading SMS information sent to customers as to the rules and costs of participation in the
New Year's Eve edition of the SMS competition in the content of verbal and graphic messages
as part of the broadcast "New Year's Eve Power of Hits 2021 - New Year's Eve of Happiness"
and as to the course of the competition and the prizes that could be won at its individual
stages. As a consequence, the President of UOKIK imposed fines on both entities in the total
amount of PLN 9.9. The decision is not final, each company filed an appeal to the Regional
Court in Warsaw on 26 January 2024.

Other proceedings

In September 2015, Polkomtel (Company’s subsidiary) received a claim from P4 Sp. z 0.0., in
which the company demands compensation of PLN 316 (including interest of PLN 85), for the
alleged actions relating to the pricing of the mobile services rendered between July 2009 and
March 2012. The claim assumes payment of the above amount jointly by Orange Poland S.A.,
Polkomtel and T-Mobile Poland S.A. On 27 December 2018 Court dismissed the entire claim.
P4 Sp. z o0.0. appealed against the decision. On 28 December 2020, the Court of Appeal
referred the case to the District Court for reconsideration, Polkomtel appealed to the Supreme
Court against this decision. On 13 November 2020, the P4 sp. z 0.0. claim for payment of PLN
313, including interest of PLN 85, was delivered by the court. This lawsuit constitutes an
"extension” of P4 Sp. z 0.0 claim dated September 2015 and concerns a further period of the
acts alleged against the defendants, i.e. from April 2012 to December 2014.

Management believes that the claim is unfounded, as Polkomtel’s conduct alone or with other
tort entities was not wrongful, in particular relating to the pricing of retail mobile services
directed to the telecommunications network of P4 Sp. z 0.0. In management’s opinion, there
is no legal basis for the overall assessment of the alleged actions of each of the operators on
the telecommunications market, which is fully a competitive market, and each of the operators
has its own business and pricing strategy. The claim of P4 Sp. z o0.0. indicates neither nature
(premises liability) nor the amount.

On 28 April 2017, Association of Polish Stage Artists (“ZASP”) filed a lawsuit against Cyfrowy
Polsat for payment of PLN 20.3. The Company issued an objection in the writ-of-payment
proceedings and filed for its dismissal entirely. On 10 January 2018 the Court issued a decision
to refer the case to mediation proceedings. Mediation ended without a settlement. The last
hearing took place on 8 May 2019. Both parties have submitted an application for re-referral
to the mediation proceedings for a period of three months. The court approved application and
postponed the hearing without a deadline. Mediation ended without a settlement. On 6 May
2020, the Company received a letter from the Court, containig the mediator's position
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summarizing the course of mediation, with a request to refer to its content. On 25 May 2020,
the Company submitted a response informing the Court about the settlement being impossible
to reach by the parties. The hearing took place on 20 October 2021. At the end of March 2022,
the Company received a letter extending the previous claim by the period from 1 January 2010
to 31 December 2020, the value of the lawsuit was increased by over PLN 120.0. The court
set the hearing dates for: 15 December 2023 and 17 April 2024. The hearing on 15 December
2023 has been canceled.

By lawsuit, delivered to the Company on 16 December 2019, the Association of Performing
Artists (SAWP) filed two claims against the Company: information claim and claim for
payment. The information claim relates to television programs rebroadcasted by the Company
in the period from 20 August 2009 to 20 August 2019. In the claim for payment, SAWP claims
PLN 153.3 for the alleged violation of related rights to artistic performances of musical and
verbal - musical works through their non-contractual cable rebroadcast. The Company filed
for the dismissal entirely. The last hearing took place on 17 January 2024. The hearing was
postponed without a date.

In addition to the matters described above, there are also other proceedings, for which
provisions have been made according to the best estimates of the management board
members as to potential future outflows of the economic benefits required for their settlement.
Information regarding the amount of provisions was not separately disclosed, as in the opinion
of the Group's Management, such disclosure could prejudice the outcome of the pending
cases.

48.Remuneration of the Management Board

The table below presents the Management Board’s remuneration for management functions
in the Parent Company and its subsidiaries.

Name Function 2023 2022
Mirostaw Bfaszczyk President of the Management Board 1.0 1.0
Maciej Stec Vice-President of the Management Board 0.4 0.6
Jacek Felczykowski Member of the Management Board 1.0 1.0
Aneta Jaskélska Member of the Management Board 0.9 0.9
Agnieszka Odorowicz Member of the Management Board 0.6 0.6
Katarzyna Ostap-Tomann Member of the Management Board 1.0 1.0
Total 4.9 5.1

The amounts of bonuses and other remuneration payable to each member of the Management
Board for 2023 and 2022 are presented below:

Name Function 2023 2022
Mirostaw Btaszczyk President of the Management Board 25 25
Maciej Stec Vice-President of the Management Board 1.3 5.0
Jacek Felczykowski Member of the Management Board 1.5 15
Aneta Jaskélska Member of the Management Board 1.9 1.9
Agnieszka Odorowicz Member of the Management Board 1.0 0.8
Katarzyna Ostap-Tomann Member of the Management Board 3.4 2.4

Total 11.6 14.1
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49.Remuneration of the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board receives remuneration based on the resolution of the Extraordinary
General Shareholders’ Meeting of Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. dated 5 September 2007. On 29 June
2016 the Annual General Meeting adopted the resolution concerning changes in remuneration
of members of the Supervisory Board.

Presented below is the total remuneration payable to the Supervisory Board members of the
Parent Company in 2023 and 2022:

Name Function 2023 2022
Zygmunt Solorz Chairman of the Supervisory Board 0.24 0.24
Marek Kapuscinski Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board (until 31 May 2023) 0.08 0.18
Jozef Birka Member of the Supervisory Board 0.18 0.18
Jarostaw Grzesiak Member of the Supervisory Board 0.18 0.18
Marek Grzybowski Independent Member of the Supervisory Board 0.18 0.18
Tobias Solorz Member of the Supervisory Board 0.18 0.18
Tomasz Szelag Member of the Supervisory Board 0.18 0.18
Piotr Zak Member of the Supervisory Board 0.18 0.18
Total 140 1.50

50.Important agreements and events

Conclusion of financial PPA agreements

In March 2023, Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. entered into so-called financial PPA (Power Purchase
Agreement) agreements with PAK-PCE Fotowoltaika Sp. z 0.0. and PAK Volt S.A. regarding
electricity generated by a photovoltaic farm in the Brudzew municipality. The financial PPA
agreements were concluded for a period of 15 years, with the possibility of termination in
certain situations and are effective since April 2023.

In April 2023, Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. entered into so-called financial PPA (Power Purchase
Agreement) agreements with Park Wiatrowy Patczyn 1 Sp. z 0.0. and PAK Volt S.A. regarding
electricity generated by a wind farm in the Mitostaw municipality. The financial PPA
agreements were concluded for a period of 15 years and 6 months and is effective since
January 2024.

The Company committed in the financial PPA agreements to make financial settlements in
order to ensure a fixed price for the sale or purchase of electricity (so-called contract on
difference). The settlement price in the financial PPA agreements was established for the first
year of the term and will be indexed in subsequent years by the inflation rate, subject to
applicable legal regulations specifying the maximum sales price of electricity produced from
renewable sources.

Decision of the Head of the Matopolska Tax Office in Cracow

On 15 February 2018 the Head of the Matopolska Tax Office in Cracow (“Tax Office”) issued
the decision assessing the tax liability from uncollected withholding corporate income tax in
2012 in the amount of PLN 24.2 increased by interest on tax arrears.

In the issued decision the Tax Office contested the Company’s right to an exemption from the
obligation to withhold income tax on certain interest payments in 2012. The Company
appealed against the decision of the Tax Authority on the basis of acquired opinions issued by
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renowned entities. The Company has not created any provisions encumbering its financial
results.

On 10 July 2018 the Tax Office upheld the previous decision dated 15 February 2018. The
Company does not agree with the decision of the Tax Office in question and appealed against
it to the Voivodship Administrative Court in Cracow. The Voivodship Administrative Court in
Cracow dismissed the complaint in the ruling as of 21 February 2019. The Company does not
agree with this decision and filled a cassation complaint to the Supreme Administrative Court
in Warsaw. The Supreme Administrative Court upheld the complaint and transferred the case
to the Voivodship Administrative Court for re-examination in its decision on 17 August 2022.
The Voivodship Administrative Court, at the hearing on 15 March 2023, revoked the decision
of the Head of the Matopolska Tax Office in Cracow and referred the case for reconsideration
by this authority. On 23 January 2024, the Company received the decision of the tax authority
discontinuing the proceedings in the case.

The Tax Office control activities in the aforesaid matter were in progress in relation to 2013
and 2014.

The Head of the Matopolska Tax Office in Cracow issued a decision on 19 July 2019 in respect
to the year 2013. The decision assessed the Company’s tax liability from uncollected
withholding corporate income tax in 2013 in the amount of PLN 25.1 increased by interest on
tax arrears. The Company appealed against the decision, but on 14 February 2020 the Tax
Authority maintained its position. The Company filed a complaint against the decision to the
Administrative Court. On 15 October 2020, the Voivodship Administrative Court in Cracow
dismissed the complaint. The Company, based on the opinions of reputable advisers, does
not agree with the court's decision and filed a cassation appeal to the Supreme Administrative
Court in Warsaw. The Supreme Administrative Court, at the hearing on 10 January 2024,
dismissed the judgements of the first instance court and the decisions of the Head of the
Matopolska Tax Office in Cracow issued in these cases in the second instance. Company is
waiting for the above-mentioned actions of tax authority consuming the court's position and
guidelines. The Company has not created any provisions encumbering its financial results.

The Head of the Matopolska Tax Office in Cracow issued a decision on 20 September 2019
in respect to the year 2014. The decision assessed the Company’s tax liability from
uncollected withholding corporate income tax in 2014 in the amount of PLN 1.7 increased by
interest on tax arrears. The Company appealed against the decision of the Tax Authority. In a
second instance decision issued on 8 June 2020, the Tax Authority fully maintained its
position. The Company filed a complaint against the decision to the Administrative Court. On
20 October 2020, the Voivodship Administrative Court in Cracow dismissed the complaint.
The Company, based on the opinions of reputable advisers, does not agree with the court's
decision and filed a cassation appeal to the Supreme Administrative Court in Warsaw. The
Supreme Administrative Court, at the hearing on 10 January 2024, dismissed the judgments
of the first instance court and the decisions of the Head of the Matopolska Tax Office in Cracow
issued in these cases in the second instance. Company is waiting for the above-mentioned
actions of tax authority consuming the court's position and guidelines. The Company has not
created any provisions encumbering its financial results.

Renewal of the frequency reservations

Frequency reservations allocated in the 1800 MHz band expired at the end of 2022, while the
frequency reservation in the 900 MHz band expired at the end of 2023 and 2600 MHz will
expire at the end of 2024. On 30 November 2021 Polkomtel and Aero 2 were merged,
consequently Polkomtel entered into the rights and obligations of Aero 2 and thus taking over
the right to Aero 2 frequencies. Pursuant to the Telecommunications Law, in December 2021,
December 2022 and December 2023 respectively, Polkomtel Sp. z 0. o. applied to UKE
President for the reservation of frequency in the 1800 MHz band, 900 MHz band and 2600
MHz band for the next periods.
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On 20 December 2022, Polkomtel received the decisions of the President of UKE granting
Polkomtel a frequency reservation in the 1800 MHz band for the next 15 years - until 31
December 2037. Pursuant to these decisions, Polkomtel was obliged to pay fees to the State
Treasury in the amount of PLN 847 for the above reservation. The payment in the amount of
PLN 847 was made on 3 January 2023.

On 10 July 2023, Polkomtel received a decision of the President of UKE reserving frequencies
in the 900 MHz band for Polkomtel for the next 15 years — until 31 December 2038. According
to this decision, Polkomtel was obliged to pay fees PLN 300.3 to the State Treasury for making
the reservation. The payment in the amount of PLN 300.3 was made on 24 July 2023.

Auction for spectrum reservation in the 3.6 GHz band

On 22 June 2023, the President of UKE announced an auction for four frequency reservations
in the 3.6 GHz band.

According to the published documentation, the subject of the auction were 4 blocks with a
width of 100 MHz each. The asking price amounts to PLN 450.0 per block.

In accordance with the auction documentation, each of the auction winners will be subject to
identical network development obligations to launch in the indicated areas by each operator
at least 3,800 (not in millions) base stations using allocated frequencies within 48 months from
the date of delivery of the reservation decision. In addition, auction winners will be required to
ensure capacity (using any frequency range) of 95Mbps for 99% of households throughout
the country within 60 months, for 90% of the country within 60 months, for 95% of national
roads within 84 months, for 95% of provincial roads within 84 months, for 95% of railway routes
within 84 months, for 24-hour border crossings within 24 months from the date of delivery of
the reservation decision.

Initial offers were submitted by four mobile network operators: Orange, Polkomtel, P4 and T-
Mobile until 8 August 2023 (first auction stage).

Polkomtel submitted an initial offer on 4 August 2023 and also paid a deposit in the required
amount of PLN 182.

On 16 October 2023 the President of the UKE started the second stage of the auction bidding
which ended on 18 October 2023. Accordingly, Polkomtel purchased block A (3400-3500 MHz
band) for PLN 450.

On 19 December 2023, the President of UKE issued a reservation decision for Polkomtel
regarding the acquired frequency block in the 3.6 GHz band. On 10 January 2024, Polkomtel
paid the President of UKE an additional fee for making the frequency reservation.

The legal dispute in respect to the telecommunication concession

The legal dispute in respect to the telecommunication concession for the 1800 MHz frequency
granted in 2007 to Mobyland Sp. z 0.0. (currently Polkomtel Sp. z 0.0.) and CenterNet S.A.
(currently Polkomtel Sp. z 0.0.) has ended. Proceedings to invalidate the 1800 MHz frequency
allocation tender have been instigated by T-Mobile and Orange. Supreme Administrative Court
(NSA), in its ruling dated 8 May 2014, sustained the decision of the Court of First Instance and
repealed the decision issued by the President of the Office of Electronic Communications
(UKE) on 23 September 2011 which partially invalidated the above mentioned tender.
Following the decision of the Supreme Administrative Court, UKE informed that “the decisions
regarding re-running the tender will be taken by the Office upon careful analysis of the written
justification of NSA'’s rulings and the Court’s guidelines regarding further procedure as well as
upon analysis of the legal situation”. UKE also stated that the “reservation decisions issued
by UKE President remained valid while the operators could continue providing their services
while using these frequencies”. On 23 December 2016 President of UKE notified the parties
that the tender annulment proceedings relating to the 1800 MHz frequency have been
adopted. Pursuant to the decision dated 4 August 2017 President of UKE notified the parties
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that the tender dated 2007 has been annulled. On 13 October 2017 Aero 2 Sp. zo.0. (a
successor of CenterNet S.A. and Mobyland Sp. z o0.0., currently Polkomtel Sp. z 0.0.) filed a
motion to reconsider the decision of the President of UKE dated 4 August 2017 concerning
the annulment of the tender procedure. On 31 January 2018 the President of UKE upheld its
decision dated 4 August 2017. On 7 March 2018 Aero2 (currently Polkomtel Sp. z 0.0.) filed a
complaint with the Provincial Administrative Court in Warsaw, on 4 October 2018 complaint
was dismissed. On 27 December 2018, Aero2 (currently Polkomtel Sp. z 0.0.) filed a cassation
appeal against judgment, which was dismissed by the Supreme Administrative Court on 25
November 2022.

The decision issued by UKE President does not affect reservation decisions issued following
the administrative tender. Moreover, on 5 December 2022, Aero2 (currently Polkomtel Sp. z
0.0.) obtained the decision of the President of UKE to grant a frequency reservation in the
1800 MHz range for the next period.

In the proceedings instigated by T-Mobile Polska S.A., the President of UKE resumed the
proceedings which were terminated on 23 April 2009 by the issuance of a final decision by the
President of UKE which sustained the decision of the President of UKE dated 30 November
2007 concerning the frequency reservation in the 1710-1730 MHz and 1805-1825 MHz range.
Under these proceedings, in the decision dated 28 November 2017 the President of UKE
refused, after resuming the proceedings, to annul the reservation decision of the President of
UKE dated 23 April 2009. This decision was upheld by the decision of the President of UKE
dated 4 June 2018. In connection with complaints filed against this decision, in the ruling of
11 March 2019 the Voivodship Administrative Court in Warsaw annulled the decision of the
President of UKE dated 4 June 2018. On 10 October 2023, the Supreme Administrative Court
overturned the contested judgment and referred the case to the Court of First Instance for
reconsideration.

On 4 October 2018, T-Mobile Polska filed a complaint with the Voivodship Administrative Court
in Warsaw against the announcement dated 5 September 2018 issued by the President of
UKE in respect to the activities necessary to remove the breach constituting the reason for
invalidating two frequency reservations (each including 48 duplex radio channels with a duplex
spacing of 95 MHz each, ranges 1710-1730 MHz and 1805-1825 MHz). On 20 November
2018, Voivodship Administrative Court in Warsaw rejected the complaint of T-Mobile Polska
S.A. On 4 July 2019, the Supreme Administrative Court annulled the decision of the
Voivodship Administrative Court in Warsaw dated 20 November 2018, as a result of a
cassation appeal filed by T-Mobile Polska S.A. On 18 August 2020, the announcement of the
President of UKE dated 5 September 2018 was considered ineffective by the Voivodship
Administrative Court in Warsaw. NSA annulled that judgment on 9 December 2021. The case
was remanded for re-examination to Voivodship Administrative Court in Warsaw. On 25
October 2022, the Voivodship Administrative Court in Warsaw dismissed the complaint of T-
Mobile Polska S.A. On 13 October 2023, the Supreme Administrative Court dismissed the
cassation appeal of T-Mobile Polska S.A., as a result of which the proceedings were legally
terminated.

The initiation by the European Commission of the procedure based on Art. 108 sec.
2 of the European Union Treaty

In the beginning of October 2020, Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. and Sferia S.A. (Sferia), a company
owned by the Cyfrowy Polsat Group in 51% since 29 February 2016, received from the
Ministry of Digital Affairs a copy of the European Commission’s decision dated 21 September
2020 regarding the initiation of the formal investigation procedure against the Republic of
Poland concerning the alleged illegal state aid provided to Sferia. The alleged illegal state aid
relates to granting in 2013 to Sferia the right to use a frequency block of 800 MHz range in
place of the frequency 850 MHz range previously held by Sferia. According to the decision,
the European Commission intends to investigate, whether the state aid was granted, and if
so, whether it can be considered compatible with the internal market. On 4 February 2022,
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the European Commission began consultations on this matter and Cyfrowy Polsat and Sferia
submitted their comments. Both companies believe that no illegal state aid was granted.

Conclusion of annex to the preliminary share purchase agreement concerning
PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0. and the acquisition of shares in PAK-Polska
Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0.

On 3 July 2023 Cyfrowy Polsat signed with ZE PAK S.A. (a related company) an annex to the
preliminary agreement of 20 December 2021 regarding the Company's acquisition of shares
in PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0.

Pursuant to annex, Cyfrowy Polsat and ZE PAK S.A. agreed that the subject matter of the final
agreement ("Final Agreement") will be 2,390,600 (not in millions) shares in PAK-Polska Czysta
Energia Sp. z o0.0. ("PAK-PCE Shares"), representing approximately 10.1% of the share
capital of PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0. and approximately 10.1% of votes at the
shareholders' meeting of PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0. ("Transaction").

In addition, the Company and ZE PAK S.A. have agreed that two companies from the PAK-
Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0. Group: Przedsiebiorstwo Remontowe "PAK Serwis"
Sp. z 0.0. and PCE-OZE 5 Sp. z o.0., will be transferred to ZE PAK S.A. before closing the
Transaction and therefore will not be subject of Transaction.

On 3 July 2023 the Company concluded with ZE PAK S.A. the Final Agreement under which
the Company acquired the PAK-PCE Shares from ZE PAK S.A. The final price for the
PAK-PCE Shares amounted to PLN 117.0.

Following Transaction and taking into account the shares previously acquired and subscribed
for by the Company in PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0., Cyfrowy Polsat holds
approximately 50.5% of the shares in the share capital of PAK-Polska Czysta Energia
Sp.zo.0.

Acquisition of shares in Pantanomo Limited

On 3 July 2023 the Company and Tobe Investments Group Limited entered into a share
purchase agreement, pursuant to which Cyfrowy Polsat acquired from Tobe Investments
Group Limited 4,705 (not in millions) shares in Pantanomo Limited, representing
approximately 32% of Pantanomo's share capital.

The purchase price for the Pantanomo Limited shares amounts to PLN 307.2 and will be paid
by the Company in instalments, the first instalment in the amount of PLN 107.2 by 31 October
2023, the second instalment in the amount of PLN 100.0 by 30 April 2024, and the remaining
part of the price in the amount of PLN 100.0 will be paid by 31 October 2024.

Acquisition of shares in 4FUN Sp. z 0.0. and naEKRANIE.pl Sp. z o.0.

On 20 July 2023 Polsat Investments Ltd. (Company’s subsidiary) acquired 60%
of shares in the share capital of naEKRANIE.pl Sp. z o.0. for the amount of PLN 11.1.

On 21 July 2023 Polsat Investments Ltd. (Company’s subsidiary) acquired 60%
of shares in the share capital of 4FUN Sp. z 0.0. for the amount of PLN 37.5.

Sale of shares in Centrum Szkolenia i Zarzgdzania Nieruchomosciami Sp. z o0.0.

On 2 August 2023 Polkomtel Sp. z 0.0. sold 100% of shares in Centrum Szkolenia i
Zarzgdzania Nieruchomosciami Sp. z 0.0. to Embud 2 Sp. z 0.0. S.K.A. (a related company).
Total purchase price was PLN 63.7. At the moment of the sale of shares, the main part of
assets of Centrum Szkolenia i Zarzgdzania Nieruchomos$ciami Sp. z 0.0. was real estate
whose value in the consolidated financial statements of the Group as at 30 June 2023 was
presented in the item "Assets held for sale" in the amount of PLN 55.5.
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Sale of shares in Asseco Poland S.A.

On 21 September 2023, as part of the share buyback announced by Asseco Poland S.A,, the
Company sold 10,642,046 (not in million) ordinary bearer shares of Asseco Poland S.A.
The total proceeds from the sale of shares, reduced of transaction costs, amounted to PLN
850.5.

Conclusion of the agreement for the execution of wind farms "Drzezewo |-I1V”

On 2 October 2023, in connection with "Drzezewo I-IV" wind power project, Eviva Drzezewo
Sp. z o0.0., (Company’s subsidiary), entered into a turbine supply agreement with Vestas
Poland Sp. z 0.0. for the supply of turbines, their installation, commissioning and servicing.
The turbines' availability will be guaranteed for 15 years from the date of commissioning.

Repurchase of 50% of shares in Port Praski City Il Sp. z 0.0. and Port Praski Medical
Center Sp. z 0.0. and termination of the joint venture agreement concluded with HB
Reavis Cz a.s. and conclusion of an agreement regarding Joint Venture

On 4 October 2023, Pantanomo Limited (Company’s subsidiary) acquired 50% of the shares
in Port Praski City Il Sp. z 0.0. and Port Praski Medical Center Sp. z 0.0. from HB Reavis
Holding CZ a.s. The price for the shares was set at EUR 21.1.

On 4 October 2023, the Company's subsidiaries entered into an agreement confirming the
expiry of the joint venture agreement (the "JV Agreement") which was entered into by Port
Praski City Il Sp. z 0.0., Port Praski Medical Center Sp. z 0.0. and Pantanomo Limited with
HB Reavis Holding CZ a.s. on 21 July 2022. In addition to confirming the expiry of the JV
Agreement, the parties also waived any mutual claims arising or which may arise in the future
under the JV Agreement.

Strategic partnership between Google Cloud and the Group

On 26 October 2023, Google Cloud and the Group announced a strategic partnership,
whereby the Group will accelerate its technological development and digital transformation
through the use of Google Cloud solutions. The agreement defines the terms of co-operation,
financial settlements as well as minimum contract obligations, resulting in Group’s future
payment commitments.

Concluding financial PPA agreement

As part of the partnership with Google, on 25 October 2023, Farma Wiatrowa Przyréw Sp. z
0.0. (Company’s subsidiary) entered into a so-called financial PPA (Power Purchase
Agreement) agreement with Topaz Computing Sp. z 0.0. regarding electricity generated by a
wind farm in the Przyrow municipality. The financial PPA agreement was concluded for a
period of 10 years and will be effective from the date of the commercial launch of the farm,
which is planned for the second half of 2024.

Influence of the political and economic situation in Ukraine on the Group's operations
and financial prospects

In the Management Board’s view, the Company and Group’s core business is relatively
resistant to the adverse impact of the political and economic situation in Ukraine. More
information is presented in note 5.1 in the Management Report for 2023.

51.Events subsequent to the reporting date

Early redemption of Series B and C Bonds
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On 17 January 2024 the Managament Board has decided to carry out an early redemption
("Early Redemtpion”) of all bonds outsanding:
e PLN 223,798 (not in millions) Series B bearer bonds with a total nominal value of
PLN 223.8 issued by the company on 26 April 2019 with redemption date set for 24
April 2026 and
e PLN 88,053 (not in millions) Series C bearer bonds with a total nominal value of PLN
88.1 issued by the company on 14 February 2020 with redemption date set for 12
February 2027.

Early redemption was executed by the Company on 5 February 2024 by payments:
e for each series B bond, the cash amount at its nominal value, i.e. PLN 1,000 (not in
millions), plus accrued interest of PLN 20.46 (not in millions) and
o for each series C bond, the cash amount at its nominal value, i.e. PLN 1,000 (not in
millions), plus accrued interest of PLN 39.41 (not in millions) and bonus for Early
Redemption in amount of PLN 5.00 (not in millions).

In connection with the Early Redemption, all Series B bonds and Series C bonds were
cancelled.

Sale of intangible assets

On 25 January 2024, Polkomtel entered into a sale agreement regarding the sale of intangible
assets, consisting of a portion of its Internet Protocol version 4 (IPv4) communications protocol
address package, to an unrelated party for a total consideration of USD 56.1. The transaction
took place as part of and as a result of an ongoing asset review process, and the intangible
assets divested were non-strategic assets.

The agreed schedule provides for the completion of the above transaction and payment in
three tranches. The first payment instalment of PLN 164.0, net of transaction costs, was
recognised under 'Other operating income' in the consolidated income statement for the first
quarter of 2024.

Sale of shares in Muzo.fm Sp. z o.0.

On 27 March 2024 Telewizja Polsat Sp. z 0.0. sold 100% of shares in Muzo.fm Sp. z 0.0. The
total sale price amounted to PLN 0.4.

52.0ther disclosures

Other securities

The Company provided guarantees to its subsidiaries and other related parties in respect to
purchase contracts. Additionally, Group’s entities also have bank guarantees in respect to
purchase contracts as well as payments.

In connection with the implementation of investment projects in the green energy segment by
its subsidiaries, the Company provided guarantees of a significant value for the execution of
contracts for the implementation of individual wind farm projects, in particular contracts for the
supply and installation of wind turbines concluded with Vestas Poland S.A. and Nordex
Poland S.A. As at 31 December 2023, the total value of guarantees and warranties provided
to the above companies for wind farm projects amounted to EUR 328.3, with maturity dates
ranging from 2024 to 2026. The financial terms of the guarantees or sureties granted do not
deviate from market conditions.
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In addition, the Company issued corporate guarantees and warranties in EUR and USD, which
guarantee the trade payables of its subsidiary Polkomtel Sp. z 0.0. to its suppliers. As at
31 December 2023, the total value of granted guarantees, converted into PLN at the exchange
rate as of the balance sheet date, amounted to PLN 217.4. The guarantees expire between
2024 and 2026. The financial terms of the granted guarantees and warranties do not differ
from market terms.

Commitments to purchase programming assets

As at 31 December 2023 the Group had outstanding contractual commitments in relation to
purchases of programming assets. The table below presents a maturity analysis for such
commitments:

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

within one year 2254 251.6
between 1 to 5 years 287.3 258.1
more than 5 years 162.8 13.3
Total 675.5 523.0

The table below presents commitments to purchase programming assets from related parties
not included in the consolidated financial statements:

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

within one year 15.8 20.0
Total 15.8 20.0

Contractual liabilities related to purchases of non-current assets

Total amount of contractual liabilities resulting from agreements on the production and
purchasing of property, plant and equipment was PLN 1,383.0 as at 31 December 2023 (PLN
138.2 as at 31 December 2022). The increase in the amount in 2023 is due to the
implementation of "Green Energy" projects and includes the purchase of wind turbines.

Total amount of contractual liabilities resulting from agreements for the purchases of intangible
assets was PLN 78.4 as at 31 December 2023 (PLN 73.4 as at 31 December 2022).

Future contractual obligations

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 the Group had future liabilities due for
transponder capacity agreements.

The table below presents future payments (total):

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

within one year 116.1 125.3
between 1 to 5 years 116.1 250.5
Total 232.2 375.8

53.Judgments, financial estimates and assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS EU requires the
Management Board to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application
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of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and costs.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical data and other factors
considered as reliable under the circumstances, and their results provide grounds for an
assessment of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities which cannot be based directly
on any other sources. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in
any future periods affected.

The most significant estimates and assumptions made primarily related to the following:
e Classification of lease agreements

For contracts in which the Group acts as a lessor, the Group classifies leasing agreements as
operating or financial based on the assessment as to what extent the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of a leased asset lie with the lessor or the lessee. The assessment is
based on the economical substance of each transaction. The Group concludes agreements
for the rental of reception equipment (set-top boxes, modems and routers) to its customers in
the course of its business operations. These lease agreements are classified as operating
leases as the Group holds substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
the reception equipment.

The Group entered into leases of office and other premises which are classified as operating
leases. For more information see note 36.

e Leaseterm

For agreements which meet the lease definition, the Group determines the lease term as the
non-cancellable period of a lease, together with both: periods covered by an option to extend
the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and periods covered by
an option to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise that option.
While determining the lease term the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances,
which could indicate that the Group will exercise the option to extend the lease. Lessee shall
reassess an extension option, upon the occurrence of either a significant event or a significant
change in the circumstances that are within control of the lessee. In terms of contracts with
an indefinite period, the lease term is determined based on a professional judgment regarding
the contract term. Contracts with indefinite periods for which the Group estimates reasonable
certain lease terms include mainly the following:

- premises for technical infrastructure — estimated lease term is 2-10 years,
- dark fibers — estimated lease term is 2-10 years,
- points of sale premises — estimated lease term is 2 years,
- premises for wind farms — estimated lease term is 30 years.
e Discount rate used by the lessee

Discount rate is understood as the interest rate implicit in the lease (if that rate can be readily
determined) or the incremental borrowing rate of the Group, determined as the cost of interest
on the loan, which the Group would have to incur when taking a loan to purchase a given
asset with adequate security. The incremental borrowing rate can be defined as the sum of
the risk free rate and the Group’s credit risk premium. Discount rates applied by the Group
take into account the maturity and the currency of lease contracts.

o Depreciation rates of property, plant and equipment, investment property and
intangible assets with definite useful lives

Depreciation rates are based on the expected economic useful lives of property, plant and
equipment (including reception equipment provided to customers under lease agreements),
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investment property and intangible assets (including customer relationships and Plus, Netia,
Interia and Premium Mobile brands). The expected economic useful lives are reviewed on an
annual basis based on the experience of the entity.

The process of verification also accounts for climatic factors, including physical and transition
risks. In particular, the Group defines whether the climate-related legislation and regulations
can potentially have impact on the useful life of assets, e.g. by introducing bans, restrictions,
or by imposing additional requirements, e.g. such as energy performance with regard to the
Group’s buildings.

The economic useful lives of the set-top boxes rented to customers under operating lease
agreements are estimated for 5 years, modems and routers 3 years. For information on the
useful lives of property, plant and equipment, investment property and other intangible assets
with definite useful lives see notes 6j and 6k. For information on the depreciation charge for
the period by the category of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with definite
useful lives see notes 16, 20 and 23.

e Economic useful lives and amortization method of programming assets

Economic useful life of programming assets is based on the shorter of the expected
consumption of future economic benefits from the underlying asset and the license period.
Amortisation method of programming assets reflects how these economic benefits are
consumed. The estimation of the useful life and the amortization method requires assessment
of the timing during which the Group is expecting to obtain the income from the acquired
programming assets and the percentage apportionment of this income in the given period. For
more information about the amortization method and amortization charge for the period by
programming assets’ category see notes 61 and 22.

o Definite useful life of Polsat, TV4, TV6 and Polo TV brands

The Group has reviewed whether relevant factors continue to indicate indefinite useful life of
Polsat, TV4, TV6 and Polo TV brands recognised in 2011-2017 on the acquisition of Telewizja
Polsat S.A., Polskie Media S.A. and Lemon Records Sp. z 0.0.

The Group has reviewed the following factors which are essential for estimating the economic
useful life of the Polsat, TV4, TV6 and Polo TV brands:

- the expected usage of the asset by the entity and whether the asset could be managed
more efficiently,

- technical, technological, commercial or other types of obsolescence,

- the stability of the industry in which the asset operates and changes in the market
demand for media services,

- expected actions by competitors or potential competitors,

- the level of maintenance expenditure required to obtain the expected future economic
benefits from the asset,

- whether the useful life of the asset is dependent on the useful life of other asset of the
entity.

Having analyzed the above factors, the Group has concluded that there is foreseeable limit to
the period over which the Polsat, TV4, TV6 and Polo TV (Lemon Records) brands are
expected to generate net cash inflows for the Group and thus the definite useful life was
assumed since 2023. This means that the above brands are subject to amortization for a
period of 20 years.

As at the balance sheet date the Management states there are no plans to cease using or
significantly modify Polsat, TV4, TV6 or Polo TV (Lemon Records) brands. The value assigned
to the brands relate to the name “Polsat”, "TV4", “TV6” and “Polo TV” respectively and the
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related logotypes both of which are reserved trademarks. In case the Group decides about
discontinuance of use or significant modification of the name or logotype the Management
would assess whether there are indications of impairment of the Polsat, TV4, TV6 and Polo
TV brands.

e Fair value of assets and liabilities of Enterpol Sp. z 0.0., Oktawave S.A., Antyweb Sp.
z 0.0. and Specialist Sales and Customer Service Points

The Group identified assets and liabilities and estimated their fair value under the purchase
price allocation process relating to the acquisition of Enterpol Sp. z 0.0., Oktawave S.A.,
Antyweb Sp. z 0.0. and Specialist Sales and Customer Service Points. For more information
see note 40.

e Provisional fair value of assets and liabilities of PAK-PCE Group, naEkranie.pl
Sp. z0.0. and 4Fun Sp. z o.0.

The Group identified assets and liabilities and initially estimated their fair value under the
purchase price allocation process relating to the acquisition of PAK-PCE Group, naEkranie.pl
Sp. z 0.0. and 4Fun Sp. z 0.0.. For more information see note 40.

e The impairment of goodwill

The Group performed impairment test of a goodwill. The impairment test was based on the
value-in-use calculations of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill and brands have
been allocated on the initial recognition. Goodwill has been allocated to the following cash-
generating units, which also represent the Group's business segments:

- “B2C and B2B services” - goodwill recognized on the acquisition of M.Punkt Holdings
Ltd., goodwill recognized on the acquisition of INFO-TV-FM Sp. z o.0., the goodwill
recognized on the acquisition of entities comprising the IPLA platform, the goodwill
recognized on the acquisition of Metelem Holding Company Ltd., the goodwill recognized
on the acquisition of Orsen Holding Ltd., the goodwill recognized on the acquisition of
Litenite Ltd., the goodwill recognized on the acquisition of IT Polpager S.A., the goodwill
recognized on the acquisition of 65.98% shares of Netia S.A., the goodwill recognized on
the acquisition of Coltex ST Sp. z o0.0., the goodwill recognized on the acquisition of
Netshare Media Group Sp. z 0.0., the goodwill recognized on the acquisition of 51.22%
shares of TVO Sp. z 0.0., the goodwill recognized on the acquisition of ISTS Sp. z 0.0.,
the goodwill recognized on the acquisition of 51.25% shares of Esoleo Sp. z o0.0., the
goodwill recognized on the acquisition of IST Sp. z 0.0., the goodwill recognized on the
acquisition of data center in the form of an organised part of the enterprise, the goodwill
recognized on the acquisition of 70.02% shares of BCAST Sp. z o.0., the goodwill
recognized on the acquisition of Premium Mobile Sp. z 0.0., the goodwill recognized on
the acquisition of Logitus Sp. z 0.0., the goodwill recognized on the acquisition of CKS
Ossa Sp. z 0.0., the goodwill recognized on the acquisition of Ossa Medical Center Sp.
z 0.0., the goodwill recognized on the acquisition of Stork 5 Sp. z 0.0., the goodwill
recognized on the acquisition of Vindix S.A., the goodwill recognized on the acquisition
of Enterpol Sp. z 0.0. and the goodwill recognized on the acquisition of Oktawave S.A.

- “Media: television and online” - goodwill recognized on the acquisition of Telewizja Polsat
S.A., goodwill of TV4 and TV6 recognized on the acquisition of Polskie Media S.A.,
goodwill recognized on the acquisition of Radio PIN S.A., goodwill recognized on the
acquisition of ESKA TV S.A., goodwill recognized on the acquisition of Lemon Records
Sp. z o0.0., the goodwill recognized on the acquisition 99,99% share of Eleven Sports
Network Sp. z 0.0., the goodwill recognized on the acquisition of Superstacja Sp. z 0.0.,
the goodwill recognized on the acquisition of TV Spektrum Sp. z o.0., the goodwill
recognized on the acquisition of 60% shares of Polot Media Sp. z 0.0. and Polot Media
Sp. z 0.0. Sp. k, goodwill arising from the acquisition of 70% of shares in Antyweb Sp. z
0.0., goodwill arising from the acquisition of 60% of shares in naEKRANIE.pl Sp. z o.0.
as well as the goodwill recognized on the acquisition of 60% shares of 4FUN Sp. z 0.0.
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- “Real Estate” - goodwill recognized on the acquisition of 66.94% shares of Port Praski
Sp.zo.0.

- "Green energy" - goodwill recognized as a result of the acquisition of a total of 50.51% of
shares in PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z o0.0.,

The value-in-use calculations included estimation of discounted cash flows for the given cash-
generating unit and the relevant discount rate. The value of goodwill tested at each cash-
generating unit, the key assumptions used in the value-in-used calculations for each cash-
generating unit, impairment test results and sensitivity analysis of reasonably possible
changes in the key assumptions are presented in note 19.

e The impairment of non-financial non-current assets

The Group analyzed whether, as of the balance sheet date, there were indications of potential
impairment of fixed assets, intangible assets or rights to use with a definite useful life and
recognized an impairment loss for fixed assets in the amount of the difference between the
recoverable amount and the carrying amount.

It is also climatic factors, such as climate-related legislation, that can affect the residual value
of fixed assets. Additionally, extreme weather such as thunderstorms, torrential rains or
hurricanes may lead to shutdowns or even cause physical damage to the wind farms. Similar
damage can be potentially caused to photovoltaic farms as well as to the telecommunication
infrastructure (e.g. BTS base stations) and to the transmission infrastructure. At the same time
these assets are designed and constructed in a way which minimizes such threats. Extreme
weather conditions can also cause damage to the broadcasting infrastructure, the antenna
dishes in particular. Nonetheless these antennas are designed and built in a way to allow the
antenna dishes to withstand hurricane-force winds. Hence even hurricanes, which have
become more frequent in Poland, should not cause damage to antenna dishes.

At the same time, weather phenomena, which are accompanied by heavy clouds which
accumulate big volumes of water, can interfere with satellite signal transmission. Bearing such
threats in mind, two redundant transmission centers were built — in Warsaw and in Radom. If
weather conditions are unfavorable in one location, the other one will seamlessly take over.
The solution can also help continue trouble-free operations in case of other problems (e.g.
persisting power outages).

The amounts of depreciation and amortization charges are presented in notes 16, 20 and 21.
As of 31 December 2023 no reasons existed which could lead to impairment of fixed assets
due to climate-related factors.

e Impairment of receivables

The value of receivables is updated taking into account the expected credit losses for trade
receivables and contract assets in the amount corresponding to the expected credit losses
throughout the life of the instrument. The amount of expected losses is calculated on the basis
of historical data regarding the repayment of receivables and the effectiveness of debt
collection, taking into account current expectations regarding the future values of these
parameters. For more information see notes 6n, 29 and 42.

¢ Impairment of inventories

The Group provides impairment for slow-moving or obsolete inventories based on inventory
turnover ratios and current marketing plans. The purchase cost or production cost is
determined based on weighted average cost method. Net realizable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less selling expenses. For more information
see notes 6m and 28.

e Provisions for pending litigation

During the normal course of its operations the Group participates in several court proceedings,
usually typical and repeatable and which, on an individual basis, are not material for the
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Group, its financial standing and operations. The provisions are estimated based on the court
documentation and the expertise of the Group’s lawyers who participate in the current
litigations and who estimate Group’s possible future obligations taking the progress of litigation
proceedings into account. The Group also recognizes provisions for potential unreported
claims resulting from past events, should the Management Board find that the resulting outflow
of economic benefits is likely. Provisions regarding probable claims are recognized as a result
of Management Board’s estimates based on accessible information regarding market rates
for similar claims. Management believes that the provisions as at 31 December 2023 are
sufficient to cover potential future outflows and the adverse outcome of the disputes will not
have a significant negative impact on the Group’s financial situation.

o Deferred tax

Deferred taxes are recognised for all temporary differences, as well as for unused tax losses.
The key assumption in relation to deferred tax accounting is the assessment of the expected
timing and manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
held at the reporting date. In particular, assessment is required of whether it is probable that
there will be suitable future taxable profits against which any deductible temporary differences
can be utilized. At the end of the reporting period unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-
assessed. A previously unrecognised deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
For further details refer to note 6w and 13.

e Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value of financial instruments for which there is no active market is estimated using
appropriate techniques of measurements. The techniques are chosen based on the
professional judgment. For more information about the method of establishing the fair value
of financial instruments and key assumption made see note 6h.

e Loan liabilities measured at amortised cost

The Cyfrowy Polsat Term Facility, the Polkomtel Term Facility, the Cyfrowy Polsat Revolving
Facility and the Polkomtel Revolving Facility bear interest at a variable rate equal to WIBOR
for the relevant interest period plus margin. The margin on the Cyfrowy Polsat Term Facility,
the Polkomtel Term Facility, the Cyfrowy Polsat Revolving Facility and the Polkomtel Revolving
Facility depends on the ratio of net consolidated indebtedness to consolidated EBITDA, as
well as on the achievement by the Group of certain targets with respect to green energy
production and zero-carbon energy consumption by certain Group entities. Accordingly, the
Company’s management classifies loan liabilities as variable rate instruments.

e Valuation of Financial PPA contracts

Financial PPAs are valued at fair value through profit or loss. The fair value of financial PPAs
for which there is no active market is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. The
Company uses judgment in selecting appropriate assumptions. The valuation model takes
into account: (i) technical data from market reports on the seasonality of renewable energy
production, (ii) market prices based on futures contracts on POLPX with maturities of up to 2
years, (i) expert energy price paths for periods of more than 2 years available from an external
party, (iv) inflation forecasts published by the National Bank of Poland, (v) a discount rate
based on the market interest rate curve adjusted for counterparty credit risk.

e Presentation of Asseco Poland S.A. shares

Asseco Poland S.A. shares are presented as long-term assets due to the fact that they are
not regarded as held for sale.
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e Presentation of the result from disposal of shares in associates accounted for using
the equity method

Management Board considered facts and circumstances related to investments accounted for
using the equity method. In Management Board’s opinion, disposal of the shares in associates
does not have any characteristics of an one-off transaction. Consequently, the result of this
transaction is presented as operational activity.

e Put options to purchase the remaining shares

The Management Board assessed that, in cases where put options for non-controlling shares
of subsidiaries were granted, there was no transfer of ownership of the remaining shares at
the moment of taking control over the companies. Therefore, a put option liability was
recognized.

e Climate issues and impact on the financial statements

Being aware of the importance and the scale of climatic changes, while using various
scenarios the Group carried out the analysis of the climate-related risks affecting its own
operations, as well as the operations of the Company’s capital group as a whole. The analysis
led to identification of climate change-related physical risks and transition risks in the
respective areas of the Group’s operations, while also identifying the sources of actual and
potential greenhouse gas emissions. The approach applied in the analysis is consistent with
TCFD recommendations (Recommendations of the Task Force on Climate related Financial
Disclosures, TCFD, June 2017), i.e. with the logic of climatic risk analysis at the qualitative
level presented by TCFD (including in the scope related to division into physical and transition
risks, as well as in the scope of their further categorization and description).

The full analysis of climate-related risk factors, including analysis of climate-development
scenarios and the climate resilience of the business models used in respective segments of
the Group’s operations, is found in the Sustainability Report of Polsat Plus Group for 2023.

Wherever necessary, the Group has included the climate-related issues in its estimates and
assumptions. The assessment includes a wide scope of potential impacts on the Group, both
in terms of physical and transition risks.
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Financial results for the 3 months ended 31 December 2023 and
31 December 2022

54.Consolidated Income Statement

for the 3 months ended

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

unaudited unaudited
Continuing operations
Revenue 3,681.5 3,429.6
Operating costs (3,486.7) (3,073.4)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary and an associate (0.4) 39.8
Other operating income/(costs), net (22.2) (0.8)
Profit from operating activities 172.2 395.2
Gain/(loss) on investment activities, net 80.7 29.0
Finance costs, net (126.5) (233.1)
Share of the profit/(loss) of associates accounted for
using the equity method ) 31.8
Gross profit for the period 126.4 2229
Income tax 3.9 (48.4)
Net profit for the period 130.3 174.5
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Parent 100.5 159.5
Net profit attributable to non-controlling interest 29.8 15.0
Basic and diluted earnings per share (in PLN) 0.24 0.32

55.Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

for the 3 months ended

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

unaudited unaudited
Net profit for the period 130.3 174.5
Items that may not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss :
Actuarial (loss)/gain (2.6) 2.9
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss :
Valuation of hedging instruments 1.1 (13.0)
Share of o.ther comprehensive income of subsidiaries 2.7) 6.2)
and associates
Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax (4.2) (16.3)

Total comprehensive income for the period

Total comprehensive income attributable to equity

holders of the Parent 98.6 143.6

Total comprehensive income attributable to non-

controlling interest 27.5 14.6
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56.Revenue

for the 3 months ended

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

unaudited unaudited
Retail revenue 1,763.7 1,750.8
Wholesale revenue 929.3 997.9
Sale of equipment 506.7 545.4
Sale of energy 285.6 -
Other revenue 196.2 135.5
Total 3,681.5 3,429.6

57.Operating costs

for the 3 months ended

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Note unaudited unaudited
Technical co_sts gnd cost of settlements with 862 1 8308
telecommunication operators
Depreciation, amortization, impairment and 494.2 463.1
liquidation ’ )
Cost of equipment sold 415.2 429.5
Content costs 565.6 555.5
Cost of energy sold, including: 268.2 -
Depreciation 9.3 -
Distribution, marketing, gustomer relation 277.4 271 1
management and retention costs
Salaries and employee-related costs a) 335.6 300.0
Cost of debt collection services, bad debt
. i 26.2 25.1
allowance and receivables written off
Other costs, including: 242.2 198.3
Depreciation 1.0 -
Total 3,486.7 3,073.4

a) Salaries and employee-related costs

for the 3 months ended

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

unaudited unaudited
Salaries 278.5 254.0
Social security contributions 38.6 34.5
Other employee-related costs 18.5 115
Total 335.6 300.0
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58. Gain/(loss) on investment activities, net

for the 3 months ended

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

unaudited unaudited
Interest on lease liabilities (8.3) (5.2)
Interest on loans granted 2.6 13.5
Interest, net 329 1.1
Other foreign exchange gains/(losses), net (40.2) 16.1
Revaluation of previously held shares of PAK-PCE 151.3 -
Valuation of pre-existing relationships in connection
with the acquisition of PAK-PCE (83.9) -
Other income/(costs) 26.3 (6.5)
Total 80.7 29.0

59.Finance costs, net

for the 3 months ended

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

unaudited unaudited
Interest expense on loans and borrowings 185.0 181.4
Interest expense on issued bonds 97.6 446
Exchange rate differences from loan valuation (145.7) -
Valuation and realization of hedging instruments (0.6) (8.3)
Xaluation and r_ealization'of der.ivatives not used in (12.8) 13.9

edge accounting — relating to interest

Guarantee fess, bank and other charges 3.0 1.5
Total 126.5 2331
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON THE AUDIT

To the General Meeting and Supervisory Board of Cyfrowy Polsat S.A.

Audit report on the annual consolidated financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the annual consolidated financial statements of Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. Group (the
‘Group’),for which the parent company is Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. (the ‘Parent Company’) located
in Warsaw at kubinowa 4A, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2023,
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of cash flows, the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies (the ‘consolidated financial
statements’).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements:

e give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2023 and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the period
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 in accordance with required applicable rules of
International Financial Reporting Standards approved by the European Union and the adopted
accounting policies,

e comply in respect of the form and content with laws applicable to the Group and the Parent
Company's Statute.

The opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Audit Committee issued on 10 April 2024.
Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the National Standards on Auditing in the version of
International Auditing Standards (“NAS™) and pursuant to the Act of 11 May 2017 on Statutory
Auditors, Audit Firms and Public Oversight (the ‘Act on Statutory Auditors’) and the Regulation (EU)
No. 537/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 April 2014 on specific
requirements regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities and repealing Commission Decision
2005/909/EC (the 'Regulation 537/2014"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the ‘Auditor’'s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our
report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ (IESBA) International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), adopted by the National Council of Statutory
Auditors and other ethical responsibilities in accordance with required applicable rules of the audit of
financial statements in Poland. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the IESBA Code. While conducting the audit, the key certified auditor and the
audit firm remained independent of the Group in accordance with the independence requirements set
out in the Act on Statutory Auditors and the EU Regulation 537/2014.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

ERNST & YOUNG W POLSCE JEST CZLONKIEM GLOBALNEJ PRAKTYKI ERNST & YOUNG
Ernst & Young Audyt Polska spétka z ograniczong odpowiedzialnoscia sp. k.
Sad Rejonowy dla m.st. Warszawy w Warszawie, XIl Wydziat Gospodarczy Krajowego Rejestru Sgdowego, KRS: 0000481039, NIP: 526-020-79-76
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. They include the most
significant assessed risks of material misstatement, including the assessed risks of material
misstatement due to fraud. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we have
summarized our reaction to these risks and in cases where we deemed it necessary, we presented the
most important observations related to these types of risks. We do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matter
Revenue recognition and accounting

Revenues from sales of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 amounted to PLN
13.626,3 million.

Revenue recognition was assessed as a key
audit matter due to the fact that the accuracy
of the revenue recognition is an inherent
industry risk. This is because of the complexity
of the billing and other IT systems, that process
large volumes of data, combination of different
products and services offered, including
bundled offers.

The Group also enters into significant
agreements with other telecommunication
companies as far as access to
telecommunication network and wholesale is
concerned. This requires specific attention due
to complexity of contractual provisions and is
interpreted for the purpose of revenue
recognition as well as due to its value.

Furthermore, the application of International
Financial Reporting Standard 15 ‘Revenue from
contracts with customers’ ('IFRS 15", involves
a number of key judgements and estimates,
that are related among others to identification
of the performance obligations, determination
of the transaction price or identification of
material rights.

Taking into account the above, we considered
revenue recognition and accounting as a key
audit matter.

Reference to related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements

Disclosure related to applied accounting
policies and key judgements related to revenue
recognition are included in note 6 ‘Accounting

How our audit responded to this matter

In the course of performed audit procedures,
we have documented our assessment of
Group's accounting policies in regards to
revenue recognition and accounting in
accordance with IFRS 15 and related key
judgements and estimates applied by the
Company’'s Management.

Additionally, our procedures included, among
others:

e understanding of the processes of revenue
recognition, as well as identification and
assessment of key controls mechanisms;

o testing of controls over revenue related
processes;

e evaluation of relevant IT systems, including
testing of controls in place, engaging our IT
audit experts, which included manage
changes as well as logical access controls in
IT systems used in the revenue recognition
processes;

e analysis of contractual provisions terms
and understanding of the nature and key
contractual terms of concluded contracts;

e analytical procedures, including analysis of
monthly trends and data for significant
revenue streams versus budgets and
forecasts;

e reconciliation of balances of contract
assets, contract costs and contract
liabilities to source documentation;

e substantive testing on sample of
agreements and invoices for customers in
respect of revenue recognition and
verification of payments received.

We also assessed the adequacy of the
Company's disclosures in respect of the
revenue recognition and accounting in the
consolidated financial statements.
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and consolidation policies’ to the consolidated
financial statements.

Disclosures on revenue are included in note 9
‘Revenue’ to the consolidated financial
statements. Disclosure on contract cost is
included in note 24 'Deferred distribution fees’
to the consolidated financial statements.
Disclosure on revenue contract asset is
included in note 27 'Contract asset’ to the
consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter
Non-current assets
impairment analysis

(including  goodwill)

As at 31 December 2023 the Group presents
non-current assets in the amount of PLN
28.149,2 million, including goodwill of PLN
10.980,2 million, which constitute 75,7% and
29,5% of total assets respectively.

Under requirements of International
Accounting Standard 36 ‘Impairment of assets’
('lAS 36"), the Group tested the amount of non-
current assets, including goodwill.

For the purpose of impairment tests the
Company'’s Management used certain
judgements and assumptions in determining
the recoverable amount such as:

e identification of cash generating units
("CGU") and allocation of goodwill to these
cash generating units;

e continuance of current and expected

market and economics conditions;

expected revenue and costs levels;
planned CAPEX;

discount rate;

terminal growth rate used for estimating

the cash flows beyond the period of

financial plans.

This matter was considered key audit matter
from the consolidated financial statements
perspective, due to the following:

e significance of the non-current assets;

e intangible nature of significant part of the
these assets;

e significance of the impact of Company's
Management judgement necessary to
establish the carrying amounts of non-
current assets based on discounted cash
flows, which are generally uncertain.

How our audit responded to this matter

Our audit procedures in relation to the
described key audit matter, included among
others:

e understanding and assessment of the
accounting policies and procedures applied
(including internal control environment) in
the area of assessment of impairment
indicators, identification of the events
indicating the impairment as well as
impairment tests;

e understanding and assessment of the
judgements and estimates used by the
Company’'s Management in relation to
grouping the assets within CGUs and
goodwill allocation;

e assessment, with involvement of the
valuation specialists, of assumptions and
estimates made by the Company’'s
Management and used for the purposes of
defining the recoverable amount, including:
- applied future key macroeconomic

assumptions (including: discount rate,
forecasted growth rate) by
benchmarking to market data and
observable external data,

- assumptions applied to determine the
cash flows;

- assumptions applied for establishing
terminal values i.e. cash flows and
interest rate after the forecast period;

e verification of mathematical accuracy of
the model to determine the residual value;

e analysis and inquiries of the financial
personnel and Company's Management
about historical accuracy of assumptions
made, including validity and applicability of
these key assumptions;

e analysis of information from external
sources such as industry press in reference
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Reference to related disclosures in the to potential risks related to realization of
consolidated financial statements the assumptions made by the Company’s
Management;

Disclosure related to applied accounting
policies and key judgements related to the
impairment of assets are included in note 6
‘Accounting and consolidation policies’ to the
consolidated financial statements.

e reconciliation of the source data being the
basis for the impairment test models and
assessment of impairment indicators based
on forecasts and budgets;

e assessing the sensitivity analysis of the

Disclosures related to key estimates and models prepared by the Company's
assumptions, including sensitivity analysis as Management to changes in significant
well as results of impairments tests of assets, assumptions.

goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful life, which were prepared by the
Company's Management, are included in note
19 ‘Impairment test (including goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful life)’
and in the note 53 *Judgments, financial
estimates and assumptions’ to the
consolidated financial statements.

We also assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements describing the impairment test and
sensitivity analysis.

Responsibilities of the Company's Management and members of the Supervisory Board for the
consolidated financial statements

The Parent Company's Management Board is responsible for the preparation the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position and the
consolidated financial performance in accordance with applicable International Financial Reporting
Standards adopted by the European Union, the applied accounting policies,other applicable laws, as
well as the Parent Company's Statute, and is also responsible for such internal control as the Parent
Company's Management Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Parent Company’s Management Board is
responsible for assessing the Group’s (the parent company and significant components) ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the Parent Company's Management Board either intends to
liguidate the Group (the parent company or significant components) or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Company's Management and the members of the Company's Supervisory Board are required to
ensure that the consolidated financial statements meet the requirements of the Accounting Act dated
29 September 1994 (the ‘Accounting Act’). The members of the Company’s Supervisory Board are
responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement due to fraud or error, and to issue an
independent auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but it is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with NAS will always detect
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements may arise as a result of fraud or error and are
considered material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of the users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

The concept of materiality is applied by the auditor both in planning and performing the audit, and in
evaluating the effect of identified misstatements on the audit and of uncorrected misstatements, if
any, on the consolidated financial statements and in forming the opinion in the auditor's report. Hence
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all auditor's opinions and statements contained in the auditor's report are made with the
contemplation of the qualitative and quantitative materiality levels established in accordance with
auditing standards and auditor’s professional judgment.

The scope of the audit does not include assurance on the future profitability of the Group nor
efficiency or effectiveness of conducting business matters now and in the future by the Parent
Company's Management.

As part of an audit in accordance with NAS, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism and we also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or
override of internal control,

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control,

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Group’s Management,

e conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s Management's use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our independent auditor’'s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our independent auditor’s report,
however, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern,

e evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation,

e we obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of entities and
business activities within the Group for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are solely responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the audit of the Group and we remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and communicate to them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safequards applied.

From the matters communicated to the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.
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Other information, including the Directors’ Report

The Other information comprises the consolidated management report of the Group for the period
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (,,Directors’ Report™) together with the statement on
corporate governance, which is a separate section of the Directors’ Report, the statement on non-
financial information and other documents comprising the consolidated annual financial report the
financial year ended 31 December 2023 (‘Consolidated Annual Report’) excluding the consolidated
financial statements and the independent auditor's report on the audit ('Other Information”).

Responsibilities of the Company’s Management and members of the Supervisory Board

Parent Company's Management is responsible for the preparation of the Other Information in
accordance with the law.

The Parent Company’'s Management and members of the Parent Company's Supervisory Board are
required to ensure that the Directors’ Report with separate elements meets the requirements of the
Accounting Act.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not include the Other Information. In
connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
Other Information and, in doing so, consider whether it is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other information, we are required to report that fact in our independent
auditor’'s report. Our responsibility in accordance with the Act on Statutory Auditors is also to issue
an opinion on whether the Directors’ Report was prepared in accordance with relevant laws and that
it is consistent with the information contained in the consolidated financial statements.

In addition, we are required to inform whether the Parent Company has prepared the consolidated
statement on non-financial information and to issue an opinion on whether the Parent Company has
included the required information in the consolidated statement on corporate governance.

Opinion on the Directors' Report
Based on the work performed during our audit, in our opinion, the Directors’ Report:

e has been prepared in accordance with the article 49 of the Accounting Act and paragraph 71 of
the Decree of the Minister of Finance dated 29 March 2018 on current and periodic information
published by issuers of securities and conditions for recognition as equivalent the information
required by laws of non-EU member states (the ‘Decree on current and periodic information’),

e is consistent with the information contained in the consolidated financial statements.

Statement on Other information

Based on our knowledge of the Group and its environment obtained during our audit, we have not
identified material misstatements in the Directors’ Report.

We have nothing to report with respect to the remaining Other information.
Opinion on the corporate governance statement

In our opinion, in the representation on application of corporate governance, the Group has included
information stipulated in paragraph 70, section 6, point 5 of the Decree on current and periodic
information.

Moreover, in our opinion, the information stipulated in paragraph 70, section 6, point 5 letter c-f, h
and i of the Decree included in the consolidated statement on corporate governance is in accordance
with applicable laws and information included in the consolidated financial statements.
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Information on non-financial information

In accordance with the requirements of the Act on Statutory Auditors, we inform that the Parent
Company has included in Directors’ Report information on the preparation of a separate consolidated
report on non-financial information, referred to in art. 55 par. 2c of the Accounting Act and that the
Parent Company has prepared the separate report.

We have not performed any assurance procedures on the separate report on non-financial
information and do not provide any assurance thereon.

Report on other legal and requlatory requirements

Opinion on the compliance of marking up of the consolidated financial statements prepared in the
single electronic reporting format with the requirements of the regulation on technical standards
on the specification of a single electronic reporting format

As part of our audit of the consolidated financial statements we were engaged to perform a
reasonable assurance engagement to express an opinion on whether the consolidated financial
statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023, prepared in the single
electronic reporting format, included in the file named ,GK_Cyfrowy_Polsat_2023-12-31_pl.zip"
(‘consolidated financial statements in ESEF format’), was marked up in accordance with the
requirements stipulated in the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) of 17 December 2018
supplementing Directive 2004/109/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to
regulatory technical standards on the specification of a single electronic reporting format (the 'ESEF
Regulations’).

Identification of the applicable criteria and description of the subject matter

The consolidated financial statements in ESEF format were prepared by the Company's Management
in order to meet the tagging requirements and technical requirements of a single electronic reporting
format which are specified in the ESEF Regulations.

The subject matter of our assurance engagement is the compliance of marking up of consolidated
financial statements in ESEF format with the requirements of the ESEF Regulations, while the
requirements specified in these regulations represent, in our opinion, applicable criteria for us to
express an opinion.

Responsibilities of the Company’s Management and members of the Supervisory Board

The Company's Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements in ESEF format in accordance with the tagging requirements and technical requirements
of asingle electronic reporting format which are specified in the ESEF Regulations. Such responsibility
includes the selection and application of appropriate XBRL tags using the taxonomy specified in these
regulations.

The responsibility of Management also includes the design, implementation and maintenance of such
internal control as Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements in ESEF format that are free from any material incompliances with the ESEF
Regulations.

The members of the Company's Supervisory Board are responsible for overseeing the Company's
financial reporting process, which include also the preparation of financial statements in the format
required by applicable regulations.

Auditor's responsibilities

Our objective is to express an opinion, based on the performed reasonable assurance engagement,
that the consolidated financial statements in ESEF format have been tagged in accordance with ESEF
Regulations.



EY

Building a better
working world

We have performed our assurance engagement in accordance with the National Standard on
Assurance Engagements Other than Audit and Review 3001 PL on audit of financial statement
prepared in the single electronic reporting format (‘NSAE 3001PL") and when applicable in
accordance with National Standard on Assurance Engagements Other than Audit and Review 3000
(R)inthe form of the International Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (revised) - ‘Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” (NSAE 3000 (R)").

The standard requires us to design and perform procedures to obtain reasonable assurance that the
consolidated financial statements in ESEF format have been prepared in accordance with the
applicable criteria.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but it is not a guarantee that the assurance
engagement conducted in accordance with NSAE 3001PL and, when appropriate, in accordance with
NSAE 3000 (R), will always detect material misstatement when it exists.

The selection of procedures depends on the auditor’s professional judgment, including the auditor's
assessment of risks of material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error. When performing risk
assessment the auditor takes account of internal controls related to preparation of the consolidated
financial statements in ESEF format, to design procedures responsive to those risks in order to obtain
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate. The assessment of internal control was not performed for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on its operational effectiveness.

Summary of work performed
Procedures that were designed and performed by us included among others:

e obtaining an understanding of the process of preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in ESEF format, including the process of selection and application of XBRL markups and
maintaining compliance with the ESEF Regulations

e reconciling the tagged information in consolidated financial statements in ESEF format to the
audited consolidated financial statements;

e assessment of the compliance with the technical standards on the specification of a single
electronic reporting format with the use of specialistic IT tools and IT expert;

e assessment of the completeness of tagging of information in the consolidated financial
statements in ESEF format with XBRL tags with the use of specialistic IT tools

e assessment whether XBRL tags from the taxonomy specified by the ESEF Requlations have been
applied appropriately and whether extension taxonomy elements have been used when there are
no appropriate elements in the core taxonomy specified in the ESEF Regulations;

e evaluating of the anchoring of the extension taxonomy elements to the core taxonomy elements
specified by the ESEF Regulations.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion on the compliance of marking up with ESEF Regulations.

Ethical requirements, including independence

While performing the assurance engagement, the key statutory auditor and the audit firm have
complied with the independence and other ethical requirements as specified by the IESBA Code. The
IESBA Code is based on the fundamental principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence
and due care, confidentiality and professional behaviour. We have also complied with other
independence and ethical requirements applicable to this assurance engagement in Poland.
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Quality control requirements

The audit firm applies National Standard of Quality Control 1 in the wording of International Standard
on Quality Management (PL) 1 - 'Quality Management for Firms that Perform Audits or Reviews of
Financial Statements, or Other Assurance or Related Services engagements', which requires that we
design, implement and operate a system of quality management including policies or procedures
regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and
regulatory requirements.

Opinion on compliance with the ESEF Regulations

Our opinion has been formed on the basis of the matters outlined in this report and therefore should
be read in conjunction with these matters.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements in ESEF format have been marked up, in all
material respects, in accordance with the requirements of the ESEF Regulations.

Statement on the provision of non-audit services

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we represent that services, which we have provided to the
Group, are compliant with the laws and regulations applicable in Poland, and that non-audit service,
which are prohibited under article 5 item 1 of Regulation 537/2014 and article 136 of the Act on
Statutory Auditors, were not provided. The non-audit services, which we have provided to the Group
in the audited period, have been disclosed in the Directors’ Report.

Appointment of the audit firm

We were appointed for the audit of the Group's consolidated financial statements initially based on
the resolution of Supervisory Board from 23 January 2018 and reappointed based on the resolution
from 26 February 2020 and resolution from 10 July 2023 . The consolidated financial statements of
the Group have been audited by us uninterruptedly starting from the financial year ended on 31
December 2018, i.e. for the past six consecutive years.

Warsaw, 10 April 2024

Key Certified Auditor

Anna Sirocka
certified auditor
no in the register: 9626

on behalf of:

Ernst & Young Audyt Polska spotka
z ograniczong odpowiedzialnoscia sp. k.

Rondo ONZ 1, 00-124 Warsaw
no on the audit firms list: 130
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Disclaimers
General information

Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. (the "Company", "Cyfrowy Polsat"), with its registered office in Warsaw, 4a tubinowa
Street, is entered in the Register of Entrepreneurs of the National Court Register kept by the District Court
for the City of Warsaw, XIV Economic Department of the National Court Register, under the number KRS
0000010078. The Company is the parent company of Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. Capital Group ( “Polsat Plus
Group”).

This constitutes the report of Cyfrowy Polsat Capital Group S.A. (the “Report”) prepared as required by
Article 60 sections 1(3) and (2) and Article 70 and 71 of the Ordinance of the Minister of Finance of March
29, 2018 regarding current and periodic information to be submitted by issuers of securities, and the
conditions for recognizing equivalence of information required under non-member states regulations.

Presentation of financial data and other information

References to the Company or Cyfrowy Polsat contained in this Management Board’s report on the activities
of Polsat Plus Group apply to Cyfrowy Polsat S.A., while all references to the Group or Polsat Plus Group
apply to Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. and its consolidated subsidiaries. Expressions such as "we," "us," "our" and
similar apply generally to the Group, unless it is clear from the context that they apply only to the Company.
A glossary of terms used in this document is presented at the end of this Report.

This Report contains financial statements and financial information relating to the Company and the Group.
In particular, this Report contains our financial statements for the financial year ended December 31, 2023,
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as approved for use in the European
Union ("IFRS") and are presented in millions of zlotys. The financial statements attached to this Report have
been audited by an independent auditor.

Certain financial data contained in this Report have been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly,
certain numbers presented as the sum may not conform exactly to the arithmetical sum of their components.

Forward-looking statements

This Report contains forward looking statements relating to future expectations, understood as all statements
(other than statements of historical facts) regarding our financial results, business strategy, plans and
objectives pertaining to our future operations (including development plans related to our products and
services). These statements are expressed, without limitation, through words such as "may," "will," "expect,"
"anticipate," "believe," "estimate" and similar words used in this Report. Such forward-looking statements do
not constitute a guarantee of future performance and involve risks and uncertainties which may affect the
fulfilment of these expectations, as by their nature they are subject to many factors, risks and uncertainties.
Accordingly, actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward looking
statements. Even if our financial results, business strategy, plans and objectives pertaining to our future
operations are consistent with the forward-looking statements included herein, this does not necessarily mean
that these statements will be true for subsequent periods. These forward-looking statements express our
position only as at the date of this Report.

The cautionary statements set out above should be considered in connection with any subsequent written or
oral forward-looking statements that we or persons acting on our behalf may issue. We expressly disclaim
any obligation or undertaking to publish any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained
herein in order to reflect any change in our expectations, change of circumstances on which any such
statement is based or any event that occurred after the date of this Report.

In this Report, we disclose important factors which may impact our future operating activities and financial
results that could cause our actual results to differ materially from our expectations.



Grupa Report of the Management Board
Polsat on the activities of Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. Capital Group
QlUS/ for the financial year ended December 31, 2023

Industry and market data

In this Report, we set out information relating to our business and the markets in which we and our competitors
operate. The information regarding the market, its size, the market share, the market position, the growth
rates and other industry data relating to our business and markets in which we operate consists of data and
reports compiled by various third-party entities, including other operators present on the Polish market, and
our internal estimates. We believe that industry publications, surveys and forecasts we use are reliable but
we have not independently verified them and cannot guarantee their accuracy or completeness.

Moreover, in numerous cases we have made statements in this Report regarding our industry and our position
in the industry based on our own experience and our examination of market conditions. We cannot guarantee
that any of these assumptions properly reflect our market position. Our internal surveys have not been verified
by any independent sources.

Financial data overview

The following tables set out selected consolidated financial data for the three- and twelve-month periods
ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. This information should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2023 (including notes
thereto) constituting part of this Report and the information included in item 4 of this Report — Operating and
financial review of Polsat Plus Group.

Selected financial data:

e from the consolidated income statement for the three-month periods ended December 31, 2023 and
December 31, 2022 have been converted into euro at a rate of PLN 4.4182 per EUR 1.00 (average
exchange rate in the period from October 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023 announced by the NBP);

e from the consolidated income statement and the consolidated cash flow statement for the twelve-
month periods ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 have been converted into euro at
a rate of PLN 4.5430 per EUR 1.00 (average exchange rate in the period from January 1, 2023 to
December 31, 2023 announced by the NBP);

e from the consolidated balance sheet data as at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 have
been converted into euro at a rate of PLN 4.3480 per EUR 1.00 (average exchange rate on December
29, 2023 published by the NBP).

Such recalculations shall not be viewed as a representation that such zloty amounts actually represent such
euro amounts, or could be or could have been converted into euro at the rates indicated or at any other rate.

It should be noted that the financial data for the three- and twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2023
and December 31, 2022 are not comparable due to acquisitions and changes to the Group’s structure in the
period from January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2023, which are described in detail in item 1.3. - Changes in
the organizational structure of Polsat Plus Group and their effects — of this Report, as well as in item 1.2. of
the report of the Management Board on the activities of Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. Capital Group in 2022. In
particular, from April 1, 2022, we consolidate the results of Port Praski Group, and from July 3, 2023, we
consolidate the results of PAK-PCE Group.



Grupa
Polsat

N,

Report of the Management Board
on the activities of Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. Capital Group
for the financial year ended December 31, 2023

Consolidated income statement

for the three-month period ended
December 31

for the twelve-month period ended
December 31

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

mPLN mPLN mEUR mEUR mPLN mPLN mEUR mEUR

Revenue 3,681.5 3,429.6 13,626.3 12,915.3 2,999.4 2,842.9
Retail revenue 1,763.7 1,750.8 399.2 396.2 6,987.1 6,952.1 1,538.0 1,530.3
Wholesale revenue 929.3 997.9 210.3 225.9 3,379.9 3,631.7 744.0 777.4
Sale of equipment 506.7 545.4 114.7 123.4 1,921.7 1,805.1 423.0 397.3
Energy revenue 285.6 - 64.7 - 557.6 - 122.7 -
Other revenue 196.2 135.5 44.4 30.7 780.0 626.4 171.7 137.9

Total operating costs (3,486.7) (3,073.4) (789.2) ((EX9)

(12,488.8) (11,399.8)

(2,749.0)

(2,509.3)

Technical costs and cost of
settlements with

telecommunication (862.1) (830.8) (195.1) (188.0) (3,332.7) (3,271.5) (733.6) (720.1)

operators

Depreciation, amortization,

impairment and liquidation (494.2) (463.1) (111.9) (104.8) (1,900.4) (1,829.0) (418.3) (402.6)

Cost of equipment sold (415.2) (429.5) (94.0) (97.2) (1,539.9) (1,454.4) (339.0) (320.2)

Content costs (565.6) (555.5) (128.0) (125.7) (2,126.1) (2,063.9) (468.0) (454.3)

Cost of energy sold,

includes (268.2) - (60.7) - (523.3) - (115.2) -
depreciation (9.3) - (2.1) - (17.8) - (3.9) -

Distribution. marketing.

customer relation

management and retention (277.4) (271.1) (62.8) (61.4) (1,026.9) (1,035.0) (226.0) (227.8)

costs

Salaries and employee-

related costs ploy (335.6) (300.0) (76.0) (67.9) (1,158.2)  (1,034.0) (254.9) (227.6)

Cost of debt collection

services and bad debt

allowance and receivables (26.2) (25.1) (5.9) (5.7) (121.0) (97.8) (26.6) (21.5)

written off

Other costs, includes (242.2) (198.3) (54.8) (44.9) (760.3) (614.2) (167.4) (135.2)
depreciation (1.0) - (0.2) - (1.4) - (0.3) -

Gain/(loss) on disposal of

a subsidiary and an (0.4) 39.8 0.1) 9.0 219.7 153.2 48.3 33.7

associate

Oth ti

incoe;‘g/"(’sgast')"‘%et (22.2) (0.8) (5.0) (0.2) (45.6) (26.5) (10.0) (5.8)

Profit from operating 1.311.6

activities e

Gain/(loss) on investment

activities, net 80.7 29.0 18.2 6.6 162.4 23.5 35.7 5.2

Finance costs, net (126.5) (233.1) (28.6) (52.8) (1,081.9) (649.9) (238.1) (143.1)

Share of the profit of

associates accounted for - 31.8 - 7.2 29.7 94.5 6.5 20.8

using the equity method
Gross profit for the

period

Income tax 3.9 (48.4) 0.9 (10.9)

Net profit for the period

(110.2)  (209.2)
311.6 901.1

(24.2) (46.0)

Net profit attributable to

equity holders of the Parent 100.5 159.5 227 361

278.5 900.0 61.3 198.1
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(

for the three-month period ended for the twelve-month period ended

December 31 December 31

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

mPLN  mPLN mEUR mEUR mPLN mPLN mEUR mEUR

Net profit/(loss) attributable 20.8 15.0 6.7 3.4 33.1 11 7.3 0.3

to non-controlling interest

Basic and diluted

earnings per share in PLN
(not in millions)

Weighted number of issued 550,703, 550,703, 550,703, 550,703, 550,703, 557,758, 550,703, 557,758,
shares (not in millions) 531 531 531 531 531 269 531 269
EBITDA?

EBITDA margin 18.4% 25.0% 18.4% 25.0% 23.7% 26.9% 23.7% 26.9%
Gain/(loss) on disposal of

a subsidiary and an (0.4) 39.8 (0.1) 9.0 219.7 153.2 48.3 33.7
associate

Costs of supporting Ukraine - - - - - (34.1) - (7.5)

adjusted EBITDA®

adjusted EBITDA margin 18.4% 23.9% 18.4% 23.9% 221% 26.0% 22.1% 26.0%
Operating margin 4.7% 11.5% 4.7% 11.5% 9.6% 12.7% 9.6% 12.7%

(1) We define EBITDA as net profit/(loss), as determined in accordance with IFRS, before depreciation and amortization (other
than for programming rights), impairment charges and reversals on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, net
value of disposed property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, revenue obtained from interest, finance costs,
positive/(negative) exchange rate differences, income taxes and share of net results of joint ventures. The reconciling item
between EBITDA and reported operating profit/ (loss) is depreciation and amortization expense and impairment charges and
reversals on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and net value of disposed property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets.

(2) Adjusted EBITDA excludes the gains on disposal of subsidiaries and associates and the costs of supporting Ukraine.

Consolidated cash flow statement

for the twelve-month period ended December 31

2023 2022 2023 2022

mPLN mPLN mEUR mEUR

Net cash from operating activities 2,392.4 1,761.7 526.6 387.8
Net cash used in investing activities (2,215.7) (1,876.6) (487.7) (413.1)
Incl. capital expenditures(" (1,601.9) (1,114.4) (352.6) (245.3)
Net cash used in financing activities 2,336.2 (2,705.7) 514.2 (595.6)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,512.9 (2,820.6) 553.1 (620.9)

(1) Capital expenditures represent payments for our investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. Excludes
expenditures on purchase of reception equipment leased to our customers, which are reflected in the cash flow from operating
activities, or payments for concessions, which are reported in a separate line of our cash flow statement.
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Consolidated balance sheet

Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31

2023 2022 2023 2022

mPLN mPLN mEUR mEUR

Cash and cash equivalents(") 3,325.7 817.8 764.9 188.1
Assets 37,176.7 32,306.6 8,550.3 7,430.2
Non-current liabilities, incl.: 15,354.9 10,180.4 3,531.5 2,341.4
Non-current financial liabilities® 13,934.3 8,870.8 3,204.8 2,040.2
Current liabilities, incl.: 5,515.8 6,315.4 1,268.6 1,452.5
Current financial liabilities®® 1,629.6 1,867.2 374.8 429.4
Equity 16,305.2 15,810.8 3,750.0 3,636.3
Share capital 25.6 25.6 5.9 5.9

(1) Includes Cash and cash equivalents, deposits and restricted cash.

(2) Includes Loans and borrowings, Issued bonds and Lease liabilities.
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Characteristics of Polsat Plus Group

Who we are

Polsat Plus Group is Poland’s largest media and telecommunications group and the leader in the Polish
entertainment and telecommunications markets. We are the leading pay TV provider and one of the leading
telecommunications operators in the country. We are also one of Poland’s largest content producers and hold
a leading position among private TV broadcasters in terms of both audience and advertising market shares.
We offer a complete package of multimedia services designed for the entire family and a wide array of
wholesale services to other telecommunications operators, television operators and broadcasters. In addition,
based on our Strategy 2023+, we have expanded our business activities into the production and distribution
of clean energy.

Our operating activities include four business segments: the B2C and B2B services segment, the media
segment: television and online, the real estate segment (from April 1, 2022) and the green energy segment
(from July 3, 2023). The portfolio of services and products offered by Group companies includes:

pay TV services offered under the ‘Polsat Box’ brand by Cyfrowy Polsat — the largest pay TV provider
in Poland — and our subsidiary Netia. We offer our customers access to over 160 TV channels
broadcast in satellite, terrestrial and Internet (IPTV, OTT) technologies as well as modern OTT
services and Multiroom. We also provide online video services through online services ‘Polsat Box
Go’, the leader on Poland’s online video market;

telecommunication services, including voice and data transmission services, as well as various
added services (VAS). We provide mobile telecommunication services under the ‘Plus’ brand through
Polkomtel — one of Poland’s leading telecommunications operators - and fixed-line telecommunication
services mainly through Netia;

mobile broadband Internet, offered mainly under the ‘Plus’ brand in the state-of-the-art LTE, LTE
Advanced and 5G technologies. We offer the largest LTE coverage and the first commercial, and
concurrently the largest and fastest 5G network in Poland;

fixed-line broadband Internet, offered under the ‘Netia’ and ‘Plus’ brands based on our nationwide
access infrastructure reaching approximately 3.3 million homes passed as well as based on access
to networks of other fixed-line operators;

broadcasting and television production through Telewizja Polsat Group, the leading commercial
TV broadcaster on the Polish market, offering 43 own popular TV channels, including our main
channel POLSAT, one of the leading FTA channels in Poland;

Internet media through the portal Interia.pl, one of the three largest horizontal portals in Poland, as
well as a number of thematic portals;

wholesale services to other operators, including, i.a., network interconnection, IP and voice traffic
transit, lease of lines, and national and international roaming services;

activities on the real estate market, consisting mainly in the implementation of construction projects
as well as the sale, rental and management of real estate. Our flagship project is the Port Praski
investment located in the strict center of Warsaw;

production and sales of energy from renewable sources such as wind, solar and biomass. Within
the green energy segment, we are also developing a value chain based on green hydrogen, including
its production, storage, transportation and distribution and sales, as well as the construction of
hydrogen stations and hydrogen-powered buses.
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1.2. Strategy 2023+

We are a Polish company and we offer high quality commaodities for a reasonable price to the inhabitants of
Poland. For everyone. Everywhere.

We believe that high-speed and reliable Internet within easy reach means freedom for everyone and
everywhere. We believe in locally produced, unique content available wherever, whenever and on whatever
device you want. We believe that the transition towards clean and affordable energy, in particular energy
produced from renewable sources, is what our country needs and that it creates new development
opportunities for our Group.

We want to create and deliver high quality commodities: high-speed and reliable connectivity, the most
attractive and unique content and entertainment, clean and affordable energy and other services and
commodities for the home and for individual and business customers, using state-of-the-art technologies to
provide top quality services that meet the changing needs and expectations of our customers, so as to
maintain the highest possible level of their satisfaction. Concurrently, in line with the concept of ESG, we want
to create the value of our Company in a sustainable manner taking into account and addressing
environmental, social, responsible and transparent business issues, to the benefit of local society and all our
Stakeholders.

The superior goal of our strategy is the permanent, long-term growth of the value of Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. for
its Shareholders. We intend to achieve this goal by implementing the key elements of our operating strategy
based on three pillars and supported by an effective financial policy.

PILLAR Il - CONTENT PILLAR Il - CLEAN ENERGY

Attractive content and excellent
user experience ensure
entertainment wherever,

whenever and on whatever
device you want

PILLAR | - CONNECTIVITY

High-speed and reliable
connectivity is critical to our work,
education and entertainment. Easy

communication with friends and
family

Affordable, clean energy is
essential to the daily functioning
and further development of the
Polish society and economy

e growth of revenue from services provided to individual and business | e

customers through the consistent building of our customer base value by
maximizing the number of users of our services as well as the number of
services offered to each customer and simultaneously increasing average
revenue per user (ARPU) and maintaining a high level of customer
satisfaction

growth of revenue from produced and purchased video content by
expanding its distribution, including a search for new channels of
exploitation of rights, maintaining the audience shares of channels
produced by us

building a position on the clean,
energy market, in particular from
the sun, wind, biomass, thermal
waste treatment and building a
complete value chain of a
hydrogen-based economy, which
creates opportunities to build a
new stream of revenues for Polsat
Plus Group and will bring tangible
social benefits in the form of

greenhouse gas emissions
reduction
e use of opportunities arising from the advancing technological changes analysis of additional
and market opportunities in order to expand the scope of our products development  opportunities in
and services other prospective directions such
as off-shore wind farms or nuclear
technologies
e effective management of the cost base of our integrated capital group by exploiting its inherent synergies and
economies of scale
o effective management of the Group’s finances, including its capital resources

10
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Growth of revenue from services provided to individual and business customers through the
consistent building of our customer base value by maximizing the number of users of our services
as well as the number of services offered to each customer and simultaneously increasing average
revenue per user (ARPU) and maintaining a high level of customer satisfaction

Our goal is to effectively build revenue from the sale of products, services and commodities to our customers.
By actively predicting new trends and reacting to the occurring market changes, we will continue to create
products that will satisfy the evolving needs of our customers.

The factor that will have a positive impact on revenue is the possibility of cross-selling our existing and future
products and services to the customer base of Polsat Plus Group. We create a unique portfolio of products
and services which is targeted at customer bases of companies composing our Group. Properly addressed,
both through the sale of additional single products or a multiplay offer, this potential may gradually increase
the number of services per individual user, thus increasing revenue per customer and at the same time
favorably impacting the level of satisfaction of our customers.

The integrated services market in Poland is still developing, especially outside big cities and therefore it has
substantial growth potential. We intend to continue expanding our portfolio of products and services, relying
both on own projects, as well as on strategic alliances or acquisitions. We trust that a comprehensive and
unique offer of combined services (television offered in diversified access technologies including a model
based on online applications, mobile Internet based in particular on the cutting-edge 5G technology, high-
speed fixed broadband with high throughputs and voice services) and the possibility of up-selling additional
services (e.g. clean energy from renewable sources, premium content services, entertainment services as
well as other services or solutions for the home), when provided via diversified distribution platforms, will be
decisive from the point of view of our competitive edge. It will also enable us to retain our existing customer
base and offer an opportunity to acquire new customers on the pay TV, telecommunication and energy
markets as well as in the area of other services for the home and for individual and business customers.

Growth of revenue from produced and purchased video content by expanding its distribution,
including a search for new channels of exploitation of rights and maintaining the audience shares of
the channels that we produce

The channels we produce and broadcast enjoy strong, well-established positions on the Polish TV and high
ratings in their respective target groups. Our goal is to maintain our audience share at a stable level and
consistently enhance our viewer profile. We believe that by making sensible investments in programming and
wider distribution of our own content we will be able to gradually improve our viewer profile. This in turn will
have a positive effect on the pricing of advertising airtime that we offer.

The second crucial element in building the segment's value is the widest possible distribution of produced
and purchased TV content, both in terms of the customer groups it reaches (FTA, pay TV and online access)
and the technologies they use (terrestrial, satellite, Internet, mobile). We want to invest in development and
build the market position of our content brands, which will then be distributed via a number of channels
adjusted to the evolving needs of our customers. These efforts, in our opinion, will not only allow us to
maximize benefits of the wide-scale distribution of our video content, but will also ensure a higher level of
satisfaction among our customers and viewers, who will have more freedom to decide what, where and when
to watch.

Use of opportunities arising from the advancing technological changes and market opportunities in
order to expand the scope of our products and services

We seek to offer wide accessibility to our products and services to each of our existing and potential new
customers. Therefore, beside the continuous development of technologies which have built the scale of our
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company in the past, we pay attention to the development of new products which are meant to facilitate the
availability of our content and the services we offer. For everyone. Everywhere.

The intertwining of the telecommunication and media worlds, in particular the wide availability of high speed
mobile transfer technologies as well as the constantly improving quality of fixed-broadband connections,
allows us to develop equipment and technologies which break the limitations with regard to accessibility or
ownership of certain telecommunication infrastructure. The OTT (over-the-top) technologies are expanding
distribution markets for content producers and we intend to actively leverage on that. We invest in new
technologies, equipment and applications, and we pursue opportunities to enter into strategic alliances or
acquisitions, with a view to facilitating access to the content we produce for our customers. We also intend to
leverage on the changes on the Polish content market and take advantage of the opportunities presented by
the evolving needs and expectations of Polish consumers, as well as changes in the ways of media
consumption triggered by cutting-edge data transmission technologies in order to offer our customers an
extensive range of services adjusted to their needs and expectations. By developing our content and
telecommunication offer and expanding it to include complementary products and services, we seek to
acquire new customers, build ARPU and improve customer satisfaction and loyalty.

An effective combination of telecommunication and content products provides new opportunities for
distribution of content. Thanks to this combination, attractive content and a wide range of our services can
be delivered through a variety of reliable distribution channels — via satellite (DTH), digital terrestrial television
(DVB-T), Internet television (OTT), Internet platforms, applications and portals (video online), mobile (LTE
and 5G) and fixed-line (IPTV) technologies — to all consumer devices from TV sets through PCs and tablets
to smartphones.

Modern technology advancement is also a critical factor contributing to the transition in our country towards
clean, zero and low-emission energy. We want to be an active participant of this transition. We intend to take
advantage of emerging market opportunities and invest in technological innovations because we believe that
they are essential in order to accelerate the energy transition and decarbonization in Poland. We set
ourselves ambitious goals with respect to the construction of zero and low-emission sources of electric energy
that on the one hand constitute an opportunity to continue the development of our business in the mid and
long-term, and on the other support the sustainable development of the Polish society and economy.

Concurrently, we will analyze in detail emerging market and investment opportunities, such as investments
in unique real estate or prospective business projects that have potential to generate high rates of return in
the mid-term. We believe that such projects present an attractive opportunity to invest available funds.

Building a position on the clean energy market, in particular from the sun, wind, biomass, thermal
waste treatment and building a complete value chain of a hydrogen-based economy, which creates
opportunities to build a new stream of revenues for Polsat Plus Group and will bring tangible social
benefits in the form of greenhouse gas emissions reduction

With a view to strengthening our unique offer of integrated services we have decided to establish a new, third
strategic pillar based on clean energy. We believe that the transition towards clean, zero and low-emission
energy in Poland is a perfect moment to enter this prospective market by new players and creates new
development possibilities for Polsat Plus Group. We believe that investments in the development of clean,
renewable energy sources constitute a practical implementation of the ESG concept and can bring our Group,
our Stakeholders and the local society tangible economic and social benefits, in particular in the form of
greenhouse gas emissions reduction. According to our estimates, our current investment plan, consisting in
the installation of ca. 1000 MW of clean power generation capacity in the years 2022-2026, will contribute to
the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions by over 2 million tons of CO2 equivalent annually.

12
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We want to build a new stream of revenue from the sale of clean energy to business and individual customers.
We expect that demand for clean energy in Poland will exhibit a strong, upward trend in the following years.
This trend will be supported by a set of factors, including the consistent regulatory policy implemented at the
European Union level and directed at achieving climate neutrality by 2050, the changing geopolitical situation
and increasing demand for energy resulting from Poland’s economic growth. In order to build and
successively strengthen our position on the energy market in Poland we intend to invest in projects related
to the production of energy from photovoltaics, biomass, wind farms and thermal waste treatment. We also
want to invest in the future by building a complete value chain of a hydrogen-based economy, which may
contribute significantly to the reduction of harmful substance emissions (including CO2). Furthermore, we
want to actively analyze the possibilities of investing in other prospective sources of energy such as nuclear
technologies.

In the years 2022-2026 we plan to invest approximately PLN 5 billion in order to achieve ca. 1000 MW of
clean power generation capacity and approximately PLN 0.5 billion in the construction of the value chain of
an economy based on the fuel of the future - hydrogen.

Effective management of the cost base of our capital group by exploiting its inherent synergies and
economies of scale

We are convinced that building a closely integrated group that combines connectivity, content and energy
services offers an opportunity for tangible synergies and for securing significant competitive advantages. We
implement numerous projects aimed at simplifying the Group’s structure by integrating relevant teams and
harmonizing business processes and IT systems in the entire Group, which enables us to achieve tangible
cost synergies. On a continuous basis we pursue optimization efforts aimed at adapting our cost base to
current market conditions and our Group’s situation.

We believe that our engagement in the clean energy sector will also generate sizeable synergies and in the
mid- and long-term will support operating in-line with a sustainable business-model. In particular, access to
clean energy at lower prices will allow us to further optimize the costs of our operating activities and will also
help us strengthen our relationships with B2B and B2C customers interested in purchasing clean energy,
which will have a positive impact on the results of our strategy.

Effective management of the Group’s finances, including its capital resources

The financial policy and capital resources management policy that we adopted define the method of using
funds generated from our operations. To guarantee the continuity and stability of the Group’s operations the
generated free cash flow is used in the first place for financing current operations and for investments
indispensable for the development of the Group. Simultaneously, we continually exploit arising development
possibilities and investment opportunities, which allow us to make our products and services more attractive,
provide new methods of their distribution or create additional value for our Shareholders.

Our capital resources management policy assumes maintaining a balance between leveraging on emerging
market and investment opportunities and regular dividend payouts to Shareholders of the Company in
accordance with the applicable dividend policy of the Company. Concurrently, we intend to maintain the
indebtedness of Polsat Plus Group at a safe level, ensuring an optimal structure of financing of our operating
activities through the use of debt financing. When formulating the financing structure the Management Board
will take into account in particular the expectations of the Shareholders of the Company expressed in the
Articles of Association of the Company.
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1.3.  Our ESG strategy

Along with the announcement of the Strategy 2023+, we have also structured our sustainable growth strategy
which includes ESG (environmental, social responsibility and corporate governance) factors.

WE TAKE RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREVENTING FURTHER CLIMATE CHANGES AND ACTIVELY UNDERTAKE STEPS TO

IMPROVE AIR QUALITY IN POLAND.

New investments — by producing over 2 TWh of green energy per year we will contribute to
the reduction of COz emissions in Poland by more than 2 million tons yearly.

E e Renewable energy sources — we use energy solely from low or zero emission sources.

Car Fleet — we successively increase the share of low-emission vehicles in the car fleet of
Polsat Plus Group (approx.12% in 2023).

(Environmental)
Circular economy — set-top boxes used by our customers, are coming back to the market
after they are returned and refurbished while other equipment is being recycled.

WE ARE AN ACTIVE MEMBER OF LOCAL SOCIETY AND — AT THE SAME TIME — WE STIMULATE POLAND’S ECONOMIC

AND SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT THROUGH OUR INVESTMENTS IN DIGITIZATION.

e  Counteracting digital divide — broadest reach of modern, fast 5G Internet from Plus.

Polsat Foundation — we are a key partner of the Foundation which during over 25 years has
helped to finance medical treatment and rehabilitation for suffering children.

Responsible employer — we ensure friendly and safe working environment as well as
equality and diversity to all our employees.

Protection and safety of children — safety is DNA of our operations, therefore we take care
e of safety of the children and youth (among others, safety in the network and television
content).

WE DEVELOP OUR BUSINESS IN A TRANSPARENT AND SUSTAINABLE MANNER TO THE BENEFIT OF ALL OUR

STAKEHOLDERS.

Codes of Ethics — implemented codes of business conduct as well as internal procedures

¢ and systems guarantee the highest standard of integrity.
o Transparency — we ensure high quality financial and ESG reporting in combination with
G regular, transparent and direct communication with all our stakeholders.

Cybersecurity — while being aware of challenges in this area, we aim at the best possible

e  data security and protection for our customers and employees, as confirmed by ISO 27001
(Governance) certificate.

Experience, trust, reputation — our companies’ Management Boards are served by
individuals with many years of work experience in the Group.
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In a further step of developing our ESG strategy, in November 2022 we adopted a framework document for
linking the Polsat Plus Group's external financing with its long-term sustainability goals (“Polsat Plus Group
Sustainability-Linked Financing Framework”).

The document presents our sustainability strategy plan and especially the environmental measurable goals
of our business plan and our ambition to fight against climate change and improve air quality in Poland by
taking actions and making investments to help accelerate Poland’s transition towards green energy.
Moreover, by incorporating sustainability-linked instruments in our funding policy, we aim at broadening our
commitment to drive the effort to fight global warming. To showcase the central role in the transition towards
a sustainable economy, we use this Framework to issue debt instruments in sustainability-linked format
across both loans and bonds (for more details on sustainability-linked financing please see item 4.3. —
External financing).

Our Sustainability-Linked Financing Framework underwent an external expert evaluation, documented by a
publicly available Second-Party Opinion, which was conducted by Sustainalytics.

Below we present the key performance indicators and quantified long-term sustainability performance targets
that the Group will strive to achieve, along with their expert assessment in terms of relevancy and the level
of ambition set:

Strength Ambitiousness

gl of SPT

Reduce absolute scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions
Very Strong by 75% by 2025 and 80% by 2030 relative to a Highly Ambitious
2019 baseline

Absolute scope 1 and 2
GHG emissions (tCOz)

Increase renewable energy generation to 800
Adequate GWh by 2025 and to 1,600 GWh by 2030 Ambitious
relative to a 2021 baseline

Renewable energy
generation (GWh)

Increase green hydrogen production to 1,500
Adequate tonnes a year by 2025 and 3,000 tonnes a year Ambitious
by 2030 relative to a 2021 baseline

Green hydrogen production
(tonnes)

Increase the share of zero-emissions energy in
the total energy mix to 25% by 2025, 30% by
2026 and 50% by 2030 relative to a 2019
baseline

Share of zero-emissions
energy in total energy mix Strong
(%)

Ambitious

The full document is available at the link:

https://grupapolsatplus.pl/sites/default/files/polsat group sustainability linked financing framework 1.pdf.

1.4. Development prospects

Development prospects in the B2C and B2B services segment

As the largest media and telecommunications group in Poland we have gathered under one roof all the key
assets which allow us to offer customers a unique portfolio of products and services. In line with our strategy,
we focus on marketing and sales activities aimed at cross-selling standalone products and services to the
customer base of Polsat Plus Group and at selling our bundled services offer. We see our future development
path in this strategy. We think that along with the development of modern fixed-line and nationwide radio
infrastructures, connectivity will continue to shape not only the telecommunications market but also the
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content distribution market. We believe that broadband Internet access services that we offer in 5G and
advanced fixed-line technologies will allow us to grow our customer base, with an emphasis on the integrated
services customer base.

We develop our portfolio of integrated services. The Polish bundled services market is characterized by
a relatively low level of development. According to research conducted by the European Commission,
saturation with bundled services in Poland is still significantly lower compared to the average saturation in
the European Union. Concurrently, our customers are increasingly interested in bundled services, a trend
reflected in the very good sales results of our bundled services offer. We are convinced that our combination
of pay TV and telecommunication services, including in particular broadband Internet access in both high
quality 5G as well as fiber optic technologies, will allow us to benefit from the growth potential of the Polish
bundled services market. By increasing the number of services sold to each customer we are able to generate
growth of average revenue per customer (ARPU) and effectively increase our customers’ loyalty.

We are a leader in 5G development in Poland. At the beginning of 2020 we began the construction of
Poland’s first commercial 5G network based on the unique 2.6 GHz TDD band that we own. Our 5G network
became operational in May 2020 and in March 2024 it already covered over 23 million people, i.e., more than
half of the population of Poland, and the total number of active based stations increased to almost 3,700.
This includes 6 million inhabitants of the country, to whom we can offer a mobile Internet service with a
maximum download speed of 1 Gbps, comparable to fiber Internet - Ultra 5G. This is a pioneering solution
that was launched thanks to the aggregation of 3 bands - two in 5G technology (2600 MHz and 2100 MHz)
and additionally a 4G layer (1800 MHz).

Simultaneously, we are working on the development of our 5G network using other radio frequencies and
technologies. This will enable us to maintain our competitive edge in the next phases of 5G development due
our ability to combine various bandwidths and, therefore, strengthen Plus’s position as the technology leader
in Poland. In October 2023, we acquired a block of bandwidth in the range of 3400-3500 MHz in a frequency
auction, which we intend to use to provide 5G services.

Thanks to the implementation of innovative technological solutions, in 2023 the Plus network took first place
in the SpeedTest.pl ranking in Poland in terms of average download speed both in the 5G category (134.6
Mbps) and in the overall mobile Internet ranking (49.3 Mbps).

We invest in the development of new generation fixed broadband Internet. We currently reach over 3.3
million households in Poland with our own fixed-line access infrastructure, out of which, as at the end of
December 2023, over 2.3 million were within the reach of broadband Internet with transmission speed of 1
Gbps. The saturation of Netia’s access infrastructure with services for B2C customers continues to stand on
a relatively low level of approximately 17%, which gives us wide opportunities for development. We believe
that thanks to the modernization of Netia’'s access network combined with a convergent offering for Netia’s
customers that includes attractive video content from the Group’s portfolio we will successively increase the
scale of commercialization of Netia's existing access network. In addition, we are gradually transferring
Netia’s fixed-line customers to whom the services are provided over the leased infrastructure onto our own
infrastructure and we contemplate possibilities for expanding the reach of our fixed-line network not excluding
selective acquisitions in this regard.

We address our convergent offering to new target groups. Furthermore, we use our infrastructure to
expand the reach of services provided by Polsat Plus Group in fixed-line technologies. We develop new TV
products, such as, for example, television in IPTV and OTT technologies, which, in our opinion, will become
an attractive alternative to offers of cable operators. We are of the opinion that assets owned by Polsat Plus
Group, such as a widespread sales network and own advertising channels, shall allow us to achieve satisfying
sales results on our fixed-line services while maintaining high cost efficiency of operations.

16
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We consistently strive to strengthen our position as the aggregator and distributor of content. We
believe that as a Group we have a unique, hard to duplicate and at the same time highly attractive programing
offer. Currently, the attractive content and wide range of Polsat Plus Group’s services are delivered through
a variety of reliable distribution channels — via satellite (DTH), digital terrestrial television (DVB-T2), LTE and
5G mobile technologies and fixed-line technologies (FTTH, HFC, ETTH, xDSL, OTT, IPTV) — to all consumer
devices, from TV sets and PCs to tablets and smartphones. We closely study the evolution of our customers’
expectations and work to satisfy their growing needs. We focus on building the IPTV and OTT pay TV offers
as we believe it represents a significant step in Polsat Plus Group’s continued development on the pay TV
market. The services live up to customers’ expectations by offering an access to a wide range of the unique
content in flexible tariff plans and short subscription periods.

Development prospects in the media segment

We are the leading group on the Polish TV broadcasting market in terms of audience shares, advertising
revenue and advertising market share, which oscillates at slightly below 30%. At the same time, Polsat Media
advertising sales office is currently the largest broker on the television market with 90 TV channels in its
portfolio and full advertising service of Interia.pl Group web services.

The audience shares of thematic channels are growing continuously as the process of fragmentation of
the Polish television market continues to progress. We believe that we can profit from this fragmentation by
strengthening our wide portfolio of channels targeted at the entire family, and by extending and strengthening
our distribution network on cable and satellite platforms, including also through our B2C and B2B services
segment within which we own the largest pay TV customer base in Poland. We believe that our presence on
all significant satellite platforms and distribution by cable TV operators will result in maintaining high audience
shares of our channels, and, consequently, give us the opportunity to grow at least in line with the TV
advertising market, and increase revenues from cable and satellite operators.

Our strategy is aimed at the widest possible distribution of content using the latest devices and
technologies. That is why we monetize our content also through distribution via our Polsat Box Go online
video service which is one of the leading streaming platforms in Poland, as well as through Internet portals
belonging to the Group, in particular those associated with Interia.pl. In parallel, we are open to partnerships
and cooperation with other entities distributing TV channels either in the traditional or online pay TV models.
Therefore, Polsat Plus Group’s TV channels can be found in the offers of the majority of cable, satellite or
IPTV operators in Poland. In addition, access to our Polsat Box Go service, which offers TV Polsat channels,
can also be found in the offer of selected telecommunication operators who prefer to build their content
offerings in the OTT application model. The wholesale sales of content produced by Telewizja Polsat’s
channels represents a significant and, at the same time, increasing revenue stream of the media segment.

We invest in the attractiveness of our TV channels by continuously building our viewer’s profile. We
place great weight on offering content in Telewizja Polsat’s channels that meets preferences of viewers from
our target groups. We constantly invest in producing the most attractive entertainment, film or news content
and, simultaneously, we closely monitor the market of sports rights and film licenses. These actions are aimed
at maintaining high viewership of our channels while building an attractive, from the advertisers’ perspective,
profile of our viewers. We also believe that thanks to possible synergies within the largest integrated media
and telecommunication group in Poland in fields such as purchase of content, distribution, sales and
marketing, we are able to strengthen our position on the broadcasting and television production market.

We expand our presence on the media market beyond the TV segment. We expand thematic portals
which use the unique content produced by our TV channels and dedicated editorial offices. We invest in the
development of our portals, especially “Polsatnews.pl” and “Polsatsport.pl”. In turn, Interia.pl Group, acquired
by us in July 2020, is the leading player on the Polish online media market. Following the acquisition of Interia
we became one of the key entities on the Polish online and television advertising market, offering unique
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marketing and cross-media solutions. In parallel, we believe that strengthening the cooperation between
Telewizja Polsat - a top video content producer, Interia.pl Group - a leading entity on the online media market
in the country and Polsat Media — the largest broker on the Polish advertising market, will bring additional
synergies solidifying our position on the perspective online advertising market.

Development prospects in the green energy segment

We expect demand for clean energy in Poland to show a strong upward trend in the coming years. This
development will be supported by a number of factors, in particular a consistent regulatory policy at the
European Union level aimed at achieving climate neutrality by 2050, the changing geopolitical situation,
growing demand for electricity resulting from the economic development of our country, as well as Increasing
restrictions on the use of "dirty" energy sources..

We believe that Poland's energy transition towards clean, zero- and low-emission energy is an excellent time
for new players to enter this promising market and creates new growth opportunities for Polsat Plus Group.
In an effort to strengthen our unique offering of bundled services, we made a decision at the end of 2021 to
build a new, third strategic pillar based on clean energy.

In order to build and successively strengthen our position on the clean energy market in Poland we invest in
projects focused on energy production from photovoltaics, biomass, onshore wind farms or thermal waste
treatment. We also invest in the future. We want to build a complete value chain of a hydrogen-based
economy, which can significantly contribute to the reduction of emissions of harmful substances (including
COy2).

According to the assumption of our Strategy 2023+, announced in December 2021, in the years 2022-2026
we plan to invest ca. PLN 5 billion in the development of zero- and low-emission energy sources with a view
to achieving ca. 1,000 MW of installed production capacity from biomass, solar and wind farms, and thermal
waste processing. We estimate that the implementation of our investment plans may translate into annual
incremental EBITDA of ca. PLN 500-600 million by 2026, while contributing to the reduction of greenhouse
gas emissions by over 2 million tons of CO2 equivalent yearly.

1.5. Composition and structure of Polsat Plus Group

The following table presents the companies from Polsat Plus Group as at specific dates, indicating the
consolidation method.

Share in voting rights (%) as at

Company Registered office Activity December 31, December 31,
2023 2022

B2C and B2B services segment
Parent Company

tubinowa 4a radio, TV and
Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. 03-878 Warsaw telecommunication n/a a
activities

Subsidiaries consolidated using the full consolidation method

Konstruktorska 4, telecommunication o o
Polkomtel Sp. z o.0. 02-673 Warsaw activities 100% 100%
other activities
Polkomtel Business Konstruktorska 4, supporting financial 100% 100%
Development Sp. z 0.0. 02-673 Warsaw services, gaseous
fuels trading activities
Al. Stanéw Zjednoczonych telecommunication 100% 100%

Premium Mobile Sp. z 0.0. 61A, 04-028 Warsaw activities
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Share in voting rights (%) as at

Company Registered office Activity December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
S Al. Stanéw Zjednoczonych sales network ) o
Visignio Sp. z 0.0. 61A, 04-028 Warsaw management 100%
Saveadvisor Sp. z 0.0. Warszawska 18, call center services 100% 100%
35-205 Rzeszow
Al. Stanéw Zjednoczonych 61,  telecommunication o o
Liberty Poland S.A. 04-028 Warsaw activities 100% 100%
. . production of set-top o
Interphone Service Sp. z 0.0. Inwestoréw 8, 39-300 Mielec boxes 100% 100%
Al. Stanéw Zjednoczonych telecommunication 51% 519%
Sferia S.A. 61A, 04-028 Warsaw activities ° °
P call center and
Teleaudio Dwa Sp. z 0.0. Sp.k. Al. Stanow Zjednoczonych 61, premium-rate 100% 100%
04-028 Warsaw A
services
Netia S.A. Poleczki 13, telecommunication 100% 99.999%
02-822 Warsaw activities
. Poleczki 13, telecommunication o o
Netia 2 Sp. z 0.0. 02-822 Warsaw activities 100% 100%
Kijowska 10/12A, telecommunication o o
TK Telekom Sp. z 0.0. 03-743 Warsaw activities 100% 100%
Petrotel Sp. z o.0. Chemikow 7, telgcgmmunlcatlon 100% 100%
09-411 Ptock activities
Logitus Sp. z 0.0 Orzechowa 5, wired communication - 100%
T 80-175 Gdansk
Enterpol Sp. z 0.0. Braci Wieniawskich 5, telecommunication 100% 100%
20-844 Lublin activities
Oktawave S.A. Poleczki 13, website management 100% 100%
02-822 Warsaw
Plus Finanse Sp. z 0.0. Konstruktorska 4, _other mo_ne_tary 100% 100%
02-673 Warsaw intermediation
Konstruktorska 4, monetary 0 0
Plus Pay Sp. z 0.0. 02673 Warsaw intermediation 100% 100%
Al. Wyscigowa 6, . .
Esoleo Sp. z 0.0. technical services 51.25% 51.25%
P 02-681 Warsaw echnt I ’ ’
Broniwoja 3/85, .
Alledo E Sp. z o.0. | 51.25% 51.25%
edo Express Sp. z 0.0 02-655 Warsaw rental services o o
Broniwoja 3/85
Alledo Parts Sp. z 0.0. ' holesal 51.25% 51.25%
p-z 02-655 Warsaw wholesale ° °
Alledo Parts Sp. z 0.0. Sp.k. Broniwoja 3/85, wholesale 51.25% 51.25%
02-655 Warsaw
Broniwoja 3/85, . .
Alledo Setup Sp. z 0.0. hnical 51.25% 51.25%
edo Setup Sp. zo.0 02-655 Warsaw technical services o o
Alledo Setup Sp. z 0.0. Sp.k. g;c.)glsvéo\l/sa?;/sisv:/ technical services 51.25% 51.25%
tubinowa 4a, : . 0 0
CPSPV1 Sp. zo.0. 03-878 Warsaw technical services 100% 100%
tubinowa 4a, : . o )
CPSPV2 Sp. zo.0. 03-878 Warsaw technical services 100% 100%
Konstruktorska 4, intellectual property ) o
TM Rental Sp. z 0.0. 02-673 Warsaw rights rental 100%
Level 2 West, Mercury Tower,
Orsen Holding Ltd. Elia Zammit Street, St. Julian’s  holding activities 100% 100%

STJ 3155, Malta
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Share in voting rights (%) as at

Company Registered office Activity December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
Level 2 West, Mercury Tower,
Orsen Ltd. Elia Zammit Street, St. Julian’s  holding activities 100% 100%
STJ 3155, Malta
Al. Stanéw Zjednoczonych 61, . I o o
Dwa Sp. z o0.0. 04-028 Warsaw holding activities 100% 100%
Mokotowska 49
IB 1 FIZAN ’ i iviti O] O]
00-542 Warsaw finance activities
Al. Stanéw Zjednoczonych o o
Altalog Sp. z 0.0. B1A, 04-028 Warsaw software 66% 66%
Konstruktorska 4, management and o o
Plus Flota Sp. z 0.0. 02-673 Warsaw rental services 100% 100%
Netshare Media Group Sp. z Ostrobramska 77, . _ o 0
0.0. 04-175 Warsaw advertising activities 100% 100%
Rakowiecka 41/21, telecommunication o o
BCAST Sp. z 0.0. 02-521 Warsaw activities 70.02% 70.02%
TV tubinowa 4a, radio and television o o
INFO-TV-FM Sp. z 0.0. 03-878 Warsaw activities 100% 100%
tubinowa 4A
Stork 5 Sp. z 0.0. ' i iviti 1009 1009
p 03-878 Warszawa holding activities % %
tubinowa 4A
Swan 5 Sp. z o.0. ’ i 1009 1009
W p.z 03-878 Warszawa agriculture activities 00% 00%
T Al. Stanéw Zjednoczonych other financial o o
Vindix S.A. 61A, 04-028 Warsaw services 100% 100%
T Al. Stanéw Zjednoczonych other financial o o
Vindix Investments Sp. z 0. o. 61A. 04-028 Warsaw services 100% 100%
. . Al. Stanéw Zjednoczonych other financial o o
Direct Collection Sp. z 0.0. 61A. 04-028 Warsaw services 100% 100%
Vindix Sp. z o.0. Evei\:ow UPA 732, 79018, call center services 100% 100%
Mokotowska 49
Vindix NSFI1Z ' i ial i M M
indix 00-542 Warsaw financial services
Al. Stanéw Zjednoczonych — o o
Mag7soft Sp. z o.0. 61A, 04-028 Warsaw software activities 100% 100%
Centrum Szkolenia i Zwierzvniecka 18 y
Zarzagdzania Nieruchomosciami y L real _estate market - 100%
60-814 Poznan services
Sp. zo.0.
Subsidiaries consolidated using the equity method
Asseco Poland S.A. @ Olchowa 14, software activities - 22.95%

35-322 Rzeszéw

Media segment: television and online

Subsidiaries consolidated using the full consolidation method

Ostrobramska 77 television
Telewizja Polsat Sp. z 0.0. 0178 Warsaw broadcasting and 100% 100%
production
Polsat Media Sp. z 0.0. Sp. k. Ostrob K
(formerly Polsat Media Biuro strobramska 77, media - 100%
04-175 Warsaw
Reklamy Sp. z 0.0. Sp. k.)
Polsat Media Biuro Ostrobramska 77, . 0 )
Reklamy Sp. z 0.0. 04-175 Warsaw media 100% 100%
Polsat License Ltd. Alte Landstrasse 17, media 100% 100%

8863 Buttikon, Switzerland
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Share in voting rights (%) as at

Company Registered office Activity December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
Polsat Investments Ltd. 3, Krinc_)u Agios Athanasios, media 100% 100%
4103 Limassol, Cyprus
238A King Street, . o o
Polsat Ltd. W6 ORF London, Great Britain media 100% 100%
Al. Stanéw Zjednoczonych . o o
Muzo.fm Sp. z 0.0. 61A. 04-028 Warsaw media 100% 100%
: Ostrobramska 77, . ) o
Music TV Sp. z 0.0. 04-175 Warsaw media 100%
Ostrobramska 77, . } o
Polo TV Sp. z o.0. 04-175 Warsaw media 100%
Eleven Sports Network Plac Europejski 2, . o
99.99Y
Sp. zo.0. 00-844 Warsaw media 100% %
Ostrobramska 77
Superstacja Sp. z o.0. ’ di - 100%
uperstacia sp. z 04-175 Warsaw media o
TV Spektrum Sp. z 0.0. Ostrobramska 77, media 100% 100%
04-175 Warsaw
Kielecka 5, . o o
TVO Sp. z o.0. 81-303 Gdynia retail sales 75.96% 75.96%
Grupa Interia.pl Sp. z 0.0. 2?_;::2?;:03’& holding activities 100% 100%
Interia.pl Sp. z o.0. (formerly
Grupa Interia.pl Media Sp. z 2?’_;::2?::03’&’ web portals activities 100% 100%
0.0. Sp.k.)
Grupa Interia.pl Sp. z 0. 0. Sp.k. 2?’_;::2?::03’&’ web portals activities - 100%
Mobiem Polska Sp. z 0.0. in Fabryczna 5a, . - o
1009
liquidation 00-446 Warsaw holding activities 100% %
Mobiem Sp. z 0.0. (formerly Fabryczna 5a, - . o o
Mobiem Polska Sp. z 0.0. Sp.k.) 00-446 Warsaw advertising activities 100% 100%
. Solskiego 55 )
Polot Media Sp. z 0.0. ! It 60% 60%
'asp. 2 52-401 Wroctaw consulting ° °
Polot Media Sp. z 0.0. Sp.k. Solskiego 55, movie a.nd v 60% 60%
52-401 Wroctaw production
Ostrobramska 77, cooperation with N o
Polsat Talenty Sp. z 0.0. 04-175 Warsaw artists and presenters 100% 100%
14
Antyweb Sp. z 0.0. g:fgazc\lj\?a:szz ’ web portals activities 79.88% 70%
naEKRANIE.pI Fabryczna 5a, media 60%
Sp. zo.0. 00-446 Warsaw °
AFUN Sp. z0.0. Fabryczna 5a, media 60% )
00-446 Warsaw
: Ostrobramska 77, movie and TV ® ®
Muzo Media Sp. z o.o. 04-175 Warsaw production
Subsidiaries consolidated using the equity method
33 Broadwick Street Soho
Polsat JimJam Ltd. London W1F 0DQ, media - 50%
Great Britain
Polski Operator Wiertnicza 166, . . o o
Telewizyjny Sp. z 0.0. 02-952 Warsaw technical services 50% 50%
Polsat Boxing Promotion Sp.z ~ Ostrobramska 77, movie and TV 249 249,

0.0.

04-175 Warsaw

production
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Share in voting rights (%) as at

Company Registered office Activity December 31, December 31,

2023 2022

Green Energy segment

Subsidiaries consolidated using the full consolidation method

PAK-Polska Czysta Energia

Kazimierska 45,

holding activity

50.5%

Sp.zo.0.® 62-510 Konin
. Kazimierska 45, ducti f
@) production of o
Great Wind Sp. z 0.0. 62-510 Konin electricity 50.5%
PAK-PCE Farma Wiatrowa Kazimierska 45, . -
Okonek Sp. z 0.0 62-510 Konin holding activity 50.5%
PAK-PCE Farma Wiatrowa Kazimierska 45, . .
Jastrowie Sp. z 0.0.40) 62-510 Konin holding activity 50.5%
. Kazimierska 45 duction of
@) , pro o
Eviva Lebork Sp. z 0.0. 62510 Konin electricity 50.5%
. . Kazimierska 45 production of
@ ) 9
Eviva Drzezewo Sp. z 0.0. 62-510 Konin electricity 50.5%
@ Al. Stanéw Zjednoczonych movie and TV o
MESE Sp.zo.0. 61A, 04-028 Warsaw production 55.45%
Kazimierska 45 production of
@ ) o
PCE OZE 1 Sp. z o.0. 62510 Konin electricity 50.5%
PCE OZE 2 Sp. 2 0.0 Kazimierska 45, production of 50.5%
62-510 Konin electricity '
PCE OZE 3 Sp. 2 0.0.¢) Kazimierska 45, production of 50.5%
62-510 Konin electricity '
Kazimierska 45 production of
@ ) 0
PCE OZE 4 Sp. z o.0. 62510 Konin electricity 50.5%
PCE OZE 6 Sp. 2 0.0.¢) Kazimierska 45, production of 50.5%
62-510 Konin electricity :
Exion Hydrogen Polskie Ku Ujsciu 19, manufacture of 50.4%
Elektrolizery Sp. z 0.0.%) 80-701 Gdansk electrical equipment A
Slachthuisstraat 120, bus 12, ‘ ¢
Exion Hydrogen Belgium BV® 2300 Turnhout manufacture o 50.4%
Belgia electrical equipment
i
PAK-PCE Fotowoltaika Sp. z Kazimierska 45, production of 50.5%
0.0.% 62-510 Konin electricity o
PAK-VOLT S.A® o Stanow ZIednoczonyeh  yrade of electricity 50.5%
Konstruktorska 4 manufacture of
@ , 9
PG Hydrogen Sp. z 0.0. 02673 Warsaw engines and turbines 26.26%
PAK-PCE Biopaliwa i Wodor Przemystowa 158, production of 50 5%
Sp. z0.0.¥ 62-510 Konin electricity e
PAK-PCE Wiatr Sp. z 0.0~ Kazimierska 45, production of 50.5%
62-510 Konin electricity
PAK-PCE Polski Autobus imi
Wod s @ Ka2|m|erska.1 45, manufacture of buses 50.5%
odorowy Sp. z 0.0. 62-510 Konin
PAK-PCE Stacje H2 Sp. z 0.0, Kazimierska 45, retail sale of 50.5%
62-510 Konin hydrogen
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Share in voting rights (%) as at

Company Registered office Activity December 31, December 31,
2023 2022

Farma Wiatrowa Przyréw Sp. z  Kazimierska 45, production of 50.5% )

0.0.® 62-510 Konin electricity =R

Elektrownie Wiatrowe Dobra Kazimierska 45, production of 50.5% i

Sp.z0.0.4 62-510 Konin electricity R

Farma Wiatrowa Kazimierz Kazimierska 45, production of 50.5% i

Biskupi Sp. z 0.0.® 62-510 Konin electricity R

Park Wiatrowy Patczyn 1 Sp.z  Al. Wojska Polskiego 68, production of 50.5%

0.0 70-479 Szczecin electricity o i

Subsidiaries consolidated using the equity method

PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Kazimierska 45, holding activity 40.41%

Sp.zo.0.®

Real Estate segment

62-510 Konin

Subsidiaries consolidated using the full consolidation method

Port Praski Sp. z 0.0.®

Port Praski Inwestycje Sp. z
0.0.%

Port Praski Nowe Inwestycje
Sp. z0.0.©

Port Praski Sp. z 0.0. Biatystok
Sp. k.®

Port Praski Office Park Sp. z
0.0.®

Port Praski City Sp. z 0.0.®
Port Praski City Ill Sp. z 0.0.®
Port Praski City IV Sp. z 0.0.©)

Port Praski Sp. z 0.0. S.K.A.®

Port Praski Education Sp. z
0.0.©®

Port Praski Doki Sp. z 0.0.®

Port Praski Doki Il Sp. z 0.0.©®

Port Praski Media Park Sp. z
0.0.®

Port Praski Il Sp. z 0.0.®

Port Praski Hotel Sp. z 0.0.®

Pantanomo Limited®

Port Praski Medical Center Sp.
2 0.0.00

Krowia 6,
03-711 Warsaw
Krowia 6,
03-711 Warsaw

Krowia 6,
03-711 Warsaw

Krowia 6,
03-711 Warsaw
Krowia 6,
03-711 Warsaw
Krowia 6,
03-711 Warsaw
Krowia 6,
03-711 Warsaw
Krowia 6,
03-711 Warsaw
Krowia 6,
03-711 Warsaw

Krowia 6,
03-711 Warsaw

Krowia 6,
03-711 Warsaw
Krowia 6,
03-711 Warsaw

Krowia 6,
03-711 Warsaw

Krowia 6,
03-711 Warsaw
Krowia 6,
03-711 Warsaw
3 KRINOU,
Limassol 4103,
Cypr

Postepu 14,
02-676 Warsaw

implementation of
construction projects

implementation of
construction projects

real estate
management

implementation of
construction projects

implementation of
construction projects

implementation of
construction projects

implementation of
construction projects

implementation of
construction projects

implementation of
construction projects

implementation of
construction projects

implementation of
construction projects

implementation of
construction projects

implementation of
construction projects

implementation of
construction projects

hotel services

holding activities

implementation of
construction projects

66.94%

66.94%

77.52%

77.52%

77.52%

77.52%

77.52%

77.52%

77.52%

77.52%

77.52%

77.52%

77.52%

77.52%

77.52%

66.94%

66.94%

66.94%

66.94%

45.52%

45.52%

45.52%

45.52%

45.52%

45.52%

45.52%

45.52%

45.52%

45.52%

45.52%

45.52%

22.76%

23



Grupu Report of the Management Board
Polsat on the activities of Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. Capital Group
\pli.lS/ for the financial year ended December 31, 2023

Share in voting rights (%) as at

Company Registered office Activity December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
. Postepu 14, implementation of
6)(7
Port Praski City Il Sp. z 0.0.00 02-676 Warsaw construction projects 77.52% 22.76%
. Panska 77/79
Laris Investments Sp. z 0.0.® ’ .949 .949
p 00-834 Warsaw real estate rental 66.94% 66.94%
. Panska 77/79, implementation of
(6) [ o,
Laris Development Sp. z 0.0. 00-834 Warsaw construction projects 66.94% 66.94%
. . Panska 77/79, rt tal and
®) property ren o o
Laris Technologies Sp. z 0.0. 00-834 Warsaw management 66.94% 66.94%
Panska 77/79, implementation of
6) 0, [
SPV Baletowa Sp. z 0.0. 00-834 Warsaw construction projects 66.94% 66.94%
Megadex Development Sp. z Gdanska 14/1 property rental and o o
0.0.9 01-691 Warsaw management 66.94% 66.94%
Adama Mickiewicza 63, property rental and
(6) 0, [
Megadex Expo Sp. z o.0. 01-625 Warsaw management 66.94% 66.94%
Centrum Zdrowia i Relaksu Sikorskiego 8, . o o
Verano Sp. z 0.0. 78-100 Kotobrzeg hotel services 66.94% 66.94%
Turystyka Zdrowotna Verano Gen. Wt. Sikorskiego 8 A, . . o,
Plus Sp. z0.0.® 78-100 Kotobrzeg catering services ) 66.94%
Subsidiaries consolidated using the equity method
Wielopole 6, sale of wood and
(6) 0, 0,
Pollytag S.A. 80-556 Gdarisk construction materials 31.12% 31.12%
Port Praski Medical Center Sp.  Postepu 14, implementation of o
7 0.0.007 02-676 Warsaw construction projects B 22.76%
. Postepu 14, implementation of
6)(7
Port Praski City Il Sp. z 0.0.00 02-676 Warsaw construction projects - 22.76%

(1) Cyfrowy Polsat indirectly holds 100% of certificates.

(2) On Spetember 21, 2023, Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. sold 12.82% shares of Asseco Poland S.A. (after this transaction Asseco Poland S.A.
ceased to be an associate).

(3) Muzo Media Sp. z 0.0. was entered into the court register on August 31, 2023 and the merger of Muzo Media Sp. z 0.0. (acquired
company) with Telewizja Polsat Sp. z 0.0. (acquiring company) was registered on December 19, 2023.

(4) PAK-PCE Group. As a result of the acquisition of additional 10.1% shares of PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0. on July 3, 2023,
Cyfrowy Polsat acquired control over PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0. and its subsidiaries.

(5) On December 31, 2023, the merger of PAK-PCE Wiatr Sp. z 0.0. (acquiring company) with PAK-PCE Farma Wiatrowa Jastrowie
Sp. z 0.0. and PAK-PCE Farma Wiatrowa Okonek Sp. z 0.0. (acquired companies) was registered.

(6) Port Praski Group. As a result of the acquisition of 66.94% shares of Port Praski Sp. z 0.0. on April 1, 2022, Cyfrowy Polsat acquired
control over the Port Praski Sp. z 0.0. and its subsidiaries.

(7) As aresult of the acquisition of 50% of shares on October 4, 2023, Pantanomo Limited owns 100% of shares in Port Praski City Il
Sp. z 0.0. and Port Praski Medical Center Sp. z 0.0.
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Additionally, the following entities were included in the consolidated financial statements for 2023:

Share in voting rights (%) as at

Company Registered office Activity December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
Karpacka Telewizja Warszawska 220, o o
Kablowa Sp. z 0.0.(" 26-600 Radom dormant 99% 99%
Polskie Badania Internetu Al. Jerozolimskie 65/79, -
rtals activiti 21.43%? 21.43%@
Sp. 20.0. 00-697 Warsaw web portals activities 3% 3%
Olchowa 14 .
©) ’ -
Asseco Poland S.A. 35.322 Rzeszow software activities 10,13%
Domaniewska 47, .
Pluszak Sp. z 0.0. 02-672 Warsaw retail sales 9% 9%
Exion Hydrogen Polskie Ku Ujsciu 19, production of electrical @ 10%
Elektrolizery Sp. z 0.0. 80-701 Gdansk equipment °
. Marcina Kasprzaka 4, telecommunication o 0
Towerlink Poland Sp. z 0.0. 01-211 Warsaw activities 0.01% 0.01%
Al. Stanéw Zjednoczonych .
MESE Sp. z 0.0. 61A, movie and TV @ 10%
04-028 Warsaw P
Megadex SPV Adama Mickiewicza 63, ) ; . o 0
Sp.20.00 01-625 Warsaw other financial services 7.02% 7.02%
Megadex Ksiezy Mtyn Adama Mickiewicza 63, implementation of _ 7.02%
Sp. z0.0.9 01-625 Warsaw construction projects e
. B . h 1 repair and
Stocznia Remontowa udowniczych 10, maintenance of ships 0.03% 0.03%

Nauta S.A.

81-336 Gdynia

and boats

(1)
@
©)
4)

®)

Investment accounted for at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Not material and therefore not included into the valuation using the equity method.
On Spetember 21, 2023, Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. sold 12.82% shares of Asseco Poland S.A. (after this transaction Asseco Poland
S.A. ceased to be an associate).
PAK-PCE Group. As a result of the acquisition of additional 10.1% shares of PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0. on July 3,
2023, Cyfrowy Polsat acquired control over PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0. and its subsidiaries
On May 31, 2023, the merger of Megadex SPV Sp. z 0.0. (acquiring company) with Megadex Ksiezy Mtyn Sp. z o0.0. (acquired

company) was registered.

Changes in the organizational structure of Polsat Plus Group and their effects

From January 1, 2023 until the date of publication of this Report, i.e. April 11, 2024, changes presented in the

table below were implemented in the structure of Polsat Plus Group.

25

Date

Description

B2C and B2B services segment

January 2, 2023
January 19, 2023
May 31, 2023

August 2, 2023

September 21,
2023

Merger of Netia S.A. (acquiring company) with Logitus Sp. z 0.0. (acquired company)
Disposal of 1,000 shares (0.0003%) in Netia by Cyfrowy Polsat to TiVi Foundation
Merger of Polkomtel (acquiring company) with TM Rental Sp. z 0.0. (acquired company)

Disposal of 100% of shares in Centrum Szkolenia i Zarzgdzania Nieruchomosciami Sp. z o.0.
by Polkomtel to Embud 2 Sp. z 0.0. S.K.A.

Disposal of 12.82% of shares in Asseco Poland S.A. by Cyfrowy Polsat in response to Asseco
Poland S.A.'s invitation to submit offers for the sale of shares, published on September 6,
2023.
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Disposal of 100% of shares CPSPV1 Sp. z 0.0. and CPSPV2 Sp. z 0.0. by Cyfrowy Polsat to

November 27, 2023 Polkomtel Business Development Sp. z o.0.

Merger of Premium Mobile Sp. z 0.0. (acquiring company) with Visignio Sp. z 0.0. (acquired

December 1, 2023
company)

Media segment

Registration in the court register of Interia.pl Sp. z 0.0., established as a result of the

January 2, 2023 transformation from Grupa Interia.pl Media Sp. z 0.0. Sp.k.

Registration in the court register of Polsat Media Sp. z 0.0., established as a result of the

January 2, 2023 transformation from Polsat Media Biuro Reklamy Sp. z 0.0. Sp.k.

February 15, 2023 Dlsposal of 50% of shares in Polsat Jim Jam Ltd. by Telewizja Polsat

July 20, 2023 Acquisition of 60% of shares in naEkranie.pl Sp. z 0.0. by Polsat Investments Ltd.
July 21, 2023 Acquisition of 60% of shares in 4Fun Sp. z 0.0. by Polsat Investments Ltd.
July 31, 2023 Merggr of Interia.pl Sp. z 0.0. (acquiring company) with Grupa Interia.pl. Sp. z 0.0. Sp.k.
(acquired company)
Acquisition of 0.01% of shares in Eleven Sports Network Sp. z 0.0. by Telewizja Polsat. As a
July 31, 2023 result of the transaction, Telewizja Polsat owns 100% of shares in Eleven Sports Network Sp.

Z 0.0.

Merger of Telewizja Polsat Sp. z 0.0. (acquiring company) with Polsat Media Biuro Reklamy

August 31, 2023 Sp. z 0.0. (acquired company)

August 31, 2023 Registration in the court register of Muzo Media Sp. z 0.0.

Registration in the court register of Mobiem Sp. z 0.0., established as a result of the

September 1, 2023 transformation from Mobiem Polska Sp. z 0.0. Sp. k.

Acquisition of 9.88% of shares in Antyweb Sp. z 0.0. by Interia.pl Sp. z 0.0. As a result of the

December 8, 2023 transaction, Interia.pl Sp. z 0.0. owns 79.88% of shares in Antyweb Sp. z 0.0.

Removal of Mobiem Polska Sp. z 0.0. from the court register
December 19, 2023  Registration of the suspension of the activities of Mobiem Polska Sp. z 0.0.. On January 17,
2024, the court registered the opening of the company's liquidation

December 19, 2023  Merger of Telewizja Polsat Sp. z 0.0. (acquiring company) with Muzo Media Sp. z o.0.
(acquired company)

December 20, 2023  Merger of TV Spektrum Sp. z 0.0. (acquiring company) with Polo TV Sp. z 0.0., Music TV Sp.
z 0.0. and Superstacja Sp. z 0.0. (acquired companies)

Green energy segment

Acquisition of 10.1% of shares in PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0. by Cyfrowy Polsat.
July 3, 2023 As a result of the transaction, Cyfrowy Polsat owns ca. 50.5% of shares in PAK-PCE and took
control over PAK-PCE together with its subsidiaries

Real estate segment

Merger of Megadex SPV Sp. z o0.0. (acquiring company) with Megadex Ksiezy Miyn Sp. z o.0.

May 31, 2023 :
(acquired company)

July 3, 2023 Acquisition of ca. 32% of shares in Pantanomo Ltd. by Cyfrowy Polsat

Merger of Port Praski Sp. z 0.0. (acquiring company) with Port Praski Inwestycje Sp. z o.0.

August 17, 2023 (acquired company)

September 4, 2023  Removal of Port Praski Sp. z 0.0. Biatystok Sp. k. from the register of entrepreneurs
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Acquisition of 50% of shares in Port Praski City Il Sp. z 0.0. and Port Praski Medical Center
October 4, 2023 Sp. z 0.0. by Pantanomo Ltd. As a result of the transaction, Pantanomo Ltd. owns 100% of
shares in Port Praski City Il Sp. z 0.0. and Port Praski Medical Center Sp. z o.0.

November 8, 2023 Merger of Centrum Zdrowia i Relaksu V(.er.ano Sp. z 0.0. (acquiring company) with Turystyka
Zdrowotna Verano Plus Sp. z 0.0. (acquiried company)

The changes described above are the effect of acquisitions and the systematically executed process of
steady optimization of the capital structure of the Group. The changes in the Group’s structure entail, among
other things, improved efficiency of financial management on the consolidated level through the simplification
and streamlining of intragroup financial flows and the elimination of redundant costs.

Furthermore, the Group is acquiring selected assets in order to effectively and dynamically implement its
Strategy 2023+ which is focused, in particular, on the Group’s development in the area of energy production
from low- and zero-emission sources and the acquisition of attractive real estate projects.
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2. Our business

2.1. Our products and services

2.1.1. B2C and B2B services segment

In the B2C and B2B services segment, we offer a wide range of high-quality pay TV and telecommunications
services to individual and business customers. Telecommunications services include mobile and fixed
Internet access, mobile and fixed telephony, ICT services and business solutions. We also provide services
to other telecom MNOs and MVNOs in the wholesale business.

Bundling of services is one of the strongest trends on the Polish media and telecommunications market. In
keeping with the rapidly changing market environment and customers’ expectations, seeking media and
telecommunications services at affordable prices from a single operator with one contract, one bill and one
fee, we consistently implement our multiplay strategy, we are consistently implementing our multiplay
strategy, which allows us to bundle our core products and services of pay TV, telephony and broadband
Internet access with additional services and products in a simple and flexible manner. The successful
implementation of the multiplay strategy supports the maintenance of a high level of customer loyalty, thereby
reducing the churn rate and contributing to an increase in the average revenue per user.

Pay TV and online video

Our pay TV offering. We are the largest pay TV provider in Poland. We provide pay TV services under the
‘Polsat Box’, ‘Netia’ and ‘Polsat Box Go’ brands. In order to meet the changing trends in television content
consumption, we provide our customers with TV services in such technologies as satellite (DTH), Internet
(IPTV and OTT) and terrestrial (in DVB-T2 HEVC standard). In addition, we provide additional services aimed
at building customer value such as our OTT platform Polsat Box Go, access to the Disney+ platform,
VOD/PPV, online video and music services, catch-up TV, Multiroom HD services and paid premium content
channels.

Our programming strategy is to offer a wide range of channels that appeal to the whole family at attractive
prices. Our customers have access to over 160 TV channels which focus on diverse topics: general, sports,
movie, lifestyle, education, music, news/information and children’s channels. Our contract pay TV services
consist of four basic packages, which vary in the number of available channels and additional services
depending on the subscription amount, and are offered for a fixed period of time, usually 24 months. We also
offer the opportunity to purchase 12 add-on packages, including 9 premium content packages, which are
available for a fixed or indefinite period of time, providing freedom to customize the offering.

Premium content is an important element that builds the value of our pay TV offer, and this is one of the
reasons why we have introduced sports and film TV packages to our offer, such as Polsat Sport Premium,
Eleven Sports, Canal+ Sports 3 and 4, HBO with HBO Max service and FilmBox with HBO Max service. A
differentiator of our TV offer is access to the Disney+ platform under a subscription agreement, which Polsat
Plus Group offers to its customers as the only operator of pay TV and telecommunication services in Poland.
The full current offer of pay TV services is available at polsatbox.pl.

As part of our pay TV offer we offer our customers the opportunity to rent a high-quality set-top box. We view
subsidizing of set-top boxes as a support tool for acquiring new customers. We operate on the principle that
the higher the price of the package the lower the price of the set-top box and the higher set-top box subsidy
incurred by us. All new set-top boxes rent by us are produced in-house at our manufacturing plant in Mielec.
We systematically develop the software and improve functionality of our set-top boxes, so as to better address
changing consumer preferences and video consumption trends. We also dynamically expand next
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generations of our set-top boxes to offer, in particular, new devices which allow to receive our content via
Internet links, both in IPTV and OTT technologies.

Online video. In addition to the basic and add-on packages, our offer also includes access to the Polsat Box
Go service and app, which offers paid content from the Group and third party producers and broadcasters
(including an extensive library of VOD content and more than 130 online channels). Polsat Box Go offers
several hundreds of hours of live coverage per month from the largest sports events nationwide and
worldwide, exclusive full seasons of the latest Polish premium series, the latest movies, news and
entertainment programs, Ukrainian language channels and channels broadcast in 4K quality, and access to
Disney+ in one of the packages.

Polsat Box Go provides users with content in one of two paid models. The first one is single access, in which
the customer pays a fixed amount for the opportunity to view a specific material. The second model includes
access to packages of materials and/or channels in return for a monthly access fee. Thanks to the
www.polsatboxgo.pl website and dedicated applications the content of Polsat Box Go is available on a wide
array of consumer devices. Due to the flexibility of the offer, Polsat Box Go subscriptions are recognized as
prepaid services.

Other services. We also provide signal broadcast services to television and radio broadcasters. These
services include the provision of transponder bandwidth, broadcasting and encoding the signal and its
distribution to networks of other operators, including cable operators.

How do we provide pay TV and online video services? We have signed a long-term contract with Eutelsat
S.A. regarding the use of capacity on eight transponders on Hot Bird satellites. Our broadcasting center
located in Warsaw enables us to transmit TV channels in SD, HD and 4K quality. We also have a backup
broadcasting center located in Radom, which guarantees broadcasting continuity. Access to TV channels
offered in our DTH pay TV packages is secured by a conditional access system that we lease from the
company Nagravision SA. Moreover, we cooperate with another provider of a conditional access system -
Irdeto B.V. Beside securing digital content transmitted using DVB-T2 technology, the Irdeto system also
provides security of the satellite system (DHT) and IPTV. Furthermore, Irdeto provides us with specialized
and complete monitoring of the Internet enabling the collection and analysis of occurrences that may infringe
copyrights of entities in our Group.

Our modern streaming platform Polsat Box Go, whose applications were built using modern UX/Ul (User
Experience and User Interface) trends, is adapted to the most important operating systems and a wide range
of consumer devices. We have developed unique technological competences in encoding and streaming
audiovisual content on the Internet, as well as optimizing distribution of this type of signal. We apply
proprietary solutions, which enable us to provide services optimally adjusted to the limitations of Internet
infrastructure in Poland and the capacities of external systems with which our applications are integrated. We
use our own servers and our own CDN (Content Distribution Network) infrastructure.

Mobile and fixed-line telephony

We provide mobile voice services mainly through our subsidiary Polkomtel, Plus network operator and one
of the leading Polish telecommunications operators, under the Plus umbrella brand as well as under the
Plush, Premium Mobile, Netia and a2mobile brands, while fixed line voice services are available under the
Netia offering. Retail mobile services are available in contract and prepaid models.

Mobile voice services. The offer for individual contract customers is standardized and includes a variety of
tariff plans. As part of the monthly subscription fee, the customer receives unlimited calls, SMS and MMS, as
well as Internet packages or additional minutes, SMS and GB for roaming. In addition, the customer can
receive streaming services, online services on the phone such as Polsat Box Go, device or Internet protection
services, as well as other value-added services (VAS). In the era of increasing content consumption via the
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Internet, an important element of mobile voice offers is data service. As part of the subscription, customers
are offered data packages, the size of which depends on the commitment level. Customers opting for lower
commitments can also purchase services not included in the subscription, such as additional data packages
or roaming packages.

Contracts are concluded for a fixed period, usually 24 months, although the Plush sub-brand and the Premium
Mobile offer also allow customers to conclude contracts for an indefinite period. Our contract mobile offering
is complemented by an extensive portfolio of smartphones supporting LTE, LTE Advanced and 5G
technologies. Customers can opt for a no-phone offer or choose from a range of handsets offered on an
installment plan. We also offer cash or installment purchase options, as well as used phone buy-backs.

Prepaid voice offers allow our customers to access the mobile network after purchasing and registering the
appropriate starter (SIM card with an allocated amount to use for mobile services). With prepaid offers, there
are no fixed monthly commitments and customers only need to top up their accounts when they want to use
the services.

Fixed-line services. We provide fixed-line telecommunications services under the Netia and Plus brands
based mainly on the landline infrastructure of our subsidiary Netia. The dedicated retail offering of fixed-line
telephony includes both business customers, including institutions, medium and large enterprises and small
companies, as well as individual customers.

Mobile and fixed-line Internet

We offer broadband Internet access services in both mobile technology, under the Plus, Premium Mobile and
Netia brands, and fixed line technology, under the Netia and Plus brands, based on the wireline infrastructure
of our subsidiary Netia and wholesale access to the wireline networks of other operators.

Our Internet access service offering is universal in nature, providing access to the Internet via all mobile or
fixed technologies supported by the network for a single subscription fee. Currently, almost 100% of Poles
are covered by our LTE Plus Internet service, almost 97% by LTE Plus Advanced Internet and nearly 70% by
5G networks. Approximately 7 million of Polish households are currently within range of our fixed line internet
service, which is available over both Netia's extensive nationwide fixed line infrastructure and other operators'
fiber broadband networks.

Mobile Internet. Dedicated contract tariff plans offer basic mobile broadband Internet access. These contract
plans are based on a monthly subscription and allow for a defined data transmission limit. Under our contract
plans customers may purchase or lease Internet access devices (including dongle modems, fixed and mobile
routers, Home Internet Sets). In addition, our offer includes tablets laptops and other devices, which can be
purchased in an installment plan, as well as tariffs without equipment. Contracts are concluded for a fixed
term, usually for 24 months.

We also offer tariffs based on a prepaid model which allow customers to receive a specific data package,
whose size and period of validity are determined by the value of the top-up. For the top-up money the
customer can buy additional packages priced up to PLN 40, which offer, depending on the selected package,
unlimited calls, text and multimedia messages, as well as additional data packs.

A unique product in our portfolio is Home Internet Set, thanks to which we can offer our customers a product
based on wireless technology that constitutes a substitute for fixed-line Internet. The Home Internet Set works
perfectly in non-typical locations where the signal strength is low, as well as in all the places where no fixed-
line access to the Internet is offered via cable connection. Based on a special technical solution ODU-IDU
(Outdoor Unit Indoor Unit), the Home Internet Set consists of an external modem (ODU) and a Wi-Fi router
(IDU). ODU/IDU devices can be installed separately, or they can be integrated with the existing satellite or
terrestrial TV antenna systems. The signal is transmitted from the ODU modem to a Wi-Fi IDU router over

30



Grupa Report of the Management Board
Polsat on the activities of Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. Capital Group
QlUS/ for the financial year ended December 31, 2023

a concentric cable. The router, in turn, distributes the signal to all the rooms ensuring wireless access to the
Internet. This solution provides better network coverage and, as a result, higher transfer quality than
traditional modems and routers. The offer includes sets operating on 5G and LTE technologies. When
choosing the Home Internet Set, the customer buys an ODU-IDU device in the installment plan and selects
the Internet package.

For the provision of mobile services we use, among others, a 5G network based on a dedicated 2600 MHz
band in TDD technology. Polkomtel, Plus network operator, was the only operator on the Polish market to
allocate a separate, dedicated band for 5G. This solution allowed the implementation of 5G technology
without the accelerated shutdown mode of older technologies (mainly 3G), providing the possibility of
uninterrupted Internet access to customers' devices using older data transmission technologies. 5G in the
additional 2600 MHz band guarantees Plus network customers very high speed parameters, confirmed by
independent tests. In a summary of rankings conducted by SpeedTest.pl in 2023, Plus 5G network had the
highest average download speeds, and its result far exceeded the average download speeds in 5G networks
of other operators and via older LTE technology. As of March 2024, more than 23 million Polish residents in
1,150 locations across the country were already within the range of Plus' 5G network, and the total number
of 5G base stations was nearly 3,700. As a result, more than half of the Polish population is already within
range of our 5G network in Poland.

Fixed-line Internet. The fixed-line Internet offer includes access to high speed Internet, provided mostly in
fiber optic technologies. The service is provided in four technologies depending on the available
infrastructure: copper (CU), Ethernet (ETTH), cable (HFC) and fiber optic (PON). Offer varies depending on
speed and additional options selected, including TV and mobile services. The offering is concluded for a 24-
month period, including dedicated promotional offers. The Internet services for individual customers are
primarily sold in bundles with TV and voice services, including mobile services. The offering is complemented
by a range of value-added services that support ARPU levels and have a positive impact on customer loyalty.

We offer fixed-line Internet access primarily based on Netia’s extensive, nationwide fixed-line infrastructure,
which comprises both a backbone network and an access network. This network currently reaches
approximately 3.3 million households across the country, and over 800 largest office buildings. When taking
into account agreements for wholesale access to fixed-line networks with Orange Polska, Swiattowod
Inwestycje, Nexera, Tauron and Fiberhost, we are able to reach over 6.9 million households with our fixed-
line Internet access offer.

Solutions for business customers

Under the Plus and Netia brands, we offer business customers comprehensive solutions tailored to the needs
of each industry. Our offer is aimed at all business segments, and our services support the operations of large
business entities (corporations, state institutions), small and medium-sized businesses, and SOHO (Small
Office / Home Office).

The Group's B2B division has an extensive sales structure that ensures convenient contact and efficient
implementation of services. Our customers are supported by business experts dedicated to serving individual
entities, and the implementation of advanced solutions and technologies is carried out by experienced
engineers.

The B2B portfolio includes a wide range of solutions that provide reliable and secure connectivity and high-
speed access to the Internet:

o we offer a full range of mobile and fixed telephony services;
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we offer state-of-the-art IP telephony services with cloud virtual private branch exchange (VPBX),
integrated communications services (unified communications) and video communications (HD video
conferencing services);

we provide access to broadband Internet in mobile (including 5G) and fixed technologies (FTTX,
Ethernet, xDSL and HFC), which is an essential tool for any business today;

we provide simple tools for effective communication with customers and employees, such as bulk
SMS (with or without parameters);

we take care of the security of our customers' resources by implementing cybersecurity solutions and
IT outsourcing (colocation);

we facilitate cost optimization with services that allow you to monitor your fleet of vehicles, production
lines or the performance of your employees' tasks;

we facilitate cost optimization with services that allow you to monitor your fleet of vehicles, production
lines or the performance of your employees' tasks.

Despite this broad portfolio, we are constantly expanding the Group's product offering in response to
market changes and the needs of our customers. In 2023, we commercially launched a dedicated
nationwide NBIoT (Narrow Band IoT) radio network, allowing us to collect data from places that are difficult
to access or have limited range (parking lots, basements, sewer manholes, etc.) and guaranteeing long-
lasting operation of devices on battery power (even up to several years). This is a further step in the
development of solutions for the Internet of Things.

In addition to numerous services and solutions, we also offer equipment (telephones, routers, etc.) and
accessories (watches, projectors, headsets, etc.) from reputable suppliers. We are a seller of electricity and
gas, and since we value ecology, our B2B portfolio also includes products in the area of renewable energy
sources, such as photovoltaics.

In 2023, we entered into strategic partnership with Google Cloud under which Polsat Plus Group will receive
strong content support from Google Cloud for long-term development of its business and digital
transformation. In order to support its development and to adjust to the evolving customer needs, Polsat Plus
Group will be migrating part of its IT infrastructure to clean-energy-powered cloud solutions provided by
Google. Cloud solutions enhance flexibility in terms of selection of IT services and tools, offer faster and more
efficient adaptation of products and services to customer needs as well as easier access and analysis of the
data coming from various sources, while reducing the cost of maintenance of own infrastructure and, thanks
to the use of off-the-shelf components, offering shorter lead times for delivery of new applications as well as
cost reduction which is owed to increased adoption of cloud-based approach, reduction of number of systems
and lower energy consumption. As part of the strategic partnership, the IT staff of Polsat Plus Group
companies (i.a. Polkomtel, Netia, Oktawave) will gain strong training support from Google in the field of
Google’s latest cloud solutions, with particular stress on machine learning (ML) and artificial intelligence (Al)
skills. This will help us fully exploit the computational power of the cloud to the benefit of the new solutions
which will be implemented for the Group’s customers.

Retail sales channels

Retail customers can buy our services and products from our physical sales network, which as of December
31, 2023, consisted of 846 points of sale located throughout the country. The points of sale offer pay TV,
mobile telephony, mobile and fixed Internet as well as a range of other additional services and products.

In the digital era, online sales channels play an increasingly important role in the commercial area, ranging
from the presentation of a rich offer to the possibility of conducting the full purchase process and after-sales
service on-line as well as watching video content. We maintain commercial websites containing detailed
information about various products and services offered by Polsat Plus Group companies and brands, the
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most important of which are polsatbox.pl, polsatboxgo.pl, plus.pl, plushbezlimitu.pl, premiummobile.pl,
a2mobile.pl and netia.pl.

Another sales channel is the call center. Our call centers are available to our existing and potential customers
24 hours a day, seven days a week, and are responsible for providing comprehensive and professional
customer service, active product up-selling and customer retention as well as providing information about our
services and brokering subscriptions.

Sales of prepaid telecommunication services take place through other channels of distribution. As at
December 31, 2023, we had 30 active agreements with non-exclusive independent dealers of our prepaid
services, with a total of approximately 60 thousand outlets selling starter kits and scratch cards and
approximately 150 thousand outlets selling electronic top-ups. Prepaid top-ups are also executed online via
our own websites: www.doladuj.plus.pl and www.doladuj.plushbezlimitu.pl, via the dedicated websites of our
partners and via Internet banking services.

Customer relations and retention management

Customer relations management. In a highly competitive market, the quality of customer service is an
important factor that often determines the choice of a particular operator. We consistently improve the quality
of our customer service using the latest technologies. We use an advanced customer relationship
management system which makes it possible to comprehensively handle and document all requests placed
by customers in a timely and effective manner.

The core of customer service is the call center. It consists of eight separate centers integrated through a
system of intelligent call distribution, providing 24-hour customer service on all days of the year. Within the
Group, we have about 1,650 telephone desks and about 920 back-office desks for handling written and
electronic requests (including handling technical requests). We are actively developing alternative channels
of contact through social media, chat and online forums.

We also provide customer service using advanced self-service solutions to manage subscriber accounts.
These solutions are offered in a form of such online services and mobile applications as iPolsatBox, iPlus
and Netia Online. These tools include, among others, constant and free-of-charge access to up-to-date
information on billing, current offers, current usage, they allow to purchase additional packages and services,
effect online payments and modify contact details. Moreover, our services include a technical support section,
FAQs, an online contact form and an online communication channel.

Customer retention management is one of our key business areas. Our goals in this area are to minimize
value and volume churn, thereby effectively securing revenues from Polsat Plus Group's customer base.
Thanks to extensive analytical tools, we are able to verify and learn about the needs of our customers. This
allows us to effectively use this knowledge in dedicated customer retention activities. What's more, we start
these activities during the contract period (proactive retention process). We offer our customers the
opportunity to change their contract terms and increase their Internet packages at any time during the contract
period. The reactive retention process depends on the customer declaring his or her desire to stop using our
services. As part of this process, a specialized team of consultants contacts the customer and presents new,
attractive terms of further cooperation to encourage them to stay with our Group.

All processes are based on value creation and the consistent resale of additional services to the customer.
This is possible thanks to the wide range of products we offer. Our loyalty offers can be implemented in any
sales channel - online, by phone with home delivery, or at any point of sale.
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Wholesale business on telecommunication market

As part of our wholesale business we offer network interconnection, international and national roaming,
services to MVNOs, shared access to network assets, lease of network infrastructure, as well as other
telecommunications services provided to other telecommunications companies in Poland and abroad.

Exchange of traffic between operators (network interconnection). Our telecommunications infrastructure
used in interconnection cooperation enables us to effectively manage telecommunications traffic routing from
and to networks of all operators domestically and abroad. As at December 31, 2023, Polkomtel was party to
23 interconnection agreements with national and foreign operators with respect to voice calls. Such a number
of interconnection relations allows for reducing our costs of call termination in the networks of other operators,
while maintaining the highest quality of telecommunication services for our end-users with respect to traffic,
both initiated and terminated in our network.

In 2023, we implemented new, lower rates of wholesale settlements in all our interconnection relations
following the implementation of uniform maximum Union-wide mobile voice termination rates (MTR) and fixed
voice termination rates (FTR). In parallel, just as in previous years, active steps were taken in relations with
domestic and foreign operators in order to reduce the costs of wholesale termination of voice calls and text
messages incurred by us.

In 2023, Polkomtel has actively increased the number of agreements for the purchase of wholesale access
to local loops in the networks of fixed operators under the Bitsream Access model, which enables the
provision of retail Internet access services based on the fixed access infrastructure of other operators.

International roaming. Within our wholesale business we provide international roaming services to foreign
mobile operators that allow customers of foreign mobile telecommunications network operators to use mobile
telecommunications services (voice calls, texting and multimedia messages (SMSs and MMSs) and data
transmission) when logged to our network and outside their home network. We also enter into international
roaming wholesale agreements in order to provide, both to our own customers and the customers of MVNOs’
partners operating on our network, international roaming services in the networks of our roaming partners.

As present, Polkomtel offers roaming services in 593 networks in 229 countries and regions as well as on
ships, ferries and aircraft decks. Fast Internet access (LTE) is possible in 449 networks in 185 countries.
Polkomtel’s customers may use services in 3G in 201 networks in 78 countries.

Due to the shutting down of 2G and 3G services by roaming partners, and in order to provide our customers
with high quality voice roaming connection, we continue to open VoLTE roaming, in which voice calls are
made using LTE technology. The service is currently available on 18 networks in 13 countries, including the
us.

Virtual operators (MVNOs). We provide operators present in Poland with wholesale access to our mobile
telecommunications network based on all network technologies available to Plus subscribers, such as 5G,
VoLTE and VoWIFI, both domestically and on international roaming. As a rule, this type of cooperation is used
by operators who do not own complete technical infrastructure required to provide telecommunications
services (including frequency allocations).

As part of the cooperation with MVNOs, we provide wholesale services including voice calls, text messaging
(SMS) and data transmission (including MMS services), premium rate services, value-added services,
international roaming, services provided to specific governmental authorities and agencies, hosting services
on our billing platform, MVNO customer support, handling claims of MVNOs’ customers, access to SIM cards,
telephone devices and Plus’s telephone card recharging sales channels as well as other services, depending
on the needs and selected technical model of cooperation.
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Polkomtel was the first mobile operator in Poland to open its network to MVNOs (already in 2006) and since
then it sustains the leading position in this telecommunications market segment. MVNO business is an
important part of Polsat Plus Group's wholesale sales. Currently, more than 1 million end users use the
Polkomtel network through MVNO partners' offers.

Technology and infrastructure of telecommunication services

Mobile Network. Our mobile telecommunication network enables nationwide access to a number of various
technologies, including GSM/GPRS/EDGE (2G technologies), UMTS/HSPA +/HSPA + Dual Carrier (3G
technologies), LTE/LTE Advanced (4G technologies) and the most modern 5G technology. We provide these
services on the basis of frequency bands and a core network owned by our subsidiary Polkomtel, while in the
radio and transmission area we closely cooperate with Towerlink Poland, a member of the Spanish Cellnex
Group with whom we entered into an agreement in July 2021 to sell 99.99% of the shares of our subsidiary
Polkomtel Infrastruktura. The assets of the sold company included in particular the passive and active layers
of the mobile infrastructure of Polsat Plus Group.

The Master Services Agreement signed by us was concluded for 25 years, with an option of extension for
additional 15-year periods. Under the terms of the agreement, our mobile telecommunications network is
developed in the radio and transmission areas using services provided by Towerlink Poland. These services
provide access to infrastructure enabling our customers to use all currently available technologies on the
basis of all frequency bands held by Polsat Plus Group. Towerlink Poland’s monthly remuneration is
dependent mainly on the number of sites and active infrastructure systems ordered and used within the active
layer of the infrastructure. In parallel to the service agreement, a detailed Service Level Agreement has been
concluded, which ensures the highest quality both in terms of implementing new network projects and
maintaining the existing services provided to Polsat Plus Group. Effective enforcement of the quality
parameters required by the SLA is possible at the level of the systems monitoring the condition of the network
on an ongoing basis contained in our core network, which remains the property of Polsat Plus Group. This
allows us to continuously provide our customers with the highest quality of service.

The table below shows the number of emission services provided by Towerlink Poland to our customers at
the end of December 2023:

Number of systems on-air

Technology as at December 31, 2023 Change YoY
2G technology, including: 7,955
GSM 900 7,386 218
GSM 1800 569 2
3G technology, including: 11,433
WCDMA 2100 3,953 20
WCDMA 900 7,480 222
4G technology, including: 19,233
LTE 1800 7,486 244
LTE 2600 TDD 352 4
LTE 2600 FDD 3,104 229
LTE 2100 681 -460
LTE 900 7,610 225
5G technology, including:
5G 2600 TDD 3,679 299

Our core network ensures central handling of customer services, integrating them for the 2G/3G/4G/5G
technologies (Single Core). In this way, we are able to provide customers with access to our services
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irrespective of the radio technology applied, enabling an evolutionary transition of voice services from 2G
(GSM), through 3G (including higher quality voice services), to 4G (with voice services based on CSFB or
VoLTE) and 5G. The same strategy is used for data transmission services, enabling customers to use the
broadband Internet access both in the 3G (HSPA+, HSPA+ Dual Carrier) as well as the 4G (LTE/LTE
Advanced) and 5G (2600 MHz TDD) networks. The core network architecture facilitates effective and easy
capacity expansion to match the growth of the customer base and increased service demand.

Frequency reservations for the purpose of provision of telecommunication services. Currently, there
is no regulatory requirement to hold a license to provide mobile telecommunications services and the right to
use frequencies results from issued frequency allocation decisions and can be extended for further periods
by the President of the Office of Electronic Communications (UKE). At present, based on frequency
allocations issued by the President of UKE Polkomtel is entitled to use frequencies in the 900 MHz, 1800
MHz, 2100 MHz, 2600 MHz FDD and TDD, 420 MHz and 3600 MHz bands (see item 2.2.1. — Mobile
telephony market in Poland).

All frequency allocations are technology neutral and can also be used to provide services in each of the
technologies currently in use (2G, 3G, 4G or 5G).

Fixed-line network. Our fixed-line network is based on DWDM transport, which in its backbone layer
contains 260 nodes, including 190 nodes with automatic GMPLS protection/restoration, thus guarantying very
high network reliability. The maximum throughput of a single DWDM span is 34TB.

The modern DWDM network is characterized by higher channel throughout and band capacity which ensures
links with speeds of 100G/200G/400G and ultra-low latency. service channels, and can carry 1TB channels.
The network is equipped with automatic fault location diagnostics (GPS coordinates) with integrated OTDR
components, which enables significant reduction of fault clearing time.

There are over 700 DWDM/CWDM access nodes enabling connections to end users in metropolitan networks
and to B2B customers in operation.

As part of the DWDM transmission network, international links to Frankfurt, Berlin, Prague and Lviv were
launched, and DWDM access to the main data centers in Poland was provided.

Additionally, our transmission network has the possibility of encrypting client connections and establishing
virtual transport networks for other operators.

The IP layer of our network is based on 8 backbone nodes which provide interconnection points to Tier1
operators, XSP operators, IP traffic exchange points, content providers and Cloud infrastructure. The IP
backbone aggregates Carrier Ethernet traffic, B2C customer traffic and its own CDN for the purposes of the
IPTV services provided by the Polsat Plus Group.

The Carrier Ethernet layer, based on IP MPLS technology, consists of 180 distribution routers connected by
100G lines and over 2,800 access switches with 10G ports. This allows us to reach customers throughout
the country and abroad with our services. Within the Carrier Ethernet network we provide services compliant
with MEF CE 2.0 certification/standard.

We provide Internet access services for B2C customers via an access network comprising 1,400 DSLAM
access nodes (in xDSL and SuperVector technologies), two metropolitan areas with the cable HFC network
(DOCSIS 3.x), nearly 12,000 access switches performing ETTH access and 820 FTTH nodes.

Currently, we are in the process of upgrading our access network based on two main fiber optic technologies:
FTTH (Fiber to the Home, i.e. fiber optic access to every apartment) using GPON (passive optical network)
technology and FTTB (Fiber to the Building), in which fiber reaches every building and subscriber access is
provided using Gigabit Ethernet technology. Together with a modern, constantly developed HFC DOCSIS 3.x
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network in Warsaw and Krakow, this enables the provision of services with a capacity of 1 Gbps to all
customers being within the reach of these networks.

2.1.2. Media segment: television and online

Broadcasting and television production

Our offering. Our activities in broadcasting and television production include primarily production, acquisition
and broadcasting of information, sports and entertainment programs as well as TV series and feature films
broadcast on television channels. Our portfolio comprises 43 own channels including our flagship channel
POLSAT. Moreover there is a group of 6 cooperating channels which are related with Polsat Plus Group either
by capital links or joint broadcasting projects. The Group’s channels are delivered both over multiplexes in
the terrestrial network (free of charge) and over cable, satellite or IP network (paid).

We have a portfolio of channels that appeal to key audience segments, we maintain a strong position in the
news television segment and a leading position in sports programming. Our offer is addressed to the entire
family. With a view to maintaining our overall audience and advertising market share, we focus on developing
our portfolio of thematic channels and increasing the appeal of the content we offer to our viewers.

Scheduling. We tailor our programs and programming schedules to the interests of the group, that
considering its demographic characteristics, we believe is most attractive to advertisers as well as to maintain
viewer loyalty. It is especially important in the time slot between early afternoon and ‘prime time’, which is the
period of highest viewership. To achieve this goal, each day (from Monday to Friday) we plan stable slots so
that the viewer can remember the programming scheme of the channel. This strategy is implemented
between 3pm and 8pm. A strong line-up of movies, reality shows, talent shows and popular series dominates
after 8 pm.

Our scheduling is based on two schedules that are key from the point of view of generating advertising
revenue: the spring (March-May) and autumn (September-November) schedules. That is when we broadcast
premieres. In the summer and winter, we schedule mainly re-runs of the content premiering in the high
season, although recently it has become a custom to introduce premieres into the programming offer also
outside the regular season scheduling.

Sources of Polish programming. We aim to diversify sources of Polish content, enabling us to efficiently
manage production costs. Thanks to that we are able to choose those offers from a wide range of proposals
which are both attractive and cost-effective in order to ensure successful scheduling. In case of formats
owned by us, we cooperate with external producers, both Polish and foreign ones.

Polish programs are primarily commissioned to independent external producers. However, we also create
programs in-house. Approximately 60% of our programming hours consist of Polish content.

Programs supported by in-house production include news and journalistic programs as well as special events.
Also, sports channels, which are based primarily on the broadcasting of sports events for which we have
acquired the rights, are produced with TV Polsat's own resources. As a leading commercial broadcaster and
content creator, Telewizja Polsat uses the latest technologies and equipment. We have the largest production
facilities in Poland, including, most importantly, 7 state-of-the-art TV studios, 3 shooting halls with a surface
area of 1200 m2, 1600 m2 and 2400 m2, a fleet of digital broadcast trucks adapted to produce major sporting
and performing events, modern satellite trucks for transmitting TV signals directly from venues,
comprehensive IT systems to support program production, data storage, framed graphics generation,
program library maintenance and license management.

Commissioned programs are sub-contracted, when justifiable, to third-party production companies to provide
us with additional support for implementing them and avoid increasing overhead costs. In most cases we use
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a standard template for all production contracts we enter into. When the production of TV programs is
commissioned to external producers, the contracts generally include the transfer of ownership of the work to
TV Polsat. The producer’s fees include production fees as well as fees for the transfer of copyrights, related
intellectual property rights to the program (or, alternatively, for granting the license) and for granted
authorizations and consents. All production and license agreements have definite terms, the number of reruns
within the Group, typically covering the time of production with the possibility for extensions.

Sources of foreign programming. We purchase programming licenses from foreign providers primarily for
films, series and sports. The purchase of foreign formats for local productions, both entertainment and feature
films, is done with an eye toward the possibility of broadcasting on different antennas. Our key partners for
movie and series licenses are the world’s major movie studios. Usually, these contracts have terms of two to
three years as well as for film packages and are denominated in U.S. dollars or euro. We acquire broadcasting
rights under one of two types of contractual arrangements. The first are the so called volume contracts, which
involve the acquisition of a specified volume of films or series, while the second constitute spot contracts, In
both cases, the negotiations involve specific titles.

Purchase of sports broadcasting rights. Important sports licenses purchased by Polsat Group include
broadcasting rights to the football and volleyball competitions. We offer football fans broadcasts of qualifiers
to the UEFA European Championships and the FIFA World Championships as well as the football Nations
League. As for volleyball, we offer the biggest and most prestigious volleyball tournaments — the men’s and
women’s World Volleyball Championships, games of the volleyball Nations League, the men’s and women’s
Europe Volleyball Championships, the club volleyball competitions of Polish Plus Liga and Tauron Liga and
also the volleyball matches of CEV Champions League.

Through our subsidiary Eleven Sports Network we have access to attractive sports rights to football games,
including Spanish LaLiga EA Sports and Supercopa de Espafia, Italian Serie A, English The Emirates FA
Cup, French Ligue 1 Uber Eats, German DFB-Pokal, Belgian Jupiler Pro League, and speedway races of the
Polish PGE Ekstraliga.

We also offer boxing and mixed martial arts galas (UFC, Frank Warren, FEN, Babilon), Wimbledon and ATP
1000 and 500 tournaments, and many others.

We acquire sports rights by participating in a bidding process or tender contest. The duration of license
contracts usually relates to playing seasons for each event. Typically, they are concuded for the 3 year term
on the territory of Poland and denominated in euro. We leverage the acquired sports rights by offering
broadcasts to our viewers and subscribers, including on specially created dedicated Polsat Sport Premium
channels and Eleven Sports Network sports channels. In addition, the sports content is sold as program
packages to pay TV operators active on the Polish market as well as directly to customers through OTT
applications (among others, ELEVEN SPORTS and Polsat Box Go).

Under the existing agreement with the International Volleyball Federation FIVB until 2032 we will broadcast
the most important events in the world and national team volleyball. The package of acquired rights includes
the Volleyball Nations League (260 matches in total during the season and qualifying tournaments to the
Volleyball Nations League), Challenger Cup, qualifying tournaments to the 2024 Olympic Games and men’s
and women’s World Championship.

Furthermore, we have been holding broadcasting rights purchased from PLPS (Polish Professional Volleyball
League) to Plus League and Tauron League matches already for a decade. In 2020, we extended this contract
for another four seasons until 2027/2028.

From 2018 Polsat Plus Group also offers its viewers and subscribers the matches of the prestigeous football
club games - the UEFA Champions League for all channels of distribution, including television, the Internet,
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and mobile devices. The games are broadcast in Polsat Sport Premium channels. The current UEFA
Champions League license expires in mid-2024.

In the area of other sports, we concluded agreements for the broadcast of ORLEN Super League and ORLEN
Women's Super League handball matches for the next 7 seasons - until 2030, extended the license
agreement with the Polish Basketball League for the broadcast of the Energa Basket League until the end of
the 2029/2030 season and acquired exclusive rights to broadcast the Ice Hockey World Championship from
2024 to 2029.

Sale of advertising and sponsoring on the TV market

We offer the sale of spots in commercial blocks and program sponsorship in the form of presented
sponsorship boards placed on program ftrailers, before and after the resumption of the program after a
commercial break or at the end of the program.

Advertising time is sold in a form of GRP sales and monthly rate-card sales. GRP sales are based on
delivering a specified audience to the advertiser based on viewership results. The valuation of the service is
based on fixed price per one rating point. Rate-card sales are based on a broadcaster’s official rate-card for
individual advertising breaks. The terms of cooperation with customers include negotiation of prices per GRP
point (for individual months) and discounts depending on the declared amount of annual expenses.

Sponsor projects are sold throughout the year on the basis of a project created together with a client. Prices
and discount conditions are negotiated individually for each customer and each sponsor campaign.

Forecasts of advertising break audience are prepared for each month based on the overall TV audience, the
channel’s share in the overall audience and seasonality (prices of commercials are highest from October to
November, before Christmas season, and lowest from January to February and from July to August). In 2023,
rate-card sales accounted for 68% of all advertising sales on our main channel, POLSAT.

In turn, pricing of sponsoring is based on the relevance of the subject matter of the program to the sponsor’s
needs and the target group, the quality of our programs, recognition of brands and the attractiveness of the
broadcast slot. As a result, sponsorship revenue is not directly dependent on the economy, as is the case
with advertising revenue.

TV channels of Polsat Plus Group

Channel Description Signal Technical
distribution reach®

POLSAT The main channel, broadcast since December 5, 1992, was the
first commercial channel in Poland to obtain a nationwide license
for analogue broadcasting. POLSAT is one of the leading Polish
TV channels in terms of shares in the commercial audience group.
POLSAT broadcasts daily, 24/7. The channel is available via digital terrestrial /
terrestrial TV on the second multiplex (MUX-2) and on local cable/ satellite
multiplexes (MUX-L4 and MUX-TVS). The channel features a
broad selection of films, entertainment shows, news and
commentaries, Polish and foreign TV series, as well as popular
sporting events.

General interest

97.9%

Super Polsat Channel offering entertainment and information programs, movies, terrestrial /
series and live sports coverage. cable/ 96.9%
satellite
Polsat 1 Channel addressed to Poles living abroad, broadcasts various
productions from the libraries of the channels: Polsat, TV4, Polsat satellite n/a

Cafe and Polsat Play.

Polsat 2 Channel broadcasting reruns of programs that premiered on our cable/

0,
other channels. satellite 72.5%
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Channel Description Signal Technical
distribution reach®
TV4 Nationwide entertainment channel, the programming offer of which terrestrial /
includes feature movies, series, entertainment and popular cable/ 98.4%
science programs. satellite
TV6 Nationwide entertainment channel broadcasting popular foreign terrestrial /
formats, as well as series, entertainment programs and feature cable/ 97.0%
movies from Polsat’s library. satellite
Nowa TV Universal TV channel airing lifestyle programs, series, news, terrestrial /
journalistic shows and cabaret skits. cable/ 93.8%
satellite
Polsat X Universal TV channel. Its diversified programming offer includes
movies and documentaries as well as entertainment shows. satellite n/a
Around 75% of airing time is occupied by program reruns.
Polsat Reality Universal TV channel. Its diversified programming offer includes
movies and documentaries as well as entertainment shows. satellite n/a

Around 75% of airing time is occupied by program reruns.

Polsat Sport The first sports channel of Polsat Plus Group broadcasting major
sports events in Poland and worldwide (volleyball, athletics, cable/ 55.8%
football, world class boxing and MMA contests), which include live satellite e
broadcasts.

Polsat Sport Extra  The channel broadcasts volleyball matches (including the Tauron cable/
1st League), football (including the Dutch Eredivisie and the satellite 47.8%
American MLS), basketball or tournaments from the ATP series.

Polsat Sport News The channel is an extension of Polsat Sport and Polsat Sport cable/
Extra. Viewers can watch all the most popular sports, with football, satellite 42.6%

volleyball, martial arts and tennis in the forefront.

Polsat Sport Fight Channel dedicated to martial arts, broadcasting, among others,
professional boxing galas and mixed martial arts, as well as satellite 33.9%
coverages of Polsat Boxing Night.

Eleven Sports 1 Sports channel dedicated mainly to football. The most interesting
live events, matches from the best European leagues,
Eleven Sports 1 championships and qualifying games. Eleven Sports 1 HD cable/
4K broadcasts 24 hours a day, in HD quality and with Polish satellite
commentary. Since November 2017 the channel is also available
in 4K technology.

18.4%

Eleven Sports 2 Channel that broadcasts large sports events and offers sports fans
premium quality entertainment. The channel broadcasts 24 hours
a day, in HD quality and with Polish commentary.

cable/ o

satellite 18.5%

Eleven Sports 3 Channel offering the most important European football live
matches. In addition, the channel presents documentary films
about sports and reruns of the most interesting events
broadcasted by the Eleven Sports 1 and Eleven Sports 2
channels.

cable/

satellite n/a

Eleven Sports 4 Channel broadcasting large sports events, documentary films
about sports and reruns of the most interesting events cable/
broadcasted by the Eleven Sports 1, Eleven Sports 2 and Eleven satellite
Sports 3 channels.

n/a

Polsat Sport Premium sports channel. Launched in August 2018 in connection

Premium 1 with the Group’s acquisition of rights to the UEFA Champions
League. The channel is offered in a package with four Polsat Sport satellite n/a
Premium PPV services aired during matches. Broadcasts without
ads, in Super HD quality.

Polsat Sport Premium sports channel. Launched in August 2018 in connection

Premium 2 with the Group’s acquisition of rights to the UEFA Champions
League. The channel is offered in a package with four Polsat Sport satellite n/a
Premium PPV services aired during \ matches. Broadcasts without
ads, in Super HD quality.

Movies

Polsat Film Movie channel broadcasting movie hits from the libraries of major cable/ 65.2%
US movie studios as well as non-mainstream movies. satellite e
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Description

Film 2 Movie channel, an extension to Polsat Film’s programming offer
airing movies, documentaries, cartoons and series. Around 65% of
airing time is occupied by program reruns.

Seriale Channel created for and dedicated to women. The programming
offer includes feature movies as well as popular Polish and foreign
series.

Eska TV Music and entertainment channel broadcasting the latest music

clips, exclusive interviews, gossip about show biz stars and
information about musical events. Available in digital terrestrial
television.

Eska TV Extra Channel broadcasting recent hits and the greatest pop music hits

of the last 20 years.

Eska Rock TV Channel offering music defined as mainstream pop-rock, classic

rock and alternative rock.

Polo TV Channel broadcasting the greatest hits of disco polo and dance,

coverage of the most famous festivals of disco dance, concerts
and euro disco hits, italo disco and dance music from the 80s and
the 90s. Available in digital terrestrial television.

Polsat Music Channel broadcasting rock and pop music as well as the best
video clips, both classics and novelties.
Vox Music TV Music and entertainment channel broadcasting disco hits from the

80s and the 90s, italo disco, euro dance and disco polo. The
channel’s programming offer also includes programs devoted to
pop stars and hit lists.

Disco Polo Music Music channel broadcasting disco polo, dance and festive music.

4FUN.TV Music TV channel aimed at viewers interested in the latest trends.

The channel is characterized by strong interaction with viewers. In
the channel portfolio of the Group from July 2023.

4FUN DANCE Channel broadcasting Polish dance music - disco polo and dance.

In the channel portfolio of the Group from July 2023.

4FUN KIDS Music educational and interactive channel for children. In the

channel portfolio of the Group from July 2023.

Polsat News 24-hour news and journalism channel broadcasting live shows and
covering primarily news from Poland and key international events.

Polsat News 2 News channel offering debates on politics, business and world
economy, as well as programs on culture, society, current and
international affairs.

Wydarzenia24 News channel produced in cooperation with Polsat News,
‘Wydarzenia’ news service and Interia.pl portal. Provides the most
up-to-date information about events in Poland and abroad.
Available on digital terrestrial television from January 10, 2024.

Polsat News A news and current affairs channel broadcasting programs on

Polityka Polish politics since January 10, 2024. Broadcasts live the

Lifestyle

Polsat

Polsat

proceedings of the Sejm, the Senate, press conferences, the work
of committees, interviews with politicians.

Cafe Channel dedicated to women, focusing on lifestyle, fashion and
gossip as well as reality shows.
Play Channel dedicated to men, focusing on consumer gadgets, the

automotive industry, angling. Presents historical facts, addresses
social issues, shows the lives of ordinary people.

Signal
distribution

satellite

cable/
satellite

terrestrial /
cable/
satellite

cable/
satellite

cable/
satellite

terrestrial /
cable/
satellite

cable/
satellite

cable/
satellite

cable/
satellite

cable/
satellite

cable/
satellite

cable/
satellite

cable/
satellite

cable/
satellite

terrestrial /
cable/
satellite

cable/
satellite

cable/
satellite

cable/
satellite

Technical
reach®

n/a

59.2%

97.2%

67.7%

55.6%

97.3%

60.5%

66.3%

62.3%

70.0%

68.2%

68.9%

69.6%

66.0%

87.7%

85.0%

65.2%

60.8%

41



Grupa Report of the Management Board
Polsat on the activities of Cyfrowy Polsat S.A. Capital Group
\pli.IS/ for the financial year ended December 31, 2023

Channel Description Signal Technical
distribution reach "
Polsat Games Channel dedicated to gamers. Addressed not only to fans of
computer games or
e-sports, but also to enthusiasts of new technologies and cable/ 54.4%
animation. The channel’s programming includes original gaming satellite ’

programs, coverage from e-sports tournaments, Japanese
animated series and documentaries.

Polsat Rodzina Family channel for three generations: from children, via parents, to
grandparents, and living anywhere in Poland. The channel helps to cable/
deal with challenges of the modern world. Its programing includes . 41.9%
. . . - e satellite
informative programs, educational cartoons, series and Christian
matters programs.

TV Okazje Channel broadcasting 24 hours a day, dedicated to teleshopping cable/ n/a
and broadcasting spots that encourage shopping. satellite

Fokus TV A popular science channel for the whole family. The channel's terrestrial /
mission is to share knowledge in an entertaining and accessible cable/ 97.3%
way. satellite

Polsat Doku Documentary channel broadcasting historical and scientific cable/
programs, addressed to viewers interested in the problems of . 46.5%

. satellite
today’s world, travel and nature.
Channels cooperating with Cyfrowy Polsat Plus Group (non-consolidated)
Cl Polsat Criminal channel that takes its viewers to the world of crime providing insight into criminal

laboratories, police archives and courtrooms. The channel is a joint project of Polsat Plus
Group and A+E Networks UK.

Channel dedicated to men, simple-unusual people, who work hard and have fun while
making their dreams come true. Polsat Viasat Explore operates based on cooperation with
Viasat World.

Nature channel targeting the entire family, which allows viewers to accompany wildlife
researchers, veterinary doctors and celebrities in their journeys developing knowledge on
dangerous predators, domestic pets and wild animals from around the world. Polsat Viasat
Nature operates based on cooperation with Viasat World.

Polsat Viasat Explore

Polsat Viasat Nature

Channel offering viewers a journey to the past through high-quality programs, that entertain
and educate at the same time. The content features historical events that influenced world
history. Polsat Viasat History operates based on cooperation with Viasat World.

Polsat Viasat History

Channel broadcasting Polish and foreign comedy series and cabaret programs, launched in
March 2020 as a result of cooperation between TV Polsat and ViacomCBS (currently
Extra Paramount). Previously the channel was aired under the name Comedy Central Family.

Polsat Comedy Central

(1) Nielsen Media, average TV household coverage, arithmetic average of monthly coverage in 2023. For Polsat News Policy
technical coverage for January 2024.

How do we distribute our Group's TV channels? We broadcast TV channels through digital terrestrial
television (over free multiplexes), cable TV networks and digital satellite platforms (in particular, through our
platform Polsat Box) and over IP networks (paid). Certain channels are available as online streams on our
platform Polsat Box Go.

Terrestrial transmission. POLSAT, our main channel, and the channels Super Polsat, TV4 and TV6 are
broadcast via a nationwide network of digital terrestrial transmitters within the MUX-2. Other channels of
Polsat Plus Group, i.e. Eska TV, Polo TV and Fokus TV, are distributed by networks of transmitters within the
MUX-1 multiplex, on which the channel Wydarzenia24 has been broadcast since January 10, 2024.
POLSAT's main channel is also broadcast on local multiplexes: MUX-L4 and MUX-TVS. In addition, our
channel Nowa TV is broadcast on the nationwide MUX-8. MUX-4 is reserved for our subsidiary INFO-TV-FM,
which uses it to broadcast TV and radio channels in the DVB-T2 standard as part of the encrypted Polsat
Box package, including Polsat Sport, Polsat Sport Extra, Eleven Sports, Eurosport, Polsat News and others.
Since January 10, 2024, the multiplex has been broadcasting the free-to-air news channel Polsat News
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Polityka, which replaced the channel Wydarzenia24. The remaining channels of Telewizja Polsat are
broadcast via digital satellite platforms, cable TV networks and IPTV distributors.

Broadcasting licenses. In our media segment we currently dispose of broadcasting licenses for 37
channels, including 6 universal broadcasting licenses and 31 broadcasting licenses for thematic TV channels.
4 broadcasting licenses are for terrestrial broadcasting only (POLSAT, TV4, Nowa TV, Fokus TV and
Wydarzenia24 channels), 4 broadcasting licenses are for terrestrial broadcasting DTT and satellite
broadcasting (Super Polsat, TV6, Polo TV and Eska TV channels) and 28 broadcasting licenses are for
satellite broadcasting only. Our current broadcasting licenses were granted by the National Broadcasting
Council (KRRIT). In 2023, we obtained extensions for three concessions and one new concession (the
Wydarzenia24 channel). In 2024, 8 concessions will expire, of which we have already obtained extensions
for five, and three are pending before the KRRIT.

Restrictions on programming and advertising. The Broadcasting Act also imposes certain restrictions on
broadcasting time, the content of programming and advertising aired by Polish TV broadcasters. All of these
restrictions are usually described in detail in the broadcasting licenses granted by the KRRIT. In particular,
the restrictions are related to the percentage share of programming originally produced in the Polish
language, obtained from independent producers and of European origin, protection of minor viewers from
inappropriate content, the identification, placement and total air time of commercials between and during
other programming, as well as the placement of commercials for specific products.

Additionally, the Broadcasting Act imposes on broadcasters the duty to ensure that their media services are
accessible to people with visual or hearing disabilities.

Internet media

Our offering. We develop thematic web portals which leverage on the unique content produced by our TV
channels and dedicated editorial teams. Among portals established by us the most important role is played
by the portals ‘PolsatNews.pl’ and ‘PolsatSport.pl’. We also develop the Polsat Box Go portal - a TV
Everywhere service offering access to streaming linear channels and a wide range of VOD content, also
available as a mobile application and on Smart TV. In turn, Interia.pl Group, acquired by us in July 2020, is a
leading player on the Polish market of new generation media.

The portal ‘Interia.pl’, which belongs to the Group, is one of the three largest horizontal portals in Poland,
comprising a multitude of thematic services. It provides with a vast selection of the highest quality information,
entertainment, social and communication services. Currently, the Interia portfolio includes about 20 thematic
websites dedicated to sports and economy events, ecology and nature, technology, automotive, weather,
education, health and fashion tips, music and movies, and more as well as one of the country's first email
services, with approximately 2.6 million monthly users. In addition, Interia Group includes a number of non-
domain thematic websites, such as ‘Pomponik.pl’ (entertainment service), ‘Smaker.pl’ (culinary service) and
‘Deccoria.pl’ (interior and garden service). In parallel, thanks to the ‘Pogoda.Interia.pl’ weather forecast
service, which is one of the leaders in its category, we became one of top online weather forecast services in
Poland.

Since the acquisition of Interia.pl Group, the monthly average number of page and app users for the combined
Polsat-Interia media group increased from 18 million in the third quarter of 2020 to nearly 21 million in the
fourth quarter of 2023. In the same period, the average monthly number of page and app views increased
from about 1.5 billion to nearly 2.0 billion (data for the third quarter of 2020 according to the Gremius/PBI
study; data for the fourth quarter of 2023 according to the Mediapanel study).
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Sale of advertising in the Internet

Our Polsat Media advertising agency offers a number of types of online advertising, such as graphic (display)
advertising, video advertising, email marketing, sponsored articles and influencer marketing.

There are two basic models of selling advertising space. In the direct model Polsat Media sells advertising
space to an advertiser directly, and in the programmatic model advertising space is put up for auction in which
a given advertisement can be purchased by any advertiser (open market) or by selected advertisers only
(private marketplace).

Polsat Media sells advertisements in two payment settlement models. In the page view model, a customer
purchases a defined number of advertisement issues or buys constant presence of the advertisement in a
certain place of a website for a defined period of time. In the efficiency model, an advertiser pays only for
specified actions of a user. In our case, the most commonly used performance model is the click-based
model. The customer pays for a certain number of clicks on their ads on our sites, regardless of how many
of their ads were displayed by us in total to achieve that goal. In case of non-standard formats, the prices are
set individually.

° Polsat Media Display - presentation of the advertising message through a variety of graphic forms,
placed in strictly defined locations next to the Group's articles and editorial productions;

° Polsat Media Video - the broadcast of TV video spots as advertisements that precede the airing of
the actual video material. This form of advertising is characterized by high visibility and
effectiveness;

° Polsat Media Digital Audio - broadcasting audio spots before or during the broadcasts of the
largest Polish radio stations that broadcast their programs on the Internet;

° Polsat Media Mobile - an advertising network created from popular apps and games installed on
users' end devices. By identifying these devices, the network has one of the most precise systems
for targeting mobile ads in apps;

e Adretail - Poland's largest platform for publishing digital advertising newspapers and catalogs
based on advanced technological solutions in the field of cross-device user identification and online-
to-offline conversion analysis;

° PERFOads - performance campaign advertising service offering. It is based on the most popular
display placements, email marketing and advertising feeds;

° Polsat Media AdTube a platform that brings together popular web developers who are trendsetters.

Synergies in content distribution

Within the media segment, we benefit from two-way synergies in the creation and use of content from
traditional TV to the Internet and vice versa from the Internet to traditional TV. The TV content that we
produce and premiere on our TV channels is also made available on Polsat Box Go. Making these
productions available on our VOD service is another way of providing access to this content so that viewers
can find it at a time and place that is most convenient for them. It is also a way to reach potential new
viewers and attract new subscribers by broadening the programming base of the Polsat Box Go service,
thus increasing its attractiveness. In addition, it is another field for monetizing already produced content by
displaying advertising alongside it. In addition to the classic model described above, we are increasingly
dealing with the reverse model, where content produced for the VOD service is reused on traditional
television after some time.

Another example of synergy is a common newsroom for the Polsat News TV channel, the Polsathews.pl
website and the Interia portal, thanks to which all our major news media can use the same information and
materials, providing all viewers and users with the same, highest level of information. In addition, thanks to
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the use of links redirecting to other sites and services, there is no need to rewrite all the news for each site
separately, which saves the editors' time and is a kind of self-promotion, making users aware that they can
also find interesting content on other Group sites.

Wholesale activities in the media segment

Sale of TV/online advertising and sponsorship. As part of our wholesale business, we sell advertising time
on our own channels as well as on channels owned by other broadcasters. Revenue generated from selling
advertising time is an essential source of revenue for the media segment (approximately 64% in 2023). Almost
all of our advertising revenue is collected through our subsidiary Polsat Media, which acts as our advertising
agent (sales house). Polsat Media is responsible for sales of our advertising time, sponsorship, campaign
planning, after-sales analysis, market research and analysis, development of new products and, most
importantly, enhancing relationships with existing and potential advertisers.

In 2023, Polsat Media carried out the sale of advertising time on our TV channels and 57 channels of other
broadcasters outside our Group. Polsat Media often works with international media houses that operate as
intermediaries, negotiating purchase conditions and conducting campaigns for their customers. The sale of
advertising time is carried out both through annual contracts entered into with media houses, as well as
individual direct customers. Similarly to other nationwide broadcasters in Poland, Polsat Media has a stable
group of advertisers that it works with.

In addition to providing advice on the scheduling of advertisements on our channels, Polsat Media sales force
cooperates closely with advertisers to design special campaigns, such as sponsorship campaigns, product
placement and related cross-promotional opportunities.

Polsat Media also offers a comprehensive array of non-TV products, including: Polsat Media Online (video
and display advertising) including comprehensive advertising services to Interia.pl Group, Polsat Media
AdScreen (digital OOH media), Polsat Media AdTube (a platform which group popular Internet authors) and
Polsat Media Digital Audio (audio advertising in the Internet).

Sale of broadcasting rights to TV channels. The second largest source of revenue in our media segment
are agreements with cable TV networks and satellite TV operators to broadcast our channels, which
comprised 28% of total revenue in this business segment in 2023. Our agreements with cable TV networks
and satellite TV operators are generally non-exclusive licenses for the broadcasting of our channels. Under
typical licenses, operators agree to pay us a monthly license fee, the amount of which generally depends on
the number of customers who receive our programs. Our channels are distributed by the majority of Polish
cable networks, including such operators as Vectra, UPC, Inea, Toya and by all major satellite platforms (with
the exception of selected sports channels, which are exclusive to the Polsat Box Go platform), as well as
using the IPTV technology (Polsat Box, Orange Polska, Netia) and selected OTT platforms.

2.1.3. Green energy segment

We commenced operations in the green energy segment on July 3, 2023, when we acquired control of PAK-
PCE and its subsidiaries. In the green energy segment, we are active in the production and trading of low-
and zero-carbon energy from wind, photovoltaic and biomass sources. In addition, we are pursuing
pioneering hydrogen projects, including the production of green hydrogen, the development of hydrogen
infrastructure, and the construction and sale of hydrogen-powered buses and electrolysers.

Low- and zero-carbon energy production. In line with our strategy, we are investing in the development of
renewable energy production capacity, which is carried out by special purpose companies concentrated within
the structures of PAK-PCE Group.
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As of the date of publication of this Report, the Group's generation assets include the Brudzew/Cambria
photovoltaic farm of 82.4 MW and 3 wind farms: Mitostaw, Kazimierz Biskupi and Cztuchéw (technical
commissioning phase) with a total capacity of 99.7 MW. The Group's energy producer is also Biopaliwa i
Wodor sp. z 0.0., which uses 2 biomass units located in Konin with a total generating capacity of 105 MW
(50 MW and 55 MW) to produce electricity and heat from biomass. At the same time, in accordance with the
strategic assumptions, other RES projects are under construction - wind farms in Przyrow (50.4 MW with a
planned completion date in Q3 2024), Drzezewo (138.6 MW with a planned completion date in Q4 2025) and
Dobra (7.8 MW with a planned completion date in Q4 2025). In addition, together with ZE PAK S.A., we are
in the process of designing the construction of another photovoltaic park with an installed capacity of
approximately 250 MWp in Przykona.
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One of the Group's biomass units benefits from a support program, the so-called green certificates, which is
valid until 2027. The number of certificates received depends on the production level and is sold to other
market participants, providing an additional source of revenue in the green energy segment. In addition, one
of our biomass units has a power contract that allows it to generate revenue from the electricity market
mechanism. The contract was concluded for a period of 17 years for a capacity of 40 MW at a base price of
PLN 259.87/kW/year. On January 1, 2024, participation in the power market entered the operational phase,
which is expected to have a positive impact on the financial results of the green energy segment. The value
of the concluded power contract for the first year of delivery in 2024 is PLN 10.4 million. On January 5, 2024,
the final results of the main electricity market auction for the 2028 delivery year were published, resulting in
a second biomass unit with a power contract of OM 40 MW.

Energy sales and trading. Electricity is sold and traded with the leading participation of our subsidiary PAK-
VOLT S.A., which serves as the Group's energy hub. PAK-VOLT's electricity trading activities are conducted
on the basis of license No. OEE/171/9255/W/1/2/99/MS dated May 25, 1999, issued by decision of the
President of the Energy Regulatory Office for the period from May 25, 1999 to December 31, 2030. The
license allows the company to trade and sell electricity throughout the country.

The company also conducts business activities in the field of trading with gaseous fuels on the basis of
concession No. OPG/223/9255/W/DRG/2013/MSa dated March 4, 2013, granted by decision of the President
of the Energy Regulatory Office (URE) for the period from July 1, 2023 to December 31, 2030. The concession
allows for the trading and sale of gaseous fuels throughout the country.
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The main activities of PAK-VOLT include:

e sale and commercial balancing of electricity and gaseous fuels to wholesale and final consumers
(excluding households);

° purchase and sale of electricity and guarantees of origin from low-carbon sources - biomass units
owned by PAK-PCE BIOPALIWA | WODOR Sp. z 0.0;

° purchase and sale of electricity and guarantees of origin from renewable sources - photovoltaic
and wind farms owned, inter alia, by PAK-Polska Czysta Energia Sp. z 0.0. under long-term Power
Purchase Agreements (PPAs);

° purchase of electricity from non-Group renewable sources - micro and small photovoltaic and
cogeneration systems from end users;

e trading of electricity and gaseous fuels on TGE S.A. and on the technical balancing market.

The green energy produced by the Group's renewable energy plants is sold mainly under bilateral power
purchase agreements through PAK-VOLT, which resells the energy to end users or on the Polish Power
Exchange (TGE S.A.). Based on the concluded PPAs, the end users of the energy produced by the Mitostaw,
Kazimierz Biskupi and Czluchéw wind farms and the Brudzew/Cambria photovoltaic farm are the companies
of the Polsat Plus Group, which, in line with the long-term ESG assumptions, aim to fully decarbonize their
operations by increasing the share of renewable energy sources in their energy mix. In October 2023, we
signed a 10-year fPPA to sell green energy from the Przyréw wind farm to Google Cloud.

In addition, PAK-VOLT has a portfolio of non-Group customers with whom it has bilateral agreements for the
sale of electricity, gaseous fuels and the repurchase of energy from RES micro-installations.

wholesale customers - PAK-VOLT's customers are trading companies or distribution system operators that
also trade in electricity.
° manufacturing and processing industries such as industrial production, automotive production,
consumer electronics production, chemical production, food production or construction,

e  service sectors such as transport, communications, utilities, trade and health care.

Green hydrogen production and distribution. As part of the green energy segment, we are also building
a full value chain of the green hydrogen economy, i.e. hydrogen produced by electrolysis based on electricity
from renewable energy installations, i.e. wind, photovoltaic and biomass.

Our company Biopaliwa i Wodér is implementing a project to build a hydrogen plant in Konin, next to a
biomass power plant, the energy from which will be used to produce hydrogen. We are in the process of
commissioning the first electrolyzer using PEM technology with a capacity of 2.5 MW and the ability to
produce 1,000 kg of green hydrogen per day. In addition, our subsidiary Exion Hydrogen Polskie Elektrolizery
sp. z 0.0. has designed a prototype of the first Polish alkaline electrolyzer with a capacity of 0.5 MW and a
production capacity of 200 kg of hydrogen per day. The design of alkaline electrolyzers allows for modular
combinations, which makes it possible to increase the production capacity depending on the demand for
hydrogen.

The model for the sale of hydrogen is based on contracts with municipal (public) transport companies, which
issue tenders for the supply of hydrogen, in which a Group company competes and provides hydrogen and
the option of refueling at stationary stations, as is the case in Rybnik. The company also offers a model in
which it provides a package that includes a hydrogen station, a hydrogen bus, and a supply of green
hydrogen, with billing based on kilometers driven by the hydrogen bus.
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At the same time, we are developing the infrastructure needed to transport, store and distribute hydrogen.
Hydrogen is stored and transported in the Group's own hydrogen buses with capacities of 371 kg and 1,000
kg. Hydrogen is transported to hydrogen filling stations. Our subsidiary PAK PCE Stacje H2 is investing in
the construction of a network of hydrogen refueling stations. Currently, there are 2 Group-owned public
hydrogen refueling stations operating under the Neso brand - one in Warsaw and the other in Rybnik. Other
stations are under construction in Gdansk, Gdynia, Lublin and Wroclaw, which we plan to commission in the
first half of 2024. In addition, 2 mobile hydrogen refueling stations are already in use by a Group company,
and the remaining 2 ordered mobile stations will appear in April and May 2024, respectively.

Production and distribution of hydrogen buses. Together with ZE PAK, we have developed an innovative,
environmentally friendly hydrogen bus, the NesoBus (where "Neso" stands for the Polish phrase "Nie Emituje
Spalin i Oczyszcza", meaning "Does not emit exhaust and cleans the air"). The hydrogen buses are
manufactured in the Group's production plant located in the Economic Activity Zone in Swidnik. The plant
was commissioned in the third quarter of 2023 and is capable of producing approximately 100 buses per
year. Activities related to the production and sale of hydrogen buses are concentrated in our subsidiary PAK-
PCE Polski Autobus Wodorowy.

We believe that the importance of hydrogen in the low-carbon economic model will grow, and one area with
significant potential is public transportation. Taking into account the desire of cities and agglomerations to
decarbonize their public transport fleets, reinforced by current regulations requiring an increasing share of
low-emission vehicles in the transport fleet, we intend to target our offer precisely at them. At present, the
company can boast the first deliveries of buses for a city transport company, as well as the execution of other
orders resulting from won tenders. In addition to the buses themselves, thanks to the 